
. . . 
@tt.ihrary \IAS,Shimla 

\1\\\\1\\11\\\11\\\\\\1\\1\\1\\1\\\111\\\11\111\\1 
00014078 



SWORD 

OF . 

GOLD 

·Cjr t. ·r. ~J FE 0 F 
\KoSI . GANDHI 

G923.254 
WI53S 

\ LKhH 



INDIAN INSTITUTE OF 
ADVANCED STUDY 

SIMLA 

~ e v e n s h i llr 11 g s ,J n d s i x p e n c ~ 



~tLJJh~~ · 
3. 1,.---4-~ . 

SWORD OF GOLD 

\S3£e. . 11.~ 3f":kt' .:..i.. c)~·· 
T A T JOr.IIJt"O Q :lo-oK- r I -' 

C': ONN.A Ut_jl T • ' 



SWORD OF GOLD . . 

A i:iPe oP 'Mahatma (jandhi 

BY 

ROY WALKER 

" The steel sword turns into gold by 
the touch of the plzi/osoplzer's stone, 
and though it retains its old form it 
is no longer capable of piercing anyone. 

" Even so, the out11·ard form of him who has 
touched the feet of God remains unchanged, 
but he 110 longer does any e~·il." 

- Ramak risl111a. 

INDIAN INDEPENDENCE UNION 
52, LANCASTER GATE, LONDON, W.2. 

1945 
• 



-~ - I JiiJfill;)' IIA§, § llim l~ 

lllllll lllll lllll llllllllll lllll llllllllllllll\111 
~q)~ 111078 

Printed in f.4lnf)o n h 

F'rowdc & Co .. 242· 244. Old Kent Ro"d, S .E. I 



CONTENTS 

• 

Fr•Jiltispiccc-1\-lall;;alllr ... Lio:unlhi .''\uh...oiiM r-Ji~ rll!oplt! 

·rhc l#iLW,Ycl- aut.! the l'ot_ri(d 

·rhc Stru,.;..,lc in Sr,\flh Africa 

7 

0 

24 
The Triumph of Satyagraha 45 
I n<.lia Stirs-The Local StrnJ,!des - SS 
1 ndia :\wakes-The Non-Co-operation Campaigns 67 

India Waits-The Tide Ebbs and Flows - 87 

1 ndia's Demand-The Civil Disobedience Campaign 
and the Truce 100 

India's Envoy-Gandhi in Europe 124 

India Struggles-The Second Civil Disobedience. 
Campaign and the· Hid for Social Reforms - 133 

Tndia Speaks-Gandhi Proclaims Satyagraha to the 
World 1.51 

India Rebels-The Third Struggle for Self-Rule 170 

:\ppcndix-l'rincipal E\·ents in the Life of Mahatma 
Gandhi - 198 





M AHATMA GANDI-l l AMONG H IS PEOPLE 

September, 1939. 





~ 

dn lrocluction 

• 
THE magistrate had heard that I was proposing to write about 
Mr. Gandhi und seeing me standing umong others in the pris_cm 
hospital, he bud the "Ute unlocked and came in. He was a thm, 
elderly man in a pa;ama hat. He asked if I knew Sanskrit. I 
said no, and he told me acidly that my ignorance was hopeless 
and I must give up the idea. I think he had been a judge in 
India, and he was convinced that he knew all about it. 

I have not followed his advice, and it is for the reader to 
decide whether after all my magistrate was right. It is not only 
that I do not know Sanskrit. I do not know any Indian language : 
I have never been to India. I am apparently the only man who 
did not see Mr. Gandhi when he was here for the Second Round 
Table Conference in 1931. 

These are serious disqualifications for writing such a book, 
but I do not think they are insuperable. All who attempt the 
subject have the encouragement of knowing that Romain Rolland 
wrote a masterpiece about Gandhi years before he met him. 

It will be clear that I owe all my material to other writers. 
First to Gandhi himself. No-one since Rousseau has written uuto­
b!ography more courageously and his articles reveal every facet of 
his t~ought and experience~ My second debt is to the late Mahad~v 
Desai. There can be no doubt that Desai surpassed Boswell m 
perseverance. All the conversations in which Gandhi takes part 
in the following pages ere authentic. Desai tirelessly recorded 
them and hundreds of others. His accumulation of material is 
enorn1ous, but he did not attempt to reduce it to u single narrative, 
preferring to lcnve that tusk for others. 

I am indebted also to many other writers, English and Indian, 
and I have tried to give my acknowledgments in the book, pre­
ferring this to a list of nnmes nt the end of on introduction that 
may not be read. 

I have two reasons for writing this book. One is that there 
is no biogrnphv of Gnndhi that I can find which carries the nr.rra­
tive beyond 1 U31, and none that carries it so far satisfactorily. 
I hove therefore written this book which may serve until some 
better writer fills up the place. I hope he will find some of my 
work helpful, and thnt he will use it freely. 
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My other reason for writing u li~e o( Gandhi is thut I believe 
there is no more significant. man ahve today, and that his im­
portance to us all has been hidd~n from ~any by misunderstan~ing 
and-I am sorry to have to say_ ~t-~y dehberute misrepresentatiOn. 
I may be mistaken. A pac1hst m u world at war js perhaps 
inclined to attach too much value to sC? great a pacifist statesman. 
For Gandhi has belied the gloomy v1ew of Aldous Huxley that 
men of religious genius cannot take part in large scule politics with­
out being corrupted by them. 

I have retold Gandhi's story not only because his is a brave 
life. and an eventful one, but also for the reason Gandhi told it 
hi~self in his autobiograp~y writte1_1 twenty years ago, becaJJse 
it is the story of Jlis experiments With truth, a spiritual odyssey 
of the most profound significance. 

I know this is a very imperfect book, and I wish I_ co'!ld 
have made it better. I hope that the reader who brings imagmah~n 
and sympathy to it, will und_er~tand what it is I )lave seen m 
Gandhi and know why even this imperfect effort had to be made. 

This is not a. history of Indian politics. Only enough is said 
of the political issues to set the stage for the central churacter. 
It !s _not u. systematic exposition of Gandhi's t~ought. .~s far 
as it IS possible to give one I attempted to do so m Gandhi s o~v!1 
words, in a selection published in 194-3 as "The Wisdom of ~andhi. ' 
One of the sayings I put early in my collection was t~ns : 

"Ab 1 . . , tes 111 human ,.,. stract truth has ne va uc, unless it mcarna t 1. f 
b . h · b · l · d" 11eSS 0 C Ie or emgs w o represent 1t y provmg t 1e1r reu I 

it." 
This is the story of the life-long attempt o[ a very co~ageous 

I ·rt· d b I h" . . h" fuit .... m non-anc g1 e man to em oc y IS VISIOns of truth IS ~~. . 1. violence, his perception of the need for a nat~ral self-discip me. 
These convictions make up the philosophy which he has ~ailed 
Satyagraha. Many times he has shown his readiness to die fodr 
"t H · · d" f h 1 1 brave an 1 . e Is m 1sputably o t e se ect company of t 1e ' ' 
probably of the still smaller 'company of the saints. . 

What the English reully think of him is hard to dJscmt'e;. 
A · . ]hi's urres m pnson warder told me on the mornmg after Gnnc . t . . . tJlliS ress on 
1942 that he was "a s1lly old twup." A VI \luge P05 h for the 
the other hand likes him "because he's clone so m~Ic man who 
Unmentionables." But I prefer to believe that t e k I had 
spoke Englund's mind was a working man in Hyde ~ar ~ttentive 
read Gandhi's appeul in the summer of 19'W to u gru~hen I hud 
crowd of war-supporters. There was a long silenc~ . ctly "W 
finished, and then this man said slowly and very dts~1~0 di~agr e 
could do with a few more like him." Nobody venture ee. 

London, 
.fllllllfli"!J, 1\ll.;) 

RoY WALli:F.n 



Chapter 

THE LAWYER AND THE PATRIOT 

HE was born in Porbaudar on the sea-coast of Kathiawar on 2nd 
October, l RGU. To the small boy the sea and the land were sights 
equally familiar. The land, warm and finite, peopled with plants, 
animals and men. The sea culm with a calmness that was alive, 
or moving majestically in harmonies the mind could echo but not 
encompass, the sea that lapped at the coast of India and stretched 
away beyond the limits of human . vision. 

* * * * 
Mr. Giles, the Educational Inspector, did not look for a high 

standard of scholarship in the Rujkot High School. But a boy 
or twelve, he thought, should be able to spell correctly five simple 
English words. This boy alone had failed, and over the simplr 
word 'kettle.' He sat tensely, head down, his face flushed. 

The teacher followed the Inspector's glance anxiously. He 
had tried to prompt the lad with the toe of his boot to copy from 
a neighbour and so save them both from the hum.iliation, but 
either he did not understand or did not wish to. 

"He is not a stupid boy," ventured the teacher as they moved 
on. "He is £rom Porbandur, ami his father and grandfather have 
been Prime Ministers in several States of Kuthiawur. He is the 
youngest son of three, Mohundas Karamchund Gandhi." 

"I have heard of the family," the Inspector replied. "They 
have more than once displayed insubordination which is invariably 
u sign of stupidity. No do).lbt they are more suited to the grocery 
trade in which their ancestors were engaged than to the conduct 
o£ public affairs. I advise you to be firm with the boy." 

Mohan, without looking up, sensed what was being said. 'Vhen 
his teacher culled to him after the Inspector had gone and the class 
was over he trembled as he waited for the rebuke. 

"Why did you not copy as others did and as I prompted you? 
.Must you disgrace us all by your inability?" 

Mohan did not answer, but tears came into his eyes and when 
the teacher dismissed him he run quickly homewards. How co).lld 
he say why he had ignored the hint? It was a loyalty, a loyalt_Y 
he could not fully explain. But it was like the loyalty of h1s 
father who had stood up to the Assistant Political Agent oYer an 
insult to his mastt·r, or of his grandfather whose right hnnd was 



pledged to the State from which he had been drive_n by intrig~c. 
Better, like his mother, to suffer, as she did by her rigorous fastmg 
and observances, than to be disloyal to the truth. 

Loyalty to the truth is a dangerous loyalty. It _must be a 
fresh vision, a living vision, partially unique. It w1ll cleman? 
experimental forward steps. Not every step into the unknown IS 

a step forward. But if truth is a guide into dangerous country 
it is also a guide through it. 

Gandhi mixed little with his fellow-students and obtained 
exemption from all sports and games, preferring to take long solitary 
walks for exercise. For company he preferred his parents to whom 
he was devoted, and his young wife-to whom he was married 
when only thirteen. 

But he made one intimate friend, a youth who initiated him 
into several mild vices. To warnings that he was in bad company 
Mohandas replied that he would help to re.form his friend and 
would not be influenced by his faults. 

Gandhi was tempted into meat-eating on the arg!Jment that 
meat was essential for full physical health and strength. He found 
the meals reYolting at first, but he was much more distressed at the 
necessity of lying to his parents in order to conceal the habit. 
He still thought meat was essential, but deception of his family 
was worse than abstinence from meat, and he therefore decided 
to eat no more of it while his parents lived. This decision he kept. 

The mischicvious friend then led the young 'reformer' to u 
brothel, paying the hill for him in advance. But the boy was 
o\·ercome with shame and fled. 

The smoking habit wus next copied, from an uncle. The stubs 
of his cigarettes were soon found insufficient and Mohan and a 
n·la~ive ~egan to stcal.copl?ers fro~ a servant'~ money to purchase 
Indian c1w-~rettes. D1ssat1sfied w1th this situation they contem­
plated smetde_, but the prospect o[ actually taking poison terrified 
them and ultimately they gave up both smoking and theft. 

But whe1_1 Gandhi was. fifteen he stole a bit of gold from an 
~~rmlct belongmg to ?nc of h1s brothers. It was worth about twenty­
hve rupees and sufhecd to clear a debt into which the brother had 
ll~un~creu. This thdt _so troubled Mohandus that he made. up 
Ius rnmd to C'Onfess to Ius fa_thl'r. He could not briug himself to 
spe~k, but he wrote down h1s confession and asked for adequate 
pwnshment. 

. Kaba Gand~1i was seriously ill when the note was banded to 
h1m. He read ~t through and tears trickled down his cheeks on 
to the paper. I• or a moment he closed his eyes and then tore up 
the no~e: Mohan was overcomf'. His father was uot uaturully 
so forgtvmg, and he had expected unger a11d J Btlt th" · 

r · 1 d 1 reprouc 1es. . 1s 
clean eon ess1011 1a touc 1ed the best in his heart. 

Mohandas hPlped to nurse his father in tl1is illness whiPh was 
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to be fatal. But, although his girl-wife was expecting a child, he 
neglected his nursing duties every night for his passion. One 
night a servant knocked at the door and called out that his father 
was no more. Mohan was overcome with remorse and more than 
forty years later he writes that this was a blot he has never been 
able to efface or forget. Another tragedy crowned the first, when 
the child born to his wife soon after scarcely breathed for more 
than three or four days. 

Already, then, his experiments had caused him to recoil from 
a breach of the dietary tenets of his faith, from sexual licence, 
smoking and theft. Now the bitter lesson of strict control in his 
relations even with his own wife was forced upon him. But from 
all these blunders he had emerged strengthened, und in his refusal 
to cheat in school, and the boldness of his confession to his father, 
he had made forward steps. His mind was busy too, questioning 
the habits and rules of conduct of those about him. He could not 
feel that it was wrong for him to touch the family servant, who 
was regarded as untouchable. Although so far he had had no 
religious instruction at school, he began to learn scraps of Hindu 
scriptures from his old nurse Rambha; and by listening to his 
parents talk to their Moslem and Parsi friends he began to develop 
a toleration of all faiths, excepting only Christianity. 

His dislike of Christianity was due to the habit of the mission­
aries whose method was to pour abuse on Hindus and their gods, 
and to induce their Indian converts to adopt European costume, 
to cut meat und drink liquor. "One thing," he writes, "took deep 
root in me-the conviction that morality is the basis of all things, 
and that truth is the substance of all morality. Truth became my 
sole objective." He was gripped too by a Gujarati poem : 

"But the truly noble know all men us one, 
And return with gladuess good for evil done." 

In 1887, when he was seventeen, Gandhi made his first journey 
to Ahmedabad, alone, to s1t for the matriculation examinati01~ 
which he passed. For one term he pursued his studies in a college 
at Bhavnagar but then returned home. 'Vhat was to be done with 
him? An old friend who advised the family suggested that he 
should be sent at once to England to read for the Bar. 

Pullibni Gundhi, his mother, was anxious. 'Vould not her son 
be overwhelmed with temptations in the strange and terrifying 
surroundings of England? Mohan made light of the difficulties 
but readily vowed not to touch wine, woman or meat while abroad. 
This was suflieient to set his mother's worst doubts at rest, and 
Gandhi departed for Bombay to take ship for England, leaving 
behind his wife and a baby a few months old. 

Meanwhile the caste, a sub-division of the Vaishnuvas or wor­
shippers of Vishnu, was agitated. No member of the caste had been 
~o England, and Mohandas was called before a general mPeting. 
l'IJe Sh..tlJ told him that. their religion forbude voyages nbroad. 
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Gandh~ gave his reasons but the meeting was adamant. Final_ly 
Gandht announced his determination to go, even if it meant dis­
regarding the orders of the caste which, he thought, sho:uld r~ot 
interfere. in the matter. On this the Sheth swore angrily at hrm 
and declared him outcast. The order had no effect on Gandhi, who 
displayed for the first time on this critical occasion the inflexible 
will which he showed so often in later years. So in September 
1887 the eighteen-year old youth sailed from Bombay for England. 

During the voyage his shyness, which persisted along with the 
unshakeable will-power, cut Gandhi off from most of his ~ellow­
passengers and gave him many embarrassments. On landmg at 
Southampton on a Saturday, clad in white flannels, he was ashamed 
to find himself the only one in white clothes and he was no:t ub!e 
to cha~gc until Monday when his luggage reached the V~etorlll 
Hotel Ill London where he wus ndvised to stay. 

Despite the friendly advice of Dr. Mehta and others Moh~n 
found many difficulties, particularly in keeping his ple~ge to ~bstam 
from meat. One day he found a vegetarian restaurant m Farnngdon 
Street, and there bought literature and ate his first hearty meal 
since arriving in England. 

G~ndhi now began to adapt himself to his_ new :urroundings 
and hts frrst efforts, like the lirst experiments m IndlU, were un­
successful and sometimes not a little ludicro~Is. He purchased 
fashiona?le clothes, a chimney-pot hat and a~ evening suit, but 
found difficulty in making his wiry hair keep trdy enough to co~­
pletc the effect. He took lessons in dancing, in French, and 111 

elocution. He begun to Jearn the violin. But Bell's "Standard 
Elocutionist" made him pause. How irrelevant these accomplish­
ments were to his real purpose in coming to Englund ! If his 
character made him a gentleman so much the better. Otherwise 
he would forc~o the ambition. So in three months he recovered 
his jud~ment. But the punctiliousness in dress persisted for some 
years more. 

Even during tlwsr extravagances Gandhi kept strict accow1ts 
of every penny spent and cconomised wherever possible. He began 
to study se~rously for the London Matriculation. As his studies 
procPcde<l_ hrs '?P<IP of living became simpler and more austere. 
He now hw~d Ill a single room, eookcd his hrcakfust of purridg·e 
and cocoa ·tn I 1· 1 1 h b 1· · • .' ~ < < IIW< at rome nn breud and eocnn, t ere y tvmg 
01

.
1 

'"."' shllhng and threepence a day. This he says did not make 
~~i~ th~· dt~ary but harmonised the inward with the outward, so 
. 

1a ;;. 1
. e was <:ertainly more truthful and his soul filled with 

JOYlf. Ishmtercst 111 vegetarianism broadened and he found him­
se on t e ExP<·utive C "tt f h · · j t 1 · · ·. omm1 ee o t. e Vcgetanun Society am 
sta~· c< a ve?_eturran cluh in Bayswatcr where he lived. The cluh, 
winch had S1r Edwir1 1\rrr 11 y· 1' · 1 1 f o < as 1ce- resH en t lasted on y a ew 
months. ' 

On several Ol'eusions his ovorwhoJrn1"ng h 1 h1"m to ' , s yness cause< 
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make a sorry show in attempting to speak in public or before 
company, and he did not conquer this shyness until he went to 
South Africa. Gandhi believes that this shyness has been of the 
greatest benefit to him; it }lUs taught him the economy of words 
and formed the habit of restraining thoughts. Silence is part of 
the spiritual discipline of the votary of truth. 

Towards the end of his second year in Englund Gandhi again 
began to study religious subjects. He was introduced to the 
Gita, which he had not read in Sanskrit or Gujarati, in the 
English translation by his friend, Sir Edwin Arnold-"The Song 
Celestial." He then read "The Light of Asia" and the Bible. 
The Old Testament sent him to sleep but he persevered. The New 
Testament produced a wholly different impression and the Sermon 
o1i the Mount went straight to his heart, for here once more was 
the theme of the Gujarati poem, that one should return good for 
evil. Among other works he read also at this time Carlyle's "Heroes 
and Hero-Worship." It was in Englund that he first discovered 
"the futility of mere religious knowledge." Religion, he came to 
believe, can be vindicated only in action. 

In 18!)0 he visited the Paris Exhibition and was not impressed. 
Of the Eiffel Tower he says, "So long us we arc children we arc 
attracted by toys and the Tower was a good demonstration of the 
fact that we are all children attracted by trinkets." 

Gandhi passed his examination without much difficulty, was 
culled to the Bar on the lOth .June, 1891, enrolled in the High 
Court on the 11th and sailed for India on the l~th. But he was 
uneasy. He had read the laws but not learnt how to practise lu\v. 
Moreover he had learnt nothing at all about Indian law. And 
what would now be the attitude of the caste? 

With these doubts in mind he came to Bombay again, the one 
bright hope being the prospect of seeing his beloved mother. H~s 
elder brother was at the dock to tell him that she was dead. H1s 
grief was very great, but he was• gaining self-control and showed 
scarcely any outward sign of the sorrow. 

In Bombay he came under the influence of the talented poet 
Haychandbhai. Three moderns, says Gandhi, have left a deep 
impress on his Ji[e. Ruychandbhui by his IiYing con tact; Tolst~y 
'"1Y his book, "ThP Kingdom of God 1s \Vithi11 You;" and I~usk111 
by his "Unto This Last." ThPsP lw rPad latPr in South Afncu. 

The caste was divided into two camps, one of which at o~cr 
readmitted Gandhi, while the other was determined to keep h11n 
out. The latter were favourably impressNl on finding that Gandhi 
fully respected their attitude and did not seck admittance, and his 
relations with them have bern happy. 

After some short time at Rujkot, Gandhi returnee! to Bomb:ty 
alone to practise his profession. It was the custom followed by 
even the most distinguished criminal lawyers to pay commis.sion 
to a tout. Gandhi refused to conform to the custom', but obtamcd 



a smaii case. On standing up in Court he was overcome with 
confusion and was compelled to sit down and turn over the case 
to someone else. He hastened from the court determined to take 
no more cases until he had the courage to conduct them. He did 
not go to court again until he went to South Africa. 

Gandhi now returned to Rajkot and earned a small income by 
drafting applications and memorials, commissions obtained for him 
by his brother's partner. Here he compromised. with his principle 
of giving no commission which he had scrupulously observed in 
Bombay, but only in respect of this good friend. 

On one occasion Gandhi went to the Political Agent whom 
he had known slightly in England, to put in a good word on 
behalf of his brother. He had some doubts us to the wisdom of 
this move, but his brother laid it on him as a duty. The Agent 
curtly ordered Mohandas out and on his asking to be heard hud 
him ejected by a peon. Gandhi, burning with indignation, threat­
ened proceedings, but on the advice of Mehta, who happened to 
be in Rajkot, he abandoned the idea and pocketed the insult. 

This incident had far-reaching consequences. It prejudiced 
Gandhi's chances o[ making a successful career in Kathiawar and 
J.t the same time opened his eyes to the methods of many of the 
British administrators in India. ·when a firm in Porbandar wrote 
offering him work in connection with a .UO,OOO claim in the South 
African Courts, for which they would pay him all expenses and 
£105 f';lr a yc:ar's work_, he &'laclly accepted .. So he parted again 
from Ins fam1ly, now mcluumg u second child, and sailed from 
Bombay in April 18\J3. 

~ow. his life's _work was to bcgir_•· He ha? no inkling that his 
stay m South Afrrca would last, With short mtervuls into 19B 
or of the epic struggle which w~uld dcv~lo1~ in thus; twenty-on~ 
years. But he was not to remmn long m rgnorance of the evils 
over which he w_on his lirst great victory, ~ victory which resulted 
from the. evolu_twn of Saty~graha, the phrlosophy and method of 
strugg_lc m winch the lowh_est have fo.ught under his leadership 
aud rrghtcd many wrongs Ill two coutrnents. 

Gandhi, in frock coat :md turban, landed at Port Natal and 
was met by ~bdulla Sheth, _the priucipal of the Jirm whose ettS(' 

h.c wa~ to assist. Defore t:nmg on to Pretoria in the Transvaal, 
Ganulu spent a few days_m the Durban olliee during which he 
was taken to see the MagJstrate's eourt 'I'11c '"" · t t t 1 . . . · "•a uts ra e s arcc 
at the vtsrtor and finally asked htm to take off ht. t "'b G dh' 

I d d I f I , s ur an. an 1 
refusec to o so an e t t Jc court. 1 he point 1 of etiquette. Not all Indians were so tre•tted wa~I n~t on Y .0 ;1 ~ 
keep on their turbans but other Indians we~e · 1· . I osl· ems .n:•

1
g 1 

I Tl . I' t' r I ( elliC( t 1e JH'IVI cgc as a ru c. 1e rmp rca rons o t te order t(J G· lh' 
I · h 1 • J' • 1 anc 1 was that he was classt'{ wtt t 1c coo Jes w 10 formed the m· · 't . 

· · S tl 'f · Tl <~Jon Y of the Indran l'Offiffilllllty m. ou 1 "- l'Ica. 1cse so-callc 1 1. h 
d · I t d < coo res were t c 

l'ndentured an ex-me en ure workers but th, 1 ' · e c crogratory term 



was loosely applied to many other Indians, and Gandhi was referred 
to as a 'coolie barrister.' To take off the turban would therefore 
have been to submit to an insult. 

Gandhi considered avoiding such clashes by wearing an English 
hat but his friends opposed the idea. Meanwhile he wrote to the 
press about the incident which was much discussed by the papers 
who described him as an 'unwelcome visitor.' A few supported 
him. 

While in Durban Gandhi met two merchants who afterwards 
played a large part in his work, old Rustomji, a Parsi and Adamji 
l\Iiyakhan. 

After a week in Durban Gandhi set out for Pretoria, with 
a Iirst-cluss railway ticket. Abo).lt nine in the evening he reached 
Maritzburg, where station officials told him to leave his carriage 
and go to the van compartment. Gandhi protested that he had 
a first-class ticket and refused to move. The station officials fetched 
a police constable who unceremoniously pushed Gandhi and his 
luggage out on to the platform. The train steamed away. 

lt was a cold winter night and Gandhi huddled in the waiting­
room without his overcoat, and with no light was left to his 
thoughts. Through the long hours of darkness he fought one of 
the decisive spiritual battles of his life. His natural impulse was 
to give up the unequal struggle and return to India. True there 
was insolence und oppression there also, but the oppressors were 
few and somewhere in his own lund it must be possible to live at 
peace. But there was another impulse too that told him to stay. 
to stay and fight. It would not be a fight for himself alone, for 
what he had endured was, he knew, but a foretaste of what the' 
Indian community in South Africa had suffered and would con­
tinue to suffer, unless ... Unless they stood up for their rights 
and fought, not seeking revenge but, as the Gujarati poet .had 
sung in his boyhood, to "return .with gladness good for evil done." 
It was not for himself, but for his people, not for the Indian 
community in Africa only but for the honour of India hcrsclr. 
No, it was more than that. It was the battle for humanitv itsC'If, 
for all who were sick und weary und opprcssC'd. . \.Yhen ,;wrning 
dawupcJ his dC'cision was made, . the' way nhC'ad was elenr. 

He travelled on to Charlestown, having failed to secure much 
satisfaction by wire from the General Manager of the Railway. 
But his llC'W conviction was to be tested severely before the journey 
Was over. The last stage from Charlestown to Johannesburg was 
aeeomplishe<.l by coach which halted for the night at Standrrton. 
Gandhi had a ticket for the coach, but the ;went told him that 
!t was cancelled, as u pretC'xt for refusing h~u accomt~wdation 
lllside with the white passengers who should not, he thought, ha\'C' 
to mix with 'eoolies.' 

Gandhi patiPntly accepted an outside seat on the Coach-box. 
At about thrC'C' o'cloC'k the' eoach reacheu PardC'koph. and the 
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leader, desiring to smoke, spread a piece of dirty sack-~lot~ on 
the footboard and rudely told Gandhi to sit there. Gandhi qmctly 
said he would not do so, but was prepared to sit inside the coach. 
As he spoke the man clouted him heavily, and catching his arm 
attempted to drag him down from the box. Gandhi clung to the 
rail and the other passengers crowded round to see the unfortw1ate 
Indian being cursed and belaboured unmercifully. Some demand­
ed that Gandhi should be left alone and allowed to sit with them 
inside the coach but the 'leader' would not hear of it. Finally 
he turned a Hottentot scrvarft out of the other coach-box seat 
to sit on the sacking, leaving Gandhi where he was. As the coach 
lurched on he threw au angry look at the Indian. "Take care," 
he said thickly, "at Stander ton I shall show you what I do." 
Gandhi, still clinging to the rail, made no reply but prayed earnestly. 

Fortw1atcly he was met by Indian friends at Standerton, from 
whom he learnt that the treatment he had received was by no 
means exceptional. He wrote to the Coach Company_ but was told 
only that the journey from Standerton was accomplished in a 
bigger coach with different men in charge. 

So he reached Johannesburg the next evening without fur"ther 
adventure. There he found no one to meet _him and so decided 
to go to a hotel. B!lt on being politely refused at the Grand 
National Hotel he went to his client's shop. He was told that 
no hotel would accept Indians. And for the last part of his 
journey to Pretoria he must travel third class. 

Gandhi determined to challenge this discrimination against 
Indian passengers as such, and wrote politely to the Station 
Muster. On the following morning he arrived at the station in 
a frock coat and placed a sovereign on the counter. The Station 
Master, .a. Hollander, was sympathetic, and gave him the ticket 
on conditiOn that he moved to the third class if there was a com­
plaint, in ordrr that the Station .Master himself might not be 
reproved for selling the ticket. 

At Gcrmiston the guard came to examine tickets and was 
~ngry to fin,d the Indian. He curtly signalled Gandhi with his 
tingcr t? vacate the carriage, ig1toriqg the first class ticket which 
the lnd1an held out. Fortunately there was one English passenger 
~:> lake Gandhi's part against the guard who went out muttering, 
If Y011 wunt to travel with a coolie, what do I care?" Here ut 

l~st w.us un Englishman who disapproved of the colour bur. 
(.audlt does not tell. us who he was, and perhaps never knew. 
Bu~ t us. gentleman d1d much by putting down his newspaper and 
saylllg kmdly' "You should make yourself comfortable where you 
arc." 

:rh~ .dimly-lit station in Prtturia on a Sunday in 189:3 wus 
not lllVJtmg. and Gandhi looked anxiously for some friendly face; 
but there was r~o .one. lie wuited until all the passengers had 
gouc ami then hm1<lly spoke to the ticket-collector who was cour­
teous but unhelpful. An American Negro offered his help and took 
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Gandhi to a small family hotel. The proprietor was himself free 
from colour prejudice but explained that his guests would not 
tolerate an Indian dining in the same room. He offered to accom­
modate Gandhi if he was content to have meals in his own room. 

Gandhi thankfully accepted the offer, but soon after the 
kindly Mr. Johnston appeared again. He had spoken to his 
guests, and they had no objectiun to Gandhi using the dining­
room. So Gandhi's gentleness and persistence again won the day. 
He had finally obtained a seat in the coach, completed a difficult 
stage of his journey in a first-class carriage, .and was now installed 
in a respectable European hotel dining-room with the other guests. 

The next day he met the attorney, Mr. A. ,V. Buker, who 
discussed the case in which Gandhi was to give some assistance 
and found him lodgings with a tradesman's wife. Mr. Buker, who 
was a director of the South African General l'flission, also talked 
about religion and invited him to join a small group which met 
daily for prayers. Gandhi gratefully agreed to attend the ve~y 
next day. Besides meeting several other friendly Europeans m 
this way, Gandhi again began to read Christian and other religious 
books. Many of them had no effect on him, but he was impressed 
by the profundity and also by the difficulty of Butler's "Analogy." 
He met a Plymouth Brother who left him quite unmoved. "I do 
not seek redemption from the consequences of my sin," he replied 
humbly, "I seek to be redeemed from sin itself, or rather from the 
very thought of sin. Until I have attained that end, I shall be 
content to be restless." 

In Pretoria Gandhi also met the powerful Sheth Tyeb H~ji 
Khan Muhammad to whom he confessed his ambition to get m 
touch with every Indian in the city. The Sheth agreed to h~lp 
Mohandas to study the condition of the Indians and a meet:ng 
was called. To this Gandhi made what he regards as the first 
public speech of his life. He atgued to these merchants that truth 
is a matter of religion, and that business cannot be divorced from 
religion. Their responsibility to be truthful was all the ~e?ter 
because the conduct of the few was the measure of that of mlihous 
in the homeland. He criticised the insanitary habits of·the Indians 
as compared with those of the Englishmen around them, and pro­
posed the formation of an association to mukc rcprcscntution,; 
to the authorities in respect of hardships, offering to place mueh 
or his own time at its disposal. 

The character of this young man whose shyness melted a,~·ay 
as he warmed to his criticisms and proposals made a deep _Im­
pression on the Indians. They decided to hold regular mcetmg~ 
to discuss these questions, and meanwhile two or three acetyted 
Gandhi.'s offer to teach them English. Through these mcetm~s 
Gandhi succeeded in getting "in touch' with all the Indians 111 

Pretoria. He learned also of the hmmding out of Indians from 
the Orange Free State. Gandhi took up the question of the issue 
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of first-class tickets with the railway company and was told that 
such tickets could be issued to Indians who were 'properly dressed.' 
This however was scarcely satisfactory as it still left tht: decbion 
Lo the Station Masters. 

Gandhi was on friendly terms with an Englishman, Mr. Coates, 
whom he had met at Mr. Baker's prayer meetings, and who intro­
duced him to the State Attorney, Dr. Krause, and others. Dr. 
Krause, a barrister of the same Inn, expressed sympathy to Gandhi 
for the indignity of being required along with all other Indians 
to be indoors by !) p.m. unless armed with a special pass. Instead 
of the pass he presented Gandhi with a letter authorising him to 
be out of doors at all hours without police interference. 

Another regulation limited the right of Indiuns. to free use of 
the· pavements. Gandhi often walked down President Street, in 
which was situated President l(rugcr's modest house. One day 
as he was passing a guard on duty, without giving him the slightest 
warning or asking him to leave the footpath, pushed and kicked 
him into the gutter. Coates chanced to be passing on horseback 
and jumping off he remonstra"ted with the guard. He offered to 
be a witness in court if Gandhi would bring a charge, but the 
Indian refused and preferred to avoid the street in future. 

All this while he pondered over religious questions. He could 
not accept Christiunity either as a perfect, or the greatest, religion, 
deep as was his regard for it. But neither was he convinced that 
Hinduism was perfect. What was the meaniug of saying. that the 
Vedas were th~ inspired Word o[ God~ II t~cy were inspired, why 
not also the Bible and the Koran? 1 hese difficulties he expressed 
in long letters to Raychandbhai. Meanwhile he read the Koran 
~nd }h~n was ~verwhelmed b:y: ~'ols!or's "~'he Kingdom of Gmi 
Is VV 1thm You. It left an ab1dmg ImpressiOn on him and made 
all the other Christiun commentaries seem insignilica;lt. 

T_ol.stoy dealt with C~urchcs and dog~1as as so many obstacles 
to rehgwn, rather than mstruments of It. War was the crucial 
~est _o_f tho~e. who gave lip-scn:icc to ~mman brotherhood, and the 
m~p1rmf visiOn of n~t usmg VI~lencc 1n resistiug the man who did 
ev1l. Not only the Churches faih:d. The learned men who formed 
societies failed too .. Th~y vainly hoped_ to bring in pcae!· nnd clis­
nrmnment and arllltrutJoii to. settle l_hsputcs-through speeches, 
pamphlets and conferenc<:"s, Without dnect acti 011 "F th m " . I " . or e , 
smd Tc~lstoy contcmptu~u.s y, the solution of the question consists 
in readmg addresses, wntmg books, choosing pre51·dent. · , · 

d 
. d . s, VICC-presi-

dcuts an secrctunes, an meeting und talking f' t · 't · h " 1rs m one c1 y ami then Ill anot er. 

The Churches were intertwined with the G 1 , h ovcrnments. aiH 
the GU\·ernnwnts were t 10rc not to do the will of th 1 b t 
to beml the people to their own predatory wi"lls cspeotpl e f u . 

· · 1 1 1 { · o 1e ree 
conscience Ill Its c· erna scare 1 or Truth, recognising bwtherhood, 
must needs renounce war, unci renounc·e also the State at least in 
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so far as the State coerced its citizens into war. But the State 
was subtle. ''As all the ends of a wicker basket are so hidden that 
it is diflicult to "find them, so responsibility for the crimes com­
mitted in a State organization is so concealed from men that they 
do not see their own responsibility for the most atrocio1.1s acts." 
"The better men arc materially provided for," warned Tolstoy, 
"the more telegraphs, telephones, books, papers and periodicals 
they have, the more means there will be of spreading contradictory 
lies and hypocrisies, and the more disunited and consequently un­
happy will men become, as indeed occurs now." 

Gandhi's work developed too. As a barrister he adhered 
strictly to the truth and became more and more an ach·ocatc of 
arbitration to settle disputes. As the years passed he mudc muny 
new friends and always pressed ahead with his experiments. He 
became more and more self-reliant and simple in his way of living, 
cutting his hair, doing his own washing, attending to sanitation, 
working voluntarily in a dispensary, and conducting radical ex­
periments in dietetics and curative treatment which led him to 
conclude that earth and water treatments were sufficient to deal 
with most complaints. 

llis uprightness in his profession, so far from spoiling his 
career, made his reputation. But it was his ever-increasing public 
work thut brought him to the forefront of his community. He 
had not been free to return to India when the case which hnd 
brought him to South Africa was concluded. He had got to 
Durban on the return journey at the moment when the Legislature 
was introducing a Bill to deprive the Indians of their right to 
elect members of the Natal Assembly. The news was brought to 
him at the farewell party given in his hono).lr, and reluctantly 
Gandhi agreed to stay one month more to organise a protest. 
Telegrams and petitions were prepared with extraordinary enthu­
siasm, and ten· thousand signatpres were obtained in the course 
of a fortnight. The Times of India strongly supported the Indian 
demand. and copies of the petition were also despatched to England. 

With this agitation proceeding it. was impossible for Gandhi 
to lca\·c Natal. His friends begged him to accept a sulary for full­
time public work, but he refused. Instead ]1e accepted rclai11illg 
fees from a number of merchants up to the minimum required to 
maintain his household, thus supporting himself by legal work and 
volunteering much of his time and energy to public duties. Hr: 
also applied for admission as an advocate to the Supreme Court, 
a claim which was hotly disputed by the Law Society. It was a 
custom that the Attorney General should present such applicat.iom, 
and .Mr. Eseombc-who was also legal adviser to the linn of Dada 
Abdulla &. Co. for whom Gandhi had worked at first-cono;ented 
to do so. The Chief Justice ruled against the Law SoPietv and 
Gandhi was admitted. No sooner had he taken the oath tlian he 
Was told to remove his turban. This time he did so, although his 
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friends were dismayed at what they looked on as submission to 
an insult. 

This is one small exumple of what ure often cited us incon­
sistencies in Gandhi's behaviour and which do not give him much 
trouble. But surely here at least there is no inconsistency. On 
the first occasion Gandhi was a visitor whose status was not recog­
nised, and the request amo).lnted to an insult. Now he was 
admitted to the Supreme Court as an a?vocate and since some 
equality was granted the request was no msult at all. Elsewhere 
Gandhi remarks that there is little difference between the salute 
given by a slave to his ma.ster and .by one ~en.tleman to anoth~r. 
But there is a world of d1fferencc m the s1gmficance, and while 
honour demands that he deny the salute in one cast• courtesy 
requires that he shall give it in the other. · 

The petition was not alone sufficient and for sustained agitation 
some more permanent organisation was essential. On 22nd May 
I89,t, the .Natal Indian Congress came into being in a packed 
meeting at Dada Abdulla's ho).lse. The minimum subscription was 
5 f- monthly, while well-to-do members were expected to pay about 
£2 or more. Later on the subscription was made annual rather 
than monthly, with a minumum of £3. From this alone it is clear 
that the movement was one of the trading and professional class, 
having little direct contact with the majority of Indians who were 
indentured workers under a system which Sir 'William Hunter 
described us 'semi-slavery', or ex-indentured workers living in 
conditions almost equally bad. A sort of debating society, the 
Indian Educational Association, sprang up under the aegis of the 
Congress, and a small library of books was collected. In all this 
work Gandhi was untiring. He wrote at this time two pamphlets : 
"An Appeal to Every Briton in South Africa" and "The Indian 
Franchise -- An Appeal." All this work obtained the activc­
sympathy of all parties iri lnclin and won numerous friends in 
South Africa. And within the mm·cmcnt a sense of pmpose wus 
developing. 

But if the poorer Indians were not included in the Congrcs,; 
they were not ignoreu. While the Congress was still in its infancy, 
u Tamil man in tattered clothes. head-gear in hand, two frout 
teeth broken and mouth bleeding, entered Gandhi's house and stood 
before ilim trcmbliug and weeping. He was an indentured worker, 
Balasunduram, working under a well-known European resident 
of Dmban. who had beaten him severely. Gandhi's handling of 
the case was typical. He sought only to secure the transfc-r of 
poor Balasundaram lo a less tyrannical master, and secured the 
consent of .. ill partie~. The magistrate however convictPd Bula­
slmdaram's employer. 

The case reuc~hcd the ear of every indentured labourer, and 
Gandhi cume to be rcgardr-d as their champion. He was delighted, 
and tlw imlenturecl labourers who now poured into his office found 
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a sympathetic friend to listen to their joys and sorrows. Labourers 
fTom other parts who went to Natal on indenture came to know 
of the case, unci reports soon reached Madras. Later, the vivid 
recollection of Bnlastmdaram's wrongs was to be n powerful example 
for Gandhi in his public meetings in India where he was striving 
to secure support for the South African Indians. 

Meanwhile Gandhi was reading with absorbed interest other 
of Tolstoy's works, including the "Gospels in llrief" and "What 
to Do?" There seems to be little doubt that Tolstoy's influence 
was responsible for developing the impulse which had made the 
young Mohan qucsticr..J the untouchability of the family servant 
into u universal love of ull living things. His concern for other 
forms of life is shown time and ugain, in his lmtgl refusal to take 
milk because of the treatment to which cows arc subjected, in 
the toleration of snakes on the Tolstoy Farm. The few occasions 
on which he has felt compelled to deviate slightly from this attitude 
have caused him much pain and anxiety. 

In 189G he asked permission to go home for six months. He 
wished to fetch his fnmily, for he now saw that his stay in South 
Africa would be still further prolonged. And he was determined 
to educate Indian opinion on the South African question. To tukc 
charge of the Congress in his absence he nominated the two old 
friends he had met in Durban on his first week in South Africa, 
Aclamji l\liyakhun as secretary and Hustomji. So in the middle 
of I S!JG he reached Calcutta on the s.s. Pcmgola. From there he 
intended to go by train to Bombay. 

On the journey he stayed longer than he had inten_ded in 
Allahabad but spent his time forming a useful friendship with Mr. 
Chesney who edited the J>in11ccr, and who promised to gi~c the 
African question publicity. This unexpected intcrYicw lmd the 
fntmdation of the series of incidents which ultimately led to the 
attack on Gandhi when he rct~ncd to Natal. 

From Allahabad Gandhi went to Rajkot without halting at 
Bombay. There he wrote his Green pamphlet of which ten thousa!ld 
c·opics were distributed. The J>iu11ccr was the first paper to not1ce 
it editorially and a summary of thC' article was cabled by fiC'ute•: 
to London; a summary of that summary was cabled to Natal 
by Reuter's London Office. The cable was not longer than threl' 
lines of print. llut its exaggerated picture of Mr. Gandhi's utter­
ances caused the storm which he enc01mtered on his return. In 
distributing this pamphlet Gandhi showed some ingenuity, securing 
llu· voluntarv scrviecs of (•hildrcn from tlw district for some lwur~ 
in tlw morni;1gs when they had 110 school. Two of these children 
la-tPr heeamc his colleagues. 

Plague broke out in Bombay and Gandhi offered his servi~·es. 
Ilc was put ou the Committee appointed to look into the question, 
wherP he emphasised the m'ccssity of cleanliuess in the latrines, 
so that the Committee decided to make an inspection. The poor 
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people had no objection &nd carried out the improvements sug­
gested to them. But the upper classes often refused the Committee 
entrance and, although their latrines were sometimes in a far worse 
condition, ignored the suggestions for improvement. The Committee 
had to inspect the untouchables' quarters also. Only one member 
would accompany Gandhi there, and thi5 was his first visit to 
such a locality. Here were no latrines at all, but the houses were 
clean and tidy. There was no fear of an outbreak in those quarters. 
An inspection of u temple, on the other hand, showed serious 
filthiness and neglect. 

Gandhi was at this time u "Joyul supporter of the Empire. 
He gladly found time to help the Rujkot Committee which was 
appointed to arrange for the celebration of Queen Victoria's Dia­
mond .Jubilee, but wus :uneasy to discover how much humbug there 
was in the celebration. lie became uwurc too of the wrong note 
in the llritish National Anthem : 

"Scatter her enemies, 
And make them fall ; 

Confound their politics, 
Frustrate their knavish tricks." 

He was right to feel suspicious of the sentiment. 

He now paid a flying visit to Bombay where he met Sir 
J>hirozcshah Mehta who agreed to help him by culling n public 
meeting. He took back to Rajkot with him a brother-in-luw who 
was seriously ill and whom he nursed with great devotion. On the 
very day of the brother-in-law's death he bud to go to llombay 
for the meeting, arriving ut five o'clock in the afternoon. Mehta 
asked if his speech was ready, und he answered that it was not, 
but that he should make an extemporary speech. Mehta wus not 
satisfied but by eleven o'clock Gandhi returned with the written 
SJJPCch which he was to make on the following day. 

The large hall was packed, and this was Gandhi's first ex­
perience of speaking in such conditions. His voice sunk lower and 
he trembled as he began to read, remembering his panic in the 
Bombay courtroom three years before. Mr. Wachhu took the 
speech and read it. It wus highly successful. 

Gandhi made three attempts to pcrsunde other barristers to 
return with him to South Africa hut ultimately without success. 
Some P\·en tried to persuade him to rcmuin in India, but his work 
luy in Nutal und he could un.swer in the words of the Gita : 

"Finally, this is better, that one do 
His own tusk as lw muy, even though be fail 

Than tuke tusks not. his own, though they seem go~cl. 
To die performing duty is no ill; 

But who seeks other roads shull wander still." 

From Bombay Gandhi went to Poonu whrre he first met Loka-
1naJJya Tilak uru.l Goklude. They sent him lo Dr. Bhaudarkur, who 



agreed to preside over a public meeting there. Then in Madras 
Gandhi related the grim story of Balasundaram and aroused great 
enthusiasm. Soon afterwards he produced a second eclition of the 
Green Pamphlet. 

In Calcutta there were difficulties. Gandhi patiently begau 
to surmount them and his scrupulous fairness and truthfulness 
wou the friendship of Mr. Sanders, editor of the Eng/ishnw11, who 
placed his office and his paper at the Indian's disposal. Before 
the public meeting could be arranged an urgent cable arrived from 
Durban asking him to return at once. Two vessels belonging to 
the firm of Dada Abdulla, the Courlnnd and the Naderi were sailing 
at the beginning of December with about 800 passengers, a.nd the 
company offered to take Gandhi, his wife and two sons, and the 
only son of his widowed sister without charge. 

The vessels were caught in a violent gale and for twenty-four 
hours the passengers feared they were lost. Only Gandhi and the 
captain r~mnined culm, and a firm friendship sprung up between 
them. The ships cast anchor in the port of Durban on the 1 Hth 
December. But the real storm was still to come. 



Chapter II 

THE STRUGGLE IN SOUTH AFRICA 

~ANDHI'S speeches and writings in Na~al ha~ been mor.e severe 
and detailed than his subsequent speeches m Indw. He deliberately 
described the South African situation less forcibly than the facts 
warranted. But to the colour-prejudiced white people o£ Durbun, 
led by Mr. Escornbc, who hud supported Gun?hi's application for 
admission to the Supreme Court, and who was himself now a member 
o£ the Cabinet, the three-line summary from Reuter's London office 
had "been sufficient. Mr. Escombe initiated public meetings at 
which a resolution was passed that tbe passengers of both steamers, 
including Gandhi, should be prevented from landing in Natal. 

Two accusations were brought by the Europeans on this thread­
bare evidence; that in India Mr. Gandhi had indulged in unmerited 
condemnation of tpe Natal whites, and that he had specially brought 
the two shiploads of passengers to settle in Natal to swamp the 
country with Indians. To these charges he was given no opportunity 
to reply. 

As an excuse for delay the ships were placed in quarantine for 
live days. But the quarantine dragged on until the morning of 
J:Hh January 1807. The firm of Dada Abdulla, owners of the 
ships, were bullied and even offered inducements to send back the 
passengers. But the partners remained resolute and had the support 
of an old advocate of the firm, Mr. F. A. Laughton, K.C., and 
J ndian leaders. Finally, the Committee of Europeans served notices 
upon the passengers, warning them that if they attempted to land 
they would be pushed intc. the sea. Mr. Escombe, findina that 
the Indians would not be intimid<~ted, attempted to cont:OI the 
agitation he had led. He told the Europeans that they had dis­
played commendable unitv and cournge. Their action would make 
a pro£ouml impression 0;1 t]J(' Imperial Government; the Nntul 
(;overnmcnt. would obtain the requisite powers to restrict future 
inuni/!ration. However, he sent u message to Gandhi not to 1and 
with the others but to wait until evening, as he feared mischief. 

Mr. Laughton did not like this advice, It would be humiliating 
for GanJhi to slip furtively into the city m1der cover of darkness. 
So he and Gandhi set out together. A few boys on the wharf 
jeered aud threw pebbles und soon u hostile crowd had gathered. 
Mr. Laughton attempted to hire u riekshaw but the boy wus driven 
off. to Gandhi's relief. for he t!wught it degrading to sit in a 
vehi,!le pulled hy il humau being. 



The pair walked on, but with every step the crowd grew larger. 
Finully, in \Vest Street, a powerful man thrust Mr. Laughton aside. 
Another burly mun hit Gandhi in the Face and kicked him, while 
others threw stones and tore off hi.> turban. Almost unconscious, 
Gandhi held on to the railings rJf a house, us he had held to the 
rail of the stage-coach years before. Then with a painful effort he 
walked on. At this critical moment the wife of the Police Superin­
tendent, l\lrs. Alcxanclcr, appeared. She knew Gandhi well, and 
without hesitation opened her sunshade and walked beside him. 
This gave some protection, and Gandhi sustained only minor 
injuries after she joined him. They reached the Police Station 
where the Superintendent offered Gandhi protection. But this 
offer Gandhi gently refused and he completed his journey to Rus­
tomji's house without further incident. 

The situation began to grow more serious. Thousand!> of 
Europeans gathered before the house, and after nightfall hooligans 
joined the crowd, which now demanded that Gandhi should be 
handed over or they would burn down the house. Superintendent 
Alexander harangued the crowd good-humouredly, playing for time, 
and meanwhile one of his officers disguised Gandhi as an Indian 
trader and assisted him to mingle with the crowd and so escape 
to the Police Station. Alexander then told the crowd that their 
quarry was gone unci allowed one or two men to search the house 
in proof of his statement. 

Did Gandhi, who had faced danger so bravely in the afternoon. 
show fear the snme night ? Or did he consent to the subterfuge 
only to save his friend's property nnd his wife and children? He 
•poses the question himself, and his reply is, who can say? 

Earlier in the day a reporter had interYiewed Gandhi on board 
the steamer, and the Indian had easily disposed of the charge~. 
The publicntion of this interview produced 11 revolution in pubhc 
opinion, and many Europeans ndmitted their mistake. 

The assnult had rcpercussio11s in England. Mr. Chamberlain, 
Secretary of State for Colonies, cabled instructions to the Govern­
ment of Natal to prosecute the assailants and to see that justice 
was done to Gandhi. To Mr. Escombc fell the embarrassing task 
of communicating this message. Gnndhi refused to identify the 
attuekers or to sanetion prosecution. 

"lf anyone is to blame," he said, "it is the Committee of 
Europeans, you yourself, and therefore the Government of Natal. 
I cannot prosecute you or the Committee, and even if I could I 
would not seek rcdrC'ss in tl court of law. This is a politicnl mutter, 
nnd it rC'mains for me to fight with you in the political field and 
to convince you and thC' other Europeans that the Indians who 
constitute a large proportion of the population of the British Empire 
wish to preserve their sc!f-rC'spect and safeguard their rights with­
out injuring the Europeans in the least." 

Escombc had not been prepnred to hear that Gandhi was not 



willing to prosecute his assailants, but felt that he rendered further 
service to his community by such self-restraint, and admitted that 
this gesture would save the Government of Nutul from a most 
awkward position. He asked for the decision in writing to send to 
Mr. Chamberlain, suggesting that Gandhi should first consult his 
friends but Mohandas borrowed a sheet of paper and wrote the note 
at once. This action further influenced the Press which now declared 
Gandhi innocent and condemned the mob. 

So Gandhi returned to his work in South Africa, to increasing 
the numbers of the Natal Indian Congrrss and its sympathisers 
in India and in England, to work among the indentured labourers, 
and to his own rigorous experiments in simpler living. In October 
l H99 the Boer \Vur broke out and Gandhi, though sympLlthising 
with the Boers, urged the Indian community to offer their servJces 
to the British. Many Indians argued that they should not be 
expected to fight for their oppressors, but Gandhi contended that 
since they demanded th~ privileges of British citizenship they 
could not shirk the corresponding duties. \Vhat of the higher 
loyalty to refuse assistance: in any viole1~t action? That might 
be conclusive for himself hut not for Ins commtmity : "If any 
consider that the action of the Government is immoral from a 
religious standpoint, before they help or hinder it they must en­
dca ,·our fullv and en·n at the risk of their lives to dissuade 
the govern~ent from pursuing such a course. \Vc have done 
nothing of the kind." Still he would not bcL•omc swallowed up 
altogether in war, and he organised an Amhulanct· Corps of ncnrlv 
elcvcn hundred Indians, which was warmly praised hy the Eur~­
peans. Many indentured labourers joined the corps. and it was • 
mentioned in dispatches hy (;cneral Huller. They had been accepted 
with the pro,·iso that they were not to he put into the firing-line. 
The Indians hnd not sought to ln·oid the danger, and thcv gladly 
waived this pri,·ilege at Ladysmith, allhough none of them "received 
even a wound. Arter Ladysmith tlw Corps was disbanded. The 
war continued, and the Indians were willing to resume scrYiee if 
they WPre needed. 

One feature of that least romantic of all British wars burnt 
itself into Gandhi's soul; the agony of the Boer women in the British 
concentration c·amps and the triumph of Lheir suffering. Kitehcncr 
eonlin('d I h('se women in separnl ,. <"Oil<'!' I~ I rut ion c•a mps. They 
,turn·rl, Llu·y suffcrc·d !'old and )wnt, sometJmps they were assaulted 
by the soluiers but their· spirit was unbroken and at last Kina 
Erlward wrote to Kitehcner saying that he could not tolerate it. 
If this was the only means of reducing the Boers to submission, 
he would prcfpr any sort of peace. Th: Gcn<'rnl must bring the war 
to a speedy end. Years later Gall!lln wrote of this episode: 

"When this ery _of anguish rcac·hed England, the English people 
were deeply patned. They were full of admiration for the 
bravery of tl~c Boers. :rhe f_act thu_t such a small nationlllity 
should sustmn a conlhct w1th thcu world-wide empire \Vas 



rankling in their minds. But when the cry of agony raised 
by the women in the concentration camps reached England 
not through themselves, not through their men-they were 
fighting valiantly on the battlefield-but through a few high 
souled Englishmen and women who were then in South Africa, 
the English people began to relent. The late Sir Henry 
Campbell-Bunnerman read the mind of the English nation and 
raised his voice against the war. The late Mr. Stead publicly 
prayed and invited others to pray, .that God might decree the 
English a defeat in the war. This was a wonderful sight. Real 
suffering bravely borne melts even a heart of stone. Such is 
the potency of suffering or tapas. .-tnd there lies the key of 
Satyagraha." 
Gandhi felt that his work in South Africa was complete. Other 

young Ihdian barristers had arrived from England and the affairs 
of the community were so well organised that he might safely leave 
them to his friends. He wanted to do public work under Gokhale 
in India, besides practising the law. B:ut his colleagues insisted on 
a promise that he would return if they urgently needed him, and 
he gave it before sailing for India towards the close of 1901. 

The Congress was meeting at Calcutta under the presidentship • 
of Mr. Wachha, who had read Gandhi's speech for him at the 
Bombay meeting in 1893. This was the first experience of Congress 
for Gandhi. He truvclled with Sir Phirozeshah Mehta from Bombay 
and u resolution on the South African problem was agreed between 
them. At Calcutta Gandhi had accommodation near Lokumanyu 
Tilak. But his attention was soon diverted from the celebrities by 
the untidiness of the delegates and he set to work to give a better 
example. 

Gokhale took Gandhi to the Subjects Committee to hear his 
Resolution discussed. Ail day the debate on other matters con­
tinued and finally late at night the resolution was read by Gandhi, 
supported by Gokhale, and hastily adopted. Gandhi was giivcn 
five minutes to propose the resolution in the Congress. The immense 
pavilion and the vast assembly almost overwhelmed him. He 
began to speak but almost. at once Mr. Wuchha rang the bell and 
the future leader of Conwcss sat down bewildered. In those dayli 
everyone raised his hand and voted for all resolutions. At that 
moment Gandhi probably had little thought of rewriting the Con­
stitution of the Congress, although this was one of the achievements 
in which he took most pride. 

After the Congress Gandhi spent a month with Gokhale and 
witnessed the humiliating compulsory splendour of Lord Curzon's 
durbar. His own thoughts were turned in a very different dircctiou 
and he finally made the journey from Calcutta to Rajkot third 
class, in order to share the hardships of the passengers. This for 
years remained his way of travelling and was only discontinued 
when ill-health made it no longer possible. 



In Bombay .he made ready to resume his career, but in March 
1 !)02 he received an urgent cable : "Chamberlain expected here. 
Please return immediately." So he went a third time to South 
Africa, leaving his family behind and hoping to return to India in 
a few months. But he was not to see India again for twelve years. 

Gandhi led the little Indian deputation to Mr. Chamberlain 
in Natal. The English statesman said that their grievances seemed 
to be genuine, but that the Imperial Government had little control 
over self-governing Colonies. From Natal Mr. Chamberlain went to 
Transvaal, where the Indians also wished to send a deputation and 
again asked Gandhi to undertake the work. But no one could 
enter Transvaal without a permit, and this Indians found it very 
hard to obtain. Gandhi obtained a permit direct from his friend, 
the Police Superintendent ut Durbun, much to the unnoyuncc of 
the ofliciuls who hud planned to keep him out. They were not to 
be beaten. They disputed the validity of the permit, and in any 
case refused to allow Gandhi to see Mr. Chamberlain a second time. 
Most of the Indians were for abandoning the deputation. Gandhi 
persuaded them to go on with it, giving them what help he could. 
The incident led Gandhi to an important decision. If this was how 
Indians were treated in the Transvaal, there was work for him in 

• the Transvaal. He must stay. Stay he did. Within a short time 
he had opened his lawyer's office in Johannesburg. 

The Asiatic Department by whom he had been so rudely handled 
in the matter of the deputation was, he soon discovered, thoroughly 
corrupt. Its simple policy was to refuse entry to Asiatics and then 
smuggle them in on payment of .1:100! Gandhi patiently and openly 
collected his evidence from Indians and Chinese, and prosecutions 
were opened. One of the two accused absconded and was brought 
hack by an extradition warrant. Despite this, and although the 
eddf•nce a!:ainst tlwm was strong, both prisoners were acquitted. 
But their guill was so palpable that the Government cnshiered 
them. Later on when these men got into difficulties it was to 
Gandhi they turned for help, and he assisted them to fresh employ­
ment. The Court decision had shaken to the foundation his faith 
in the legal profession. Still for a while he continued to" practise. 

He was now developing friendships with seveml Europeans who 
were to serYe him well when the testing-time cum<'. Onl' of his 
st•f'retnries wa, a S<'\"l'll l<'<'ll·yeur old white girl, Miss Sehlesin. A 
kw years Iuter wh1·u all the leaders of the Snlyngraha were in gaol 
she wu~ to lead the movement single-handed, dealing with thousands 
of people, managing u tremendous amount of eorrespondencc, con­
trolling the weekly lrulit111 O[iilli(J/1. Even Gokhale was impressed. 
She was, lw said, the finest of Gandhi's co-workers. 

l11dia11 OjJiiii(Jtl was begun in l!JIH. Gnndhi rlid not edit or 
f•ontrol the paper, but he put his savings into it and at times was 
paying us mueh as .1:75 per month to keep the little magazine going. 
Altogether he paid O\"er somethiug like tl ,GOO, earned by his legal 
practice. 



In .Johannesburg there was a district which was contemptuously 
referred to as the 'coolie locution' where poorer Indians had tenancy 
rights. The Mw1icipality did virtually nothing to provide sanitary 
facilities, good roads or lights. They preferred to use the insanitary 
conditions as a means to destroy the location, l\nd succeeded in 
obtaining authority to dispossess the settlers. Gandhi contested 
some seventy cases in which there was dispute us to the compen­
sation to be paid, and lost only one. But having secured ownership 
the Municipality took its time about finding new quarters for the 
Indians. Conditions grew worse in the locution, and suddenly there 
was an outbreak of the dreaded black plague. The actual outbreak 
occurred in u nearby gold-mine. Twenty-three men came buck one 
night to the location suffering from the dreaded diseuse. Madanjit, 
the proprietor of lnrliuu OjJiuiou, chanced to be in the locutiou. 
He acted promptly and resourcefully, breaking open an empty house 
and putting the men in it, before sending u hurried pencilled note to 
Gandhi. A Dr. Godfrey also hurried to the scene. But twenty­
three patients were more thun three men could manage. Gandhi 
thought of the four Indian clerks in his office. He explained to 
them the danger. Their answer was, "\Vherc you are, we will also 
be." Through the first long night these seven men nursed the 
twenty-three stricken with plague in the abandoned house on the 
Indian location. In the morning a message came from the MwJici­
p,ality. They were grateful for whut had been done. They had no 
means to cope with the emergency. Hut Gandhi could have a vacant 
building for his putients. It wus unkempt and dirty, but they 
could not undertake to clean it. They would send a nurse-and 
brandy. 

So the Indians cleaned the building, the Indians found beds 
and other necessaries, and the Indians ran the hospital. They 
would not let the nurse to~H.~h the patients very often, for fear she 
might catch the contugion. The nurse gave the patients brandy. 
She took brandy herself. She tried to persuade the Indian helpers 
to take it, as a precaution, but they would not. Gandhi had per­
mission from Dr. Godfrey to tuke special care· of three patients 
who had refused brandy, and who were given the simple wet earth 
treatment in whieh Gundhi was coming more and more to believe. 
Two of rhcse threP WPrc saved. The· other twenty-one died. A 
few days latPr lht> nursP was allueked by the plugUl' and died at 
once. None of the others who had nursed the stricken men wpre 
affected. 

Gandhi had sent a strong letter to the press holding the Munici­
pality guilty of negligence, and this letter brought him three firm 
frif'nds. The first was Albert 'Vest. l-IP wanted to help nurs(' the 
patients, hut Gandhi refused. In stead, would \Vest help run 
l11dian Oj1i11ion? So Albert 'Vest went to Durban, engaged per­
manently for the paper. The second wus the Rev . .Joseph Dokt· 
who later nursed him and wrote a sympathPtic account llf the 
struggle, "An Indian Patriot in South Africa." The third wus 
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Henry Polak. Polak did many things in the later struggle. But 
perhaps he never did anything more fruitful than when he gave 
Gandhi a book to read on his railway journey to Durban. It was 
"Unto This Lust." 

Before he could leave Johannesburg the tragedy of the location 
had to be played through. The whole population was evacuated, 
to live under canvas for three weeks in an open plain about thirteen 
miles from Johannesburg, and the locution was to be burnt down. 
Gandhi became the leader, banker, adviser, of all these poor, 
frightened people. The Indians were removed by a special train 
and were supplied with provisions by the Municipality. Every day 
Gandhi cycled out to the camp to see how they fared, and to en­
courage them. On the day after the evacuation the ill-fated settle­
ment was consigned to the flames . 

. Johannesburg to Durban was a twenty-four hours' journey. 
The train arri\·cd in the cYening, and Gandhi alighted, weary but 
with his soul fired by the little book he had read. Tired as he was 
there was no ~lcep that night. "Unto This Last," he wrote many 
years later, brought about an instantaneous and practical trans­
formation in his iife. Iu it Gandhi had found a Western voice pro­
claiming with passionate sincerity the simple but profound truths 
that were evolving in his own mind. Absolute honesty and justice 
based on the good-will men owe to each other. The sanctity of 
Jiving creatures - the young, the unemployed, the destitute, the 
aged, the sick. An education which, after health, values the 
cultivation of habits of gentleness and justice, and then training 
for useful work. The cull to a simpler life, an ascetic service of 
mankind in which the light of the eye will be seen through tears 
J.nd of the body through sackcloth until the time comes when the 
gift of bread and the bequest of peace shall be 'unto this last as 
unto thee.' 

I~ is not in these essays that Ruskin speaks directly against 
machmery and in praise of hand-labour, as he does in the lecture 
on "The Future of England." But we need not ask if Gandhi 
was acquainted with this later work when he too came to write 
clown his indictment of our mis:Ise of the machine four years Iuter. 
''Unto This Lust" was, of all Ruskin's works, the one that most 
sutisliccl its author, the one that most clcurly rcllcets the light of 
his gencrou:; ~pirit. Gnndhi's soul enught the full meaning of its 
message 1~1 ~he railway compartment. He did not wait long to 
translate 1t mto action. 

He proposed to West that lndi1111 Upi11iun should be removed 
to a farm somewhere outside the city and printed and published 
there bX a few devoted people in the time over from manuul labour . 
.MaclanJit was appalled, but West agreed and the venture was mude. 
Fourteen miles out of Durban and two and a half mile-s from the 
nearest railway station, Phoenix, they bought u hundred acres for 
u thousand pounds. There was a spring, a few orange and mango 

so 



trees, a dilapidated cottage. Old Rustomji contributed some second­
hand corrugated iron sheets und building odds and ends. \Vhilc 
the printing-shed was building they lived under canvas, heedless 
of snakes. The Phoenix Settlement had begun . 

.Much of Gandhi's time was necessarily spent in the house and 
office at Johannesburg. Polak, after a brief residence at the Settle­
ment, was recalled to share the legal work. But at .Johannesburg 
too the influence of Ruskin made itself felt. They ground their 
Hour, they did their own scavenging, and Gandhi was his own 
barber and launderer. Mrs. Gandhi and her three sons had now 
come from India, and J>olak had married. But the household at 
.Johannesburg was not to last. The Zulu "Rebellion" came in 190u. 
Gandhi volunteered to form an Indian Ambulance Corps, and whC'II 
his offer was accepted the house was given up. his family going 
to Phoenix. Temporary Sergeant-Major Gandhi with three selected 
sergeants, a corporal and twenty privates served only for six weeks. 

The Zulus whom they nursed had not been wounded in battle. 
Some had been arrested as suspects and brutally flogged. There 
were ugly open wounds, festering for want of attention, and the 
white people would not nurse Zulus. There were friendly Zulus 
too who had been wearing the distinguishing badges but had none 
the less been shot at hy the soldiers-by mistake. 

So tbe brown men went among the stricken black men, and 
the white soldiers peered through the ruilings and urged the Indi1~ns 
not to attend to their wounds. \Vhcn the Indians took no notiCe 
the advice turned to rage and abuse. Only the superior officers 
cumc over to thank Gundhi and his volunteers; even they could 
not conceal their surprise. 

It wasn't a war, Gandhi found out, it was a man-hunt. His 
loyalty was strained to Lhe limit. and only the thought that but 
for his work the Zulu woumled would he unattended kept him there. 
In his mind a dccpt>r war was waged and Gandhi came huck from 
the field vowed to a harder plPilgc than the poverty and simplicity 
of Phoenix. hound to observe chastity, the saercd Brahmaeharyu. 
To him it was the completion of the eode of diseiplinc and control 
which he had lwen building, ami its natuul culmination. 

He hud time only for a llying visit to Phoenix. hut we can 
pielure him there as C. F. Andrews one<' suw him "in the still uftcr­
glow of a dark evening twilight ... The struin of a long day o~ 
unwearied ministry among the poor was over, and .Mahatma Gandht 
was sPa ted under the open sky, tired almost beyond human en­
durance, bl)t at even such a time he nurs<'d a sick <'hild on his htp 
who elung to him with a pathetic affection." :\ Zulu girl was 
there too and as they sat togdlwr l;andhi asked Andrl'WS to sing 
a favourite hymn. As :\ndr(•ws sang, the darktit·ss I,.>'T<'W tlet·per and 
deeper round his song. "Lead Kindly Light" he sang, and he 
g'11zcd at his friend, young still but with his fruil body already 
worn with suffering that could m•ver b(• laid aside even for a 
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moment; and yet with the spirit radiant inside him. They sat in 
silence when the hymn was finished and the Indian softly repeated 
to himself the last two lines. 

From Phoenix Gandhi hurried to Johannesburg to answer the 
call of the many letters and telegrams that had poured in while 
he was away on service with his Amb).llance Corps among the 
Zulus. He found in the Transvaal Government Gazette Extra­
ordinary of August 22nd 1906 a new Ordinance aimed at the Indians 
and other Asiatics. 

The White settlers, unwilling to develop South Africa by their 
own manual labour and unable to coerce the Zulus into doing it 
for them, had resorted to a system of indenture under which Indian 
labourers were brought over under a five-year contract. Gandhi 
in his own history of the ensuing struggle devotes a number of 
chapters to a careful statement of the facts and the grievances. 
Here is an impression by C. F. Andrews : 

"Ever since the year 1861, Indians had been recruited for the 
plantations of Natal by a system of labour called indenture. 
This system became more and more vicious us the years went 
on, and its many abuses proved quite incurable. Recruiting 
in India for it was liable to prove fraudulent, becaJJse profes­
sional recruiters were employed, who were paid so much per 
head for each recruit. More was paid for recruiting a Woman 
than for recruiting a man. Very many thousands had gone 
over, under this indenture, until there were more Indians in 
Natal than there were Europeuns. 
"The original signed agreement with the Indian Government 
was, that if the labourers fulfilled thtir Iivc years service under 
indenture, t!ley should be free to settle afterwards in N uta!. 
~ut u~tcmpts had been made t? get round this agr~ement by 
1mJ?osmg a £8 tax on every lnd!Un who cume out of mdenture. 
This tux was only remitted if the labourer agreed to go back 
to the plantation and serve under indenture again. If he 
refused to do this, and did not pay the tux, he was deported. 
"In this way the Natal Government hoped either to get back 
the Indians on to the plantations. or else to drive them out of 
the country. For they were fur too poor to pay shch a mon­
strous poll-tux, which was imposed on women ns well us meu, 
and also on children over fifteen. ' 
"Th.is i~tdcntured Indian labour on the plantations was semi­
sen•I!e .m ehuracter. Sir W. W. Hunter, the historian had 
callc~ ~~ 'bordering on slavery.' The phruse was a c~rrect 
dcsenpt!O.n, as I found out for myself after the most careful 
exammat10n. No Indian could choose his own employer, or 
leaYc the plantation on which he was employed. If he· did 
~o. he was pr(Jsccuted as a criminal. 
"Although there was Government inspection, cruelties were 
seldom remedied. because the Indian labou~ers were too fright-



encd to give evidence against their overseers and masters. The 
most evil part, however, of the whole system was this-that 
only for~y women were rec!uited along with every hundred 
men. Smce very few marned couples came out from India, 
this fatal discrepancy between men and women on the plan­
tation led to frightful immorality." 

But in the earlier years before the threat latent in the Indian 
majority was a:pparent,_ Indian trade~s and professional men had 
little difficulty m entermg South Africa. They traded not only 
with the Indian labourers but also with the Zulus and to some 
extent with the white men. Soon there were Indian traders in all 
the South African States, and Indians were b_uying property. The 
general attitude towards them is made all too clear by the incidents 
of Gandhi's first arrival in the country. 

The object of the Transvaal Ordinance, and of the adminis­
trative and legislative manoeuvring was not merely to limit Indian 
immigration but, as far as possible, to make the position of the 
non-labouring Indians unbearable, while tightening the grip on those 
in the plantations. 

Gandhi went with a friend to a hill near his house and bcgm1 
to translate the Ordinance into Gujaruti for Indian O]!inion. As 
he read he found nothing but hatred of his people. It was, for the 
Indian community, a question of life and death. They must appeal. 
petition, send deputations ... and if Tolstoy had been right and 
these things should prove fruitless they huci better die than submit. 
to the law. But how could they struggle against the GoYcrnment? 
It was as though they faced a wall. He turned again to the 
Ordinance. 

Every Indian of eight years and upwards was to register afresh 
giving name, residence, caste, age, etc. Identification marks would 
be noted, and finger-prints taken. The certificates must be pro­
duced everywhere on demand, even in the streets, and police might 
enter private houses to demand·"them. FinC?s, imprisonment and 
deportations were the penalties for infringement. This was no 
scheme of National Registration for all citi:.>:ens. It was an insult­
ing system of licensing aimed at thl' Asiatics. 

There was n smull meeting 11ext duy. \Vhc11 Ga11dhi hud 
explained the Ordinu11ec one of his heurers exelaimcd fil'rei'IV ,''If 
uny one came forward to demand a certificate from mv wife?. I 
would shoot him on that spot and take the conscqucncc"'s." But 
Gandhi had wiser cow1sel. This was not the last step, but the 
first, he said, with a Yiew to hound them out of th~~ country. 
They curried the responsibility not only for the Indians in Trans­
vnal nor only for the Indians in other parts of South Africa; India's 
honour was in their keeping. "We are inuocent, and insult oiTcrl'd 
to 11 single innocC?nt mC?mber of u nntion is tantamount to insulting 
~he n~tion as a whole. It will not, therefore, do to be hasty, 
lmpatJCnt or angry. That cannot save us from this onslaught. 
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But God will come to our help, if we calmly think out and carry 
out in time measures of resistance, presenting a united front and 
bearing the hardship which such resistance brings in its train." 

So on 11th September 1 uoo the old Empire Theatre in Johan­
uesburg was packed from floor to ceiling with Indians culled together 
to determine what action should be taken. Sheth Haji Habib, one 
of the speakers, declared in the name of God that he would never 
submit to that law, and advised all others present to do likewise. 
This brought Gandhi to his feet again. He had not contemplated 
the oath being taken in that way, but in a moment he had felt 
the rightness of it and seen the immense responsibilities it implied. 
"Personally I hold," he told the three thousand eager listeners, 
"that a man who deliberately and intelligently takes a pledge 
and then breaks it forfeits his manhood." To hold to the pledge 
that had been proimscd might mean fines, flogging, jail, and for 
some, death. "If some one asks me when and how the struggle 
may end, I may say that if the entire commw1ity manfully stands 
the test, the end will be near. If many of us full back under 
storm and stress, the struggle will be prolonged. But I can boldly 
declare, and with certainty, that so long as there is even a hand­
ful of men true to their pledge, there can only be one end to the 
struggle, and that is victory." The meeting listened in perfect 
quiet. Then at the end of the proceedings the President, Abdul 
Gani, again repeated the cautions and all present with upraised 
har;ds took an oath with God as witness not to submit to the Ordi­
nance if it became law. The next duy the theatre was wholly 
destroyed by lire. The lust words spoken in it were that solemn 
oath. But the scene remained when the theatre was gone, ever­
present to the minds of all those who took part in it. 

Nego_tiations were opened and at once the Government gave 
ground sh~htl_Y, exempting women from the Black Ordinance. But 
on the mum 1ssue they were adamant. The Indians prepared for 
the st:ugglc and in preparing found they knew not how to describe 
what It was t_hcy ~ere doing and meunt to do. "Passive resistance" 
would be m1sleuchng. So a new word was coined, "Satyagrahu" 
from Satya (Truth) which also implied love and firmness and Agraha 
(Gras]!) so that the compound word might be freely translatc<i as 
•'holchng on to Truth in the spirit of Love." 

The distinction between Sntyngmha nnd l'ussin, Hesi~tuncc was 
quite fundamental. l'ussiYe Hcsistuncc is usually considered to be 
the wcup_on of ~he weak. Satyagraha was the weapon of the strong. 
"ln_)HISSIVC res1st~ncc," Gandhi explains, "there is always prcsent 
an 1clea of harassmg the other party and there is a simultaneous 
readiness to. undergo any hardships entailed upon us by such 
neti'·.ity; willie in Satyugrahu there is not the remotest ·idea of 
injurJ!Ig the oppone~1t. . Sut.yagraha postulates the conquest of the 
ad n·rsary hy suffc·rlllg 1n one's own person." 

The Blac~ Ordinance became the Black Act, and the next 
mo,·c was plmnly an appeal to the King, since the royal assent 



was stili necessary at that time to Acts of the Transvaal Legislature. 
A deputation to England was arran"ed and after much discussion 
Gandhi-who had flatly re£nscd to /;o alone-convinced his friends 
th:lt a Moslem representative should accompany him; 1\llr. H. 0. 
Ah was chosen. Pledges were renewed, but Gandhi saw there was 
some hesitation. 

So Gandhi came a second time to England. He remained 
about six weeks in London, much of which time was spent in 
following what Gandhi thought the "barbarous custom of inaugu­
rating movements at dinners." At first it seemed that their efforts 
had been successful. At Madeira on the way home they received 
a cable to say that Lord Elgin, Secretary of State for the Colonies, 
had declared that he was unable without further consideration to 
advise the King that the Ordinance should be broJ.Ight into operation. 

That was in 1006. But responsible Government was to be con­
ferred on the Transvaal on 1st January 1907, and so Lord Elgin 
had hinted that if an identical measure were passed after that date, 
it would not be refused Royal Assent. So that in effect Britain 
had avoided a flagrant departure from the avowed principle of not 
allowing racial discrimination within the Empire, but bad positively 
encouraged the Europeans in Transvaal to introduce such discrimi­
nation in a less embarrassing manner. The first measure passed 
by the new Transvaal Parliament was the budget; the second was 
the Asiatic Registration Act. It was rJ.Ished through all its stages 
at a single sitting on 21st Murch 1 !J07. It was to take effect from 
.July when all Indians were required to register. 

On the last day of .July, as the time-limit expired, the Indians 
met in the grounds of tl~e Mosque at Pretoria. General Bot)la sent 
a European to deliver a message for him to the crowd of two 
thousand seuted quietly on the ground. The messenger referred_ to 
the general hostility of the Transvaal EuBOpeuns to the IndJan 
community; General Botha wus lu•lpless, he said. The Indians hud 
put up a manful resistance, and tjlcy sho~1ld now submit "to prove 
their loyalty and love of peace." But the meeting would not he 
cajoled. They cheered one of their number who swore that he 
would be hanged rather than submit to the Black Act. There were 
l:J,OOO Indians in the Transnwl, 10.000 of them in Johannesburg. 
0£ all these only i;oo registered, althou).!h the pickets were not 
pcrmiltcd to be violent or even r·udc in approaching thosl' who 
might intend to register. The Satyugraha had begun. 

The first step was made with great caution. An Indian was 
arrested, convicted, imprisoned for one month. As it huppened he 
was rather a worthless individual and after basking in his unt'X­
pcctcd popularity for a short while he dest'rted the movement and 
left the Trunsvaul. Gandhi, us a leader, wns beginning to expPricnee 
the real dilliculties of guiding uny large number of people. 

A pause followed. Then at the end of Deeernlwr 1 !llli the 
known leaders of resistance were summoned, and given up to four-
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teen days in which to quit Transvaal. On lOth January HJ08 
Gandhi and others appeared again before the Court and Gandhi 
made a statement. Compatriots at Pretoria had just been sentenced 
to three months hard labour and heavy lines. If they had committed 
an offence he had committed a greater offence. He therefore asked 
the Magistrate to impose the heaviest penalty. But he received 
a sentence of only two months' simple imprisonment. 

'Vithin a week there were more than a hundred prisoners in 
the Johannesburg jail, treated as "Blacks" under the system which 
recognised two classes of convicts, Blacks and Whites. After the 
first few cases prisoners were sentenced to hard labour. Gradually 
the number of Satyagrahi prisoners rose to a h_undred and fifty. 
But after Gandhi had been in prison for a fortmght fresh urrivals 
brought news of impending negotiations about a compromise with 
the Government. 

A European, Mr. Albert Cartwright, editor of a Transvaal news­
paper, was willing to mediate, and Gen.eral Smu~s had welcomed 
the offer. The Indian leaders who remamed outside declared that 
they could not possibly parley so long as Gandhi was in prison, and 
so Cartwright came to the prison, bringing with him terms of 
settlement approved by General Smuts. 

The substance of the proposed settlement was that the Indians 
should register voluntarily, and not under the law; that the details 
to be entered in the new certificates should be settled in consultation 
wilh the Indian community; and that if the majority of the lndiuus 
registered voluntarily, Government would repeal the Black Act and 
lcgalise voluntary registration. 

In fact it seemed that the reasonable terms which had been 
denied to the appeal of reason and commou humanity were now 
offered to the convicted prisoners who had shown at least that 
coercion could not necessarily induce conformity to injustice. There . 
was one snag: the condition which required the Government to 
repeal the Black Act was not quite clear. Gandhi insisted on an 
amendment and aftC'r consultution with the other prisoners the 
(locumcnt was signed subject to this one alteration. 

A day or two later on 30th January l!JOS Gandhi wns tukC'II 
lo Pretoria to meet GPueral Smuts. Smuts aecepted the alterutiou 
aud promised the <"ttrly rep[•al of the Act. \Vhcn the bill legalising 
the Yo~untary rc:.,ristration wus drafted he would send u copy for 
Gandh1's eriticism. He respectcu the feelings of the Indians and 
desmxl th_at there should be no further trouble. By seven o'clock 
lhat ('\"l'lllng Gandhi was iu til(' train ou his way baek to .Johan­
nesburg, a free man (he had borrowed the fare from the General's 
Secretary) with the assurance that his fellow-prisoners would he 
releasl'd_ on the following murning. The second round had gone to 
the ll_ldlilns, and at first it seemed that it meant a final victory. or 
what IS bcttn a final agreement on trrms acc<'ptablc to both parties. 



At midnight he wus standing in the grounds of the Mosque 
speaking to a crowd of u thousand who had collected to hcur him 
explain the terms of the settlement. They were troubled. Suppose 
the Black Act was not repealed, what if Smuts broke faith? Should 
not the Act be first repealed, and voluntary registration follow? 

Gandhi's answer to the leaders with whom he discussed the 
situation beforehand was another step forward in the evolution 
o[ Sutyugraha. Their argument, he said, wus just nnd reasonable. 
But it was of the essence of compromise that both parties. should 
give up something, provided that they did not betray their princi­
ple. In this case their principle wa! this-that they would not 
submit to the Black Act. 

"A Satyut,rruhi bids good-bye to fcur. He is therefore never 
afraid o[ trusting the opponent. Even if the opponent plays him 
false twenty times, the Satyagrahi is ready to trust him for the 
twenty-first time, for an implicit trust in human nature is the very 
essence of his creed. Again, to say that in trusting the Government 
we play into their hands is to betray an ignorance of the principles 
of Sutyngruhn. Suppose we register voluntarily, but the Govern­
ment commits u breach of fnith and fails to redeem its promise to 
repeal the Act. Could we not then resort to Satyugrahu ?" 

But if most of the leaders were satisfied with this argument, 
the meeting was not. They had opposed registration. Now their 
own leader was asking them to register ! What could he mean ? 

To Gandhi this wus, on a ]urger scale, the incident of the tur­
ban again. To t·emove it when to do so was dishonour was un­
thinkable. To refuse to remove it when refusul would be only ill­
mannered was unpardonable. He tried to explain. 

"What would have been u crime against the people yesterday 
is in the altered circumstances of today the hull-murk of a gentle­
man. If you require me to salute you by force and if 1 submit 
to you, 1 will have demenned m)'self in the eyes of the public and 
in your eyes as well as my own. But if I of my own accord salute 
you as a brother or fellow-man, thnt evinces my hwnility and 
righteousness . . . " 

Someone wunted to know if it wns true that lw hnd sold the 
eomrnunitv to Smuts for 1:15,000? But no mw took much notice 
of this Pathan and finullv the meeting ratified the settlement with 
only one or two dissenti~nts. Gumlhi got home at nearly 3 n.m. 
ancl without daring to sleep he waited for i a.m. when he l'ould 
be ut the prison gates to welcome his friends. There was a happy 
reunion ami for a day or two celebrations were held. nut therl' 
were diiTerencPs und dissension and jealousies among thl' Inllians 
now that the struggle seemed over. Still the majority hung togl'thcr. 
only a Jew Puthans offering formidublc opposition. 

Registration day wus fixed as 1Oth February 1 !lOR. The I ndiun 
)eudPrs had decided to set an example by registering early on the 
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first day. B).lt when Gandhi arrived at the offices of the Satyagraha 
Association he found a dissentient Pathan, Mir Alam, and one or. 
two others posted by the door. They exchanged greetings, Lut 
Gandhi noticed the anger in the other man's eyes and knew that 
there was going to be trouble. The Pa,thans followed his small 
party until they were quite near the Registration Office and then 
closed in. "Where are you going," Mir Alum demanded. "I 
propose to take out a certificate of registration," said Gandhi, "if 
you will go with me I will first get one for you and then one for 
myself." _ 

Without another word the Pathan struck with a heavy cudgel 
all(! Gandhi collapsed under a rain of blows and kicks. When he 
came to himself he was lying in an office and the Rev .. Joseph 
Doke was bending over him anxiously. "vVhcre is Mir Alum?" 
•' Arrested, along with the others." "They sho).lld be released." 
Doke became firm. The first thing was to decide what was to be 
done for Gandhi himself. Would he go to hospital or to Doke's 
own house? Gandhi accepted his friend's offer but he demanded 
of the Registrar who bad come upon the scene that he should be 
the first to register. He would not wait for medical attention, and 
Mr. Chumney went post haste for the necessary pupers. He next 
insisted on wiring the Attorney-General not to prosecute l\fir Alum 
and the others. 

The doctor stitched up wounds in Gandhi's cheek and on the 
upper lip, prescribed treatment for the damaged ribs and insisted 
011 silence until the stitches were remoYctl. 

As soon as he had gone Gandhi demanded writing materials 
and sent an emphatic letter to the Chairman of the Satyagraha 
Association. Those who had committed the assault were trying 
to redress what they felt to be a wrong in the only manner they 
knew .. No steps must be taken against them. They were Moslems, 
and Hmdus might Iintl in that fact an additional cause for resent· 
ment. But "ruther let the blood spilt today cement the two com­
muniti~s indissolubly-such is my heartfelt prayer. May God 
grant 1t." 

Chamncy returned with the papers. It cost Gandhi a great 
cffo~t. to giYe the required finger-prints, the pain was severe. The 
Jkg1strar looked on with tcurs in his eyes. 

Theu at lust lw l'otild rest. Oucc morP he took up pencil and 
paper. Would Mr. Duke's little daughter Olive sing for him his 
f~v~urit~ English hymn? So the little girl stood by the door 
smgmg Ill u low voice "Lead Kindly Light" and in the shaded 
room the spare figure of the Indiun lawyer relaxed and slept. 

There were two reasons why Gandhi found it necessary to go 
to Durban as soon us he was well enough to do so. His family 
li,·ing at Phoenix W!'rc unxious to see him and to reassure them­
selves us to his health; and Natal Indians were inclined to be 
!'ritieal of tlw S('ttlcment. Their opinion mattered. The Transvaal 



Ind_ians were really struggling on behalf of all India1is in South 
Africa. If the hattiP was lost in Transvaal it would soon be lost 
111 Natal ulso. 

A public meeting was arranged in Durban, and Gandhi was 
wamcd beforehand to expect trouble. He would neither abandon 
the meeting nor take any steps to protect himself. All went well 
until the meeting was nearly over and then suddenlv a Pathan 
armed with a heavy cudgel leaped towards the platform and simul­
taneously all the lights were extinguished. There was a melee on 
the platform, and someone fired a blank shot from a pistol to add 
to the confusion. But Rustomji had kept "his head and within a 
few minutes he was back with Superintendent Alexander's police 
who escorted Gandhi to Rustomji's house. Gandhi must have re­
membered thut other night when the European mob had surrounded 
old Rustomji's house, bent on murder. This time he was in danger 
from his own countrymen, and the British were his protectors. 
True they had accepted with alacrity his plea that the European 
assailants should not he prosecuted and without any sense of in­
c•onsistency had prosecuted Mir Alum despite even more emphatic 
pleas from the victim; but there was no doubting the sincerity of 
their desire to protect him now. 

Next day Gandhi met represeutatives of the Pathans and tried 
to conciliate them, without success. He left for the Phoenix Settle­
ment the same day, accompanied by a polite but dPtcrmined body­
guard who could not be persuaded to leave him. The lcadPr of 
the self-appointed bodyguard, one .Jack 1\Ioodaley, was a trained 
boxer, said to be a match for any man in South Africa, white or 
coloured. No one dispukd his claim on that day. The proph~t 
of non-violenPe and the benevolent bruisers reached their desti­
nation without incident. 

There was anotlwr occasion on which Gandhi's life was in peril 
and on which no providential black-out and no bodyguard stood 
between him and the danger. 'Mrs. Polak relates the incident in 
her little book of reminiscences. 

Gandhi had addressed a large meeting in Johannesburg and 
when it was over he spoke to a few people and then walked out 
with Mrs. f'>olak. "As we rcm•hcd tlw ol'ltcr door 1 noticed a man 
standing in the shadow of the por<"h. 1\tr. Gandhi also speeinlly 
noticed him, it was P\"ident, for he went directly to him and 
linked his arm in the man's, saying something in a quiet, earnest 
voice to him. The man hesitated for one momcn t, then turn eel und 
walked away with Mr. Gandhi, I nwantime keeping my placP on 
thP other side of him. \Ve walkC'd tlw length of the strC'd. I did 
not. understand what. tlw others were talking about, even couhl I 
have heard it. But I C'ould not hear, for both men were speaking 
in a vPry low voice. At the end of the street the man handed 
somd.hing OH'r tn Mr. Gandhi and walked away. I wns some­
what puzzled by the whok proceeding and, us soo.n as the man h11d 
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gone, I asked Mr. Gandhi what was the matter. ''What did the 
man want-anything special?' I queried. 'Yes,' replied Mr. Gandhi, 
'he wanted to kill me.'" Mrs. Polak thought the man must be 
mad, but Gandhi corrected her. "No, he is not mad, only mis­
taken; and you saw, after I had talked to him, he ~and~d over to 
me the knife he hod intended to )lse on me." "It IS fimshed," he 
said a moment later, "I do not think the man will attempt to 
injure me again. Had I had him arrested I should hove made an 
cm·my of him. As it is, he will now be my friend." 

General Smuts did not repeal the Black Act, he proposed to 
enforce it, in effect trenting those who had registered vo~untarily 
as having already complied with its conditions. The Committee was 
sardonic. They• had foreseen exactly this contingency and ~and hi 
had led them into the trap. What next? The n~xt thmg, as 
always for Gandhi, was to plead, to reason, to negot~ate. But all 
these efforts were unavailing. Finally Gandhi prepare?. for drastic 
action. Certificates were collected as widely as possiole, and an 
ultimatum was sent to General Smuts. In the terms of the agree­
ment, the Indians begged that the Black Act should be. repealed 
by a certain date. Otherwise tpe agreement would termmate and 
the certificates which had been taken out voluntarily would be 
destroyed. 

On the day that the ultimatum expired, luth August 1908 
t!IC. grounds of the Mosque ut Johannesburg were filled ;vith ~ndians: 
1lurtcen months before it had been the Government s ul hmatum 
to register that was expiring as they met to~~ther. Thi~ time it 
was their ultimatum to the Government whJCh had expired. 

It was an impressive scene. There _were curefu~ explanations 
and. resolutions. Gandhi insisted on offermg any lndwn the oppor­
t~mty of receiving back his certificate if he had altered his mind 
smce handing it in. No one stood up. Then a man rose and came 
forward. It was Mir Alum. He said he had done wrong to assault 
Gandhi, and he handed over his original papers to be burned as 
he had not taken out a voluntary certificate. Before the meeting 
the two men clasped hands. and in their action was the symbol of 
the reunited community, determined and resolute to renew the 
struggle. 

So :.!,000 certificates were bumcd in a !urge cauldron and us 
the . s.mok•· rolled upwurds others en me forwurd to drop in their 
•·•·r~lfii'Ules. In u few minutes ull that was left of the tort~ous 
pollt'Y or GeJ~eral Smuts was a whirl of hluck ashes and a smudge 
~Jf smok(' agalllst the sky. The European reporters W('re profoundly 
nnpr('ssed. So~w of the thoughtful rernllcd the Boston Tea Purty 
aiHl ,Leeumc still more thoughtful. 
. fhe ne~t round in the struggle openrd uneventfully. General 
Smu~s n~rned through thP Legislature another Act, restricting 
~nlllllgr~tum. Normally nrw grievances would have found no place 
111 the ~atyagraha, because Gandhi regards it as a principle not to 
go une lll(•h heyond I he original demand for which the campaign 
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is begun, unless new i~sues aris~ directly from the struggle_. . In 
this case the Black Act Itself was mvolved. The new Act prohibited 
immigrants, even if they passed a test in a European language, 
if they were not eligible for registration under the Black Act. 

Again Gandhi tried reason, without success. Smuts asserted 
that the Indian was raising a fresh issue, accused him of 'cunning' 
and warned the Indian community against him. So, Sorabji, an 
educated young Parsi was selected, and on the appointed day he 
entered the Transvaal. The police were somewhat embarrassed and 
allowed Sorabji to reach Johannesburg. Then some days later, 
on lOth July 1908, Sorabji was summoned and directed to leave 
Transvaal within seven days. On the 20th he was sentenced to one 
month's imprisonment. But stiU the Government hesitated to 
net against the local Indians who, having no certificates, were no 
more entitled in law to remain in Transvaal than Sorabji who had 
all the other qualifications for residence. 

A further 'invasion' followed. About a dozen picked Indians, 
including Rustomji and Sheth Daud Mahomed, entered Transvaal 
in August and were at once deported. They returned three days 
later and were finally sentenced to three months' imprisonment in 
lieu of a fine of £50. 

Now the Transvaal Indians found means to join their friends 
in gaol. Some traded without a licence-which could have been 
obtained only by showing the certificates they had burned - and 
some walked over the border nnd on returning to the frQnticr 
committed the 'offence' of entering Transvaal without having a 
certificate to show. The number of prisoners grew. In Volksrust 
jail alone there were seventy-five Indians and for a while Gandhi 
was among them. But soon he was removed to Pretoria jail where· 
he was confined alone in a solitary cell kept for dangerous prisoners, 
being taken out only for short exercise periods. 

The jails were overfull, and the Government began to grow 
desperate. They tried deportation, but it proved completely farcical. 
The Indians who were escorted a mile or two over the Transvaal 
border found their way back in a few hours and the Government 
was made to look ridieulo).ls. So they resolved on the desperate 
expedient of shipping a large butch of prisoners to India. Clearly 
I his was an illegal action, since Transvaal Government could not 
justly keep men in custody beyond the borders of the territory 
they governed. But they did it. There was strong comment in 
India and this with the appeals of the Indians in South Africa finally 
led the. Tra_nsvaal Gover_nment to cease the practice. Satyagraha 
was bcgmmng to show 1ts strength. General Smuts was finding 

'that the only way to defend his position was by further acts of 
injustice which brought upon him unpleasant consequences and loss 
of prestige both in his own country and abroad. 

Gandhi and Sheth Haji Habib sailed from Cape Town in .June 
1 !lO!l on a second deputation to England. Smuts and others were 



already there discussing a. possible w1ion of the African colonies 
which could only result in concerted measures against the Indians. 

At the end of the negotiations Lord Ampthill came ~ the 
Indians and said that General Botha offered them some of their 
minor demands, but refused to remove the colour bur which had 
been set up in the law of the land. He advised them to take the 
practical relief and to give up the principle for the time. Perhaps 
later on they might fight for it, but at the moment it was hopeless. 

Haji Habib spoke first, Gandhi his interpreter. He would 
accept General Botha's offer; he spoke as representing the con­
ciliation party and those who held the major portion of the com­
mW!ity's wealth. 

Then Gandhi spoke his own mind : "My colleug).le is right 
when he says that he represents a numerically and financially 
stronger section. The Indians for whom I speak are comparatively 
poor and inferior in numbers, but they nr.e resol~te unto death. 
They are fighting not only for t~e pract1.cal rchef but for the 
principle as well. If they must g1vc up e1ther of the two, they 
will jettison the former and fight for the latter. We have an idea 
of General Botha's might, but we attach still greater weight to our 
pledge, and therefore we .are ready. to ~ace the worst in the act 
of abiding by it. We w1ll be. patient 11.1 the confidence that if 
we stick to our solemn resolutwn, God m whose name we have 
made it will see to its fulfllment." 

In November HJO!J Gandhi sailed back to South Africa to re­
new the struggle. On the voyug.e, his ll_lind !ull of his conversations 
in London with anarchical IndiUn nutwnahsts and astute English 
politicians, he wrot~ "Hind. Swa~aj"-~ndiun ~?me Rule. These 
dialogues were pubhshcd senally Ill lndwn OJ!IIIWII and afterwards 
in book form and in translation.s from the original Gujaruti into 
English. "~Ii.nd Swaruj" .c~mtum~ all the essential principles of 
Gandhi's rel1gwus and pohtJCa.l fmt~~ reduced to practice. It is 
probably the best-known of l11s wntmgs and has run into many 
editions. 

He first considers the Indian political scene. Yow1g Nation­
alists, seething with discontel)t over the Partition of Bengal und 
the flouting of Indian public opinion, would denounce the pntri­
.1rchal Inditlll statesmen and their COIIIISP)s or moderation. Gandhi 
~hows thnl these sumc vctcruns in fact mnde it possible for the 
younger generation to preach nutionalism. The branch may not 
repudiate the trunk. 

He does not therefore accept the cautious counsels of the elders. 
He sees in the Partition the shock which will awaken India to U: 
realisation that pious resolutions and memorinls alone will not alter 
the policy o£ the British. Some mighty force must stand .behind 
the spoken words to compel justicr if justice is not yielded to 
carnrst pleading. 



But what is the objective of the Nationalists? What is Home 
Rule? Does India ask only for the same form and mode of Govern­
ment but in Indian hands instead of English? If so, Gandhi argues, 
they want the tiger's nature but not the tiger. They would make 
not Hindustah but Englistan. This is not self-rule, not Swaraj. 

Why not copy England? Because the condition of England 
is pitiable. The English Parliament is only a talking-shop, pros­
tituted to the sectional interests of Party. The English public 
sucks in its opinions from unscrupulous newspapers, also servants 
o[ party. But these are not faults peculiar to England. Her con­
dition and that of all Europe is the same. The disease is the same. 
It is the so-culled 'civilisation' under which the nations of Europe 
nrc becoming degraded und ruined duy by day. 

Why is European civilisation so bJTcat an evil? In a word, 
because it makes bodily welfare the object of life. In supplying 
bodily needs, fresh appetites are created and encouraged, man 
becomes more and more dependent on the endless variety of com­
forts. Thus seeking to increase bodily comfort it fails miserably, 
even in that object. To keep going this inferno the factory system 
is developed and women and children as well as men are enslaved 
and worked to death. Now they even begin to deny religion. This 
civilisation is such that one hus only to be patient and it will be 
sci £-destroyed. 

If this is so, objects the questioner, how has Englund been aJ;lle 
to take and hold India ? The question leads Gandhi to an examm­
ation of the condition of India. He concludes that England took 
and holds India, only because Indians helped them to do so, because 
Indians quarelled among themselves and allowed their weaknesses 
to be exploited by the imperial power. India's weakness, not 
England's strength, is the reason. He then strives to show that 
English rule has not benefited India. Instead of developing Indian 
civilisation it has sought to impose the deadly 'civilisation' of 
Europe, railways, law-courts, nospitals, economic slavery. 

What then is true civilisation? True civilisation, as. the 
Gujarati word for it suggests, is "good conduct." Happiness is 
largely a mental condition. The simple life of the peasant, using 
his limbs and his muscle in natural and healthy work, undistraete~l 
hy the fnlsc clamour of the mat'hinc and the lies of Press and poh­
tieians resulted in more right conduct, more happiness. Many 
blemishes there are in India's culture, and they must be removed. 
But she has as much to teach other nations as she has to Jearn 
from them. 

The objective, then, is not simply to persuade the English to 
hand over the powers of Government to Indians, but to purge 
lmlinn civilisation of all thnt is evil in 'modern civilisation' as 
well as of what mars her own traditional culture How is this 
to he done? Not, Gandhi avers, by violent revolution. "As is the 
God, so is thP votary." There is the· same inviolable connection 



between the means and the end as there is between the seed and 
the tree. To sow the wind is to reap the whirlwind. Those who 
would save true civilisation must never resort to brute force. They 
must rely upon its antithesis which is not no force at all but 
the force of united, determined and peaceful people. Such people 
must act with goodwill, seek agreement, refrain from violence, fraud 
and secrecy. But rather than submit to injustice they will refuse 
co-operation, break evil laws, suffer imprisonment or violence with­
out retaliation. This is truth-force, or soul-force. It is Satyagraha, 
holding on to Truth. The belief that, ultimately, the power of 
suffering will, where the cause is just, bring victory at last over 
all the powers of evil, of darkness, of violence. This force is the 
most oYerwhelming force on earth. Mankind lives not .by t~e \vars 
of which its history is composed, but by the normnl lovmg kmdness 
of its millions, the very material on which the pnttcrn of violence 
is stamped. Satyagraha oraanises and concentrates the very life­
force in us. Violence orga~ises only its aberration. 

But the discipline of voluntary suffering is a stern discipline, 
and an effective safeguard against the wrong use of these sacred 
means for selfish ends. It is not the discipline imposed from with­
out, but the discipline from within. It is the instmment of the 
self-ruled, those who are fit to rule themselves, fit for Swaraj. Self­
Government for a nation is not a matter of constitution only. The 
machinery of Government may be used well or ill. Those who have 
won self-government through self-r~Jic may he trusted to usc it 
well. This is the Swaraj of the individual and of the nation to 
which, Gandhi concludes, his life is henceforth dedicated. 

But when after the first World \Var Gandhi emerged as the 
unquestioned leader of the Indian people, their spokesman for in­
dependence and their leader in non-violent action against injustice, 
he cou!d. ~ot altogether carry his followers with him in his whole­
snle rrJtJCJsm of Western civilisation. In a preface to the 1921 
cdi~ion of "Hind Swaraj" he says that the Swaraj he is now aiming 
nt Js not the Swaraj he has described in his book. For India is 
not yet ripe for it, she is still too much under the sway of her 
conCJUerors.. But his influence has impressed itself on the nationalist 
move~ent m the boycott of law-courts, English schools nnd foreign 
machmc-goocls, and in the rcvivnl of hand-spinning, Wt'twing and 
,·illnge industries. 



Chapter Ill 

THE TRIUMPH OF SATYAGRAHA 

GANDHI'S min? w~s clear when he stepped ashore at Cape Town. 
He had stated his fruth. He could publish the little book week by 
week in Indian Opi1lion and it would be an inspiration to those 
w~o still fought with him. But how was the fight to be muin­
taJ?ed? If large numbers were to go to jail, the problem of 
assistance to their dependents would become grave, particularly 

•now that the \vealthier elements of the community were tired of 
the struggle and disposed to take \vhut terms they could get. 

·what was wonted was somewhere for the campaigners to live 
together cheaply and naturally. There was Phoenix, of course, 
but that was :JOO miles away from Johannesburg, and was out of 
the question. So he found a farm of 1,100 acres near Lawley, 
twenty-one miles from Johannesburg, and one of his staunch Euro­
pean friends, Kallenbach, bought it and gave it over free to the 
use of the Satyagrahis for as long us they wanted it. They called 
it Tolstoy Farm. 

In May 1910 Gandhi was on Tolstoy Farm, building, bakin.g, 
teaching, healing, and directing the struggle. For two years w~tle 
there was no important clash, the work of building und teachmg 
and growing food, and experimenting in all directions went on at 
the :Farm and there Gandhi received in September l!HO a long 
letter from the b'l'eat Russian after whom it was named. 

Gandhi had written to Tols.toy and received a short reply iu 
March 1910. In April Gandhi writing from Johannesburg sent 
Tolstoy "Indian Home Rule" and Tolstoy acknowledged it in May 
ami spoke also of being much attracted by the biographical sketch 
of Gandhi which Duke had written. In September, after reading 
some issues of l11dia11 Of1inio11, the old Hussian wrote of his faith 
in the way of love to supplant militnry force and violence. "Your 
work in the Transvaal," he wrote, "which to us seems to be at 
the end of the earth, is yet in the centre of our interest and 
supplies the most weighty practical proof, in which the world can 
now share, and not only the Christian but all the peoples of the 
world can participate." 

In October 191 ~ Gokhulc came to South Africa. He was an 
important Indian statesm:m anu the Europeans treated him as 
such. He travelled in special trains, and in the l\tayor of .Jolwn­
nesburg's car. He was presented with addresses, and spoke to large 
crowds and to packed meetings. There wus a great bouquet of 



four hundred in his honour. At Pretoria he met General llotha 
and General Smuts. After a two hours' discussion he came to 
Ga1_1dhi saying, "You must return to India in a year. Everything 
has been settled, The Black Act will be repealed. The rueiul bur 
will be removed from the immigration Jaw. The £3 tax will be 
abolished." In November Gokbale left South Africa. 

General Smuts, as Gandhi had anticipated, kept none of these 
promises. Thus the question of the £3 tax became also part of the 
Satyagrahu struggle, with the important consequence that the in­
dentured Indians became involved in it. 

. When all this was reported to Gokhale in India he was deeply 
pamed. He cabled to Gandhi asking the maximum and minimum 
strength he COJ.Ild count on in the new situation. "Sixty-five or 
sixty-six at the highest, at the least sixteen," Gundhi replied and 
despite Gokhale's doubts as to the possibility of renewing the 
struggle with such a pitiful handful of men, he begun to make his 
plans. With so small a force it was not necessary to maintain 
Tolstoy Farm and Phoenix became the centre of operations. 

In March Hll3 the Cape Supreme Court dealt the final blow 
to the Indian community by a judgment which nullified by one 
stroke of the pen all marriages celebrated according to the Hindu, 
Moslem, and Zoroastrian rites. Thus all the Imliun women ceased 
to be wives and ranked only us concubines and their children 
were deprived of the right to inherit any property of their parents. 

Even now Gandhi's patience held. He wrote poli.tcly t.o the 
Government asking if the judgment wus upheld, und If so If the 
Juw might be amended to recognise the validity of Indian marriages 
consecrated according to the religious customs of the parties and 
recognised as legal in India. The Government would do nothing. 

Gandhi arranged for two groups to court arrest. No nunics 
were to be disclosed until the accused appeared in court. Almost 
all of the little band from Phoenix thus courted arrest by cnteriug 
the Transvaal, and were sentenced to three months' imprisonment 
in S~ptembcr l!Jl3. Simultaneously a band of women, who had 
previOusly courted arrest unsJ.Icccssfully, crossed from the Trans­
vaal into Natal, but again were not arrested. Mrs. Gandhi had 
loyally insisted on being included in this party. .The wo.men wenl 
on to N cwcastlc where their story ereuted such an llllprt•ssJou amtmg 
the indentured workers thut the Government was forcctl to act, 
and the women also were thrown into juil !or three months. These 
arrests only increased the concern of the Indian mine-workers at 
Newcastle who threw down their tools and marched in crowds 
iuto the city. 

Gandhi hurried from Phoenix to Newcastle. He addressed the 
strikers, urging them to lellVC their homes, bringing only the clothes 
they wore and a blanket, 1111d to follow him .. Af~cr eight long 
years the crisis was at baud. Gandhi had no IllusiOns about his 
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men-they were a rough army, including some who had been to 
jail for murder, theft and adJ.I}tcry. But they had . been caught 
up by this sense of intolerable wrong; t~ey were Indians ready to 
light for India, und they would follow Imp. It was eno?gh: '.rl~e 
Transvaal border was 36 miles from Newcastle. Gandhi With h1s 
two thousand followers begun to move forward across the Drakens­
burg Mow1tains, men, women and children marchin~ un?rmed 
towards the jails of the Transvaal to share the lot of the rmpr1soned 
few who were the symbol of the community. 

There was no mob-oratory. Gandhi had explained the ri5i<s, 
the difficulties and the hardships, told them they were still free 
to return to. work if they chose. He had spoken with the mine­
owners in Durban, too, but without finding a way out of the dead­
lock. The motley army marched on 28th October l913. Among 
those who followed them to Charlestown were two mothers with 
young babies in their arms. One died of exposure on the march. 
The other fell from its mother's arms in crossing a river and was 
drowned. But the mothers marched on. From Charlestown where 
the march halted Gandhi wrote to the Government explaining the 
object of the demonstration, and asking as a condition of culling 
off the strike that the £3 tux should be repealed.* He would not 
ask the workers to join the general struggle directed against the 
other grievances. He resolved that., if the marchers were not 
arrested, they would make for Tolstoy Farm and there encamp. 

On 5th November 1913 Gund!1i telephoned to General Smuls 
from Charlestown to usk if he was willing to revoke the £3 tax. 
He was curtly refused permission to converse with his opponent. 
So at dawn on the following morning after prayers the march set 
forward again, 2,037 men, 127 women and 57 children. 

Two days earlier at the border town of Volksrust the Euro­
peans had held un an1,rry meeting. There were threats to fire on 
the Indians if they attempted to enter the Transvaal. Kallenbach 
was there alone but he stood up without hesitation to rebuke the 
meeting and to state t!JC Indians~ case. Another European at once 
challenged him to a duel, but he calmly answered, "As I have 
accept_etl the re~igion of peace, I may not accept the challenge. 
Let hmt who Will come and do his worst with me llut I will 
continue to claim a hearing at this meeting." Th~·y heard hint 
out after that and aft.•rw>trcls K:dlenhaeh ami his challenger bceanw 
!irm friends. The pcacefuJ courage which had won over Gandhi's 
ll~tendcd assassin had sC'rYcd his European friend equally well. 
1hc way through Volksrust was clear. 

*''Titrre \\en• two n~ui-iOJI:i for litis. Fin·-1, ir in tlw l'Olll"He of tho Htl"ll'"'lt· tht· 
<;oH'l"lllllent llladt• :1 prmnil-ie <llhl 1111'11 \\'l'lll ),ad.;: upon it, till' pro:.!l.'anu~~ \\'·mdd 
nuturally ho t•:....lPild('l~ hO lh to t'lllhran~ :-;ul'\t r('p11dintion as well, nn 1l t:.L't:ondl_,. 
tlw hn•al.'la or a prurnts~ Jllade t'J :;ul'lt a n.•prPMCIJI-IIiV(' of India ns (loldwle \\a~. 
WaR nul. only a pcrsunal in:-.u!t It) llltn bnt :tlso to tltC' whole of India and u:~ 
suc~t c~_uld not_ lw l<tkC>n l,nll~! dt)WII. ··-\1. 1\. Uundhi, "~atvngrahu 'in ~oulh 
Afn('a, p. I l.J. -



1'he border of the Transvaal was about one mile beyond Charles­
town. \Vhen the marchers came in sight of it they found a small 
patrol of mounted police drawn up on duty at the border gate. 
Gandhi halted his men and advanced alone, leaving instructions 
with his 'army' to cross over when he gave the signal. But while 
he was still talking with the police the pilgrims made a sudden 
rush and crossed the border. The police did not attempt to arrest 
them and soon Gandhi had restored order and the procession 
marched forward into the Transvaal. 

On the first night the marchers reached Palmford, eight miles 
beyond Volksrust. The women were exhausted, and Gandhi saw 
them lodged with an Indian shopkeeper who promised to send them 
oo to Tolstoy Farm if the marchers reached there, and to their 
homes if the marchers were arrested. 

When all his men were asleep and Gandhi himself was pre­
paring to rest he .heard footsteps approaching and saw a European, 
lantern in hand, coming towards him. It was a police officer who 
had a warrant to arrest him and take him to Volksrust. Gandhi 
aroused a lieutenant and quickly acquainted him with the position. 
The pilgrims were not to be awakened before morning. At day­
break they must resume the march. 

In the colll"t at Volksrust next morning the public prosecutor 
had to ask for a remand since he was not ready with his evidence. 
Gandhi asked for bail, and the prosecutor opposed the req)lest, 
but in vain. There was no ground on which the Court was entitled 
to refuse it and the Magistrate released Gandhi. He was rushed 
by Kallenbach to a waiting car and driven back to the marchers 
who greeted their leader with transports of joy and enthusiasm. 

The march continued and reached Standerton, and there Gandhi 
was again arrested, this time by the Magistrate himself. When 
he reached the Court he found that five of his principal lieutenants 
bad also been arrested. But again the prosecutor wanted a 
remand and again despite strong opposition to the request Gandhi 
was 1,rranted bail. His colleagues remained in custody, but Gandhi 
was free to lead his ragged ai:my on the last stage of their journey. 

On Dth November the marchers reached Teakworth on the 
route to Greylingstad and here Polak came to consult with Gandhi. 
He bad been summoned to India by Gokhalc to give a first-hand 
a.,cuun t o[ the. strugglc and, risking arrest, he bad come to take 
linul instructions from Gandhi. The two men walked together at 
the. head. of _the whole body of pilgrims, striving to finish their 
bl!s~ness Ill time for Polak to catch the evening train for Durban. 
W l~dc they were still talking a party of Europeans and police 
arnnd and Gandhi was placed under arrest for the third time in 
four days. His other chief workers had been left in jail in Stan­
derton. There was only one thing to do. Polak must take charge. 
They had barely exchange<! two sentences when Gandhi was hustled 
into the Cape cart and driven away at full speed. 



The scene shows how far the Government had come to rely 
upon Gandhi's ability to keep his followers from violence. Here 
in the lonely veldt was an army of two thousand homeless Indians 
deliberately and conscientiously breaking the law. And the Govern­
ment sent one policeman to arrest their leader knowing that he 
would come peacefully and counsel his followers to keep the peace. 
How could feeling be worked up against such saintly rebels? How 
could Government avoid looking rather absurd? 

The marchers halted for the night at Greylingstad and then 
advanced to Balfour near Johannesburg where they found three 
special trains drawn up to deport the whole body of them to 
Natal. They demanded that Gandhi should be bro.ught to them. 
If he advised it they would allow themselves to be arrested, they 
would board the trains. But they would not do it· to please Mr. 
Chumney, the Principal Immigration Officer, who had seen Gandhi 
lodged at Heidelberg and then hastened buck to Balfour. So Mr. 
Chumney was reduced to approaching Polak and Kachhalia Sheth 
to ask for their assistance in arresting their followers. This the 
Satyagraha leaders willingly gave. As they spoke to the large 
crowd, begging the men to accept arrest and enter the trains as 
Gandhi had wished them to do, the situation must have been· at 
once impressive and ridiculous. Polak, Kachhalia, and the miners 
were in deadly earnest. They were endeavouring to p.ut Satyagruha 
to the test on a large scale. B.ut 1\lr, Chumney's position coufd 
scarcely have been more ludicrous or embarrassing. The crowd 
was at lust persuaded and all entrained peacefully. Polak was not. 
arrested, and Chumney assured him that the Governmenl had no 
intention of detaining him. But the Government, learning that 
Polak was about to sail to India to tell his story there, thought 
otherwise. He was arrested while waiting for his train at Charles­
town and to make certain that Kallenbach should not take his place 
he, too, was arrested at Volksrust. When this news reached Mrs. 
Polak she prepared to set out for India herself in her husband's 
place, leaving him to Gandhi's cure. It was a plucky action. 
Fortunately she was stopped before leaving Africa by a message 
from Gokhalc. He wus sending Andrews, C. F. Andrews, a man 
who was to become one of Gandhi's most intimate and best-loved 
friends. 

Meanwhile Gandhi had been refused bail-he had askcu for 
it in ignorance of the fate of his army-and was taken to Dundee 
to be charged with inducing indentured labourers to leave the 
province of Natal. On this charge he was sentenced to nine months' 
imprisonment with hard labour. But he must still stand a second 
trial at Volksrust on the charge of aiding and abetting prohibited 
persons to enter the Transvaal. 

At Volksrust he was joined in jail by Kullcnbarh a11d Polak. 
Again the position was fnrriral. The court could not convict on a 
pl.ca of guilty without eYidrncr, and the police could not easily lind 
witnesses. They therefore sought Gandhi's aid ! Gandhi obligingly 



provided witnesses against himself. The same difficulty arose about 
Polak and Kallenbach. Gandhi provided the evidence against 
Kallenbach alsci, by agreement with that amiable friend, and 
appeared for the Crown. He was also witness against Polak. 
Thus the three friends were convicted and sentenced to three 
months' imprisonment. 

For a few days they were together in Volksrust jail. New 
prisoners were constantly arriving, among them an old man of 
seventy-five, Harbatsinh. He was an ex-indentured man who had 
voluntarily joined the struggle. 

"Why are you in?" Gandhi asked, "I have not invited old 
men like yourself to court jail." 

"How eo:uld I help it," replied Harbatsinh, "when you, your 
wife and even your boys went to jail for our sake?" 

"But you will not be able to endure the hardships of jail life. 
I would advise you to leave the jail. Shall I arrange for your 
release?" 

"No, please. I will never leave jail. I must die one of these 
days, and how happy should I be to die in jail." 

Gandhi could argue no further with this wise, illiterate old 
man. He learned later that Harbatsinh died in Durban jail on 5th 
January HJ11. 

The Government was J.measy at the possibilities of discussion 
among the prisoners at Volksrust and they resolved t.o separate 
the leaders. Kallenbaeh was taken to Pretoria, Polak to Germiston. 
Gandhi was sent to Bloemfontein juil where there were no other 
Indian prisoners. He had had no time to study at leisure since 
18U3 and the prospect of a year in solitude filled him not with 
terror but with joy. 

At ~his decisive point in the struggle the Government made a 
fatal mistake. They adopted a policy which dramatised the 
grievance of the Indians and demonstrated exactly what the struggle 
was directed against. 

The marchers had been deported into Natal-they were nut 
even fed on the way-and there prosecuted uml jailed. Hut 
instead of shutting them up in prisons the Govermnenl devised 
what. they eonsidcred " mosl. ingenious plan. They realised that 
to keep thousands of labourers in jail was costly und that the 
mines would be forced to dose d).lring the whole period of the 
sentences. If such a state of affairs continued they would soon 
find themselves ob_liged t.o repeal the .£3 tax. So the Government 
surrounded_ the miHcs with wire, proclaimed the mine compounds 
as out-statwns to the jails, nppointcd the mine-owners' stuffs us 
warders and forced the labourers to work. Previously the workers 
would have been prosecuted iu the civil courts if they had deserted 
the miues. Now they' were to be treated as slaves who could be 
brought back by br).lte force if necessary. 
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The miners refused to return to work. They were brutally 
Hogged, kicked and insulted. Still they held out. Cablegrams 
reached Gokhalc and he succeeded in arousing India to the des­
perate situation of his compatriots in South Africa. 

Then in December HJ13 Lord Hardinge made in Madras a 
speech which was not only a public criticism in most severe terms 
of the South African Government but u wholehearted defence of 
the Sutyugrahis and endorsement of their civil disobedience to 
unjust and invidious legislation. The Satyugruhis had appealed to 
the conscience of the Empire and the conscience had answered 
not from among the Europeans in Africa but through the Viceroy 
of India! 

Meanwhile on the coast of Natal where the largest numbers 
of Indian workers were employed, thousands came out on strike 
in protest against the brutal treatment of their fellows in the 
mines. Still the Government would not yield. They resorted now 
to sheer terrorism. Mounted military police chased strikers and 
drugged them back to their work. The slightest disturbance on 
the part of the labourers was answered by rifle fire. When a body 
of strikers refused to be forced buck to work and some threw a 
few stones, firing wounded many and killed several. Gandhi's 
volunteers were uctually engaged in attempts to check and control 
the strikes, realising that if the whole sixty thousand left work 
it would be impossible to maintain such a large number. One of 
these volunteers was Sorabji, the eighteen-year olcl son of Guru:lhi's 
Pursi friend, Rustomji. At Verulam where many labourers had 
refused to return to work General Lukin was ubout to order his 
troops to open fire when Sorabji seized the reins of his horse. 
"You must not order firing. I undertake to induce my people 
peacefully to return to work." The General held buck ami the 
young man was us good as his word. 

llut the illegal violence of the military who treated strike action 
in Natal as though it was a crime.., continued unabated. It taught 
Gandhi a lesson he always remembered. Governments never hesi­
tated to brenk their own laws if it suited them to do so. Yet within 
six months of firing these murderous volleys the Government re­
pealed the .1:3 tax which was the cause of tht" disturbances. Tlud 
tlwy yi<·ld<·•l lo r<•uson tlwy mig-ht hnVC' savC'd mnny livC's ·-- a11d 
something of their own reputation. 

"I observed in this strugglc," Gandhi wrote Iuter, "that its 
end drew nearer us the distress of the fighters became more intcme, 
and us the innocence of the distressed grew clearer. I also suw 
that in such a pure, unarmed and non-violent struggle, the \'cry 
kind of material required for its prosecution, be it men, muncy 
or munitions, is forthcoming at the right moment." 

The sur\'ivors of Ganrlhi's little group were at Phoenix. JHr. 
West was looking after the English section of Indian Opinion, Miss 
\Vest and Magnnlal Gandhi were there. Soon \Vest was arrested 
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also, although he had committed no offence. Attention had been 
focussed on the little settlement by the visits of hWldreds of 
labourers from the coast who had come there for advice or shelter. 

But Andrews was coming, and Willie Pearson with him. It 
was known to some of them that Andrews at a meeting in Lahore 
in support of the Satyagrahis )lad given all the money he possessed 
to help their cause. Gokhale had chosen well. 

Before these unofficial ambassadors arrived the Government 
was looking for a solution. There was no doubt in anyone's mind 
about the facts, but General Smuts nevertheless appointed a com­
mission of three persons to make recommendations. The Indians 
refused to deal with the commission unless the Satyagrahi prisoners 
were Iirst released- and the Indians were represented on the com­
mission by at least one member. So in December 1913, after 
scarcely six weeks' imprisonment, the Government ordered the un­
conditional release of Gandhi, Kallenbach and Polak. They also 
released 'Vest, against whom they had no case. When Andrews 
and Pearson reached Durban they were astonished to find Gandhi, 
Polak and Kallenbach waiting there to welcome them. Gandhi 
now met Andrews for the first time. 

Gandhi addressed a letter from Durban to General Smuts. He 
objected to the appointment to the commission of enquiry of two 
noted anti-Indian Europeans, and suggested the names of more im­
partial Europeans who would command the confidence of both sides. 
He asked that all the Sutyagrahi prisoners should be released. "If 
this is not done, it would be difficult," he wrote, "for us to 
remain outside jail." If they were to tender evidence before the 
commission they should be allowed to visit the mines and factories 
where the indentured labourers were. If these requests were not 
brrantcd, they would again court arrest. 

The reply seemed to give no hope and Gandhi mobilised a 
fresh band of Indians to march from Durban 011 1st .January 1 !)J.t. 
Meanwhile he sou"ht an interview with General Smuts and on 
obtaining it post p~1ed his match for several days. 

'Vhcn Gokhalc heard of the fresh march thut was contem­
plated h(· was disturbed and eubled to Gandhi advising him Lo 
give it up. Gandhi consulted his colleagues and persuaded them 
that, painful as the dilemma was. they could not retreat from 
their original pledge on which the entire struggle was based. 

At this moment a great strike suddenly broke out quite inde­
pendently among the European employees of the Union railways. 
Muny ?f the Indians were elated at this good fortune and urged 
Gan~llu lo_ lead I he march ut once. Gandhi now rose to the height 
of IllS gcnms and showed unmistakably the spirit in which he had 
eudea \·oured to conduct the whole campaign. Cheated imprisoned 
assaulted, his followers bludgeoned, shot, flogged a~1d enslaved: 
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he remained a Satyagrahi, he kept his grip on hls conception of 
Truth and still steered by his unconquerable goodwill. 

The lncliuns, he decided, were not out to embarrass the Govern­
ment. They would wait :until the railway strike was settled. Then, 
if necessary, they would march. It was not the force of strike action 
on which they relied for success, but the power of voluntary suffer­
ing in a just cause. This, if necessary, they would display un­
flinchingly and to the death. 

The decision created a sensation. Reuter cabled the news to 
England, and Lord Ampthill sent his congratulations. To Gandhi 
and Andrews who had gone to Pretoria for the consultations one of 
the General's secretaries remarked : "I do not like your people, and 
do not cure to assist them at nil. But what urn I to do? You 
help us in our days of need. How can we lay hands on you? I 
often wish you took to violence like the English strikers, and then 
we would knmv at once how to dispose of you. But you will not 
injure even the Enemy. You desire victory by self-suffering alone 
and never transgress your self-imposed limits of courtesy and 
chivalry. And this is what red)lces us to sheer helplessness." 
General Smuts said very much the same. 

This was by no means the first instance of the generosity of 
the Satyagruhis. When the Indian labourers on the north coast 
of Natal \tcrc on strike and great losses would have been incurr~d 
if the sugar-cane that had been cut was not brought to the m1ll 
and crushed, twelve hundred Indians returned to work to complete 
this job and only rejoined their compatriots when it was done. 

Again, when the Indian employees of the Durban Municipality 
struck work, those who were engaged in the sanitary services or 
as attendants upon the patients in the hospitals were sent buck 
and willingly continued to do their duties. 

Gandhi saw Smuts alone. The European railway strike was at 
its height, and the workmen were not only demanding higher wages 
but aimed at getting control of" the Government as well. There 
was no question now of the General refusing to discuss the question 
as he had refused before when a march had been planned and 
announced. 

Smuts w·ould not concede Gandhi's demand that lUI Indian 
should sit with the commission; that would be "derogatory to 
the Government's prestige." He realised that Gandhi would not 
lend evidence before the commission in such circumstances, but 
still he hinted the commission would decide as the Government 
wanted them to decide. Of course, if the Indians would not 
testify, the charges they had brought ngninst police nnd military 
would remain unproved, but that wns for them to think over. 
Smuts did not de-ny the anti-Indian bias of individual members of 
the commission. But after all anti-Indian feeling was very preva­
lent. It would earry more weight if such Europeans decided in 
favour of the Indians' daims. 
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Gandhi persuaded the Indians to let the commission do its work 
unhampered. They would not co-operate as they were unrepre­
sented. But they would not attempt to binder it. 

The commission recommended compliance without delay :with 
all the main demands of the Indian community. The £3 tax 
should be repealed. The Indian marriages should be validated. 
Suitable measures should be taken to recognise the right of the 
Indian settlers to enter the Union us soon as identity was estab­
lished. 

Soon the appropriate legislation, an Indian Relief Act, was 
passed by the Union Parliament. The Act abolished the .£3 tux, 
recognised Indian marriages, and secured rights of citizenship to 
Indians admitted to the Union and holding domicile certificates. 

To Gandhi, the passing of the Act marked the end of the 
struggle. Some were dubious. They recalled that the Government 
had tricked them before, and they feared it might happen again. 
To that Gandhi had an answer. If there was more trouble in the 
future then there mmt he Sntyagrahis to meet it. The price of 
liberty is eternal vigilance. No generation could secure liberty 
for its descendants. Each might have to fight the battle afresh. 

South Africa is now again taking vigorous anti-Indian measures. 
India is protesting strongly. But as yet no Gandhi has emerged 
in the African community to lead his countrymen in a non-violent 
struggle. Indeed the circumstances of war make it necessary for 
the Indians to impose limitations on their methods of protest. 
War with the Axis is something more serious than a railway-strike. 
It still remains to be seen, when war is over, if the Indians under­
stand the way of struggle which Gandhi taught them, and have 
the courage to follow it. 

For the time, however, the main battle had been fought and 
won. There were still minor grievances which had not been reme­
died, and Gandhi in a letter to General Smuts listed several of 
these points on which the Indians would one day expect reform. 
llt~t t~c honour of the community was secured and the principal 
obJectives had been achieved. At lust Gandhi's work· in South 
Africa was done and he was free to go. 

He left Cape Town on 18th .July lllH. Mrs. Poluk wrote that 
they were "parudecl in carriages round tbc town preceded by a 
brass h~nd which played a melody that I knew as 'We won't go 
home till morning' but which probably the musicians believed to 
he something quite different." At any rate there was no doubt 
about the enthusiasm, the love and gratitude of his countrymen 
anrl the rcluctnnt admiration of many Europeans. 

So Gundhi left South Africa for the lust time. He did not 
go directly to India. He came once more to England, and landed 
on (ith August 1 DH, two dnys after war had been declared, 



Chapter JV 

INDIA STIRS-THE LOCAL STRUGGLES 

KALLENBACH sailed with Gandhi and his wife for England. 
He had been more than a loyal friend. He had shared with 

.Gandhi, as far as he was able, the experiments in nature-cure, 
~~:elf-control, and simple living on Tolstoy Farm. But Kullcnbuch 
still had a weakness--for binoculars. Gandhi was not cxnctly 
censorious, perhnps he remembered his own failings. He had once 
come home from England with a .£2 bottle of hair-restorer from 
the Hotel Cecil, an embarrassing possession which he had not liked 
to refuse to buy, but which none of his household in .Johannesburg 
seemed to want. Gandhi tried gently to persuade Kallenbach 
that the possession of several pairs of expensive binoculars was not 
quite in keeping with their ideal of simplicity. "Ruther than 
allow these to be a bone of contention between us, why not throw 
them into the sea, and be done with them?" he said. "Certainly 
throw the wretched things away," Kallenbach concurred. "I m?an 
it," insisted Gundhi. "So do 1," said Kallcnbuch firmly, and With­
out further ado the Indian threw the binoculars overboard. 

The incident is important in this narrative because it shows 
simply and on a small scale an attitude of Gandhi's which later 
on puzzled and worried many of his friends. Neither Andrews nor 
Tagorc ever quite understood what Gandhi meant by his burning 
of foreign cloth in the Non-co-operation Campaign. The throwing 
away of Kallenbach's binoculars gives the clue. When an over­
strong affection for material objects is a barrier to spiritual truth 
or a temptation to wrong action, it is not enough, Gandhi would 
say, to discard the offending articles. They may have to ~e 
destroyed before the eyes of their possessor, who will find out 111 

that moment to which his heart is loyul, to truth or to possessions. 
To demonstrate that all mutcrinl things nrc worthless relntivc to 
certain eternal truths, you muy have to drnmutise it thus. 

Gandhi thought that the Indians in Englund ought to do their 
bit in the war. Many of the Indians objccte<l vigorously. But at 
this time Gnndhi still retained faith in the British system of gov<'rn­
mcnt and he thought that the Indians should not cxplolit the 
situation to press their own nationalist cluims. He advised them 
to volunteer, and wrote to Lord Crewe offering to orgnnis<' th<' 
volunteers as an umbulunec unit. 

When the news got to South Africa, Polak was amazed. How 
<'Ould this possibly be consistent with Gandhi's belief in ahimsa, 
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non-violence? He knew what Gandhi had done in the Boer War; 
but presumably he hue! changed his opinions since then? Gandhi 
gives an impressive answer to these criticisms in his autobiography. 
He is quite cleur ubout the two muin points : "\Vhen two nations 
are fighting, the duty of a votary of ahimsa is to stop the war," 
and "I make no distinction from the point of view of ahimsa, 
between combatants and non-combatants ... those who confine 
themselves to attending to the wounded in battle cannot be 
absolved from the guilt of war." But "underlying ahimsa is the 
unity of all life, the error of one cannot but affect all, and hence 
man cannot be wholly free from himsa (violence). So long as he 
continues· to be a social being, he cannot but participate in the 
him sa that the very exist£;nce of society involves." 

What is essential is courage. "One cannot follow truth or 
love so long as one is subject to feur," he writes elsewhere. "With­
out courage there is no morality, no religion, no life." But courage 
may express itself in one of two ways. To "take part in war, and 
yet wholeheartedly try to free himself, his nation and the world 
from war" is one way, and in following that a man takes on him 
his share of the violence inseparable from the modern state. The 
other way of courage is to resist war, to make an unflinching 
witness against the evil of war, the evil in society, the evil in one­
self, by refusing to co-operate in warlike measures and preparations. 
But who is worthy thus to be the conscience of society, and to cry 
out against man-made evil ? That is a terrible question to rack 
the soul of any but the fool, the prig and the blind dogmatist. 
In some sense those who take that supreme responsibility must 
be dedicated persons with a realisation of the role they are under­
taking. Strangely as Gandhi's phrasing sometimes fulls on Western 
ears as he weighs this supreme moral problem, we seem to hear 
through it the more prosaic voice of our English Dr . .Johnson, "A 
man who only does what every one of the society to which he 
belongs would do, is not a dishonest man." What of a man who 
wi~l not do what every one of the society to which he belongs is 
dom~? He is a dishonest man-unless he is on the way to becoming 
a SUint. 

. "It was quite clear to me," Gandhi writes, "that participation 
~~~ war could never be consistent with nhirn.wt·. But it is not always 
g1vcn _to one to be equally clear about one's duty. A votary of 
truth IS often obliged to grope in the dark." 

However wise his ad.vice to his countrymen, for Gandhi him­
self the decision was almost certainly the wrong one. He became 
ill with pleurisy and did not respond to treatment. Even from his 
si~~-bed he became involved in a "miniature Satyagraha" with the 
~Ii~tarY: authorities whose ideas of discipline for the corps (lid not 
f1t m With Gandhi's. His consolation was that Gokhale, whom he 
had come to England to sec, had now come over from Paris, and 
Gandhi, Gokhale and Kallenbach had many long talks together. 
[]ut nt last it was clear that Gandhi must return to India if his 
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health was to improve. The decision brought in its train a sad 
parting. Kallenbach had come to England in the hope of going 
with Gandhi to India to share his work there. But Kallenbach wus 
German. Gandhi did his utmost to get a passport for his friend, 
e_ven cabling to Lord Hardinge who replied, "Regret Government 
of India not prepared to take any such risk." So India was spared 
the risk of one simple, generous, fruitarian German pacifist and 
Gandhi lost his close friend. "Could he have come to India," 
Gandhi wrote years Iuter, "he would have been leading today the 
simple, happy life of a farmer and weaver. Now he is in South 
Africa leading his old life and doing brisk business as an architect." 

The voyage home was not eventful. Gandhi noticed th.at 
there was even less contact between the Europeans and Indians 
bound for India than between the two races on South African 
vessels, but his thoughts were full of India and of the Phoenix 
party who were already there, at Santiniketan, "the abode of 
peace," the famous settlement of Tagore. In Bombay, Gokhale 
had arranged receptions of welcome for Gandhi. At the Gujaratl 
welcome the principal speaker made a short sweet speech in Eng­
lish. He was Mr. .Jinnuh. Gandhi diffidently entered a mild 
protest against the use of English at a Gujarati gathering. In 
India he preferred to speak the languages of his own people. 

There were other parties and receptions, and before he _left 
Bombay Lord Willingdon expressed a desire to see him and inv1ted 
Gandhi to come whenever there was anything important to discuss 
ur any complaint about Government policy. After u visit to Poonu 
Gandhi turned his face homewards to Porbandar. His brother had 
died but the widow and other relatives still lived in the little sea­
coast town where Mohandas was born. 

The train halted at Virumgam. There was some sort of cus­
toms barrier as well as a routine health inspection. While he 
waited a young public worker, the tailor Motilal, came up ~nd 
begged him to listen to complaints against the customs barr1er. 
Gandhi was ill and tried to terminate the conversation. "Are 
yon prepared to go to jail?" he asked. ""We will certainly go to 
jail, provided you lead us," Motilal answered at once. 

There were many more complaints ubout Virumgum, und 
Gundhi interested himself in the question and studied it carefully. 
\\Then he had satisfied himself that the grievances were well fow!(lcd 
he took advantage of the Governor of Bombay's offer to discuss 
any mutters of complaint. Lord Willingdon agreed that if it had 
been his responsibility the cordon would have been long since 
removed. But it was a matter for the Government of India. 

The Government of India would make no reply to Gandhi's 
representations beyond u brief acknowledgment, until he was nt 
last able to meet Lord Chelmsford. Lord Chelmsford promised to 
n-movc the cordon and was as good as his word. 

During Gandhi's ncgotintions with the Bombay Government 



there was a casual conversation between him and the Secretary 
that is worth mentioning here. The Secretary expressed disapprov~l 
of a speech in which Gandhi hud referred to Satyagraha on th1s 
question. 

"Is not this a threat," he asked, ·'and do you think a power­
fnl Government will yield to threats?" 

"This was no threat," Gandhi answered. "It was educating 
the people. It is my duty to place before t.he people u11 the legiti­
mate remedies for grievances. A nation that wants to come int<• 
its own oJight to know all the ways and means of freedom. Usually 
they include violence us the lust remedy; Satyagruha, on the other 
hand, is an absolutely non-violent weapon. I regard it as my duty 
to explain its practice and its limitations. I hnve no doubt thnt 
t_hc British Governml"!nt is a powerful Government, but I have no 
tlGubt also that Satyai,>TUha is a sovereign remedy." 

The Secretary put his head a little on one side. "We shall 
see," he said. 

At Santiniketan the Phoenix Party were well settled and Gandhi 
a~so had the company of Tagore, Andrews and Willie Pearson. He 
planned to stay there for sometime and at the end of his tirst 
'H~k was already discussing reforms with the stuff when there 
an1ved from Poona u telegram announcing Gokhule's death. 

Gandhi left at once for Poona with his wife and Magunlai 
Gr.ndhi who had been in charge of the Phoenix Party. Andrews 
cam.c a little way with them. Both realised what the loss of the 
lnd1_an statesman ;would mean. Gandhi would be ut once deprived 
of ~~~ guidance and help and thrown into the front rank of Indian 
pohtJcs within a few months of returning to his native land. "Do 
you th~nk," said Andrews finally, "that a time will come for Satya­
~r&h~ m_Indiu? And if so, have you any idea when it will come?'' 

It Is difficult to suy. For one year I am to do nothing. For 
G~k?ule took from me a promise that I should travel in India for 
rammg experience, und express no opinion on public questions until 

have finished the period of probation. Even after the year is 
over, I will be in no hurry to speak and pronounce opinions. And 
~0 I do not suppose there will be any occasion for Saty1\graha fur 
live years or so." 

1 
For several months Gandhi wundercd in India, visiting holy 

P u~es and conversing with priests, merchants, beggars, the endless 
V"lrtet · 

< Jes of Indiu's people. He travelled always as u third-class 
passenger, sharing the hardships of the poor, learning to under­
~tand them and their tro).lblcs." But in his mind wus the pro­
Jected ashram (retreat), and many were the invitations he received 
~~ settle his little community in this or that part of the land. 
~nally he chose Kochrab, a smnll village near Ahmedabud and 

t ere founded the Sntyagrahu Ashram on 25th May 1015. ' The 
statc~ent he wrote of the purpose of the ilshram and the vows 
prescribed for the little communit~· arc u cnll to a life of virtue, 
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simplicity and labour. The community was vowed to truth, to 
abstention from violence, celibacy, fearlessness, and strict self­
control. They were to practise Swadcshi, to work through their 
surrow1dings and accept only what was offered by their immediate 
neighbourhood. The Ashram might well claim to follow the wisdom 
that Plato .urged, "holding fast the path of moderation, and re­
garding poverty as the increase of a man's desires and not the 
diminution of his property." 

The Ashram had been in existence only a few months when 
a cr1s1s came. A friend recommended an untouchable family as 
eligible to join the 1ishram. Gandhi at once accepted the little 
family of three into his household. The orthodox were troubled 
and angered. Financial help dwindled and ceased. Rumours of 
complete social boycott reached the ~lshrmn, but Gandhi was un­
shaken. If means to maintain the community failed, he announced, 
they would go into the city and there live among the untouchables, 
supporting themselves by manua! labour a~ best they could. At 
last the slender reserve was exhausted and Gandhi was preparing 
to leave his settlement when a wealthy gentleman almost unknown 
to him came and without asking a single question gave him 13,000 
rupees to carry on the work. There bud been misgivings inside the 
Ashram, too, about the admission of the untouchables, but these 
were also overcome. The Ashram was saved. 

In March 1916, Pundit Madan Mohan Malaviya moved a reso­
lution in the Imperial Legislative Council for the abolition of the 
indenture system, under which Indians were still being recruited 
for South African plantations. The Government promised abolition 
"in due course." Gandhi was disturbed. Was this another question 
which could be settled only by Satyagraha? He began to open 
discussions with some of the Indian leaders and to probe public 
opm10n. In February Hll7, the indenture system was still 
operating, and Malaviya asked leave to introduce a bill for the 
immediate abolition of the system. The Government refused per­
mission. 

Gandhi now began his work in earnest, touring the country 
to address mass meetings. Under his influence a definite demand 
'YUS formulated. The indenture system was to be abolished by 
:n st. .July. Still travelling in third-class railwny carriuges, dogged 
and pestered_by C.I.D. men, Gandhi went from Bombay to Karachi, 
from Karachi to Calcutta. Before the 31st July arrived the Govern­
ment announced that the system of indenture had been abolished. 
The resolute preparation for Satyagruha hud moved the authorities 
to abundon their policy of delay and concede the demand of the 
people. 

Since the Congress session in 1910 Gandhi had been begged 
to visit Champuran to see for himself the abject condition of the 
workers on the indigo plantations. So from Culcutta he went to 
Bihar and there met Rujendra Prasad and a number of others who 
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were ready to assist him in studying the problem and, if need be, 
conducting the struggle. 

Gandhi soon made contact with the Planters' Association and 
the local authorities. He was first advised to get out, and then 
when he set off to visit a tenant who had been ill-treated he was 
served with an order to leave the district at once. Gandhi replied 
politely that he was unable to obey the order as he considered 
himself entitled to investigate conditions in the neighbourhood 
and to advise those who might have grievances. He was at once 
summoned to appear in court on the following day and through­
out the night he sat up writing letters and directions for his friends, 
so that they might curry on the work if he was imprisoned. 

The court-room was packed with Indians, and the Europeans 
were plainly ill at case. They had not expected Gandhi to stand 
against them. The Government pleader desired a postponement 
of the case, but Gandhi demurred. He pleaded guilty of dis­
obeying the order to leave Champaran, and read a courteous and 
moderate statement of his reasons for feeling unable to abandon 
his work. The Magistrate uneasily postponed judgment. Mean­
while Gandhi wired f:ull details of the position to the Viceroy and 
to Malaviya. If he was imprisoned now, the eyes uf all India wo)lld 
be turned to the backward little district ut the foot of the Hima­
layas. The very action would shout aloud the guilt of the Euro­
peans and their frantic desire to prevent impartial inquiry. Before 
Gandhi could again appear in Court h<e received a message from the 
Magistrate. The Lieutcnunt Governor hud ordered the case to be 
withdrawn. If Mr. Gundhi cured to proceed with his enquiry he 
might count on whatever help he might require from the officials. 
The Champerun planters scarcely attempted to conceal their dis­
pleasure at this new development. They tried at once to stir 
up trouble by a whispering-campaign of evil rumours against 
Gandhi, which was defeated by his own cundour. 

The situation was delicate, and Gandhi's position difficult. 
He would not permit other Indian leaders to come to him, he 
be&"gcd ~le\vspapers not to send reporters, or stir up public opinion 
while h1s enquiry was in progress. 

So the work went on. Day after day wus spent in cross-
~'xumining witnesses und taking down detailed stutcments, attempt­
Ill¥ t~ meet and conciliate the planters und win them over to u 
fa1r new of the problem. Gandhi begun to sec that the condition 
or the peasants was so hopeless that apart from attempting to 
remedy the most flagrant economic injustices he must initiate some 
wo~k of village reconstruction. Already he had many able helpers. 
RnJcmlru Prasad wus there, and Kripulani. From the 1lshmm 
camP his son Devadus, und others. Muhudcv Dcsui, who was to 
be his secretary, his biographer, his companion for nearly thirty 
years, came to throw in his lot with Gandhi. Teaching was begun. 
and schools opPned in six villngPs. Medical relid- Pastor oil, 

60 



quinine, sulphur ointment~ was undertaken. Sanitation was 
organised. Slowly the workers began to build the foundutions 
of health and hope. 

One day a letter came from the Bihar Government. Could 
not Mr. Gandhi now conclude his inquiry - and leave Bihar? 
Gandhi replied thnt the inquiry was necessarily a lengthy one and 
that until it resulted in bringing relief to the peasants he could 
not leave. But the Government might terminate it by accepting 
the peasants' grievances as genuine and redressing them, or by 
immediately instituting an official inquiry 

Gandhi was invited to meet the Lieutenant Governor who ex­
pressed willingness to appoint an inquiry of which he asked Gandhi 
to be a member. Gandhi accepted, reserving only the right to 
guide and ~dvisc ~he ryots in, c?sc the. result o~ the inqui_ry failed 
to satisfy h1m. S1r Edward GUit cons1dered this reservatiOn both 
just and pr(lper, and the inquiry began under the ~hairmanship 
of Sir Frank Sly. 

The Committee found in favour of the ryots. It recommended 
that the planters should refund a portion of the exactions, which 
the Committee found to be unlawful, and that the tinlwthia system 
(under which the Champuran tenant was compelled to plant three 
out of every 20 parts of his lund with indigo-for the landlord) 
should be abolished by law. A bill was passed in accordance with 
the Committee's recommendations. The planters offered strenuous 
opposition to the bill and it was largely due to the firmness of 
Sir Edwurd Gait that the rccommendutions of the Committee were 
curried out. The tinl.-athia system, which had persisted for about 
a century, was thus abolished within a few months. Gandhi had 
won his third important victory in India. But his thought was 
only of the peasants. He planned to continue the constructive work 
for some years, to establish more schools, to penetrate the villages. 
Before he had done more than linish his work on the Committee 
there came an urgent call from .. Ahmedabad, and another from 
Kheda. 

In Kheda the crops had failed and the peasants were unable 
to pay their assessment. In Ahmedabad the mill-workers were 
1!gituting uguins~ low wages .. Neither of these struggles could be 
properly superv1scu from a <hstunee, hut perhaps they might bl' 
'riLJlidly Llisposcd of, and then he would be free to return to 
Champuran. 

Gandhi went Jlrst to Ahmedabad. The labourers' ease, he 
found, wus strong. He met the mill-owners and requested them 
to refer the dispute to arbitration. They refused, and Gandhi felt 
there was no alternative but to call a strike. He instructed the 
workers not to resort to violence, nor to molest blacklegs. They 
must not depend on alms, and nbove all they must remain firm 
no matter how long the strike continued, and earn their bread bv 
honest labour. · 
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For the first two weeks all went well, but then an angry 
attitude towards the blacklegs began to develop. Gandhi knew 
this for a sign of weakness and was not surprised to learn a few 
days later that the morale of the strikers was beginning to totter. 
One morning as he was addressing them, gropin~ uncertai:.;'lY . for 
the right course, words came suddenly and unbidden to his bps. 
"Unless the strikers rally and continue the strike until a ~ettle­
ment is reached, or till they leave the mills altogether, I Will not 
touch my food." 

Three days after Gandhi had begun to fast the mill-owners 
agreed to the appointment of an arbitrator; the strike had lasted 
twenty-one days. 

Gandhi himself was troubled over. the fast. It seemed the 
one way of recalling his followers to the seriousness of their pledge. 
But it also exercised great pressure on the mill-owners, many of 
whom were friends. Gandhi pleaded that the fast was directed 
to his followers, not against his opponents, and begged the latter 
not to withdraw from their position on account of his action. Even 
this did not satisfy him, and he considers that the fast on this 
occasion inadvertently exercised some undue pressure. 

There was a gala meeting to celebrate the settlement. Both 
workers and owners were there, and the latter had provided sweets 
to be distributed all round. They met together beneath the great 
tree under which the strikers' meetings had been held, and the 
men who had behaved with so much control during the strike 
scrambled and shoved like children for the sweets. 

<?andhi had found time to supervise the work of erecting a 
weavmg-shed at the Ashram on the banks of the Sabarmati River 
near Ahmedabad. But he had no time to stay with his little 
community when the strike was over . 

. At Kheda the position was serious. A condition approaching 
fam~nc had arisen owing to a widespread failure of crops and the 
culhvators' very moderate demand was that tlie Land Revenue 
Hules should be applied. The Rules provided that where the crop 
was below a certain value the cultivators could claim a full sus­
pcr~sion of the revenue assessment for the year. The officials 
mamtained that the crop was over the prescribed value and resisted 
the popular demand for arbitration. 

With Gandhi was Desai, Shrimati Anasuyabehn, the coura­
geous woman leader of the Ahmedabad workers, and Vallabhbhai 
Patel wl~o suspended a lucrative practice at the bar, which he 
was destmed never to resume, in order to take part in the struggle. 
When the preliminary investigation was completed and the usual 
overtures of friendship and willingness to negotiate were rejected, 
a ple?ge was formulated. The peasants solemnly bound themselves 
to Withold the revenue. "We shall rather let our lands be for­
feited, than that by voluntary payment we should allow our case 
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to be considered false or should compromise our self-respect." 
For a while nothing happened. But when the people's firm­

ness showed no signs of wavering the Government began to sell 
the peasants' cattle and to seize whatever rnoveabl~s they could 
lay hands on. This wmerved many, but a considerable number 
remained firm. 

To test t}le position of the authorities eight volunteers under­
took to remove the onion crop from a field which had been 
'attached.' They were duly arrested and sentenced, but the event 
put fresh heart into many. 

Still it was evident that large n:umbers of the peasants scarcely 
understood the nature of Satyagraha, and Gandhi was much re­
lieved when an early settlement was reached. The Collector 
announced that if the well-to-do paid up, the poorer ones would 
be granted suspension. The decision was not very fairly operated 
and Gandhi considers that "it lacked the essentials of a complete 
triumph" because "the ·end of a Satyagraha campaign can be des­
cribed as worthy only when it leaves the Satyagrahis stronger 
and more spirited than they are in the beginning.'' 

From Nadiad, the heudquarters of the Khcda campaign, Gandhi 
went to u War Conference in Delhi at the invitation of the Viceroy. 
He went with some doubts, not because the Conference was a 
War Conference concerned with recrJ.Jiting, but because the Ali 
Brothers, the Moslem leaders, were not there. They were in jail. 
Gandhi had been in touch with them, showing a friendly interest 
in the Moslem grievances, und had been using his influence to heal 
the breach that separated the two commw1ities. The great Hindu 
nationalist leader Lokamanya Tilak was not to be there, either. 
These were good reasons for hesitation. But after a private con­
versation with the Viceroy, Gandhi yielded. Only he asked if he 
might speak in Hindustani. No one had spoken in that language 
at a Viceroy's Conference, but he was allowed to do so if he would 
speak also in En~l~s~1. His speec.h was one sent.ence : "With u full 
sense of responsibility I beg to support the resolution." With u 
full sense of responsibility ... For Gandhi could see clearly the 
choice before India. India wus vitally concerned in the outcome 
of the war; sympathies and interests alike drew her to the Alliecl 
side in the struggle .. Had India been wholly non-violent, she might 
huvc found expressiOn for her convictions in some tremendous ex­
tension of Satyugraha. But India did not understlmd or accept 
Satyagraha, and the choice was the old choice, violence or 
cowardice? Better to fight for what you believe right than 
abstain from violcuce only from weakness, from selfishne~s. To 
do that w~mld h.e a betruyal of oneself: a betrayal of one's coun­
try; and It would throw upon the pun tv of Satyugraha the stain 
of cowardice'. Gandhi's mind was ele~1r. He had after ull. 
made this decision more than once heforP. In the Bl;er War. in 
the Zulu Hebe.llion, i~1 ~on don in 1 ~Jl '~, he had chosen to organisP 
ambulance nmts, bchevmg as he did that from the point of view 
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of Ahimsa there could be no distinction between combatants and 
non-combatants . . . · 

But his friends could not understand him. Did he not believe 
in non-violence? Wasn't any sort of balding buck from violence, 
which let loose such incalculable forces of hatred and destruction 
in the world, better than a rash throwing of oneself into the vortex 
of war? How could people be expected to find Gandhi's message 
intelligible as a message of peace and non-violence, if he now 
supported a recruiting campaign? 

Gandhi, back at Nadiad, walking twenty miles a day through 
t~e heat and dust, carrying his food, spurning bedding, speaking, 
pleading, arguing, found that even Andrews, Polak, and his own 
comrades were in doubt. To him his position seemed simple ' 
enough, plain beyond question. What was it he told men, after 
all? "To take part in the work until you have learned your lesson 
from it. \Vhen you _have really learned that, you will no longer 
need to take part in it; you will be above it." 

He was shocked at the reception they gave him. Those who had 
been so ready to volunteer to struggle for their own rights, were 
surly or un_heeding now. Time and again he had the same coH­
versations, too, with his friends. 

"You have proclaimed that 'love overcometh hatred,'" they 
would say reproachfully. "Yes, I know," he answered rather 
sadly, "but I see that my cow1trymen are not refraining from 
acts of physi@u) violence because of love for their fellows, but 
from cowardice, and peace with cowardice is much worse than 
a battlefield with bravery. I would rather they died fighting than 
cringed in fear." Sometimes he thought of offering himself us 
a combatant soldier, as an example and reproach to the others. 
But that he could not do. Every instinct warned him against 
that subtle betrayal of his own spiritual integrity. 

One evening he paid a visit to the Ashram. As he walked 
back towards Sabarmati station 11ext day he felt dysentery surging 
over him. He had had a touch of it the dllY before and had 
been careless in not fasting until it was gone. By ten in the 
evening, when he reuchetl Nadiad, he was in acute pain. The long 
strain of the recruiting campaign, and the doubts and arguments, 
had undermined his strength. But he refused ull medicines. He 
prderrcu, he said, to suffer the penalty for his folly. While he 
was still tossing in a delirious fever the news came of Germany's 
final defeat. 

Gandhi's health did not improve. He was incapable of read­
ing. He could scarcely speak. All interest in living had ceased. 
It was in the hopeless depths of this collapse thut he was persuaded 
to take goat's milk. Years beforr in Africa he hud vowed to give 
up milk bccuuse of the ill-treatment of cows in India* In drinking 

*.\I(Is1 J.:ngljsln11en believe i.11 a general way in "kindnC'HS t#J dn111h anitna.ls"­
pa rj i1'11larly horsPs and dog~ : but the Hiudu l'Oileern for ''Cow Protection'' secllls 
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goat's milk he did not in fact infringe the letter of his vow, but 
he afterwards considered that he had accepted something of a 
compromise, since the exception of gout's milk had not been ex­
plicit in his mind when taking the vow. 

Then as he was beginning at last to rally, came news of the 
Rowlatt Bills. These issued from the -';eport of a Committee under 
the Prcsidcntship of Sir Sidney Rowlatt which was published on 
l !Jth July 1 !J18 and recommended practically the perpetuation of 
the provisions of the Defence of India Act, as Rajendra Prasad 
has said, "taking away trial by juries and assessors in case of 
seditious crimes, taking away the preliminary proceedings of 
commitment on the one hand and the right of appeal after con­
viction ou the other, authorising trials in cnmera and admission 
of cvidcucc not· subjected to cross-examination and not recorded 
by the trial court under certain circumstances und, above all, re­
serving to the Executive the right and power not only to restrict 
the liberty of the individual by demanding securities with or with­
out sureties, by restricting his residence or requiring notification 
of change of residence and demanding abstention from certain acts, 
such ns engaging in journalism, distributing leaflets, attending 
meetings, etc., but also to deprive him of it by arresting and 
confining him." 

"The abuses," Prasad adds, "to which similar provisions of 
the Defence of lndin Act and the rules promulgated under powers 
conferred by it had been put showed the country what these 
proposals meunt and they naturally created consternation in the 
country and when armistice was declared in the autumn or" 101 S, 

to them totally alien and lL trifle ludil'rous. Home readers may thm'eforc• be. 
interested to know in whnt light Mr. Gandhi regards tltis mntter. Here nrc 
his own wor:ls : 

"'l'he cenl-rnl fact of Hinduism, however, is 'Cow l'rotedion.' 'Co\\· Protection' 
to me is one of the most wonderful phenomelllL in nil human ci'Olulion: for it 
takes the human bein~ beyond his speeies. 'l'lw cow to me means the entire sub­
human world. l\Iun through the cow is enjoine<l to realize his identity with ull 
that li,·es. \Yhy the •·ow was seleeted·• for apotheosis is obvious lo me. 'rhe 
cow was in l1Hlin the [,est l'Ompnnion. She wns the giver of plenty. Not only 
di•l she give milk, bul she also mnde a~Jricultnre possible. The ,-ow is u poem 
of pity. One rends pity in lhe genii<' animal. ~he is the 'mother' to million" 
of lntlian 11Ja11kind. Proteclion of the cow mra.ns prolcl'lion of the whole llumh 
"reution of (ioli. rl'ht~ nnf'iC'nt ~ePr, who0\·cr hewn~. begun in I1Hlin with the 
1'0\\'. 'l'lJo nppC'aJ of thC' lower Ol'llPr of ('l"f'nfioll iH nlJ lht1 TllOTC'\ forC".ih)c hPI":I.liSt' 

it iH spccehlc>ss, 'Cow Protection' is the gift of .1-Iintluism to the world: and 
Hinduism will li\'c so long ns tlu·r~ arc l{indus to prolef't the C'OW •.• 

·• A l\fussalmo.n friend sent ntc tiOllle time ngo a book detailing thl· inhumanit ic~ 
pradiseu by us on lhe cow nn1l her progeny: how we bleed her to lake i)IC 
lnsl drop of milk from her· how we otur\'e her lo cmncintion · how we ill-treut 
the calves; how we dcpri,:e them o! their portion of milk:' how cruelly \\·c 
treut the oxen: how we t·uslralc them; how we beat then•: how we overload 
llJCIII. If they ha1! speech they wmd,\ hear witness to our ~ri11tcs nguiusi them 
which 1\0nl,l olugger the world. By C\'N,I' ll<'l of <'l'll!'il)' to our entllr we dis· 
uwn Uo,[ and Hinduism; I do nnl (;now I hal the eondition of the cal(lc in 1111,\' 

olhcr purl of the worhl is HO bad aH in unhappy 1ntlia. \\'p may not hla111c 
the Englishman for thi!i: we may not plen<l poverty in our defenee. Crimino.l 
ncgli~t·n•·e is the only muse of the mioernble condition of our ~altle ... " 
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India was seething with discontent at what she rightly considered 
to be a betrayal of her after the time of 'need of the Empire' had 
passed away. Suspicion was naturally roused that the promised 
Heforms would be postponed and the ordinary rights of the citizen 
to enjoy freedom of movement and sanctity of home and home­
life taken away on the pretext of the existence of a revolutionary 
conspiracy in the country." 

Gandhi was startled to read these drastic recommendations. 
Within a month he was on his feet again and at Ahmedabad dis­
cussing the situation with Vallubhbhai Patel and others. "Some­
thing must be done," he urged. "But what can we do in the circum­
stances?" Patel asked doubtfully. "If even a handful of men can 
be found to sign the pledge of resistance," said Gandhi, "and the 
proposed measme is passed into law in defiance of it, we ought 
to offer Satyagraha at once." He would give battle to it alone, he 
added, if he were not laid up in his present helpless condition. 

There were more meetings, a Satyagraha Pledge was signed at 
the Ashram and published in the Press, and an organisation was 
formed for the Satyagrahu, since it seemed wllikely that any of 
t?e important existing organisations would adopt the method en­
tuely. Gandhi paid the only visit of his life to the Legislature 
to ht>ar Shastri deliver an impassioned and solemn warning to the 
Government not to make the Bills into law. "But," said Gandhi, 
"you can wake a man only if he is really asleep; no effort you 
may make will produce any effect upon him if he is merely pre­
tending sleep. That was precisely the Government's position." 

(}-,mdhi was still very weak. But now he accepted an invitation 
to_ ma~e the long journey so1.1th to Madrus to discuss the position 
With new friends, Rangaswami Iyengar and Rajagopalachari. He 
could not yet sufficiently raise his voice to speak at meetings 
and could nevt>r afterwards stand while addressing a large meeting. 

Out of the discussions emerged a proposal. Gandhi should 
draw Uf? "a comprehensive manual of the science of Satyagraha, 
cmbodymg eYen minute details." This Gandhi felt to,Pe impossible. 
"The very nature of the science of Satyugruha," he once wrote, 
~'precludes the student from seeing more than the step immediately 
Ill front of him." 

News cume that the Rowlatt Bill had been published as an Act. 
That night Gandhi fell asleep while thinking over the problem. 
Towards the small hours of the morning he awoke and in the twi­
light condition between sleeping and waking an idea suddenly 
?ro~e ~pon him. Early in the morning he was explaining his 
msp1ratwn to Rajagopalachari. 

"The idea came to mt' last night in a dream, that we should 
cull upon the country to observe a general hartal. Satyagraha is 
a process of self-purification, and ours is a sacred fight, and it seems 
to me in the fitne~s of things that it should be commenced with 
an act of self-purification. Let all the people of India, therefore, 
suspend their business on that day, and observe the day as one of 
fasting and prayer." 
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Chapter V 

INDIA AWAKES- THE NON-CO-OPERATION 

CAMPAIGNS 

THEY were all agreed about the idea and the date was iixed for 
30th Murch HJJ 0, but afterwards changed to Gth April. News of 
Lhe change reached the Punjab too lute and the hartal was observed 
in Delhi on 30th March. Delhi had seen nothing like it before. 
Hindus and Moslems seemed at one under Swami Shraddhananda 
and Hakim Ajmal Khan. The police opened fire on a hartal pro­
cession, causing a number of casualties. Tension in the Punjab 
increased. 

To Gandhi, now at Bombay, Shraddhananda sent an urgent 
summons. Similar appeals came from Lahore and from Dr. 
Satyapal and Dr. Kitchlu at Amritsar. Gandhi wired back that 
he would visit Delhi immediately after the April Gth demonstrations 
in Bombay, and would then go on to Amritsur. 

The /wrtal in Bombay was completely successful, and associated 
with it were two measures of symbolic civil disobedience. In 
defiance of the Salt Laws, which the Government declined to repeal, 
people were invited to prepare salt from sea-water in their own 
houses. Special editions of two proscribed works were sold in the 
streets- Gandhi's "Hind Swaraj" and a Gujarati translation of 
Ruskin's "Unto this Lust." The Government declared that the 
reprint was a new edition of the. books and to sell them did not 
constitute an offence under the law ! 

On the night of April 7th Gandhi set out for Delhi, but on 
the journey he was served with an order prohibiting him from 
entering the Punjab. He refused to comply. "I want to go to 
the Punjab," he said, "not to foment unrest but to allay it." A 
little further on he was arrested. He gave brief messuges to his 
secretary, Muhadev Desai, and told him to go on to Delhi. 

In the train on the way back to Bombay the Police Inspector 
tried to persuade Gandhi to abnndon his intention of going to the 
Punjub, but Gandhi would not do so. He wus turned loose 011 

the outskirts of Bombay und almost ut once wus picked up by 
a friend's carriage. The news was bud. Gandhi's arrest had 
incensed the people to the pitch of frenzy. Only his presence could 
pacify them. 

Two or three friends hurried Gundhi into a cur and drove 
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him to the scene of the f!lsturbanccs. On seeing him the people 
went mad with joy, but in the noise and confusion his urgent. 
advice to remain calm was scarcely heard. Before the densely 
packed crowd could be q~ieted an officer in command of mounted 
police gave the order to disperse the crowd and at once the troopers 
charged brandishing their lances. Gandhi just escaped injury but 
many were trampled under foot, mauled and crushed in the tumult. 
There was hardly any room for the horses to pass and no . exit 
by which the people could disperse. So the cavalry blindly cut 
their way through the crowd, horsemtn and people mixed together 
in a mad confusion. 

With difficulty Gandhi reached the Commissioner's office. The 
news was ominous now. There was trouble at Ahmedabad and 
Amritsar. Didn't Gandhi see that all this was his fault? Gandhi 
answered that if the people had indeed resorted to violence he 
would at once suspend civil disobedience; but that the rcsponsi-. 
bility must rest on those who attacked unarmed crowds and pre­
vented him from entering the Punjab to pacify the people who had 
invited him for that purpose. 

On the sands at Chowpati he addressed a huge meeting. 
"Satyugraha," he insisted, "is essentially a weapon of the truthful. 
A Satya1,,rrahi is pledged to non-violence, and unless people observe 
it in thought, word and deed, I cannot offer muss Satyugruha." 

Then he hastened to Ahmedabad. There had been a rumour, 
after Gandhi's arrest, that Anasuyabehn had been arrested too, 
and the mill-hands had struck work and committed acts of violence. 
A sergeant had been killed. The railway line had been damaged 
ncar Nudiud, u Government officer had been murdered at Virum­
gam, Ahmedabad was under martial law. 

Gandhi held u public meeting 011 the gwunds of the Sabarmati 
Ashram. He counselled those who had bcc11 guilty of acts of 
violence to confess their guilt, and declared a three days' peni-
tential fast for himself. · 

From Ahmedabad he went to Nadiud. He knew now how 
serious the disturbances had been, he saw that people who could 
remain ~aim in a local struggle ncerlcd far more discipline and 
lcu~lcrshJp before they could maintain suilicicnt control in moments 
of mtc·nse national PxcitemPnt. Speaking at Nudiad he owned to 
a "Himalayan miscalculalion." Before re-starting civil disobe­
dience on a mass scale it would be necessary to create a band of 
wdl-tried pure-hearted volunteers who thoroughly understood the 
strict conditions of Satyagrahu. 

Already at Bombay on 11th April he had warned his followers, 
"If we cannot eonduct. this movement without the slightest violence 
from our side the movement might have to be abandoned or it 
may be 11ecessary to give it a differe11t and still more restricted 
shape. It may be nPcessary to go even further, The time may 
come for me to offer Satyngruha against ourselves." Now, on 18th 



April 1019, he issued a statement suspending Civil Disobedience 
temporarily. "I am sorry," he wrote, "that when I embarked 
upon a muss movement I under-rated the forces of evil, and I 
must now pause and consider how best to meet the situation." 

Meanwhile the tragedy of the Punjab had taken place. _On 
10th April, Sir Mich.ael O'Dwyer, not content with preventmg 
Gandhi from entering the province, took the fatal step of deporting 
the responsible local leaders Dr. Kitchlu and Dr. Satyapal. A large 
body of men marched to the house of the Deputy Commissioner 
to make representations for the release of these leaders and was 
fired on. Serious rioting then broke out, b:urning, looting and 
several murders and assaults. On 11th April General Dyer arrived 
at Amritsar and occupied the town. There was no incident on 
11th or 12th, but on the 13th a meeting was advertised to take place 
ut u vacant space known us Julliunwallu Bagh. Dyer prohibited 
the meeting and when the crowd assembled he suddenly appeared 
in the only exit to the square with troops and machine guns. 
Within 30 seconds of his arrival he opened fire and continued for 
ten minutes shooting into the thickest of the unarmed crowd. 

Subsequently there has been considerable dispute abo).lt the 
details. The Indian enquiry recorded that 1,200 were killed and 
3,GOO wounded. The Hunter Commission only admitted 400 killed 
and many more injured. Since it has been often stated that Dyer 
only fired because he thought the crowd would attack if he hesitated, 
it may be well to quote his own words before the Hunter Committee : 
"I think it is quite possible I could have dispersed the crowd with­
out firing, but they would have come buck again and laughed, 
and I should huve mucic whut I consider to he 11 fool of myself." 
Sir Michael O'Dwyer at once sent the General a telcgrum : "Your 
action correct. Lieutenant Governor npprovcs." 

'l'his was only one event in the reign of trrror in the Punjnb. 
Men were flogged, crowds were bombed and machine-gunned from 
the air, people were forced to cr.uwl on their stomachs at the whim 
of the military. It was admitted, as Gandhi emphasized in his 
statement OJ~ 18th April, that the events in the Punjab were un­
connected With the Sutyugruhu movement. But Gandhi still felt 
that his pres~n~c might ease the situation and he begged the Vice­
roy for pernnsswn to go. This was refused uml, ruther thnn court 
nr~est, he contim~ed his wor~ ut llombuy. A friendly European 
editor, Mr. Hormman, ?ad JUSt ~een deported, although his only 
offence was the _expre_ssiOn of qmte moderate opinions. Gandhi 
took over the e(htorsh1p of another paper, Yonn# l11dia, to fill the 
gap. He needed the paper for the ellicient conduct of his move­
ment, . and he edited it with typical nusterity, refusing nil 
advertisements. 

C. F. Andrews hnd reached the Punjab nnd his henrt-rending 
account of tiH• position mnYed Gandhi to plead again and aguin 
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for permission to go to Amritsar. At last in October he was 
allowed to go and after a tremendous reception at Lahore he set 
to work with Shraddhananda, Malaviya, and Pundit Motilal Nehru, 
whom he now met for the first time, to sift the evidence. C. R. 
Das, Abbas Tyabji and Mr. Jayakar also joined in the enquiry. 
The Indians had decided to boycott the Hunter Commission and 
to conduct their own enquiry independently. The situation was 
curiously reminiscent of the crisis of the South African struggle, 
and the discrepancy in the published conclusions seems to jus~ify 
the decision not to co-operate. Gandhi himself drafted the lndwn 
report, and he vouches for the fact that every statement in it 
is substantiated by evidence and is free from conscious exaggeration. 

From Amritsar Gandhi was called to Delhi to a joint Hindu­
Moslem Conference on the Khilafat question. At this time rela­
tions between the Congress and the All-India Moslem League were 
fairly good. In Hll6 the Lueknow Congress had ratified an agree­
ment between the All-India Congress Committee and the League 
qn ~he steps that should be taken towards self-government so that 
lndta should become "an equal partner in the Empire with the 
scl£-governing Dominions;" the Moslems were conceded separate 
ele~torates and the right to veto legislation if three-quarters of 
their representatives in any legislature so decided. This Hindu­
Moslem c.oncordat was subsequently accepted by, and incorporated 
en bloc In, the Montford Reforms-the convenient abbreviation 
for the report on constitutional reform issued by Mr. Montagu 
and Lord Chelmsford on 8th July 1918 . 

. The Khilafat grievance may be described in the words of 
RnJendra Prasad : 
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"When war broke out between England and Turkey, Indian 
Moslems found themselves on the horns of a dilemma, Should 
they ~elp the Turks and the Sultan who stood as the reprc­
s~ntatJ:': and Defender of t~eir faith, or should they support 
t e BntJsh power under whiCh they had been living for more 
th~~ a century? They decided to throw in their lot with the 
~ritJsh in the hope and faith that their religious places would 
f c kcp~ under Moslem control and they would be able to secure 
tr their Turkish co-religionists terms of peace which would be 
avourable to them. Their faith was based on declarations 
~ude by the Viceroy in India and the Prime Minister of Eng­
. and (!dr. Lloyd George) in which the former had pledged 
1
;n:;uruty of the holy places in Arabia, Mesopotamia and of 
fl e h d.ah, and the latter had assured the Moslems-'Nor arc we 
Ig ting to deprive Turkey of its capital or of the rich and 

renowned lands of Asia Minor and Thracc which are predomi­
nantly Turkish in race.' 

"When war came to un end and rumours about the severe 
nature of the terms proposed to Turkey got abroad, M~slcms 
bceamc naturally alarmed and representation begun to bp made 



to the authorities, insisting on the fulfilment of the pledge so 
unequivocally given by the Prime Minister." 
So at Delhi on 28rd November l 019 the first All-India Khilafat 

Conference met to discuss what was to be done. There was some 
suggestion that to win Hindu support the Moslems should agree 
to refrain from killing cattle in violation of the Hindu doctrine 
of veneration of the cow. Gandhi would not hear of such a bargain. 
"If the Khilafat question has a just and legitimate basis, as I 
believe it has, and if the Government has really committed a gross 
injustice, the Hindus are bound to stand by the Moslems in their 
demand for the redress of the Khilafut wrong." The Moslems 
might of their own free will stop cow slaughter, and it would be 
a credit to them if they did so. But Hindu SJ.Ipport must be un­
conditional. 

Another suggestion was that t.he Punjab terror should be in­
cluded in the grievances. Gandhi unhesitatingly opposed it. The 
Punjab question was, he contended, a local affair. "If we mixed 
up the local question with the Khilafat question which arose directly 
out of the peace terms, we should be guilty of a serioJ.Is indiscretion." 

A resolution was carried for the boycott of foreign cloth and 
the stimulation of ,home-spun. Gandhi was able to defeat an 
angry attempt to boycott all British goods in a desperate attempt 
to wreak some vengeance on the British Empire in the event of 
betrayal. He made a fervent appeal for non-violence and wrestling 
with words in an attempt to make his meuning plain he suddenly 
hit upon the phrase "non-co-operation." It was decided thut, in 
the event of the peace terms being unfavourable, lndiu would resort 
to non-co-operation with the Government. 

In December the Congress met for its annual session at 
Amritsar. There were over 7,000 delegates-2,000 more than at 
any of the War-time sessions. 

. . The Congress had been bro~ght into being in lRR5 by an English 
CI.vil Servant, Mr. A~lan Octavum Hume, with the approval of the 
VICeroy, Lord. Duffer~n: . The Congress was intended to be a safety 
valve for Indian pohticJUns, who, under the stimulus of \Vestern 
learning,_ fa~ which Rammohan Roy had laboured so untiringly, 
were bcgmnmg to understand Western legal institutions und Parlin­
men tury methods. 

. For m,any years the Con~ress was abjectly polite in its dealings 
With the Government of lndiU and ultra-loyalist. But some good 
work was done .. As early_ as l8H3 Malaviya was urging in Congress 
the need to revive the village industries. 

In 1 00~ th~re was a complete split in the Conbr,ress and at the 
~lll~unl scssio~,.:n kSurt~ \h.ere wa_s ulmost a free fight. The militant 

A> ·amuuyu b 1 a un lis N utwnulist followers were for extreme 
measures of ovcott und protest over the Purtiti r B 1 h" J 
had been earri~d through in lint dcfhnc•c IJf tl on o t" engu wf tiel l 

· • 1e sen 1mcnts o >e 
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population. The Moderates were alarmed and angry at what they 
regarded as extremist measures. A little Iuter Tiluk was arrested 
and imprisoned und was not released from Mandalay until J).mc 
Hll4o; meanwhile the agitation had been successful and the Par­
tition had been annulled by Royal Proclamation in 1 011. 

This was the issue of which Gandhi had written in "Hind 
Swaraj" that it would awaken India to a realisation that pious 
resolutions and memorials will not alter the policy of the British­
some mighty force must stand behind the spoken words to compel 
justice if justice is not yielded to earnest pleading. 

Mrs. Besant, who had come to the front in Indian politics in 
Hll4, made desperate efforts to bring together the Moderates, from 
whom all power and influence seemed to be slipping uway, and 
the N ationulists, but without s).lccess. 

In 1010 Tilak started his Home Rule League-quite separate 
from Mrs. Besant's Home Rule League founded six months later. 
By the end of the year Tilak had led the Nationalists back into 
the Congress where they now had a strong majority. But the 
struggle was not quite over and Amritsar seemed likely to be an 
eventful session. 

The main issue was the Congress attitude to the King's 
announcement on the new "reforms" which had been foreshadowed 
in the Montford Report. The principal features of the Act of l!H9 
were, to quote Professor Coupland's summary : 

"(i) It established a measure of Provincial autonomy by de­
volving authority in Provincial matters on to the Provincial 
Governments and freeing them to a large extent from Central 
control. (ii) It began the process of relllising responsible 
Government in the Provinces by dividing the field of govern­
ment ('dyarchy'); while such vital subjects as law and order 
were 'reserved' to the control of the Governor and his Executive 
Councillors, responsible as before to the Secretary of State 
and Parliament, the rest of the field was 'transferred' to Indian 
Ministers responsible to their Provincial Legislatures. (iii) 
I~ eonvl'rted the existing Central Legislative Council intG u 
h1-cumeral legislature for British India, directly elected for 
~he most purt on a national or unitary basis; dyarehy was not 
Introduced at the Centre, the whole Executive remaining 
responsible to the Secretary of State and Parliament. (iv) 
It established a Chamber of Princes representing the rulers 
o~ the Indian States for rleliberative purposes. (v) It pro­
~Ided, lastly, for the appointment of a Statutory Commission 
Ill ten years' time to consider the possibility of the further 
extension of responsible government." · 

To the ardent Nationalists the reforms were unacceptable. 
C. R. Das held strongly that they ought to be rejected us wholly 
inadequate and unsatisfactory. Tilak was inclin«>d to follow Das, 
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Gandhi believed that an attempt ought to be made to work 
the Reforms. The thought of opposing the Congress celebrities 
appalled him and he suggested to Maluviyu and Motilnl Nehru 
that it would be in the general interest if he absented himself from 
the session. They would not hear of it. Gandhi also objected 
to the custom of taking votes indiscriminately so that delegates 
and visitors participated and was given an assurance that on the 
day in question delegates only would be permitted to vote. So 
he consented to frame a resolution which was to be supported by 
Malaviya and Mr. Jinnah. 

Gandhi's draft was moved as an amendment to C. R. Das's 
resolution. The amendment was itself modified, but as finally 
adopted it curried Gandhi's point: " ... This Congress trusts 
that, so fur us may be possible, the people will so work the Re­
forms as to secure an early establishment of full Responsible 
Government . . . " 

Das and Gandhi shared the honours of the day, but the-official 
Congress history records that "there is no manner of doubt what­
ever that the whole Congress was a triumph for Gandhi." He 
politely insisted that he could not remain in the Congress unless 
it condemned the mob-violence in the Pw1jab and Gujarat. The 
Subjects Committee were for throwing out the Resolution; the 
delegates were sullen or amazed. But Gandhi's speech was superb. 

"There is no greater Resolution before the Congress than this 
one. The whole key to success in the future lies in your hearty 
recognition of the truth underlying it, and acting up to it. To the 
extent we fail in recognising the Eternal Truth that underlies it, 
to that extent we are bound to fail . . . The Government went 
mad at the time; we went mad also at the time. I say, do not 
return madness with madness, but return madness with sanity and 
the whole situation will be yours." He was irresistible. 

To complete the occasion the Ali Brothers arrived, released 
under a Royal Proclamation grantmg amnesty to political prisoners. 
Mahomed Ali beaming broadly from the platform announced that 
he came from Chhindwara jail-"with a return ticket." There 
was no doubt about it; the Congress was becoming united as it 
had not been united since the split at Surut twelve years before, 
and the Hindu nnd Moslem lenders were united too, nt Ienst for 
the time being. The concordat of 1016 still held. 

Gandhi set the seal on his work at Amritsar by drafting a 
new Constitution for the Congress which he still regards "with a 
certain measure of pride." Its most 'importun t featmre was a 
severe limitation of the number of delegates, to keep the annual 
session within manageable dimensions. 

In the first months of 1 !J20 public attention was chiefly con­
centrated. on th~ Khilafat question. Dr. Ansari led a deputation 
to the VICeroy m January, and another deputation headed by 
Muhomrd Ali went to England and waited on the Prime Minister; 



they asked permiSSion to place their views before the Supreme 
Council of the Peace Conference and were refused. 

In May the terms were made known and the Viceroy issued 
an explanatory statement, asking the Moslems of India to brace 
themselves to bear with patience and resignation the misfortunes 
of their Turkish co-religionists. 

At the end of May came the Report of the Hunter Commission. 
It was not unanimo).ls. The Indian members considered that the 
outbreak of mob-violence in the Punjab had been accidental; the 
Europeans declared it to have been a premeditated revolt. More­
over the Hunter Report gave very much lower figures for the 
Amritsar Massacre than the Congress Report which had appeared in 
March, and for the accuracy of which Gandhi himself vouched. 
Above all, Sir Michael O'Dwyer remained in office, the censure of 
General Dyer was very light, and it was at once guessed that little 
if any action wo).lld be taken against most of the Europeans criticised 
in the Report. 

These two events broke Gandhi's faith in the Government of 
India and in the possibilities of czo-operation. Under the 1919 
Act India was to be given a larg:e measure of self-government, as 
a reward for her services and sacrifices in the Great War. The 
Rowlatt Act had been a bad omen, but still he had persisted in 
offering co-operation and had carried his point against C. R. Das 
in the momentous Amritsnr Congress. 

The liHD Act itself was bud enough from the point of view 
of the Indians. It offered a measure of provincial autonomy, 
although the reins remained in the hands of the British even there. 
It consolidated the position of the Princes, most of whom were 
anything but representative leaders of their peoples. The Central 
Lcgi~laturc was practically powerless. "As for the assembly at 
Dclht," wrote Mr. ·winston Churchill in 1931, quoting the private 
c~m?lents of Mr. Montagu at the time when the Act was passed, 
"It IS only. 'a debating society' without power to affect the course 
of events m opposition to the will of the Imperial Government." 

All this Gandhi had known. But he was a realist. He believed 
that. the spirit of co-operation was more important than the out­
wnrd forms of organisation anti Government. H the British were 
willing to govern India in accordance with the wishes of the people, 
the people should co-operate so that at the end of the ten-year 
period laid down by the Act they would have shown themselves 
fit for self-government. 

The broken pledge to the Moslems and the failure to atone for 
the Punjab terrorism. showed Gandhi quite plainly that India \VaS 
not to have the substance of representative Government. On the 
coutrary the most explicit and most deeply-held convictions of the 
two great religious communities were flouted by Government; it 
was not dyarchy but Dyerarchy. 



Already in March Gandhi had framed a programme of Non­
Co-operation to be put into effect if the Peace Terms did not meet 
the sentiments of the Indian Moslems. The Moslems believed that 
in certain circumstances violence, the Holy War, was justified. 
Gandhi's task was to persuade them to adopt only Non-violent 
methods: 

"The barbarous method is warfare, open or secret. This must 
be ruled out, if only because it is impracticable. If I could 
but pers).lade every one that it is always bad, we should gain 
all lawful ends much quicker. The power that an individual 
or a nation forswearing violence can generate, is a power that 
is irresistible." 
Gandhi believes, then, that Non-Violence, which is for him 

a faith, u weapon for all occasions, cnn be effectively used ns u 
policy by those who would in some circumstances resort to violence. 

His defence of this position, given in an article in YounM 
India in 1922, is interesting : 

"I make bold to say that violence is the creed of no religion 
and that, whereas non-violence in most cases is obligatory in 
all (religions), violence is merely permissible in some cases. 
But I have not put before India the final form of non-violence. 
The non-violence that I have preached from Congress platforms 
is non-violence as a policy. But even policies require honest 
adherence in thought, word and deed ; otherwise I become an 
impostor. Non-violence being a policy means that it can upon 
due notice be given up when it proves unsuccessful or in­
effective. But simple morality demands that, whilst a par­
ticular policy is pursued, it must be pursued with all one's 
heart." 
Non-Co-operation was adopted by a joint Hindu-Moslem Con­

ference at Allahabad on 30th June. A message was sent to the 
Viceroy begging him to secure a revision of the Peace Terms. 
Otherwise Non-co-operation woulo commence on 1st August. 

The gravity of the Moslems' grievance was revealed when 
18,000 of them tried to make their way out of India into Afghani­
stan rather than remain in India under British rule. 

Gandhi, Shuukat Ali ,md others now made nn extensive nnd 
exhausting tour through the Punjab, Sindh and Madras, addressing 
huge meetings on the Khilafat question. It took the leaders thr~e­
quurters of an hour to. get from the train to the waiting motor­
ear at Madras, struggling and almost suffocated in the jostling 
crowd, and finally being shoved into the cur by hard-pressed volun­
teers. Gandhi wrote pungent descriptions of his experiences in 
Young India : 

"We were travelling to Madr~s by the night truin leaving 
Bungalorc. We had been takmg meetings at Salem during 
the cluy, motoring to Bungalore, a distance of 12:3 miles from 



Salem, taking there a meeting in drenching rain and there­
uftcr we had to entrain. We needed night's rest but there 
was none to be had. At almost every station of importance, 
large crowds had gathered to greet us. About midnight we 
reached Jolarpet junction. The train had to stop there nearly 
forty minutes, or stopped that night all those terrible minutes. 
Maulann Shaukat Ali requested the crowd t? disperse. But 
the m_orc he argued the more they shouted 'Maulana Shaukat 
Ali-ki-jai,' evidently thinking that the Maulana could not mean 
what he said. They had come from twenty miles' distance, 
they were waiting there for hours, they must have their satis­
faction. The Maulana gave up the struggle, he pretended 
to sleep. The adorers thereupon mounted the footboards to 
have a peep at the Maulana. As the light in our compurtment 
was put o.ut, they brought in lanterns. At last I thought I 
would try. I rose, went to the door. It was a signal for a 
great shout of joy. The noise tore me to pieces, I was so tired. 
All my appeals proved fruitless in the tnd. They would stop 
for a while to renew the noise again. I shut the windows 
but the crowd was not to be baffled. They tried to open the 
windows from outside. They must see us both. And so the 
tussle went on till my son took it up. He harangued them, 
appealed to them for the sake of the other passengers. Peep­
ing however went on to the last minute. It was all well­
meant, it was all an exhibition of boundless love, yet how cruel, 
how unreasonable ! It was a mob without a mind. There 
were no intelligent men of influence among them and so no­
body listened to anybody." 

After another such experience a month later he wrote that it 
was "a unique demonstration of love run mad :" 

"An expectant and believing people groaning under misery 
and insult believe that I have a message of hope for them. 
They come from all quarters within walking reach to meet 
me. I do believe that I have a message of hope and certain 
deliverance, but- ? Yes, it is a big BUT. There is no 
deliverance and no hope without sncrificc, discipline and self­
control. Mere sacrifice without discipline will be unavailing. 
How to evolve discipline out of this habitual indiscipline?" 
He saw the problem clearly enough. But the full significance 

or these universal symptoms of well-meaning disorder escaped him, 
as the full meaning of the disturbances in the Bombay Presidency 
and the Punjab had escnped him. He had owned to one "Hima­
layan miscalculation." The time would come when he would 
admit that, despite the greater precautions he insisted on taking, 
he was guilty of another grave error of judgment. 

Before Gandhi lay the task of convincing the Congress that 
they must adopt the Non-Co-operation programme. He had 
addressed a stern letter to the Viceroy : "My duty to the Empire 



to which I owe my loyalty requires me to resist the cruel violence 
thut has been done to the Moslem sentiment. So far as I am aware, 
Moslems and Hindus have as a whole lost faith in British justice 
und honour . . . . In these circumstunccs, the only course open 
to one like me is either in despair to sever all connection with 
British rule, or, if I still retained faith in the inherent superiority 
of the British constitution to all others at present in vogue, to 
adopt such means as will rectify the wrong done, and thus restore 
confidence. I have not lost faitp in such superiority and I am 
not without hope that somehow or other justice will yet be rendered 
if we show the requisite capacity for suffering." 

Now he addressed the Congress public. "Better for me a 
beggar's bowl than the richest possession from hands stained with 
the blood of the innocents of Jullinnwala," he cried. "Better by 
far a warrant of imprisonment than honeyed words from those 
who have wantonly wow1ded the religious sentiment of my seventy 
million brothers." 

There was to be a special Session of the Congress at Calcutta 
early in September and Gandhi, still not sure of carrying the 
Conference with him on the programme of Non- Co- operation, 
accepted ·the Presidentship of the All-India Home Rule League, 
from which Mrs. Besant seceded, and published a statement of 
policy. 

At Calcutta Gandhi again found C. R. Das his most formidable 
opponent, althoug_h only nine months before the positions had b~en 
reversed. Gandhi's Resolution, embodying his Non-Co-opcrutwn 
programme passed the Subjects Committee by only seven votes. 
In the open Session Bepin Chandra Pal and Das moved an amend­
ment asking that a mission go to the Prime Minister to state 
India's grievances and to demand immediate autonomy. Gandhi's 
resolution was accepted by u large majority. 

His programme called for the surrender of titles and honorary 
offices, refusal to attend officiul ·functions, withdrawal of children 
from schools and colleges controlled by the Government (alter­
native National schools were to be set up), boycott of law-courts, 
boycott of elections by candidates und voters, and boycott of foreign 
goods. Coupled with the last point was un emphatic cull for the 
rcvivul of hand-spinning unci hand-weaving. 

When the elections were held, SO',Yu of the electorate followed 
the advice of Congress and refrained from voting. 

On lst August, just before this Special Session, Tilak hnd 
died. He had been a great and noble warricr in the N ationulist 
cause, and his gifts and inclinations us u professor of mathematics 
have been forgotten. "I detest politics," he had once said. "I 
still wish to write a book on differential ,calculus. The country is 
in a very bad way and none of you is doing anything for it. So 
I am compelled to look into the matter." And when a friend had 
pointed out that his salary of Hs. :30 fTom a nationalist school 
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would scarcely suffice to bury him he replied, "Society m).lst bother 
about it more than o_urselves. They will see to the burning of our 
corpse for purposes of sanitation, if not of hero-worship." In 
politics he bad felt that one must be as cunning as the next man. 
"Politics is a game of worldly people, not of sadhus," he wrote 
to Gandhi, and Gandhi answered that "it betrays mental laziness 
to think that the world is not for sadh11S." But he felt the loss of 
Tilak deeply, and us he set down a tribute to his faith and 
patriotism and courage he saw that "It is blasphemy to talk of 
such a man as dead. The permanent essence of him abides with 
us for ever." 

When the Congress met in regular session at Nagpur in Decem­
ber the tide of Non-Co-operation was beginning to turn. At 
Calcutta Gundhi hud fought ulmost ulone, with some lute ussistuncc 
from Motilal Nehru. Now before an enormous gathering of 14,500 
(no less than 1,000 were Moslems) he had the support of Nehru, 
Lala Lajpat Rai and-C. R. Das ! At the wish of the President, 
and presumably to meet Das and his supporters, the object of the 
Satyagraha was defined as Swaraj, by which most of the delegates 
meant Dominion Status. Gandhi concurred in the alteration, and 
th~ resolution was carried by a large majority. Gandhi also ob­
tamed an important alteration in the Creed of the Congress which 
was finally passed with only two dissentients after a whole day's 
discussion. Previously the Creed had referred only to the attain­
ment of Swaraj by legitimate meuns, now the phrase wus amended 
to legitimate aurl peaceful so thut there might be no mistake as to 
the authority for the Non-Violence programme. Gandhi has always 
held that his peaceful means are in fact thoroughly constitutional, 
a theory which has not found favour with the British. 

The months that followed the Nagpur Conference were event­
ful. "Never before in the history of India, since its connection 
with Britain," writes Rajendru Prasad, "had popular indignation 
and popular enthusiasm been greater. Never before during this 
long_ period hud the country secured the loving und ungr).ldging 
scrv1ces of so many of her sons. Never before had the faith of 
the people in themselves and in the country's ability to solve its 
own difficulties burned brighter." 

Hundreds of lawyers suspended their pructicc, locul punchayuts 
-scir-uppointcd courts of justice-begun to supersede the State's 
lawcourts for the settlement of disputes, thousands of college stu­
dents withdrew themselves and many schools were altogether 
dcs_erted. National Colleges, Vidyapiths, were opened in Aligur, 
~upra~, Behar, Benures, Bengal and Maharustra, und in February 
Gandhi opened one at Calcutta. A !urge number of national schools 
sprang up. The State visit of the Dulce of Connaught wus boy­
cotted. llarta/s were observed wherever the Duke went and after 
op('J]ing some of the Provincial Legislative Councils and the new 
Legislature at Delhi he left t}le country. Gandhi concentrated 
particularly on encouraging hund-spiuning and weaving. 
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The spirit of non-violence was permeating not only the struggle 
for Swaraj b:ut other social strugg~es quite WJconnected with the 
Congress movement. An agrurian movement developed in the 
United. Provinces where there wus serious oppression of the peasants 
by the1r _la~dlord~, and_ an extraordinarily heroic campaign a~ong 
the Akah S1khs, m which two hundred lives were lost on a smglc 
occasion in a struggle for religious rights, took Gandhi on a special 
mission to the Punjab in March. 

In August 1920, when it first became clear that Non-Co­
operation would be adopted by the Moslems and the Nationalists 
on a large scale, Lord Chelmsford had affected to despise the move­
ment which he described as "the most foolish of all foolish schemes." 
But ns the programme developed throughout 1921 rep[essive 
measures were employed, despite an curlier assurance that no 
action was intended against those who remained entirely non-vio­
lent and whose action was therefore quite lawful. 

The Congress Council - the All-India Congress Committee -
met in March at Bezwada and passed a short-term programme 
which succeeded in raising in the prescribed three months a crore 
of rupees, and recruited nearly a crore Qf members as well as 
starting 20 lakhs of spinning-wheels humming throughout the lengtb 
and breadth of the sub-continent. 

While this work was in progress there were one or two dis­
turbances. At Mulcguon there occurred a riot resulting in the 
death of severul policemen and some members of a mob, and there 
were acts of incendiarism. The Ali Brothers were sometimes reck­
less in their public speeches and through the intervention of C. F. 
Andrews, Gandhi came to Simla to see the Viceroy and subsequently 
persuaded the Ali Brothers to withdruw publicly one or two state­
ments that might have been interpreted as incitement to violence. 
This friendly talk with the Viceroy at the height of a major struggle 
created bewilderment, suspicion und a great deal of miswJdcr­
standing. People were still Wlfamiliar with the Gandhian form 
of warfare in which one is ut all times ready to negotiate with 
the opponent and if possible to reach agreement. 

Gandhi was proceeding with considerable caution, and he cur­
ried the Ali-Indiu Cong-ress Committee with him in his determination 
thut Civil Disobedience should be postponed until the completion 
Of the constructive Swadeshi programme which wus regurdcd as 
u test of the measure of influence attained by the Conbrrcss and a 
guarantee of the stability of the non-violent atmosphere. 

To Gandhi it became more and more clear that in the spinning­
wheel lay the salvation of India, the restoration of something like 
independence and sclf-rc~pect for the hwnblc villagers. He re­
doubled his efforts to spread the usc o[ the wheel, the clwr/,·11, 
throughout the lund, und in his efforts to bring home to the people 
the extent to which reliance on foreign machine-made eloth had 

7!.1 



ruined them he organised' at the end of July an enormous bon­
fire in Bombay. 

"It was· a most inspiring sight," he wrote proudly, "witnessed 
by thousands of spectators. And as the flame leapt up and cn­
Yeloped the whole pyramid, there was a shout of joy resounding 
through the air. It was as if our shackles had been broken asunder. 
A glow of freedom passed through the vast concourse. It was a 
noble act nobly performed. It has, I am sure, struck the imagi­
nation of the people as nllthing else co:uld have so far as Swadeshi 
is concerned." 

His friends thought othenvise. Some felt that the gesture was 
one of arrogance and pride. Some said that the destruction of 
useful and beautiful work can never be justified, and that the 
costly silks and saris should have been given to the poor. To the. 
latter Gandhi answered severely, "The ill-clad or the nuked millions 
of India need no charity but "'ork that they can easily do in their 
cottages. Have not the poor any feeling of self-respect or patrio­
tism? Is the gospel of Swadeshi only for the well-to-do?" 

Tagore had more formidable objections, which Romain Rol­
land describes in his brilliant monograph on Mahatma Gandhi : 
". . . He does not realise that the fury of the masses is gathering 
impetus, and that instinctively these masses reason, 'Things first, 
men next!' He does not foresee that in this same Bombay, less 
than three months afterwards, men will be killing men. Gandhi is 
too much of a saint; he is too pure, too free from the animal 
passions that lie dormant in man. He does not dream that they 
lie there, crouching within the people, devouring his words and 
thriving on them. Tagore, more clear-sighted, realizes the danger 
the non-co-operators are skirting when they innocently lay bare 
the crimes of Europe, profess non-violence, and simultaneously 
plant in people's minds the virus which will inevitably break in 
violence." 

About this time, but quite independently, the Moplah out­
break occurred in Malabar, and a number of Hindus were massacred 
by a fanatical Moslem sect which attempted forcible conversions 
to Islam. Gandhi and Mahomed Ali at once tried to reach the 
scene of the disturbances, . but again the authorities intervened, 
and the leaders who might have calmed the people were kept away 
while the trouble went on for several months. Then Mahomed 
Ali and his brother and other leading Moslems were arrested their 
offence being that in a Conference at Karachi they had re~olvcd 
that it was "unlawful for any faithful Moslem to scrv'c from that 
day in the army or help in their recruitment," a contention that 
was supported by five hundred of the most respected Moslem 
divines. The prisoners received two years rigorous imprisonment 
apiece, but the offending reso)).Ition was reprinted and distributed 
everywhere, the text being repented word for word at protest 
meetings throughout the country, following Gandhi's example and 
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advice at Trichinopoly where he publicly repeated the speech him­
self. Gandhi and fifty other prominent Congressmen also issued 
a manfifcsto asserting the right of every citizen to express hjs 
opinions, and maintaining that it now became the duty of every 
Indian soldier and civilian to sever his connection with the Govern­
ment. 

The situation was critical when the Prince of Wales landed 
at Bombay on 17th November. Congress, resenting the exploi­
tation of royalty to deny India redress for deeply felt grievances, 
had resolved to boycott this state visit as they had previously 
boycotted the Duke of Connaught. 

As the Prince passed along the decorated route, and Gandhi 
and his followers burnt another great pile of foreign cloth nearby, 
rioting broke out in another part of the city. Passers-by were 
molested by angry mill-hands, trams were held up, and presently 
inoffensive Europeans were pelted, Parsis who had not boycotted 
the reception were assaulted and motor cars, trams and liquor shops 
were damaged and set on fire. 

At mid-day news of the outbreak reached Gandhi 'vho at once 
motored to the scene of the disturbances. He came upon a wrecked 
liquor shop, two policemen badly wounded and lying on cots un­
conscious and unattended. As he got out of his car the crowd 
surrounded him crying "Mahatma Gandhi ki jai" -Victory to 
Mahatma Gandhi! But this was no victory. It was defeat, defeat 
for his creed of non-violence. Always the title of "Mahatma" 
grated in his ears, but never before had it been so unwelcome. 
He rebuked the crowd and they were silent. Gandhi swiftly 
directed his companions to convey the dying policemen to the 
hospital and went on, to find two tramcars blazing fiercely, and 
on his way back he passed a burning car. 

At five there came news of more trouble in the Bhindi Bazaar 
where a crowd of twenty thousand was molesting passers-by and 
wrecking more liquor shops. There had been firing in some parts 
of the city and a few demonstrators had been killed. Volunteers 
who attempted to restrain the crowds came in for severe beatings 
and injury at the hands of police and military. 

The disturbances continued and in the night of lOth November 
Gandhi issued an earnest appeal. "1 must refuse," he said, "to 
cut or drink anything but water till the Hindus and Moslems of 
Bombay have made pell'Cc with the Parsis, the Christians and the 
Jews, and till the Non-Co-operators have made peace with the 
co-operators." F1.nther appeals followed during the next two days 
but on the 23rd, a week after the outbreak, peace was restored, 
and at the instance of the leaders of all communities and political 
parties, Gandhi broke his fast at a public breakfast. It is esti­
mated that about 400 persons were wounded and 53 killed during 
the disturbances. 

The riots had made a deep impression on Gandhi and in Yowzg 
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India on 24th November he wrote: "I am more instrumental than 
any other in bringing into being the spirit of revolt. I find myself 
not fully capable of controlling and disciplining that spirit. I 
must do penance for it. For me the struggle is essentially religious. 
I believe in fasting and prayer, and I propose henceforth to observe 
every Monday a twenty-four ho).lrs' fast till Swaraj is attained." 
Monday is also Gandhi's day of silence. 

His hopes of reviving mass Civil Disobedience had once more 
been dashed to pieces. The atmosphere for muss disobedience was 
absent. In the district of Bardoli it might be possible; there the 
constructive programme had been carried out and Gandhi had in­
tended directly to lannch Civil Disobedience. But Bardoli and 
Bombay could not be separated. They were parts of one indivisible 
whole. It had been possible to isolate 1\fulubur, to disregard 
l\1alegaon; those were disturbances not related to the struggle for 
Swaraj. But it was not possible to ignore Bombay. 

That was his first reaction. But then the reports came in 
from other cities. The hartal had been complete. There had been 
no disturbances. No shops were opened, no vehicles plied for hire, 
many public offices were closed. The Europeans hod been shaken 
by the extent of the boycott and there was a demand for immediate 
Government action. The Bengal Government had declared the 
Khilafat and Congress Volunteer bodies unlawful and similar notifi­
cations were also issued in several other Provinces. It is said that 
this was done on the advice of Sir Tej Supru, who became Law 
Member of the Viceroy's Executive Council in August 1020. 

Congress defied the ban. The Working Committee issued vigor­
ous instructions for bringing under uniform discipline all existing 
volunteer corps, each member of which was to take u pledge of 
non-violence and obey the commands of his superior officers. 

Government replied by urrcsting a number of distinguished 
Congress leaders, including Motilal Nehru, C. R. Das, Lajpat Hai, 
Abul Kalam Azad, and S. E. Stokes. Thousands of volunteers 
were also arrested, and even the Moderate Indian politicians sent 
strong protests to the Government. Malaviyu led u deputation to 
the Viceroy asking for the release of the prisoners, but the Govern­
ment was determined to visit the sins of Bombay on the whole 
nation. 

Ab~ut this time a Satyugrahu on u locul question which hud 
been gomg on at Chirala in the South, in the formulation of which 
Gandhi had offered advice, collapsed. Government had decided to 
turn the village into a Municipality. The village people did uot 
wish it. Gandhi's chaructcristic advice hud been that if the people 
did not care for a municipality they should leave it and live outside. 
There followrd an amazing mass evacuation, or hijrat. For ten 
months the people lived in huts uutsiuc the municipal limits, but 
most of the leaders were arrested on one pretext or another and 
uftcr almost u year they returned to their homes and submitted to 
t)l.e municipality. 



In December Gandhi negotiated for the release of prisoners. 
Lord Reading was at first willing to release the Civil Disobedience 
prisoners but he would not release the Moslem leaders and nego­
tiations broke down. C. R. Das and the ot}lers were still in jail 
when Congress met for its annual session at Ahmedabad and Das's 
presidential speech was read in his absence. 

The session was momento1.1s. C. F. Andrews, bravely appear­
ing in European clothes as a protest against the burning of foreign 
cloth which he feared would inculcate violence, was received 
courteously and had an 6.ttentive hearing. But there was no 
weakening in the Congress. Twenty thousand individual non­
co-operators were already in jail. Soon thousands more would 
join them. Congress passed Gandhi's resolution to court arrest 
us members of the peaceful volunteer associations pledged to remain 
non-violent in thought, word and deed. In view of the impending 
arrest of most of the leaders, Gandhi was declared to be the sole 
Executive authority during the emergency with power to appoint 
his successor if he too should be imprisoned. 

So the year 1922 opened with an intensification of the struggle. 
Non-violence was maintained, and now Gandhi was ready to ex­
periment with his assertive weapon, civil disobedience, in one small 
district only, Bardoli. He went himself, and spoke at a conference 
of more than 4,000 of the peasants with Vithalbhai Patel. The 
audience was clothed in lchaddar, and their mood was sober and 
responsible us Gandhi tested them on one point after another in 
the constructive programme which had to be completed before the 
district could be permitted to venture on civil disobedience. They 
had realised communal unity, they understood the significance of 
truth and non-violence, they were removing untouchability and 
accepting the outcast children in the National schools, they would 
spin their own thread and weave their cloth, they, would face for­
feiture of their moveables, their cattle, their land. They would 
face imprisonment and death if necessary, and without resentment. 

Gandhi was satisfied. The discipline of non-violence was being 
maintained. Bardoli, not Bombay, was the embodiment of the 
national spirit now. Civil disobedichcc should be launched. The 
Conference pledged itself to refruin from paying lund revenue and 
otiler tuxes due to the Government until further notice and on lst 
February Gandhi addressed a letter to the Viceroy. He apologised 
once more for the Bombay outbreak, but reproached the Govern­
ment with its policy of repression. "The looting of property, 
assaults on innocent people, the brutal treatment of prisoners in 
the jails including flogging can in no sense be described as legal, 
civilised or in any way necessary. This official lawlessness cannot 
be described by any other term but lawless repression." Had the 
Government's policy allowed public opinion to dPvelop freely it. 
would have been possible, Gandhi wrote, to advise postponement 
of eivil disobedience until the Congrc~s had acquired fuller control 
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over the forces of vioience in the couniry and enforced greater disci­
pline among the millions of its adherents. But the Government's 
policy of repression made the immediate adoption of mass civil 
disobedience an imperative duty. He begged the Viceroy to 
announce within seven days the release of the prisoners, the freeing 
of the Press from administrative coercion, and a future policy of 
non-interference with all non-violent activities. In that case he 
would suspend civil disobedience. Otherwise Bardoli would lead 
the way, and a hundred villages at Guntur in Madras would soon 
follow. 

Scarcely had the letter been dispatched when news reached 
Gandhi of a tragic outbreak of violenc.e at Chauri Chaura, near 
Gorakhpur. There had been some rioting in Madras on January 
13th during the Prince's visit, but Chuuri Chuura was decisive. A 
Congress procession which had been given a promise by the police 
inspector that it wo).lld not be molested was allowed to pass, but 
the stragglers were intercepted and abused. The marchers return­
ing at the cries of their comrades were greeted with rifle fire by 
the police who then retired into the police-station. The enraged 
mob set fire to the building, and as the terrified police emerged 
they were hacked to death and the remains were thrown back into 
the flames. Twenty-one constables and the Sub-Inspector were 
thus murdered. 

On February 12th at Bardoli Gandhi directed the Working 
Committee to reverse the decision to commence muss civil disobe­
dience. Congressmen were to stop all activities designed to court 
arrest and imprisonment, and to cancel all processions and public 
meetings called to defy the Government notifications. The con­
structive programme was to go on, but the crucial battle with the 
Government must not take place. 

The nation was dumbfounded at the news. Criticism and 
abuse came from all sides. Was the supreme struggle for home 
rule to be abandoned at the last minute because a score of police­
men hud been killed in a minor outbreak of violence, although the 
rest of India remained peaceful under the most severe provocation ? 
If s~, civil disobedience might never come. It would always be 
possible to find some disturbance, some outbreak engineered by 
agc11ts pruvucatcur. 

Gandhi showed his true greatness at this moment. "The drastic 
reversal of practically the whole of the aggressive programme," he 
wrote in Yuu11,g lr~dia, "may be politically unsound and wnvise, 
but there is no doubt that it is religiously sound, and I venture 
to a~~ur~ the doubters that the country will have gained by my 
humiliatiOn and confession of error ... For confession of error is 
like a broom that sweeps away dirt and leaves the surface cleaner 
than before. I feel stronger for my confession." 

It was an Ullsparing confession : 
"God has been abundantly kind to me. He has warned me 



the third time that. there is not yet in India that truthful and 
non-violent atmosphere which, and which alone, c1_1n. just!fy 
mass disobedience, which can be at all described as civil whiCh 
means gentle, truthful, humble, knowing, wilful yet loving, 
never criminal and hateful. 

"He warned me in 1919 when the Rowlatt Act agitation was 
started. Ahmedabad, Viramgam, Kheda erred; Amritsar and 
Kasur erred. I retraced my steps, called it a Himalayan mis­
caleulation, humbled myself before God and man, and stopped 
not merely mass Civil Disobedience, but even my own which 
I know was intended to be civil and non-violent. 

"The next time it was through the events of Bombay that God 
gave a terrific warning. He made me eye-witness of the deeds 
of the Bombay mob on the 17th November. The mob acted 
in the interest of Non-Co-operation. I announced my intention 
to stop the mass Civil Disobedience which was to be imme­
diately started in Bardoli. The humiliation was greater than 
in 1919. But it did me good. I am sure that the nation gained 
by the stopping. India stood for truth and non-violence by 
the suspension. 

"But the bitterest humiliation was still to come. Madras did 
give the warning, but I heeded it not. But God spoke clearly 
through Chauri Chaura . . . 

"The tragedy of Chuuri Chauru is really the index finger. It 
shows the way India may easily go, if drastic precautions be 
not taken. If we are not to evolve violence out of non-violence, 
it is quite clear that we must hastily retrace our steps and 
re-establish an atmosphere of peace, re-arrijnge our programme 
and not think of starting mass Civil Disobedience until we are 
sure of peace being retained in spite of mass Civil Disobedience 
being started and in spite of Government provocation. 

"Let the opponent glory in our humiliation or so-called defeat. 
It is better to be charged with cowardice and weakness than 
to be guilty of denial of our oath and sin against God. It is 
a million times better to appear untrue before the world than 
to be untrue to ourselves." 

For him the suspension of civil disobedience was not penance 
enough. He must undergo a personal cleansing. He prayed to 
become a fitter instrument able to register the slightest variation 
in the moral atmosphere. He declared a five days' fast for him­
self and begged his co-workers not to follow the example. A fast 
undertaken for fuller self-expression, he wrote, for attainment of 
the spirit's supremacy over the flesh, is a most powerful factor in 
one's ~volution. _He was the surgeon who had proved unable to 
deal With an admittedly dangerous case. He must either abdicate 
or acquire greater skill. The workers would be better engaged in 
the constructive activities than in fasting. 
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But the critics were not appeased or persuaded. Motilul Nehru 
and Lajpat Rai wrote bitterly from prison. At the All-India 
Congress Committee meeting Bengal and Mohoroshtru members 
reproached him in strong terms and threatened that their provinces 
would continue with civil disobedience despite his orders; Dr. 
Moonje moved · a vote of censure on Gandhi. Gandhi would not 
permit anyone to oppose the vote by speech, but it was neverthe­
less heavily defeated. 

On lOth March he returned to Sabarmati, to his Ashram. On 
the night of the 18th he was arrested. There had been rumours of 
impending arrest for some time and Gandhi was not taken by sur­
prise. The little family in the Ashram sang a favourite hymn, 
he t?ok leave of them all one by one, and expressing himself happy 
at Ius ~rrest, he walked down the road to where the Superintendent 
of Pohee was waiting for him. There was no disturbance in the 
country. Remarking on this, on English nobleman said contemp­
tuously, "Not a dog barked." Gandhi, in jail, thanked God. 



Chapter VI 

INDIA WAITS-THE TIDE EBBS AND FLOWS 

MR. SHANKEH.LAL BANKER was arrested at the same time us 
Gandhi and both prisoners were taken to Subarmati Jail. They 
were charged on the next day, Banker being publisher of Young 
India and in that capacity publishing seditious articles, and Gandhi 
with being the author of the articles in question. 

The trial began on 18th March before Mr. C. N. Broomfield, 
I.C.S., District and Sessions Judge of Ahmedabad. As Gandhi 
entered, a frail, serene, indomitable figure in a coarse and scanty 
loin-cloth, the entire Court rose in an act of spontaneous homage. 
When the magistrate asked Gandhi about his occupation he was 
startled to receive the reply "Farmer and Weaver" in slow clear 
tones and with an emphatic accent. 

The .Judge explained the charges. The accused had brought 
or attempted to bring into hatred or contempt, had excited or 
attempted to excite disaffection towards His Majesty's Govern­
ment established by law in British India. Both pleaded guilty. 
The Judge wished to proceed at once to the sentence, but the 
Prosecuting Counsel, Sir J. Strangman, would not be denied the right 
to state his case at length. Gandhi then made his statement, pre­
facing it with an endorsement of all that the Advocate-General had 
said against him. He spoke of his early years, of his struggles and 
services in South Africa, of his return to India and the bitter shocks 
occasioned by the Rowlatt Act, the Punjab atrocities, the betrayal 
of the Moslems. He had come reluctantly to the conclusion that 
the British connection had made "'ndia more helpless than she ever 
was before, politically and economically. "I hold it to be a virtue," 
he declared, "to be disaffected towards a Government which in its 
totality has done more harm to India than any previous system. 
India is less manly under the British rule thnn she ever was before. 
llolding such a belief, I consider it to he u sin to have affection 
for the system." He had preached nothing but non-violcnec, hf' 
had taught that violent non-co-operation only multiplies evil and 
that as evil can only be sustained by violence, withdrawal of 
support of evil requires complete abstention from violence. "I am 
here," he concluded: "~ invite and submit cheerfully to the highest 
pe.nalty that can be mfhcted upon me for what in law is a deliberate 
cr1me and what appears to me to be the highest duty of a citizen. 
The only cours~ open to you, the .Judge, is either to resign your 
post and thus dissociate you~s:lf fr~m evil, if you feel that the law 
you are called upon to admuustcr IS an evil and that in reality I 
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am innocent; or to inflict on me the severest penalty if you believe 
that the system and the law you arc assisting to administer arc 
good for the people of this country and that my uctivity is there­
fore injurious to the public weal." 

Mr. Broomfield's judgment showed the English administrator 
at his best. There was no irony, no reproach, no doubting of the 
prisoner's sincerity. "Even those who differ from you in politics," 
the .Judge said, "look upon you as a man of high ideals and of 
noble and of even saintly life." But he had made it impossible for 
any Government to leave him at liberty. The judgment would be 
based on the precedent of Tilak's case twelve years before. Gandhi 
would undergo six years' simple imprisonment. If events in India 
made it possible for the Government to reduce the period and 
rcleuse him, no one, Mr. Broomfield concluded, would be happier 
than himself. Mr. Banker received a sentence of eighteen months' 
imprisonment. 

Gandhi considered it a privilege and an honour to have his 
name associated with that of Tilak, and thanked the .Judge for his 
courtesy. As the Judge left the Court, Gandhi was surrounded 
by his friends, many sobbing and falling at his feet. He stood 
among them smiling and unperturbed, speaking a few words of 
encouragement. Then he left the Court with Shankcrlal Banker 
to return to Sabarmati, to the Jail. 

Mrs. Gandhi sent a message to the nation, emphasizing the 
appeal which Gandhi had made after his arrest. Workers must now 
concentrate on the constructive programme, above all they must 
give up foreign cloth and spin and weave their own materials. 

On the 17th, the day before the trial, Gandhi had written a 
note to C. F. Andrews, his "dear Charlie," and had asked him 
not to seek permission to v;isit him in jail. That would be a 
p~ivilege, and he would. have no privilege. "I am as happy as a 
bird," he wrote. The hardship was nothing to him. Prison life 
and fare were no simpler than he had been accustomed to, and he 
woul_d have the precious privilege of solitude. Time to reflect, to 
me~Itate, to study, to set down a history of his work in South 
AfriCa and of the steps by which Satyagraha had been evolved. 

He had drawn up a detailed probrramme of study for the six 
years. "I used to sit down to my books," he said Iuter, "with the 
delight of u young man of twenty-foullo, and forget my four and fifty 
years _and my poor health." In the mornings he studied the Gita, 
the middle of the day was devoted to the Koran, and in the even­
ings he read the Bible with a Chinese Christian. He made an inten­
sive study of t~o Indian languages of ~hich he was still ignorant, 
Urdu and Tamil. He read Western writers and thinkers, Carlyle, 
llen.Jonson, Walter Scott, Lord Bacon, Tolstoy, Emerson Thoreau 
and Ruskin. But his main studies were always of religio~. Apart 
from the SC'ripture readings he made a careful study of the Maha­
bharatn in the original text, Moslem writings-particularly accounts 



of the life of the Prophet and his companions-and of the writings 
of some Europeans, including the German mystic .Jakob Bohme. 

So the year passed away, but Gundhi did not lose his place 
in the hearts and minds of the Indian people although he was shut 
away from them in Ycravda Jail. Beyond India too interest was 
stirring. In an American magazine there appeared a poem which 
asked: 

"Who is it sits within his prison cell 
The while his spirit goes astride the world? " 

and the question remained to stir or trouble the consciences of men 
of good will in many nations. 

As 1028 wore on Gandhi's health became worse. He had not 
recovered from his grave illness at th(' end of the Great War when 
he threw himself into the Non-co-operation campaigns in 1910 and 
there had been no respite during the three momentous years before 
his arrest. Even now he spared himself nothing, declining privi­
leges, intent upon his studies, dictating his book, and praying and 
meditating to make himself a fitter instrument for the service of 
Truth which was his God and India which was his country. 

The crisis came at the beginning of 1924 when Gandhi had been 
in jail for nearly two years. On 13th January the Director of 
Information, Bombay, issued a statement that sent a thrill of alarm 
throughout the country. Gandhi had been suffering from abdominal 
pain and fever, he had been removed from Yeruvda .Jail to Sussoon 
Hospital, Poonu, had undergone an operation for suppurating 
appendix and had stood it well. A Inter communique stated that his 
condition was as good as could be expected. The illness had been 
ignored w1til it was almost too late. When Ramdas Gandhi, alarmed 
at rumours of his father's illness, wired for news, a reply reached 
him on the day before the operation that his father was suffering 
from "ordinary fever" and that there was no cause for anxiety. 

The operation saved him, and' Gandhi who had so strongly 
denounced European medi~ne, and had wanted in "Hind Swaraj" 
to abolish hospitals as a menace to the morality of society, was the 
first to thank Colonel Maddock, the Surgeon General, for his skill 
and cure. Gandhi's opponents have never forgotten the incident 
and have made the most of the "inconsistency." But Gandhi's 
general view of the effect of hospitals on society did not, of course, 
exclude the possibility of real good in a particular case, any more 
than his denunciation of machinery and the Press made it impos­
sible for him to use machinery to produce his newspaper warning the 
people against newspapers. In this case he might hove argued 
that Western civilisation had only succeeded in undoing the evil 
brought about by the uncivilised practirc of imprisonment. Hnd 
he been a free man able to exercise his spirit and his mind in action, 
his body would have remained healthy, or would have been amenable 
to nature-cure, or would have sickened only as a result of his failure 
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to control it. The relationshp between body and mind is more 
subtle than most scientists and doctors will admit. Whatever the 
\Vcstcrn reader may make of Gandhi's drastic views on the medical 
profession, and on the cause of illness, it is significant that his own 
most serious illnesses have occurred when he came nearest to denying 
his own beliefs by c~operating in the Great War, first in London 
where he was incapacitated and had to return to India, and then 
in India where his recruiting campaign was cut short by 11 long 
illness that almost proved fatal; and now, when he hud been forcibly 
prevented for two years from continuing his life's work among the 
Indian masses. 

He had been ill for six months before the operation. Andrews, 
just arrived from England, saw him in the middle of February, and 
was shocked even then by his emaciated uppeurnncc, although his 
condition had been much worse u week or so before. Soon after­
wards Andrews wrote in a memorable article for Younu India : 
"Extravagant durbars, royal visits, imperial pageants, British 
Empire Exhibitions, all draining away the wealth of the country, 
have become more frequent of late in order to captivate the waning 
attention of the common people. But the spiritual mind of India 
is not captivated by things so tawdry as these. Rather it pays 
silent homage to this one tired -sufferer in the hospital at Poona, 
who has looked into the face of death without fear. For there is 
a ruler of India here, in this hospital, Mahatma Gandhi, whose sway 
is greater than all imperial power. His nnme will be remembered 
and sung by the villngc people long uftcr the names of the modern 
governors in their palaces at New Delhi arc forgotten. When all 
the buildings of Raisina have crumbled into ruins ... the name 
of Mahatma Gandhi will still be taught by mothers to their little 
children as one of the greatest of India's saints and saviours. For 
there is a spiritual palace which Mahatma Gandhi has built up 
out of an eternal fabric. Its foundations are deeply and truly 
laid i~ th_e Kingdom of God. ~o oppressio~ of the poor has gone 
to build rt. Love and devotiOn and servJCe to the poor are its 
golden decorations. No military pomr. reigns within its borders, 
b~rt _onl:r the peaceful harmony of human souls. No race or colour 
dJstm~tiOr~s have any place in it. No clash of religious controversy 
mars Jts sllcncc. Its empire is the heart." 

, Andrews wrote thus a few days after the morning early in 
F ehruary when he had sat in the hospital with Gandhi and Colonel 
Maddock had come in with good news. He was unconditionally 
released. The Mahatma had been quiet and unmoved. He asked 
if t_hc Colonel _would read the order to him and having heard it he 
sm!lcd and smd, "I hope you will not mind my remaining your 
guest and your patient a little longer." Andrews was asked to ~>O 
nt once to Sabarmati to give the little community at the Ashr;~ 
a JlPr!lonal message from Gandhi. The next news he sent was to 
old Rustomji in Durban the faithful friend who had worked with 
him in the South Afric~n struggle. 
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Soon he sent a long statement to Mahomed Ali, at that timt: 
President of the Congress. He was sorry, he said, that the Govern­
ment had prematurely released him on account of his illness. Such 
a release could bring him no joy, no relief. He would say little 
about the political situation for he hud.hud no time as yet to study 
the position. But he thought it clear that "perplexing as the 
national problems were at the time of the Bardoli resolutions, they 
arc far more perplexing today. It is clear that without unity 
between Hindus, Moslem's, Sikhs, Parsis and Christians and other 
Imlians all talk of Swaraj is idle. The unity which I fondly believed 
in 1 !J22 had been nearly achieved has, so far as Hindus and :Mos­
lems are concerned, I observe, suffered a severe check." He 5poke 
too of the poverty of the musses and of the importance of hand­
spinniug. The w]JCcl, he dcclurcd, would leave them little leisure 
for lighting among themselves. He could express 110 opinion on the 
vexed question of the entry of Congressmen to Legislative Councils 
and the Assembly. 

The Khilafat q!Jestion had come to an unexpected end in 
November l!J22, when the Turkish Sultan had fled, and had been 
deposed not only us Sultan but also as Khalifa. His nephew was 
elected Khalifn, but Turkey now became a Republic and the Sultan 
ceased to exist. As the Congress history puts it, the Kbilafat had 
been "vaticanized." In the same year there had been serious 
communal riots involving·extcnsive destruction of life and property 
and at the Muharrum of 1923 there were further serious riots in 
Bengal uud the Punjab. 

The Gaya Congress session in December 1922 had seen a fierce 
struggle between two sections of the movement, the "No-Changers" 
who wished to adhere to the constructive programme including 
boycott of the Legislatures set up under the l!Jl!J Act, and the 
"Pro-Changers" who contended that Congress should contest the 
elections, and either not take up ~e seats won, or use them to 
create a deadlock by moving votcs.of censure and voting to withold 
supplies. The formidable leader of the "Pro-Changers" was Gandhi's 
old opponent C. R. Das, strongly supported by Motilnl Nehru. 
Das was President of the Congress at the time but despite all his 
efforts the Congress voted for "No-Change." Das resigned the 
Presidentship of Congress und became President of the Swnruj Party 
formed to curry aut his own programme of Council-entry. Dut by 
the middle of May 1923 the Swarujists-as the "Pro-Changers" 
were now called-had captured the A.I.C.C. and the "No-Changers" 
on the Working Committee felt bound to resign. The Congress met 
in Special Session in September at Delhi, with Abu] Kalam Azud 
us President, and sanctioned the policy of Council-entry. Das and 
the Swarajists had won. Gandhi, still in prison, had suffered u 
defeat. He would never have ugreed to subotagc the machinery 
as Das and Nehru wanted to do". He would either co-operate com­
pletely or not at all. 

In December l 023 the Congress regular Session was held at 
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Cocanada and the last hopes of the "No-Changers" were dispelled. 
Mahomed Ali, who was chosen as President for the year suggested 
that Gandhi would not object to Council-entry although he had in 
his pocket a message from Gandhi in which the Mahatma expressed 
the impossibility of judging. the situation but added that there had 
been no change in his views since he had been imprisoned. 

Early in Murch 1 02-1· Gandhi was removed from the hospital 
and taken to a little bungalow on the pu.lm-fringed beach at .Juhu, 
north of Bombay. He was still very weak but before the end of 
the month he was working hard. 

He would rise at 4 a.m. for prayers and read religious works. 
After another short sleep he would breakfast at G a.m. and take a 
walk on the verandah. Then he would deal with his correspondence 
with the help of shorthand-typists until mid-day. He wo).lld also 
find time to study political problems and sec important politicians 
by appointment. By 4 p.m. he was ready to see a large number 
of visitors. About G o'clock he would take a forty minutes' walk 
along the beach with his beloved Charlie Andrews, and then work 
again until 8 p.m. when he retired for the night. He was already 
looking forward to resuming spinning each day us soon us he could 
sit up without fatigue. 

At the beginning of April he resumed editorship of Young India. 
"I do not know whether my health can yet sustain the energy 
required for conducting the paper," he confessed in his first article, 
"but I cannot foresee. I can only dimly understand God's purpose 
in bringing me out of my retirement in Yeravdu." He had no new 
message, but he lived for India's freedom and would die for it, 
because it is part of Truth, and Truth is God. It was not Nation­
alism in the narrow sense. "My patriotism is not exclusive; it is 
calculated not only not to hurt any other nation but to benefit all 
in the true sense of the word." That was true, for the way to 
India's freedom was the way' of non-violence. 

To .Juhu came the leading Swarajists, Motilal Nehru, his son 
.Jawaharlal and C. R. Das. Motilal Nehru and Das were the 
acknowledged leaders but .Jawaharlal Nehru who had been twice 
imprisoned during the Non-Co-operation campaigns was becoming 
popular in Nationalist circles. The younger Nehru inclined to his 
father's views, although he felt that Gandhi's decision to call off 
civil. uisobedicnee after Chauri Chauru" may have been right." 
Mottlul and Das did not succeed in persuading Gandhi, although 
they could quote a number of examples of successful obstruction in 
the Assembly and the Provincial Councils. The budget for the year 
had been rejected, a resolution demanding a round table conference 
to settle the terms of India's freedom had been passed, and in 
Bengal supplies had been voted down. But, on the other hand, 
both in the Assembly and in the· provinces, the Viceroy or the 
Governor "certified" the budgets and they became law. The gesture 
had been made. But there were no concrete results. 



Gandhi did not succeed in influencing J awaharlul to his poi1~t 
of view, although the yo:unger Nehru saw the limitations of h_I_~ 
father's policy. He left Juhu "a little disappointed, for GandhiJI 
did not resolve a single one of my doubts." 

In May statements about the discussions were made public. · 
Gandhi stated that he had not been able "to see eye to eye with 
the Swarajists," and added significantly, "I retain the opinion that 
Council-entry is inconsistent with Non-co-operation, us I conceive 
it. Nor is this difference a mere mutter of interpretation of the 
word 'Non-co-operation,' but relates to the essential mental attitude 
resulting in different treatment of vital problems." He would put 
no obstacles in the way of the Swarujists, but could not actively 
help them. He spoke once more of the urgency of hand-spinning, 
and foreshadowed proposals for a drastic reorganisation of the 
Congress in this conn.ection. 

The nature of the changes was shown at the A.I.C.C. meeting 
in June. Instead of a subscription of four am1as as a basis of 
membership of the Congress, Gandhi proposed thdt members should 
be obliged to pay in )land-spun yarn ! There was u bitter struggle 
over this resolution and at last Das, .Motilul Nehru, and the Swura­
jists walked out of the meeting, while Juwaharhul offered his resig­
nation as Congress Secretary. The full resolution was passed, but 
Gandhi softened the terms subsequently to meet to some extent 
the feeling of the minority. The spinning franchise became an 
alternative form. 

At the same meeting there was a struggle over a resolution 
condemning the murder of an Englishman by a patriotic yow1g 
terrorist. Gandhi was so deeply moved by the reluctance of some 
of his colleagues to condemn the violent act unequivocally that he 
wept publicly. The realisation tpat Congress still had some sym­
pathy with violence and his own weakened and exhausted condition 
were too much for him. 

Control of Congress, it seemed, had passed into the hands of 
C. R. Das and the Nehrus. Gandhi, said many, was a spent force; 
it almost seemed that he had retired from politics. Das and Nehru 
had driven him into the background. "Such remarks," says Jawa­
harlal Nehru, the most candid and chivalrous of opponents, "have 
been repeated many times in the course of the lust fifteen years and 
they have demonstrated every time how singularly ignorant our 
rulers are about the feelings of the Indian people. Ever since 
Gandhiji appeared on the Indian political scene, there has been no 
going buck in popularity for him, so far us the masses are concerned. 
There has been a progressi\"e increase in his popularity, and this 
process still continues." 

Gandhi's heart wus with the musses now, more than ever. He 
w~nted to devote himself altogcthe~ to the revival of village indus­
tnes, t~e fundumentu) ~vork of e~smg the burden of poverty and 
hunger m the 700,000 nllages which were the real India. But he 



~ould not turn at once to this great work. Communal riots of in­
creasing gravity broke out at Delhi, Gulbarga, Nagpur, Lucknow, 
Shahjahanpur, Allahabad, Jubbulpore and-worst of all- at Kohut. 
Gandhi and Shuukat Ali were appointed to report on the Kohut 
disturbances, and disagreed in their conclusions. Hindu-Moslem 
unity, one of Gandhi's finest dreams, which had seemed a reality 
in 1!>20, was now crumbling into ruins. 

Andrews, who had ,never left his side d).lring the long con­
valescence at Juhu, knew how his mind had been bent on going 
north to relieve the tension before it became too late to do so. Now 
that the disaster had oc~urred Gandhi spent night and day in sleep­
less watch and prayer, asking for Divine aid. At last he felt his 
decision was made. He determined, in spite of his weakness after 
the very serious illness of the spring. to undertake u twenty-one 
days' fast, beginning on September 18th l 02·~, as an act of penance 
on behalf of the sins and infirmities of his own people. "The 
simple news of it," Andrews wrote, "at once brought to an end the 
fatal riots which bad been so frequent before. It also roused, as 
nothing else had done, the National leaders to deal with this one 
problem us a matter of life and death for India as a nation." • 

He lay there, in the house culled Dil-lchu.~l1, Heart's Joy, at 
the foot of the Ridge at Delhi, and looking towards the Ridge he 
could sec a "Mutiny :Memorial" and Asoka's Pillar, with its edict 
of toleration and non-violence. Between the fruil suffering man on 
the terrace and the two memorials on the towering' Ridge the 
European goHcrs were coming and going on the new links. Andrews, 
seeing it all, felt a rush of emotion. To his mind came the words 
from the Book of Lamentations-"ls it nothing to you, all ye that 
puss by? Behold and see, if there is any sorrow like unto my 
sorrow.'' 

. On the twelfth day the cr1s1s came. Both the doctors con­
sidered that his life was in immediutc dungcr, and pressed him to 
t?ke food. Andrews too tried to persuade him. It was his day of 
silence, and he wrote on his slate in answer to their entreaties, 
"Have faith in God." Still they urged him to break his fast, to 
sa vc his life. Again the frail hand wrote, "You have forgotten 
tl~c power of prayer." They watched· at his bedside through a long 
mght· of st.orm unci thunder, and in the morning he showed no signs 
of weakening. When the twenty-one days were up he was rudiunt. 

The household met for morning pruyers at 4· a.m. It was u 
dark chilly morning with no moon, but the morning star shone 
clear above the Ridge. Then at mid-day the fast was to be broken. 
Hakim Ajmal Khan was there, both doctor nnd friend; :Muhomcd 
Ali. his tender and loving Moslem host; Swami Shraddhananda 
sitting at the foot of the bed, his eyes closed in prayer; :Motilai 
N('hru and C. R. Das, Abul Kalam Azad, Shaukat Ali and many 

·more. There was a reading from the Koran,o a favourite Christian 
hymn sung by Andrews, some passages from Hindu Scripture. 
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"Before the actual breaking of the fast, ll wrote C. F. Andrews, 
in his unforgettabl~ description of the scene, "l\Iahatma Gand~i 
turned to his friends. He spoke to them; and as he spoke lus 
emotion was so deep that in his bodily weakness his voice could 
hardly be heard except by those who were nearest of all to him. 
He told them how for thirty years Hindu-Moslem unity had been 
his chief concern, and he had not yet succeeded in achieving it." 
Then Dr. Ansari brought forward a glass of orange-juice, and the 
fast was broken. 

At the end of September, during the fast, a Unity Conference 
met and the communal leaders pledged themselves to make the 
utmost endeavours to prevent further outbreaks and avoid provo­
cation. For a time there was peace. 

In November Gandhi reached an important agreement with 
Das and Motilol Nehru. In effect it divided the Congress into 
two parts, one led by the Swarajists to work within the Counc!ls, 
the other under Gandhi's direction to work for the constructive 
programme among the people, and particularly to promote hand­
spinning. Since the promotion of this policy was also the avowed 
aim of the Swarajists, the Congress still held together, with tolera­
tion of the differences of method. The agreement also cmbracct! 
the spinning franchise although a further amendment a few months 
later again relegated hand-spun yarn to the position of an alter­
native subscription, most members preferring to obtain member­
ship by the payment of four annus. 

At the end of the year Gandhi presided at the Congress annuul 
session at Belgaum. This was the first occasion on which he had 
filled the office of president, but it did not indicate a return to 
active politics. In July 192·1· he had founded the AII-Indi~ Spinners' 
Association and for the next four years his work was to be preach­
ing and organising in the villages. Jawaharlul Nehru remained 
Congress Secretary, although not in full agreement with Gandhi. 

Gandhi's advocacy of hond-S}Jinning has been generally mi~­
undcrstood and frequently misrepresented. Crit,ics pretend that Ius 
"hatred of machinery" has driven him to pr'each an ccorwmic 
system in which the machine has no place. His friends, c\·cn more 
disastrously, hint at un esoteric spirituul signilicancc, in nat contra­
diction to Gandhi's extremely elenr statement of his case. "The 
sole claim advanced on its behalf," he has said, "is that it nlorw 
offers un immediate, practicable and permanent solution of ihc 
problem of problems that confronts Indiu-numely, the enforl'l'ft 
idleness for nearly six· months in the year of an overwhelming 
majority of India's population, owing to luck of a suitable oecu­
pation supplementary to agriculture and thr ehronie starnttiou 
of the '?as.ses that results thcre~rom. !'lwrc would be no plaec for 
the spmnmg-whcel in the natwnal life of India, compm·atin·ly 
small as the remunerution that can be derived from it is, if these 
two factors were not there." 



To suggestions that he was trying to put the clock back by 
attempting to replace mill-cloth and yarn by hand-spun and woven 
material, he answers : • 

"Now I am making no such attempt at all. I have no quarrel 
with the mills. My views are incredibly simple. India re­
quires nearly 13 yards of cloth per head per year. She pro­
duces, I believe, less than half the amo).mt, India grows all 
the cotton she needs. She exports several million bales ol 
cotton to Japan and Lancashire and receives much of it back 
in manufactured calico, although she is capable of producing 
all the cloth and all the yarn necessary for supplying her wants 
by hand-weaving and hand-spinning. India needs to supple­
ment her main occupation, agriculture, with some other em­
ployment. Hand-spinning is the only such employment for 
millions. It was the national employment a century ago. It 
is not true to say that economic pressure and modern machinery 
destroyed hand-spinning and hand-weaving. This great indus­
try was destroyed or almost destroyed by extraordinary and 
immoral I:Jleans adopted by the East India Company. This 
national industry is capable of being revived by exertion and 
a change in the national taste without damaging the mill 
industry. Increase of mills is no present remedy for supply­
ing the deficiency. The difficulty can be easily supplied only 
by hand-spinning and hand-weaving. If this employment were 
revived, it would prevent sixty million rupees from being 
annually drained from the country and distribute the amount 
among lacs of poor women in their own cottages. I therefore 
consider Swadesbi as an automatic, though partial, solution of 
the problem of India's grinding poverty. It also constitutes a 
ready-made insurance policy in times of scarcity of rain." 

In April 1925 his joJJrneyings brought him to Vaikom where 
he helped to bring about a settlement in a particularly interesting 
and significant Satyagraha. Brahmins in this Travancorc village 
had for centuries refused to allow low-caste "untouchables" to use 
the main highway that passed close by the Brah~in quarter and 
temple. The local leader had gone north to consult Gandhi during 
his convalescence and he had directed the cumpaign from his sick­
bed hy letters and telegrams. :First, a young Syriun Christian, 
George Joseph, took an "untouchable" volunteer along the for­
bidden road. They were both beaten severely by the Brahmins, 
and when Joseph attempted to repeat the action he was arrested 
for encouraging trespass. Other volunteers took his place and there 
were many more arrests, with sentences rang;ing up to a year's 
imprisonment. 

Eventually the police determined to prevent the reformers from 
entering the road, and a cordon and barrier was formed across it. 
The Satyagrahis took up their positions opposite the· barrier and 
for many weeks remained there in an attitude of prayer. When the 
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mo?soon burst upon the country, the road was floo?ed and the 
poh_cc took t? bouts. Gandhi exhorted the Sntyugruh1s to stu~ ~~;t 
the.Jr posts Without fatigue, without despair, without anger or Irri­
tatiOn, and with forbearance towards their opponents and the 
Government. The volunteers remained, sometimes up to their 
shoulders in water. 

In the autumn of 1925, after Gandhi's visit, the Brahmins 
at last relented; the sixteen months' struggle was over. Thence­
forth the road was open to all. "We cannot," the Brahmins 
declared, "any longer resist the prayers that have been ~ad~ to us, 
and we arc ready to receive the unto).lchablcs." Tins tnumph, 
'Yinslow and Elwin declare, led to the opening of roads all over 
'Iravancore. 

From the South Gandhi turned towards Bengal, Dus's strong­
hold. Das himself was ill, but his political outlook was more than 
confident. He told the Press that he saw signs of a change of he~rt 
everywhere, the world was tired of conflict and wanted constructiOn 
and consolidation. Gandhi saw "no real trace yet, of any chang~ 
of heart." Bl).t he also declared Das to be his attorney. Gandhi 
was content to be the nominal and not the real president of the 
Congress. He was deliberately leaving policy in the hands of the 
Swarajists who had for the moment a majority. On 16th June 
Das died at Darjeeling, and the leadership of tpe Swarujists pass~d 
to Motilal Nehru. Gandhi did not go to Darjeeling, to the h1ll 
station. He toured the vast province collecting ten lakhs of rupees 
to buy Das's house for the nation, to be used us u hospital for 
women and children. It was a fitting trib).lte to a great opponent. 

In August Gandhi completed his withdrawal from the Congress 
leadership. The Swarajists had rejected his programme but de­
manded his leadership, they would not let him resign from the 
prcsidentship. Now he wrote, "I must no longer stand in the way 
of the Congress being developed and guided by educated Inc~ians 
rather than by one like myself wbo has thrown in his lot ent1rely 
with the masses, and who has fundamental differences with the 
mind of educated India as a body. I still want to act upon thPm 
but not leading the Congress. The best way in which I can help 
that activity is by removing myscl£ out of the wuy, und by con­
centrating myself solely upon constructive work with the help of the 
Congress and in its name, and thut too, only so fur us cduentcd 
Indians will permit me to do so." As President of the A.l.C.C. 
he refused to allow the policy of the Swnrajists in the Councils to 
be called in question, leading Rujcndra Prasad to ask if there was 
some pact between Gnndhi and the elder Nehru. But the Cawn­
pore Congress, in December 1925, showed that the Swarujists' tri­
umph was by no means final. Step by step Nehru and others had 
been led from the policy of obstruction to a poljcy that bccarnr 
knmvn us Responsive Co-operation. Gandhi spoke only for fh'c 
minutes. In reviewing his five years' work, he declnrc.d, he had 
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not one item to retrace or one statement to take back. "'l'oday 
I would commence Civil Disobedience if I thought that the fire and 
fervour are there in the people. But alas ! they are not." 

In November l!J:!5 Gandhi discovered misbehaviour among the 
boys and girls of the Ashram and in order to set them right fasted 
for seven days. 

At Cawnpore Gandhi vowed himself to political silence for one 
year and to immobility. As the year wore on the struggle in the 
Councils grew more bitter and communal riots reached a new pitch 
of frenzy and violence in Ca!c]ltta. The spirit which had unified 
the country was gone, everything seemed to be sinking into con­
fusion, despair and a dull acquiescence in British rule. When 
the year was over and the Congress gathered again at Gauhati, 
on the banks of the Brahmaputra, Gandhi's hut :>tood u little apart 
from the city of hand-spun khaddar tents and pavilions. · 

On his way there, on Christmas Eve, he had gone to the door 
of his railway carriage at a wayside station to appeal to the surging 
crowds and a telegram had been thrust into his hand. Shraddha­
nanda was dead, assassinated on his sick-bed by a Moslem fanatic. 
Shraddhananda, the great Hindu leader at Delhi in the Non-Co­
operation Campaigns. Shraddhananda, broken-hearted at the Bar­
doli decision to suspend Civil Disobedience after the Chauri Chaura 
disaster. Shraddhananda, sitting at the foot of the bed, his eyes 
closed in prayer, in the hoJISe called Dil-khush, on the morning 
when the fust was to be broken. Shruddhunundu, dead. Gokhulc, 
Tilak, Das, Shruddhunandu, all gone. 

Gandhi threw himself back into his village work. During Hl~7 
he would go to Bihar, Maharashtra, Madras, United Provinces, 
Bengal and Orissa. He had only one message now-hand-spinning. 
He could no longer believe in his power to bridge the gulf between 
the Hindu and Moslem communal fanatics. "I said ... that the 
problem had passed out of human hands, and that God has taken 
it into his own. May be the statement springs from my egotism. 
llut I do not think so. I have ample reason for it. ·with my hand 
on my breast I can say that nut a minute in my life am I for­
getful of Gurl. For over twenty years I have been doing everything 
that I ha vc done as in the presence of God. Hindu-Moslem unity 
I had made a mission of my life. I worked for it in South Africa. 
I toiled for it here. I did penance [or it, but God was not satisfied. 
God did not want me to take any credit for the work. And so I 
have now washed my hands. I am helpless. I have exhausted all 
my effort. But as I am a believer in God, as I never for a moment 
lose faith in Him, as I content myself with the joy ami sorrow that 
He wills for me, I may feel helpless, but I never lose hope. Some­
thing within me tells me that Hindu-Moslem unity must come and 
will come sooner than we might dare to hope, that· God will one day 
force it on us, in spite of ourselves. Tbat is why I said that it has 
passed into the hands of God . . . But how am I to prevail upon 



h d d d . t t ~ Shr1ddhananda you today to cast off all fear, atre an IS rus · . ' d the 
was not the enemy of the Moslems. He was a warriOr, he ha 
courage of his convictions. Let us Hindus and Moslems both wash 
the sins of our heart with his blood." 

After a short tour, Gandhi fell ill. It was as though India's 
ills overwhelmed him. The Councils situation had now become a 
stalemate. The tide of c~mmunal violence was still rising. Lord 
Irwin told the Legislature in August that there had been 25 riots, 
250 had been killed and ten times us many injured. 

By the end of June Gandhi was able to look forward to resuming 
the tour in easy stages. "I shall not be able to sustain the strain 
to which I seemed to be e<]Ual up to the end of March. Processions 
and noises must be abandoned and people should be repeatedly 
warned against crowding round me and shouting and touching my 
feet." One meeting a day, and an informal talk with local volun­
teers, he could attempt. 

So he went among his people again, because they wanted him 
and he wanted to know them. He delivered his simple message 
in a few words and it penetrated the mass mind slowly but surely. 

In August there was disaster of a new kind. Large tracts of 
land in Kheda, Bharuch, Baroda and the neck of land between 
Gujarat and Kathiawur were flooded. Hardly a house was left 
standing, crops and cattle were swept away and many human beings 
survived for a week without food clinging to tree-tops. Thousnnds 
lost home, belongings, employment. Only two items of news from 
the stricken area warmed Gandhi's heart. Vallabhbhai Patel was 
leading the relief work there, labouring indefatigably, sleeping only 
three hours a night; and there were many authenticated reports of 
friendship and heroism between Hindus and Moslems. Calamity 
had for a while wiped out the communal madness in one part of 
India. 

In November he was in Mangajore when he received a summons 
from the Viceroy. He cancelled his tour programme at once and 
travelled a thousand miles to Delhi where _he was handed a docu­
ment. There was no further business. 

The document was an announcement regarding the Simon 
Commission, the Statutory Commission uppointed under the l!ll!J 
Act to consider the possibility of the further extension of rcspunsihk 
Government. There were to be no Indians on it at all. From Delhi 
he dashed South to spend the last three weeks of the month in 
Ceylon and then returned to Madras for the annual Congress session 
in December. He did not attend the meetings of the Working 
Committee, but he went to the open sessions. The Congress passed 
a strong resolution culling for a complete boycott of the Simon 
Commission, since the absence of Indians from it was taken as ar1 
insult and an ill-omen. .Jawnharlal Nehru, just back from Europe: 
was able to obtain an alteration in the Congress Creed which Gandh1 
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had often opposed when it was introduced in earlier years. "This 
Congress," the Creed now ran, "declares the goal of the Indian 
people to be complete National Independence." 

At the end of January Hl28 Gandhi returned to the Ashram 
for the wedding of his third son, Ramdus Gandhi. The bride and 
groom were busy before the ceremony which began at eight in the 
morning. They fasted, cleaned the well-basin and the cowshed, 
watered the trees, engaged in hand-spinning and read a chapter of 
the Bhagavad Gita. The ceremony consisted in a vow of faithful­
ness and dedication to service taken before the sacrificial fire in the 
presence of the elders. "You have both had part of your training 
here," Gandhi told them, in a short address, "Let your lives be 
consecrated to the service of the Motherland, and toil away until 
you wear out your bodies. We are pledged to poverty. You will 
therefore both earn your bread in the sweat of your brow us poor 
people do. You will help each other in daily toil and rejoice in it." 
Only three months later the Ashram suffered a sad loss. Maganlal 
Gandhi, a relative who had been with Gandhi in South Africa and 
had become one of his dearest companions in the Ashram, died. 

Gandhi had been in poor health again. Several times he had 
broken down Wlder the strain of his tours and now he was compelled 
to take a respite from travels and the more onerous p!-iblic duties. 
He took the opportunity to renew the simple dietetic experiments 
which had absorbed much of his attention in South Africa, on Tol­
stoy Farm, and the results of which he had used in a booklet pub­
lished some years before, entitled "A Guide to Health." 

In March the six years' sentence passed on him in 1922 expired. 
;\t the time of his premature release in 1921 Gandhi had said that 
1t brought him no joy, he regretted he sho!lld be set free because 
of illness. He had felt under some constraint not to take an active 
part in politics for the remainder of the six years, and this as much 
as his wish to respect the opinions of his opponents in the Congress 
had determined his withdrawal in favour of Das and the S,varajists. 
Now he was free again, and the time for his return was at hand. 
Nehru, who had been in Europe for a while, noted that "There 
seemed to be a new impulse moving the people forward, a new stir 
that was equully present in the most varied groups. Probably the 
change had been going on gradually during my long absence from 
the country; it struck me as very considerable on my return." 

. One day there were visitors from Bardoli. Many of the South 
Afncan ~atyagrahis were from Bardoli and in the campaigns of 
1921-22 1t had been selected by Gandhi us the district in which 
posit!vc Civil Disobedience was to be launched, only to be dis­
appomted. at the last moment by his decision to postpone it after 
the Chaun-Chuura violence. 

After Gandhi had been imprisoned the Congress workers in 
Gujarat, headed by Vallabhbhai Patel, had worked intensively to 
carry out the constructive programme in Bardoli, so that "it might 
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vindicate itself in history as the first place fo:. Civil Disobe~ience 
chosen by Gundhiji." Now here were Kulyan]I. an?. Kunvar]I,. the 
two brothers who were mainly responsible for mv1tmg Gandhi to 
select Bardoli us his first field of operations und who had been 
working in that taluka all these years, sent by Vallabhbhai _to se_ek 

. guidance. The story they told as they w~lked along ~es1de h~m 
was all too familiar. Contrary to the adviCe of the Jomt Parh~­
mentary Committee appointed to consider the Government of India 
Bill, 1919, and contrary to a resolution of the Legislative Council 
of the Bombay Presidency in l!J24, the Bombay Government in 
1927 had raised the rate of the land tax nominally by 22% but in 
actual application in some instances over 60%. 

Under the Hll9 Act land revenue was "a reserved subject." 
That meant it was beyond the control of the provincial Legislature. 
In 1873 u High Court had decided an appeal against assessment in 
favour of a peasant and against the Government's Settlement Officer, 
with the result that a Bombay Revenue Jurisdiction Act had been 
passed excluding the jurisdiction of civil courts in mutters of assess­
ments. Thus there was virtually no control over the Executive 
and no appeal to an independent tribunal was possible. 

In this case the peasants claimed that the investigation upon 
which the increase had been based was wholly inadequate, that the 
tax official's report was inaccurate and carelessly compiled, and 
that the increase was unwarranted and unjust. They asked the 
Governor to appoint an independent and impartial committee of 
enquiry to hold u thorough public investigation, and were willing 
to abide by the result of such an enquiry. 

The local leaders had gone to V ullabhbhui for help, and at first 
he was reluctant to intervene. They came again, with renewed 
pleas, and he sent them buck with stern warnings of the suffering 
that would be entailed in Satyagraha. Still they pleaded, and now 
they had come at Patel's wish to Gandhi himself. While they 
talked Vallabhbhai Patel himself joined them and in answer to 
Gandhi's questions he said he had studied the case and had no 
doubt that the cause was just. "Well then," Gandhi decided, 
"there is nothing more to be considered. Victory to Gujarat !" 

It was a victory. The result was prcdictublc from the tone of 
the speeches on either side. Vullubhbhai wus superb, nnd the 
peasants adored him. He in turn humbly acknowledged himself 
"responsible to the man of Sabarmuti," for he wns using Gandhi's 
weapon of Sutyagraha and he must not fail. Vallabhbhai was the 
son of an agriculturist, he spoke in their idiom and was tireless 
and fearless as }le moved among them. To one of the numerous 
Liberal friends who tried prematurely to bring about an end to 
the struggle he wrote simply, "I would haYe n glorious defeat ruther 
than an ignominious compromise." "Your fight " he told the 

". ' peasants, IS not for a few lakhs of rupees, but for a principle. 
H you learn how to combine and resist u government, when it is 
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unjust, in a peaceful manner, you will leave to your children a 
heritage that is . worth crorcs of rupees. You are fighting for self­
respect which ultimately leads to Swdruj . . . You peasants are 
always oppressed, always trampled upon. You eat the bread of 
toil, your life is an unbroken tale of hardship and suffering. But 
your suffering is sterile because it is the result of ignorance. Why 
shquld you not do true penance by undergoing a tithe of that 
suffering intelligently and with a clear knowledge of its spiritual 
significance? If you do that, if you are pure, gods will throw 
incense on your sacrifice and tyrants and despots will cower before 
you." Gandhi, watching from a distance, saw that "Vallabhbhai 
found his God (Vallabh) in Bardoli." 

On the Government side there was a display of the insolence 
o[ office. Patel, who was culled by the people themselves "The 
Peasants' Sardar" and whom the Government had publicly praised 
a few months before for his heroic relief work in the floods (which 
had saved large sums of revenue) was called an "outsider" and the 
officials spoke insultingly of swarms of agitators Jiving on the people. 
Single words sometimes tell us more than histories. That a f!Jrcign 
and arbitrary Government could find it possible to describe a beloved 
patriot leader of high standing in the public life of the nation as an 
"outsider" is almost unbelieveable. But they did; and in doing 
it they showed the bankruptcy of their position. 

They did not give way easily. They brou~ht in Pathan 
ruffians fTom Bombay, they seized and sold moveable property, 
they took away the buffaloes when they could get them, they de­
clared lands forfeit and auctioned territories worth many times the 
value of the entire assessment for the district at absurd prices to 
any lickspittle who could be persuaded to bid for them. Vallabh­
bhai was undismayed. "Challenge the Government to take up your 
land and carry it, if they can, to England !" he said. He directed 
the peasants to remain on their lund and to sow their crops as 
before. No one came to eject them from the forfeited lands, but a 
number of the 250 volunteers who had been enrolled to work among 
a population of 87,000 were arrested on preposterous charges and 
convicted to long terms of imprisonment for such offences as sitting 
on a public road watching the Collector's house . 

. Seven members of the Legislative Council resigned in protest 
ag~mst the Government's repressive policy, and sixty-three pate/s 
(village headmen) and eleven talatis (subordinate officials) in Bar­
dol_i also resigned. The Hon. V. J. Patel, President of the Legis­
~uhve Assembly, representing Guj4rat, appealed to the Viceroy to 
mtervenc, and publicly gave Rs. 1 ,000 u month to the campaign 
fund. V. J. Patel was Vallabhbhai's brother; evidently another 
outsider. 

The Bombay Government finally delivered an ultimatum on 
~3rd .July, the source of which was plainly indicated by a simul­
tancou~ statement by Lord 'Wintc·rton in tlH' British House of 



Commons. "If the conditions mentioned by Sir Leslie 'Yilson in 
the Bombay Legislative Council today ns regards Bardoh are not 
satisfied, the Bombay Government have full support of the <?overn­
ment of India in enforcing compliance with law and crush1?g the 
movement which would clearly then be exposed as one directed 
to coercing Government and not representing reasonable griev­
ances." 

The ultimatum demanded that the new assessment should be 
paid at once or that the additional 22% should be paid into the 
treas_ury pending an enquiry which would be made by a Revenue 
Officer into disputed questions of facts and. figu~cs only ! Patel 
scored heavily by pointing out the utterly IllogiCal nature of the 
demand. First pay, then we will consider wltether the paymen~ 
asked for was fair ! He asked for the discharge of the Satyagrah1 
prisoners, the restoration of lands sold or forfeited, the current 
price of seized moveables Ito be refunded, and all dismissals and 
punishments remitted. If this were done he would accept even an 
official enquiry, provided it was open and impartial and of a 
judicial nature before which the people might appear. Gandhi and 
Patel together undertook that if such an enq:uiry were announced 
the campaign would be culled off and the old assessment paid with­
out delay, pending the investigation. 

On 2nd August Gandhi came to Bardoli. He had been ready 
to come at any time, but would not embarrass Patel by an untimely 
visit. He came now to observe, and would do nothing without 
Vallabhbhai's approvnl. 

Then the end come suddenly. A number of Members of the 
Legislative Council gave an almost meaningless assurance for which 
the Government asked. Patel made it clear that he regarded this 
statement as untruthful, and reiterated his own minimum terms 
for settlement. But the assurance saved the Government's face 
and made it possible for them to announce an enquiry in the very 
words of Patel's ultimatum. Within a short while the prisoners 
\Vere free, the lands restored, the village officials reinstated and 
the enquiry in progress. It was succcssf_ul in more ways than one. 
It vindicated all the complaints of inadequate and maccurute 
statistics, on which the increased assessment had been calculated, 
and recommended an increase of 5.7':;', instead of ~:r,. The Indians 
were not in agreement, holding that the evidence showed plainly 
not only that 110 increase could be justilied but that a substantial 
reduction was necessary in many cases. But the principle of in­
dependent enquiry had been established. The Enalish Oflicers. 
Mr. Broo]IIfield and Mr. Maxwell, did much to redeem English 
behaviour in Bardoli by their honesty and candour in criticising 
the work of the Assessment and Rc\"cnue officials and were enthu­
~iastic _in thei_r praise of the collaboration of the' 'agitators' whose 
Impartial assistance in accumulating evidence was invalunblc to 
them. The Satyagrahis had shown themselves as excellent in co­
operation as they were implacable in resistance to grave injustice. 



Writing of the events of the year, Jawaharlal Nehru observes : 
"Fifteen years' stress on non-violence has changed the whole buck­
ground in India and made the masses much more indifferent to, 
und even hostile to, the ideu of terrorism as a method of political 
action. Even the classes from which the terrorists are usually 
drawn, the lower middle-classes and intelligentsia, have been power­
fully affected by the Congress propaganda against methods of vio­
lence. Their active and impatient elements, who think in terms of 
revolutionary action, also realise fully now that revolution does 
not come through terrorism, and that terrorism is an outworn and 
profitless method which comes in the way of real revolutionary 
action." 

Nowhere was the fact better revealed than in the increasingly 
serious clashes with the authorities over the boycott of the Simon 
Commission. The Commission had landed in Bombay on February 
3rd and an all-India hartal had been observed. The boycott was 
maintained and wherever the Commission went they were met by 
black flags and crowds shouting "Go back Simon." In Madras 
the police opened fire on a crowd killing and injuring a number of 
people, and there was conflict between police and students in 
Calcutta and elsewhere. The climax came at Lahore where one 
of the national leaders, Lala Lajpat Rai, standing by the road-side 
in front of thousands of demonstrators, was assaulted and beaten 
on the chest with a baton by a young English police officer. On 
November 8th Gandhi received a wire from "The Lion of the Pun­
jab" in answer to his anxious enquiry : "Thanks. Assault unpro­
voked and deliberate. Received two severe injuries but not serious, 
one on left chest, other on shoulder, other blows warded by friends 

No cause for anxiety." The Punjab Government refused 
to apologise for the assault. On 22nd November Gandhi once more 
had the sad task of writing an epitaph for a friend. Lajpat Rai 
was dead. It can scarcely be doubted that the assault hastened 
his end. 

The loss of Lajpat Rai increased the vigour of the demonstra­
tions against the Simon Commission, and at Lucknow Jawaharlal 
Nehru was involved in one of the infamous lathi charges by mounted 
police as he passed with sixteen followers along an unfrequented 
street. He has given an unforgettable account of the lathi charges 
in Lucknow in his autobiography. 
. In_ October Gandhi had disturbed the orthodox Hindus by kill­
mg a siCk calf at his Ashram. The unfortunate animal was injured 
and doctors declared that it had no hope of recovery. A himsn 
and th~ Hindu doctrine of cow-protection strictly forbade ,slaughter. 
Gandhi discussed the matter with his little community, and despite 
some opposition his compassion for the suffering animal led him 
to direct the doctor to administer a poison injection which killed 
the calf within two minutes. 

All-Party Conferences and nn important Committee under the 
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leadership of Motilal Nehru had during the course of the year drawn 
up u Constitution for Indiu on which there was virtual agreement. 
Gundhi hud supported the proposul thut Motilal should be the next 
President of the Congress and the elder Nehru presided at the 
Calcutta session in December. .The Constitution wus India's reply 
to the unrepresentative and unwanted Simon Commission. India 
was giving her own opinion on the matter, and in a· resolution 
moved by Gandhi and slightly amended, the Congress pledged 
itself to adopt the Constitution in its entirety if it was accepted 
by the British Parliament within one year. The Constitution would 
have given India Dominion status, although it was made clear thut 
propaganda for Complete Independence would continue. If the 
Constitution were rejected, or if it were not accepted by 31st Decem­
her l!J2!J, the Congress would organise non-violent non-ca-operation. 

The passing of the resolution marked Gandhi's return to active 
leadership. He had intended to go to Europe in 1929, but now. he 
felt he must stay in India. "I have no voice from within promptmg 
me to go," he said in February. "On the contrary, having put 
a constructive resolution before the Congress and having received 
universal support, I feel that I would be guilty of desertion if I 
now went away to Europe. It may be that those who voted for 
the resolution never meant to carry it out. It may be that I shall 
have nothing to do during the year in respect of the programme, 
but I feel that it is not for me to reason thus. I must not lose 
faith in the workers. A voice from within tells me that I must not 
only hold myself in readiness to do what comes my way, but I 
must even think out and suggest means for working out what, to 
me, is a great programme. Above all, I must prepare myself for 
the next year's struggle whatever shape it may take." 
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Chapter VII 

INDIA'S DEMAND-

THE CIVIL DISOBEDIENCE CAMPAIGN AND 
THE TRUCE 

ONCE more Gandhi resumed his travels among the villages. At 
Calcutta in l\larch he arranged a bonfire of foreign cloth. He was 
charged with committing nuisance by disob~ying or abetting de­
fiance of an order designed to prohibit the burning of straw in 
public ! Ret:urning from his tour in Burma to face the indictment, 
Gandhi was solemnly tried and fined one rupee. 

He went on to Andhradesn and the United Provinces. He 
worked without pausing through the hottest months of the year, 
addressing meetings of 10,000 to 25,000 every few miles; the prin­
cipal meeting of the day might even exceed 100,000. There could 
be no doubt now, if there ever had been real doubt, that Gandhi 
was the acknowledged lender of the Indian people. But in Septem­
ber, when ten Provinces voted for him to' be the next President of 
Congress, he refused and Jawaharlal Nehru took his place. 

At the end of October 1029 Lord Irwin issued a state­
ment announcing the willingness of the British Government, now 
a I~abour Government, to meet representatives both of British India 
and the States to seek agreement for the final proposals to be sub­
mitted to Parliament ;tnd later embodied in a new India Act. A 
mixed gathering of Indian leaders replied, welcoming the announce­
ment and saying they thought it vital to the proposed Conference 
th~t a policy of general conciliation should be adopted, political 
prisoners released, and Congress as the largest political organisation 
given a proportionate representation in the Conference. Gandhi 
wrote thnt he was "dying for co-operation." He could wait for u 
Dominion Constitution if he could get Dominion Status in action, 
i r I here was a real change of heart among the British rulers. 

On December 23rd Gandhi, Motilal Nehru, Mr. Jinnah, the 
Moderate s.ir Tej ~apru, a~1d Vittalbhai. Patel (Vallabhbhni's brother) 
met t?e VICeroy m Delhi. Lord lrwm had just narrowly escaped 
a~sas~n~ation in a train when a time-bomll had exploded, wrecking 
h1s dmmg-car. But he was jovial and unperturbed by the danger 
of the morning. Gandhi began by asking for an assurance that the 
Hound Tahle Conference would proceed on the basis of full Dominion 
Statu,. The Viceroy could not promise this. The negotiations had 
failed in the first hour. 
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On Christmas Day the Lahore Congress opened under the 
Prcsidentship of Jawaharlal Nehru. The main resolution appreciated 
the efforts of the Viceroy to achieve a settlement, b:ut in the light 
of the conversations Congress could not participate in the proposed 
Round Table Conference. The Constitution drafted by the Nehru 
Committee had lapsed, the year was up, and the first step in the 
struggle was resignation from the Councils. The objective \vas 
Complete Independence, and the A.I.C.C. was empowered to launch 
Civil Disobedience. The era of the Swarajists was over. For six 
years they had fought from within the Councils, contrary to the 
programme agreed before Gandhi's arrest, and to his judgment 
after release in 1924.. The "No-Changers" had won the last battle 
and Gandhi, although not the nominal president, was the acknow­
ledged leader. 

As a preliminary measure, the Congress declared a boycott of 
the Central and Provincial Legislatures and called upon Congress 
members of those bodies to tender their resignations. Motilul Nehru 
himself made the call. "Nearly all of them came out in a body," 
wrote J awaharlal, "a very few refusing to do so, although this 
involved a breach of their election promises." 

.January 26th was fixed us National Independence Day, when 
a pledge of independence was to he taken. All over the country 
the national tricolour flag was hoisted and hundreds of thousands 
of people signed the pledge of independence. On the previous day, 
the Viceroy in a speech before the Legislature had done his best 
to make the Government's policy seem just and necessary. But 
the most he could say was that the coming Round Table Con­
ference "will be convened for the purpose of elucidating and 
harmonizing opinion and so affording guidance to His Majesty's 
Government on whom the responsibility must subsequently de­
volve of drafting proposals for the consideration of Parliament." 
Briti~h statesmen still regarded India's freedom as a British 
question, to be decided in Britain by~ the British Houses of Parlia­
ment. Certain Indians might be given a trip to London, ~ncour­
aged to state their opinions, and so demonstrate to Parliament 
and public the extent of the disagreement between Princes and 
people, Hindus and :Moslems. Some of the things they said might 
provp helpful. But the British must decide, the responsibility 
was with Whitehall. In this matter the Labour Government was 
no different from the Tories. Gandhi, at least, was not surprised. 
During the first weeks of his convalescence at Juhu in 1924, a 
journalist had asked his opinion of the new Labour Government. 
"It has a precarious existence," Gandhi had said. "It has to 
depend on the good-will of other parties, and if it isn't to break 
in pieces, it has to conciliate its vPry exacting constituPnts and 
follow out its spPcial domestic programme. I have no doubt 
~hat in trying to acquire the support of the majority of the House 
m pushing through its domestic programme, it will not hesitate 
to sacrifice its principles regarding Imperial policy affecting India, 
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or Indians in South Africa and Kenya. In fact, I should not be 
surprised, seeing .it is so weak, if the Labour Government does 
worse even than· its predecessors so far as Indian policy is con­
cerned." 

So it proved, from the Indian point of view. The vague but 
exciting statements about self-determination made during the Great 
War had led to nothing but the measure of provincial a)..ltonomy 
(in which all the principal subjects were 'reserved' to the British) 
and the ignominious 'talking shop' at the Centre. For ten years 
this not very generous "instalment of self-government" had been 
e•dured unwillingly, then the statutory commission had been 
appointed. No Indians were to have a hand in the drafting of 
the Report. No guarantee could be given that the nation's demand 
for nothing less than Dominion Status would be the basis of the 
Hound Table Conference. The British would decide, and in view 
of the way they had flouted Indian opinion and persecuted India's 
leaders, not much could be expected from Whitehall. 

Gandhi considered that Irwin's statement made the position 
quite clear. Still he offered to put off Civil Disobedience if Brita.n 
would grant the substance, if not the outward form of self-govern­
ment. He asked MacDonald and Irwin for eleven things : total 
prohibition, restoration of the exchange rate to 1 s. 4d., 50'}!, re­
duction of land revenue, abolition of the Salt Tax, reduction of 
military expenditure by "at least 50o/o to begin with," reduction 
of civil service salaries by half, a protective tariff against foreign 
cloth, enactment of a Coastal Reservation Bill, discharge of all 
political prisoners not condemned for murder or attempted mJ.Ir­
der, abolition or popular control of the C.I.D., and issue of licenses 
for fire-arms for self-defence, subject to popular control. "Let 
the Viceroy satisfy us," he pleaded, "with regard to these very 
simple but vital needs of India. He will then hear no talk of 
Civil Disobedience ... " 

It was not an absurd demand from a people whose average 
income, including the millionaires and the wealthy Princes, was 
threepence per day.* 

Simultaneously the Working Committee issued a terrible indict­
ment. "The British Government in India has not only deprived 
the Indian people of their freedom but has bused itself on the 
exploitation of the masses, and has ruined India economically, 
politically, culturally and spiritually . . . We hold it to be a 
crime against man and God to submit any longer to a rule tbat 
has caused this four-fold disaster to our country." 

In February the Committee met at Saburmati. Civil Disobe­
dience, it resolved, should be initiated and controlled by those who 
helievC' in non-violence for the purpose of achieving Purna Swaraj, 
(IS 1111 rtrtic/1' of faith. Even so there were doubts. Was the country 

*An oflieinl e"timnte for the yenr Hl:'ll pnt the "''el"n~e annnnl incmnP nt !J.1/-. 
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prepared for mass Civil Disobedience? Others wanted an assur­
ance that Civil Disobedience .would not again be called off if there 
was some local outbreak. Gandhi recognised that the responsibility 
devolving on him was the grea'test he had ever undertaken. There 
was danger in Civil Disobedience, the danger of an outbreak of 
violence. But this time there could be no turning back, the 
struggle in freedom's battle of non-violence against violence, no 
matter from what quarter, must go on. As Jawaharlal Nehru 
saw, the country was disciplined now, and there was a clearer 
appreciation of the nature of the struggle. The masses knew, too, 
that Gandhi "was terribly in earnest about non-violence. There 
could be no doubt about that now us there probably w_as in the 
minds of some people ten years before." The lesson of Chauri­
Chaura had been learnt, and the self-control of the volunteers who 
had suffered under Iuthi charges during the boycott of the Simon 
Commission had been encouraging. Still control must be in the 
hands of those who beli~ved in non-violence as a faith. Volunteers 
might be accepted if tliey would honestly follow non-violence as 
u policy. Purists may deem this a compromise, but Gandhi, like 
Confucius, might have said, "In sanctioning a man's entry here, 
I sanction nothing he may do on his withdrawal. Why, indeed, 
be so extreme? When a mun cleanses himself and comes to me 
I may accept his present cleanness without becoming sponsor of 
his past." But the volunteers must be self-controlled. On Feb­
ruary 27th 1930 Gandhi published his code of discipline in Yuun (/ 
India. • 

The Satyagrahi must harbour no anger, must suffer the anger 
of his opponent, putting up with assaults but refusing to retaliate. 
He must refrain from insults and from swearing, he must protect 
opponents from insult or attack even at the risk of his life. As 
u prisoner he must behave in an exemplary manner, us 3 member 
of his unit in the struggle he must obey the orders of his leaders 
(although he may resign from the ur~_it in the event of serious dis­
agreement). He may not expect guarantees for maintenance of 
his dependants. 

The moment for launching Civil Disobedience could not be 
delayed. The tension in the country was at its height, and be­
cause o[ luck o[ resistance to deeply-felt injustices violence might 
break out. The dynamic must. be directed at once into non­
violent channels. 

On ~nd l\larch Gandhi once more addressed the Viceroy, .in 
u letter written from the Ashram at Suburmuti. He gave a long. 
reasoned, moderate statement of India's grievances. He spoke 
particularly of the terrific pressure of Land Revenue, the burden 
of the Salt Tux which fell most heavily on the very poor, the 
iniquity of the large drink and drug revenue, and the extrava­
gant and ruinous administration. "Tukc your own salary," he 
wrote. "It is over Rs. ~1 ,000 per month, besides muny other 
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.indirect additions. The British Prime Minister gets £5,000 per 
year, i.e., over Rs. 5,4.00 per month at the present rate of ex­
change. You are getting over Rs. 700 per day, against India's 
average income of less than 2 annas per day. The Prime Minister 
gets Rs. 180 per day against Great Britain's average income of 
nearly Rs. 2 per day. Thus, you are getting much over five thou­
sand times India's average income. The British Prime Minister is 
getting only ninety times Britain's average income. On bcnded 
knee, I ask you to ponder over this phenomenon . . . " He 
pleaded for an announcement in the next nine days that the 
Government would remedy some of these evils. Otherwise he 
would launch Civil Disobedience by a symbolic breach of the Salt 
Laws. The letter was taken to Delhi by a young Englishman, 
Reginald Reynolds. 'The reply wos only an expression of regret 
that Gandhi should be "contemplating a course of action which 
was clearly bound to involve violation of the Law and donger to 
the public peace." 

Gandhi's rejoinder was a trumpet call to the nation. "On 
bended knees I asked for bread and received a stone. The English 
.nation responds only to force, and I am not surprised by the 
Viceregal reply. The only public peace the Nation knows is the 
peace of the public prison. India is a vast prison· house. I re­
pudiate this (British) Law and regard it as my sacred duty to 
break the mournful monotony of compulsory peace that is choking 
the heart of the Nation for want of free vent." 

• 
Gandhi's plan was characteristic. The little community in 

the Ashram were to launch the campaign. Hitherto they had 
been kept in reserve in order that by a long course of discipline 
they might acquire stability. The restraint had been willingly 
accepted in the hope that some day they would be able to give o. 
good account of themselves and of Satyagraha. "If," said Gandhi 
"at the end of nearly fifteen years of its existence, the Ashra~ 
~annot give such a demonstration, it and I should disappear, and 
1t would be well for the Nation, the Ashram and me." To his 
Work!ng Committee colleagues he would say little but "Wait till 
I begm. Once I march to the place, the idea will be released. 
You will know what to do." The place was Dandi, on the sea­
coast two hundred miles from the Ashram, unci at 0. 30 in the 
morning of 12th .!\larch Guudhi• with seventy-nine followers turned 
his face to the sea, pledged not to return to the Ashram until 
t~e Sal.t A~t w~s repealed.' until Swaraj was won. Carrying ,1 
long stick Ill h1s hand, with a gentle smile playing on his facc 
he str~de at the head of his peaceful army along the road to Aslah, 
ten mlies away,, between densely packed crowds of people who 
had been standmg for hou~s to watch him puss. At Jumbusar, 
Jawaharlal came for last mmute consultations. His father want(·ci 
to give their palatial family residence in· Allahabad to the nation. 
They spent a few ho)..lrs together and then Nehru watched him go 
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with his party on the next stage in the journey to the salt sea. 
"I saw him," he wrote "staff in hand, marching along at the 
head of his followers, with firm step and n peaceful but undaunted 
look. It wus a moving sight." 

After twenty-four days, they reached t~1c sea at ~andi, _on 
the coast below Surat. The night of 5th Aprll was spent m fastmg 
and prayer and in the morning the pilgrims bathed in the sea. 
At 8. 30 Gandhi bent down and picked up a lump of natural salt. 
The law was broken. 

It was the signal for which the nation had been waiting. All 
over the country, in town and village, people began to manufac­
ture and sell "contraband" salt. There were large numbers of 
arrests and the President of the Assembly, V. J. I'utcl, resigned 
declaring that he could better serve the country by joining the 
movement. Jawaharlal was arrested in mid-April, and the l'resi­
dentship of the Congress passed to Gandhi. Gandhi himself was 
arrested on May 4th after midnight and was once more co)lfincd 
in Yeravda Jail. His arrest led to extensive hartals throughout" 
the country and increased activity. Abbas Tyabji took charge 
when Gandhi was arrested, and when he too \Vas imprisoned con­
trol passed to the poet, Mrs. Nuidu, who was also arrested but 
subsequently released. 

"God willing, it is my intention to set out for Dharasana and 
reach there with my companions and demand possession of the 
Suit Works," Gundhi hud wrjtten in a second letter to the Viecroy. 
His arrest prevented him from directing the operation personally 
but the plan was nevertheless carried out. Two tl10usand five 
hundred non-violent volunteers raided Dharusanu Salt Depot, 
under the leadership of Sarojini Naidu, and the journalist Webb 
Miller has left a graphic description of the scene. Mrs. Naidu led 
the volunteers in prayer, and then addressed them briefly : 
'~Ga~d~i's body is in jail but his so!ll is with you. India's prcs­
t~ge 1s m your hands. You must not use any violence under any 
CU"cumstances. You will be beaten but you must not resist; you 
must not even raise a hund to ward off blows." \\'ith Manila! 
Gandhi, Gandhi's second son, in the forefront the throng moYed 
forward towards the salt-puns, which were now surrounded with 
barbed wi_re an~ ditches filled with water, guurdcd by four hundred 
Surat pohee With bulf a dozen British officials in command. The 
police carried lathis-"five foot clubs tipped with steel." Twenty­
five riflemen stood ready. 

A hundred yards from the stockade the Gandhi men drew up 
~nd a picked column advanced, wading the ditches and approach­
mg the barbed wire. Police officials ordered them to disperse. 
The column silently ignored the warning and slowly walked fnr· 
ward. "Suddenly," writes Miller, "at a word of eommund, seorcs 
of native police rushed upon the advancing marchers, and rained 
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blows on their beads with the steel-shod lathis. Not one of the 
marchers even raised an arm to fend off the blows. They went 
down like ten-pins. From where I stood I heard the sickeni11g 
whacks of the clubs on unprotected skulls. The waiting crowd 
of watchers groaned and sucked in their breaths in sympathetic 
pain at every blow. Those struck down fell sprawling, uncon­
scious or writhing in pain with fractured skulls or broken shoulders. 
In two or three minutes the ground was quilted with bodies. Great 
patches of blood widened on their white clothes. The survivors 
without breaking ranks silently and doggedly marched on until 
struck down . . . " 

So it went on. When the first column was gone another 
marched forward. "Although every one knew that within a few 
minutes he would be beaten down, perhaps killed, I could detect 
no signs of wavering or fear. They marched steadily with heads 
up, without the encouragement of music or cheering: or any possi­
bility that they might escape serious injury or death. The police 
rushed out and methodically and mechanically beat down the 
second column. There was no fight, no struggle; the marchers 
simply walked forward until struck down. There were no out­
cries, only groans after they fell. There were not enough stretcher­
bearers to carry off the wounded ; I saw eighteen injured being 
carried off simultaneously, while forty-two still lay bleeding on 
the ground awaiting stretcher-bearers. The blankets used as 
stretchers were sodden with blood." 

After a while tactics were varied, and twenty-five men would 
advance and sit waiting. The police beat the sitting men with 
their /athis. "Finally the police became enraged by the non­
resistance, sharing, I suppose, the helpless rage I had already felt 
at the demonstrators for not fighting back. They commenced 
savagely kicking the seated men in the abdomen and testicles. The 
injured men writhed and squealed in agony, which seemed to in­
flame the fury of the police, and the crowd again almost broke 
away from their leaders. The police then begun dragging the 
sitting men by the arms or feet, sometimes for a hundred yards, 
and throwing them into ditches. One was dragged to a ditch 
where I stood; the splash of his body doused me with muddy wuter. 
Another policeman dragged a Gandhi man to the ditch, threw him 
in, then belaboured him over the head with a lclthi. Hour after 
hour strelchcr-beurcrs carried back a stream of inert, bleeding 
bodies." Sarojini Naidu and Manila! Gandhi were arrested. V. J. 
Patel came, and sitting on the ground beneath a mango-tree, dressed 
in the same course hand-spun smock that the crowd wore, he said, 
surveying the scene : "All hope of reconciling India with the British 
Empire is lost for ever. I can understand any government's taking 
people into custody and punishing them for breaches of the law, 
but 1 cannot understand how any government that calls itself 
ciYilized could deal us savagely and brutally with non-violent', un­
resisting men as the British have this morning." 



By eleven in the morning, at a temperature of 116 in the 
shade, activities slackened. Miller, the only foreign correspondent, 
went to the temporary hospital. He counted 320 injured, muny 
still insensible with fructurcd skulls, others writhing in agony from 
kicks in the testicles and stomach ... Scores of the injured had 
received no treatment for hours and two had died. The Govern­
ment of India made every effort to prevent Miller from communi­
cating his reports to his newspaper in London and only three 
hundred-word meessages got through. 

In Yeravda Jail Gandhi was translating from the Upanishads 
and other Sanskrit script).lres the beautiful hymns which Mr. John 
Hoyland has given to the English public in the volume of "Songs 
From Prison." Sarojini Naidu had told the marchers at Dharasunu 
that Gandhi was with them in spirit. Surely he was, us he sat in 
his cell, translating the lines of Kabir : 

"He who is valiant of heart fteeth not from the face of peril, 
And he who fteeth from peril is craven and base : 

Behold, the battle is joined, 
Fierce, fierce is the onslaught : 

Anger, passion and pride, 
Ambition, lust and desire, 
Are the foes who ride wildly upon us: 
At our side fight our friends, 
Self-rule, truth, piety, peace. 
The warrior's sword is the Holy Numc, 
And we brandish it wide : 
In that war 
Cravens are never seen, 
But the valorous fight in the van." 

The battle was fought not only at Dhurasuna but through­
out India. Another Salt Depot at W~dala was besieged, and ·WO 
volunteers were arrested, many more being injured in /athi charges. 
15,000 volunteers took part. In Madras a crowd was fired on, 
and machine-guns were used in the Frontier Province to disperse 
a crowd in Peshawar. Even under machine-gun fire the volunteers 
preserved their disciplined unci peaceful courage. Towurds the 
end of the yeur there wus u deeply significant incident in llurisal. 
Five hundred persons were injured in Iuthi charges in one duy. 
Police were said to h!tve set fire to property of Satyagrahis and 
their sympathisers and reports of indecent assault were received 
from many quarters. The village became infuriated, arrested the 
police, locked them in the local school and set fire to it. Two 
Congress volunteers broke the door open and rescued the police 
from the flames at the risk of their own lives. India had atoned 
for Chauri-Chaura. 

George Slocombe, un English joumalist who witnessed the raid 
on the W'ad!tla Depot, obtained un early interview with Gandhi 
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in jail. "The imprisoned Mahatma," he wrote, "now incarnates 
the very soul of India." He begged that the Government should 
negotiate. The Government, with a hundred thousand political 
prisoners and hands red with the blood of thousands more of 
their peaceful opponents, would make no move, but the indefati­
gable Moderate leaders, Sapru and Jayakar, were permitted to 
interview Gandhi, who was induced to write a letter to the Nehrus, 
also in jail. Gandhi wrote that he doubted if the time was ripe for 
negotiations, but shortly afterwards the prisoners were brought 
together for consultations, on 14th August 1930. The Government 
would make no concession, negotiations. failed at the outset. 

An important feature of the Civil Disobedience programme 
was a no-tax campaign. Vallabhbhai Patel once more led Bardoli. 
The opportunity for which they had waited so long had come at 
last. Repressive measures by the authorities became so intolerable 
that finally almost the whole population migrated from the British 
territory to the villages in the neighbouring Indian State of Baroda. 
Mr. H. N. Brailsford visited one of the places in which the 80,000 
were encamped. They had built temporary shelters with matting 
for walls and palm leaves on sacking for roof. "But they are 
crowded together with their beloved cattle, and packed in the 
narrow space are all their household goods, the great jars in which 
they store their rice, cloths and churns, chests and beds, shining 
pots of brass, here a plough, there a picture of the gods, and 
everywhere, at intervuls, the presiding genius of this camp, u 
photograph of Mahatma Gandhi. I asked u big group of .them 
why they had left their homes. The women gave the promptest 
and simplest answer- 'Because Mahatmaji is in prison.' The 
men were still conscious of an economic grievance; 'farming does 
not pay and the tax is unjust.' One or two said, 'To win Swaraj' 
or Self-Government." Brailsford reported terrorism by the 
Government. "One village was haunted every night by a gang of 
ruffians, who fired guns, tore veils, and on one occasion murdered 
an old peasant with an axe"- and many more tales of the same 
kind. 

While all this was going on the Iirst Ro:und Table Conference 
met in St. .James Palace, the King presiding, to deliberate on the 
future of India. The Conference could only advise the British 
<;ovcrnmcnt. It might take what the British chose to offer in 
diplomatic language, or it might take it from the steel-tipped 
lathi. 

The Conference ended in .January, although-as Mr. Malcolm 
MacDonald let out-the Prime Minister's concluding statement on 
the Government's policy, delivered on January lOth, was drafted 
before Christmas. Members of the Simon Commission had taken 
no part in the Conference. Their Report had recommended im­
portant constitutional changes in the Provinces and in the Legis­
lative Assembly that would have resulted in a substantial increase 
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of power for the Indian representatives, while leaving uitimate 
control in the hands of the British, who continued to direct defence 
·and foreign affairs, and to hold powers of veto on the decisions 
of the democratic assemblies. But, says Professor Coupland, "The 
ultimate establishment of an all-India. federation, including the 
States, was relegated to the distant future; nor was any reference 
made to Dominion Status, though in 1929 the attainment of that 
status had been officially declared to be the 'natural issue' of the 
policy of 1917." 

Mr. Winston Churchill, leading a powerful section of the Con­
servative Party, favoured the Simon Report, and bitterly de­
nounced the "painful difference" between the Viceroy and the 
Government of India on the one hand and the Statutory Com­
mission on the other. There was a tense political battle over 
the recommendations of the First Round Table Conference, Mr. 
Churchill roundly saying that the Conservative Party could not 
be bound to them, and Mr. Baldwin pledging the Party to carry 
out the undertakings and trying to make the most of the "safe­
guards" which remained undefined, and which would determine 
the measure of control to remain in British hands. Mr. MacDonald 
had pledged Britain in the following vague terms : 

"The view of His Majcs~'s Government is that responsibility 
for the Government of India should be placed upon the L-egis­
latures, Central and Provincial, with such provision as may 
be necessary to guarantee, during a period of transition, the 
observance of certain obligations and to meet other special 
circumstances, and also with such guarantees as are required 
by the minorities to protect their political liberties and rights. 
"In such statutory safeguards as may be made for meeting 
the needs of the transitional period, it will be the primary 
concern of His Majesty's Government to see that the reserved 
powers are so framed and exercised ns not to prejudice the 
advance of India through the new• Constitution to full respon­
sibility for her own Government." 

A week after the end of the Conference in London, Gandhi and 
twenty-six other Congress leaders were unconditionally released. 
Three Moderate leaders who had been among the Dclcgutes to the 
Confercncc-Sastri, Sapru and J uyukar-hud cabled asking that 
no decision should be made by Congress until they hud hud an 
opportunity for discussion with the N utionalist leaders. 

For the present Gandhi contented himself with saying that 
he would judge the R.T.C. tree by its fruit. He had received 
a stupendous mass welcome in Bombay, but hurried on to Alluha­
hnd, where l\Jotilal Nehru was dying. It was late ut night when 
he arrived, but Motilal was lying awake, waiting for him, and 
Jawaharlal-who had been released at the same time-saw that 
Gandhi's presence and the few words he uttered had a soothing 
effect on his father. 



One after another the Indian leaders arrived, assembling for 
a crucial meeting of the Working Committee, and coming to puy 
homage to the dying~ man. He sat "like an old lion mortally' 
wounded and with his physical strength almost gone, but still 
very leonine and kingly." 

"I am going soon, Mahatmaji," he said to Gandhi, "and I 
shall not be here to see Swaraj. But I know that you have won 
it and will soon have it." On the morning of February 6th he died 
at Lucknow where he had been taken for treatment. The body 
was brought buck to. Allahabad wrapped in the National flag, and 
with another flag flying overhead. "There were some ceremonies 
at home," wrote Jawaharlal, "and then the last jo~ney to the 
Ganga with a mighty concourse of people. As evening fell on the 
river bank on that winter day, the great flumes leapt up and con­
sumed that body which had meant so much to us who were close 
to him as to millions in India. Gandhiji said a few moving 
words to the multitude, and then all of us crept silently home. 
The stars were out and shining brightly when we returned, lonely 
and desolate." 

The political situation gave Gandhi no respite for grief. Des­
pite the official "peace offer" from Britain "JJnprovoked assaults 
on innOcent persons still continue,," he declared, "respectable 
people are summarily and witho.ut apparent reason deprived of 
their movable and immovable property by mere executive action. 
A procession of women was forcibly dispersed. They were seized 
by the hair and kicked with boots. The continuance of such re­
pression will make Congress co-operation impossible even if other 
difficulties were got over." 

Sapru and J ayakar had nothing fresh to tell the Congress 
leaders, despite their cable, and Gandhi resolved to open conver­
sations with Lord Irwin at once. He wrote asking for u heart to 
heart talk, and when an affirmative reply carne he hurried off to 
Delhi in a third-class railway carriage. This was more than Mr. 
Churchill could tolerate. "It is alarming and also nauseating," 
he declared, "to sec Mr. Gandhi, a seditious Middle Temple law­
yer, now posing as a fakir of a type well-known in the East, 
~triding half-nuked up the steps of the Viceregal pulucc, while he 
is still organising and conducting a defiant campaign of civil dis­
obedience, to purlcy on cquul terms with the representative of the 
King-Emperor." 

Indeed, as Bcrnays noted in his diary, "Lord Irwin has taken 
great risks. He has decided to negotiate with rebels. Already 
there ure murmurs of indigmation behind him in London. The 
British. Governm~nt is cuu~ious and_ unhelpful. The last thing it 
wants IS ~~ electiOn on I1!d1a. If tl_nngs go wrong there is no help 
there. l11s own Executive Council urc loyul but dubious. He 
himself must know that if the negotiations break down the position 
will be infinitely worse than it would huve been if they had never 
taken it in hand." 
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Of Lord Invin's sincerity there was no doubt. B:ut apart from 
the serious differences between New Delhi and the Cabinet, there 
were th0se in the Indian Civil Service who were engaged in a deep 
and tortuous game. One o[ them boasted to Bernays, "We know 
Gandhi won't co-operate. I do not like these conversations, but 
one step leads to another. If we appealed to Gandhi to come along 
and help, we hud to let him out of prison; and ·if we let him 
out of prison, we had to let him consult with the Viceroy. It may 
all work out for the best. He will be manoeuvred into such a 
position where, if he breaks awuy, he will alienate all moderate 
sympathy and be left with nothing but 0. rump of irreconcilables." 

"That," comments Bernays, "is a very typical Civil Service 
point of view. They are seldom sincere in any gesture of good­
will they make. They arc determined to hold on to power to the 
lust, and so far they have been remarkably successful." 

Gandhi went to a large bungalow in Old Delhi, the house of 
Dr. Ansari. From its verandah there was a magnificent view of 
the turreted walls of the old city, and a few yards away was the 
palace of the Moghul emperors. Beyond the sprawling· river 
.Jumno. stretched the dusty plain. Five miles o.wuy, in the Imperial 
capital at New Delhi, in the Vicero;y's house at the end of a 
broad, stately avenue, was Lord lrwm.· 

Gandhi raised three main issues, which he regarded as a test 
of good faith. He wanted an enquiry into alleged police outrages; 
the abolition of the salt tux, and the legalisution of peaceful picket­
ing of liquor shops and foreign cloth merchants. He also discussed 
a general amnesty, repeal of special Ordinances, restitution of con­
fiscated property, and reinstatement of officials. Conversations 
were frank and friendly. 

At Dr. Ansari's in the evenings there were prayer meetings. 
Moslems, Hindus, Europeans, Sikhs, men of all creeds and all races 
met on the lawn in front of the verandah, and in the darkness, 
Gandhi, with the aid of a small lamp, "read o. non-sectarian service. 
In the early mornings Gandhi would take long walks along the 
Ridge and sometimes Jawaharlal would accompany him. "We 
talked of many matters, of the past, of the present, and especially 
?f the future. I remember how he surprised me with one of his 
JC]eus about the future of the Congress. I hud imagined that the 
Congress, as such, would automatically cease to exist with the 
coming of freedom. He thought that Congress should continue, 
but on one condition : that it passed a self-denying ordinance, 
luying it down that none of its members could accept a paid job 
~nder the State, and if any one wanted such a post of authority 
Ill the State, he would have to leave Congress. I do not at present 
:emember how he worked this out, but the whole idea underlying 
It _was that the C~ngress by its detuchment und having no axe to 
grmd, could exercise tremendous moral pressure on the Executive 
as well as other departments of the Government, and thus kC'ep 



them on the right track"- an idea which J awaharlal found diffi­
culty in appreciating. 

But differ as they might, the two men were bound closely 
by friendship and mutual respect. No one has praised Gandhi 
more shrewdly than Nehru. " He does represent the peasant 
masses of India; he is the quintessence of the conscious and sub­
conscious will of those millions. It is perhaps something more 
than representation; for he is the idealized personification of those 
vast millions. Of course, he is not the average peasant. A man 
of the keenest intellect, of·fine feeling and good taste, wide vision; 
very human, and yet essentially the ascetic who has suppressed 
his passions and emotions, sublimated them and directed them in 
spiritual channels; a tremendous personality, drawing people to 
himself like a magnet, and culling out fierce loyalties und attach­
ments-all this so utterly unlike and beyond a peasant. And yet 
withal he is the great peasant, with a peasant's outlook on 
affairs, and with a peasant's blindness to some aspects of life. But 
India is peasant India, and so he knows his India well and reacts 
to her lightest tremors, and gauges a situation accurately and 
almost instinctively, and has u knack of ucting at the psychological 
moment." 

The vitality of the man ! The amazing energy and inner 
power "coming out of some inexhaustible spiritual reservoir." And 
how "he disciplined our lazy and demoralized people and made 
them work-not by force or any material inducement, but by a 
gentle look and u soft word and, above all, by personal example." 

There came a crisis in the official conversations. Irwin, after 
consulting London, refused the police enquiry. The most he would 
do was to have any case of alleged repression investigated on the 
spot by the local authorities themselves. A breakdown seemed 
unavoidable, and on March 2nd when Gandhi left Dr. Ansari's 
house he intended to break off negotiations. The ·working Com­
mittee expected him back in three-quarters of an hour. But at 
half-past three he was not back. The hours drugged on and at last, 
shortly after six he returned. 

Irwin had made a personal appeal to him. "Forget all about 
your theoretic right to demand a police enquiry; I admit that 
you have got the right to demand an enquiry. or course you 
have. I appeal to you to forgo it. You must realise that nothing 
could result from a police enquiry but mutual recrimination. Can­
not ~e let bygones be bygones? I appeal to you to come in on 
the stde of peace." Gandhi replied at once, "If you make an 
appeal to me on those grounds, yoJ.Jr Excellency, I have no other 
course but to respond to it." 

The Secretary or the Home Department, Mr. H. W. Emerson, 
now took part in the discussion. Soon Gandhi secured a con­
cession on the salt tax, as a result of which people living on the 
sea-coast were to be allowed to muuufacture salt. It made little 
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difference to the Government, but a big difference in principle. As 
Bernuys observed, "Gandhi began his great march to Dandi beach 
to defy the law by manufacturing salt and the march has ended 
in his negotiating successfully the removal of the ban as man to 
man in the Viceroy's study." 

But Gandhi felt an uneasy sense of something wrong. Finally • 
he fastened on the question of the return of lands confiscated for 
non-payment of land revenue. V allabhbhai Patel had promised 
the peasants of Gufarat that when peace was made their lands 
would be restored. Once more it seemed that negotiations must 
break down. The Viceroy refused to agree to Gandhi's demand 
about the restoration of land when it had passed to a third party, 
but he at last agreed to insert in the draft n statement indicating 
Gandhi's objections to the clause. At 2 a.m. in the morning 
Gandhi came back once more to Old Delhi. A formula on picketing 
had beel1" agreed, earlier in the negotiations. Release of political 
prisoners was promised. The Viceroy would give Gandhi a note to 
the Bombay Government so that he might take up with them the 
question of the confiscated lands. Gandhi had agreed that the 
scope of future discussion at the resumed Round Table Conference 
should be "with the object of considering further the scheme for 
the constitutional Government of India discussed at the Round 
Table Conference"-in other words the terms of reference would 
be the January statement by Mr. MacDonald. 

The Working Co:Umittee was by no means satisfied. Valla­
bhbhai Patel objected to the formula on the question of confiscated 
lands. Jawaharlal Nehru deplored the acceptance of a basis of 
discussion s[tort of complete independence. Nobody thought the 
undertaking to release prisoners was sufficiently comprehensive. 

Gandhi interrogated member after member of the Committee 
-should he break on prisoners? on picketing? on lands? on what? 
Reluctantly the Committee accepted the settlement. But it was 
made clear from the outset that if the ·(;onference failed to satisfy 
the Congress demand, or if Government broke the terms of the truce, 
Civil Disobedience would be resumed. Lord Irwin had objected 
to Gandhi's statement that Civil Disobedience was only suspended. 
They had agreed to say "discontinued" instead. 

Gandhi went again to Lord Irwin and made it clear to him 
that Congress would claim independence, and wo).lld be represented 
at the Conference on that basis only. 

Exactly a year had passed between the day when Reginald 
Reynolds had delivered Gandhi's letter and the day the Pact was 
signed in Delhi. Almost the first thing Gandhi did, on the evening 
of the same day, was to address a gathering of journalists, and 
they were impressed by a full statement which took an hour and 
a half to deliver and was given without the aid of a single note 
and without the need to make a single correction. "For a settle­
ment of this character," he said, "it is not possible nor wise to 
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say which is the victorious party. If there is any victory, I 
should say it belongs to both." He went on to speak of the work 
that lay before Congress and the nation, appealing to the English 
to realise that "they must be prepared to let India feel the same 
glow of freedom which they themselves would die in order to 
possess." Nor was he speaking of a narrow nationalism. "I 

• venture to suggest, in all humility, that if India reaches her destiny 
through truth and non-violence, she will have made no small con­
tribution to the world peace for which all the nations of the earth 
are thirsting, and she would also have, in that case, made some 
slight return for the help that those nations have been freely 
giving to her." 

There was another Press Conference next day, and Gandhi was 
submitted to a barrage of questions. One correspondent wanted 
to know if Gandhi would agree to become Prime Minister of the 
future Government of a free India. "No," he answered simply, 
"it will be reserved for younger minds and stouter hands." Per­
haps his thoughts went to the conversation with Juwahurlal on 
the Ridge a few mornings before. 

The journalist was wise in the ways of public men. Supposing 
the people wanted Gandhi and insisted ? There was a roar of 
laughter as Gandhi smilingly answered, "I will seek shelter behind 
journalists like you." 

A month Iuter Lord Irwin left India, his period of office com­
pleted. Gandhi saw him at Bombay to say •farewell. Lord Irwin, 
at least, had no regrets about the pact, and in May he said at n 
public luncheon in London, "I believe, from my knowledge of 
India, that if Mr. Gandhi comes to London, he will strain every 
nerve to secure an agreement, on these safeguards and other 
matters which will form the subject of discussion." 

There was a special Congress session at Karachi in March to 
ratify the pact. Many bud predicted that Gandhi would not be 
able to curry his followers with him, but apart from a scuffle with 
Communists in Bombay who tried to rush the platform because he 
had "betrayed the working-man" and one or two black flag demon­
strations there had been no serious opposition and the country had 
responded to the call for suspension of civil disobedience. The 
Karachi Congress ratified the pact. Juwahnrlal Nehru was known 
to be discontented but made no open revolt, and Subhus Bose 
made little impression on the delegates. Before the Congress was 
over news came from Cawnpore, fifteen hundred miles away, of 
the most serious communal riot of all. Several hundred people, 
men, women and children, were killed or seriously injured. The 
Congress appointed a committee to report on the catastrophe. 

News from England was ominous too. Officiul statements had 
been made implying that the safeguards were settled and inviolable. 
Bcrnays saw Gandhi in his tent at Karachi in the twilight of an 
early morning. The Mahatma had snatched three hours' sleep, and 
now hr sat on his bed working, with Miss Slade, his English helper, 
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in attendance. Gandhi was worried. The Viceroy had assured 
him that the safeguards were entirely open to discussion. The 
Secretary of State and others were saying the opposite. "The 
question is vital. The British Government at any conference 
must be open, not merely to discussion on these questions, but to 
conviction." 

From Karachi Gandhi dashed to Delhi and for four days he 
was again in Dr. Ansari's house, negotiating with the communal 
leaders in an attempt to avert further outbreaks. 

In the middle of April Lord and Lady Willingdon arrived, 
the Viceroy straight and slim and very tall in a long old-fashioned 
grey frock coat, and his lady in a garden-party dress. He did 
not ask for Mr. Gandhi. The Lord 'Villingdon of 1915 h!ld been 
most anxious thut Gandhi should come to see him whenever there 
was any complaint. The Lord Willingdon of 1931 had learned the 
'Vhitchall brand of non-co-operation. Lonaon had sent a man 
who could be relied on to regui'n the ground his predecessor had 
so scandalously conceded. 

Already the truce was strained. Many had expected that the 
pact would be followed immediately by the announcement of the 
second Round Table Conference, and that probably the early 
sessions, if not all, would be held in India. But us the weeks 
went by it became clear that India must go to London if she wished 
to be heard. In May Gandhi overcame the obstacle of the new 
Viceroy's coolness and a meeting was arranged in Simla, marred 
by a refusal to allow cars to be at the station to meet the lndfan 
leader-an order '\ilich was countermanded at the last moment 
for fear of a demonstration if Gandhi walked through the streets 
to the Viceroy's residence. Bernays reported that Lord Willing­
don was "deliberately trying to end the personal negotiation policy 
so successfully worked by Irwin. He thi:nks that it is a great 
mistake to treat Gandhi differently from any other delegate. In 
logic, he is right. But, in practice, 1· think it is a mistake." 

The position deteriorated rapidly during the next three months 
and finally Gandhi, the sole representative of Congress at the 
Conference, Mrs. Naidu, and Pundit Muluviyu cancelled their pro­
Yisionul plan to sail on 15th August. Gandhi sent a long letter 
to the Viceroy containing specific instances of violation of the truce 
terms by provincial governments. There had been many prosecu­
tions for peaceful picketing, many failures to release political 
prisoners, fines had been enforced and p~mitive police maintained, 
confiscated property had often not been restored, or dismissed 
officials reinstated, peaceful meetings had been broken up, agri­
culturists had been coerced to extort dues they were wwble to 
pay, the peaceful vo)J.mtccrs under Gaffur Khan had been repressed, 
women had been maltreated. 

The Government of India would give little or no satisfaction 
and after a long correspondence with Mr. Emerson, Gandhi wired 
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on 13th August that there was no way left open to him ~mt to 
confirm his decision not to sail. "I can only add that I tned my 
utmost best to go to London but failed. Please inform t~e Pri'!le 
Minister accordingly." Besides all other reasons Gandhi was m­
fluenced by the refusal of the Government to nominate Dr. Ansari 
:u a delegate. Ansari was a leading Congressman, and also repre­
sented many Moslems. Gandhi had obtained something like a 
promise from Irwin that he, as well as Mrs. Naidu and Malaviya, 
would be nominated, but Lord Willingdon would not agree. Anti­
Congress Moslems were evidently preferred, and to the Nationalists 
it seemed clear that the cards were being deliberately stacked 
against them. 

Still he would "dash to London the moment the way is clear" 
and at the last minute talks were opeiiCd between the Viceroy and 
Gandhi, .Jawaharlal Nehru, Vallabhbhai Patel, Sir Prabhusunkur 
Pattani, Gaffar Khan and Dr. Ansari. 

The Government of India was evidently eager that Gandhi 
should go to London, and despite Lord Willingdon's earlier reluc­
tance, he now followed his predecessor's example and negotiated 
a fresh pact with Gandhi. The Government undertook to secure 
the obsel'vance of the Delhi pact in those cases in which a breach 
was established, and agreed that an enq:uiry should be held into 
the charges of coercion in collection of revenue in Bardoli. Gandhi 
had felt compelled to accept less than justice for Bardoli at Delhi, 
in the interests of the nation. He made amends at Simla by 
insisting on this enquiry as an indispensable condition of his sailing 
for England. 

The agreement was signed at 7 p.m. on 27th August, and 
Gandhi left Delhi in a special train to reach Bombay in time to 
sail on the s. s. Rajputana on the 29th. Most of the other delegates 
had sailed a fortnight earlier. 

Jawaharlal came with him to Bombay, but as he sat in the 
train he knew that soon he would be alone, the sole representative 
of Congress. A sense of his own weakness swept over him, and 
the words he wrote for his paper Young India, which had been 
restarted after the truce, came straight from his heart, written 
with a desperate cundour and sincerity : 

1•)•) --

"I must go to London feeling my weakness in its fulness. I 
must go to London with God us my only gJJide. He is a 
jealous Lord. He will allow no one to share His authority. 
One has therefore to appear before Him in all one's weakness, 
empty-handed and in a spirit of full surrender, and then He 
enables you to stand before a whole world and protects you 
from all harm. When I think of the prospects in London, 
when I know that all is not well in India, that the second 
settlement is bereft of all grace and is charged with no pleasant 
memories, there is nothing wanting to fill me with utter despair. 
The horizon is as black us it possibly could be. There is every 



chance of my returning empty-handed. . That is just ~he. state 
which realization of weakness finds one m. But behevmg as 
I do, that God has made the way to London clear for me 
thro).lgh the second Settlement, I approach the visit with hope, 
and feel that any result that comes out of it would be good 
for the nation, if I do not prove faithless to the mandate 
given to me by the Congress." 
From Delhi to Bombay people besieged the train, and at 

Bombay the crowd was so eiwrmous that Gandhi had to alight 
at a wayside station and drive into the city, as he had done in 
the fateful days of April 1919 when he had been arrested and 
turned back on his way to the Punjab. On the Azad Maidan 
he addressed u tremendous meeting. He spoke of his mission to 
London, and the words he had written in the train were still burn­
ing in his soul. "Non-violence is a mighty power and that is the 
only power that will work effectively against tremendous odds 
there. I am going there with that trust but if I return, perchance, 
empty-handed, you should not be disappointed." 

When he motored to the station the streets were crowded with 
cheering people, and the shouts of "Mahatma Gandhi ki jai !" 
resounded from packed roofs and balconies. So, garlanded with 
flowers, walking between volunteers clad in spotless white khaddar, 
Gandhi boarded the Rajputmw, carrying with him the hopes of 
India and the certainty that in London the trap was set and wait­
ing for him to enter. 

Still he had his mission to perform. As he sat with .his faith­
ful secretary Mahadev Desai, looking through the piles of telegrams 
wishing him success, he came on one from a young Gujaruti poet, 
and knew that there were some in India who understood : 

"You have drunk many n bitter draught. Go forth now to 
Huish the last cup of poison. You have pitted truth against false­
hood, love against hate, straight dealing against deceit. You have 
refused to distrust even your bitterest enemy. Go forth then to 
guaff the bitterest draughts that may yet be in store for you. Let 
not the thought of our misery and our misfortunes make you 
p~use. You have taught us to suffer cheerfully. You have 
stiffened our tender hearts into steel. What if you return empty­
h:mded? Your very going is enough. Go and proelaim to man­
kmd your message of love and brotherhood. Munkind uilinu with 
ills unt?ld is pining for the healing balm that, it knows, y;u will 
carry w1th you." 



Chapter VIII 

INDIA'S ENVOY-GANDHI IN EUROPE 

GANDHI had insisted on booking the cheapest berths, in this case 
second class accommodation, for his small party. He was adamant 
about the luggage of which he thought there was far too much. 
Seven s_uit-cases and cabin trunks were sent back from Aden. "If 
you can go about in Simla with a dhoti and u lwtlta and a pair 
of sandals, I assure you there is nothing to prevent you from 
doing so in England," he said firmly. "If I fow1d that you were 
not properly clad, I should myself warn you and get you more 
woollens" and they could be given afterwards to the poor. Binocu­
lars, presented by a friend, must also go back (if only as a gesture 
to remind him of Kallenbach) and this object too, what was it? 
A camp-cot. "Oh, is·that u camp-cot? I thought it was a hockey 
set. Well, let the hockey set go. Have yo.u ever seen me use it?" 

Unlike the other Indians he suffered not at all from sea-sick­
ness.. He had chosen a corner on the second class deck where he 
spent most of the day and all the night, placidly following his 
familiar routine, retiring at half-past nine and rising at four, con­
ducting his evening prayer meetings which were open to all \vhose 
stomachs permitted them to contemplate higher things. 

At Aden the Resident refused to allow the Indians to fly the 
Indian National flag in welcoming Gandhi, but Gandhi sent a 
telephone message that he would not receive an address under 
such conditions and the ban was withdrawn. 

As the ship neared Suez there were cabled greetings from the 
Egyptian Nationalist leaders. At Suez and Port Said there were 
Indian deputations, but none from the Egyptians; the authorities 
had refused to grant permission, and only a single representative 
of Nahas Pasha, with great difficulty, reached the Mahatma. 
Nothing could show more clearly that the British regarded Gandhi 
us a dangerous rebel, despite the truce. Gundhi was undisturbed. 
He played with all the children on the ship, and gaily shared with 
them his simple meals of fruit. 

One evening, at the meeting, he spoke on prayer at the re­
quest of a Moslem youth. He recalled the days when he had been 
to Christian services in South Africa. "They supplicated God, 
but I could not do so, I failed earegiously. I started with dis­
belief in God and prayer, and until a lute stage in life I did not 
feel anything like a void in life. But at this stage I felt that as 
food was indispensable for the body, so was prayer indispensable 
for the soul. Fasting is often necessary in order to keep the body 
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in health, but there is no such thing as prayer-tasting. You can­
not possibly have a surfeit of prayer. Three of the greatest teachers 
of the world-Buddha, Jesus, Mahomcd-havc left unimpeachable 
testimony, that they found illumination through prayer and could 
not possibly live withol!t it. But to come nearer home. Millions 
of Hindus and Moslems and Christians find their only solace in life 
in prayer. Will you vote them down as liars or self-deluded people? 
Well, then, I will say, that this lying has a charm for me, a truth­
seeker, if it is 'lying' that has given me that mainstay or staff of 
life, without which I could not bear to live for a moment. In 
spite of despair staring me in the face on the political horizon, I 
have never lost my peace. That peace, I tell you, comes from 
prayer. I am not u man of learning bl!t I humbly claim to be 
a man of prayer. I am indifferent as to form. Every one is a law 
unto himself in that respect." 

At Marseilles the sight of Gandhi in loin-cloth and sha,~l 
scandalized the French. Was he really going to walk about London 
like that? Gandhi answered with his disarming smile, "You, in 
your country, wear plus fours, I prefer minus fours." To the 
customs officer he declared, "I am a poor mendicant. My earthly 
possessions consist of six spinning-wheels, prison dishes, a can of 
goat's milk, six homespun loin cloths and towels, and my repu­
tation which cannot be worth much." 

He was welcomed to Europe by Romain Rolland's sister, Rol­
land being too ill to come. The great French writer had been one 
of the first to recognise Gandhi us a figure of world significance 
and his study "Mahatma Gandhi" published in the early twenties 
remains the most illuminating sketch of Gandhi's character. But 
the pressmen dispatched entirely misleading and untrue reports 
of the reception at Marseilles, and on the special train to Boulognc 
Gandhi examined the journalist chiefly responsible, and reduced 
him to confusion. 

On September 12th Gandhi landed" again in England. Three 
times he had come from South Africa in the years before the 
Great War when he had been fighting the first Sutyagraha cam­
paign, but now he came from India as he had come once before 
a shy young student. Then, too, he had been in white, agonis­
ingly conspicuous and ill at case. Now his white clothes were tin· 
home-spun threads of his own land, and his dress the simple garb 
of the Indian peasant. 

From Folkcstone he came by road to London. There was u 
reception at Friends House in the Euston Road, and then Muriel 
I~estcr shepherded him into a car and they drove through the pour­
ing rain to Bow, to Muriel's beloved Kingsley Hall where he was 
to stay durmg his weeks in London . 

. It was_ J_itting that. Gandhi, the spokesman of the povert~­
stnckcn miihons o[ Imha, should be housed among the poor 111 

the East End, but there had been tremendous competition for til(' 
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honour and M:uriel Lester's triumph was at least a mixed blessing 
for the little community at Bow. For weeks they had been 
virtually besieged by journalists, film people, enterprising com­
mercial gentlemen with attractive "propositions" of all kinds. 

Still it was right, not as a good publicity stunt but because 
it brought Gandhi among the English people, pierced the veil of 
illusion and misrepresentation in which the newspapers had sought 
to enshroud him. The moment of Gandhi's arrival in England 
was not when he stepped ashore, when he received the greetings 
at the enthusiastic reception, or when he first took his place in the 
Round Table Conference chamber. It was on that riotous Satur­
day night when a hundred East Enders were dancing and playing 
in Kingsley Hall and he walked in amongst them. For a few 
minutes he watched them, the English people, the rulers of India. 

He heard Muriel's voice, "Come and speak to our blind friend." 
He followed her across the room, the music died away. "As he 
talked to the blind woman," Muriel Lester wrote later, "the rest 
drew near; very gently, very quietly they approached; mostly it 
was the young mothers and fathers who came closest to him ; all 
unselfconscious they were, and as they pressed forward they held 
their babies out for him to touch. He greeted them all and took 
one child in his arms. There was a look of wonder and a feeling 
of deepest peace and utter satisfaction in the whole hall that night." 

Long after, when he was back in India, in prison, one of the 
Bow workmen was prevailed on to speak about him ut a public 
meeting. "A skinny little bloke with a funny face-that's how 
the papers had shown him to us. But he wasn't that sort of chap 
at all. The day be arrived I'm sure there were a thousand people 
at Kingsley Hall to meet him, and when we saw him for ourselves 
we fow1d he was a fine chap, laughing and jolly, nothing out of 
the way at all. I took a lot of notice of him because I live just 
opposite. I watched all his ways. I reckon he was a man you 
m).lst admire. He was so strong-minded ... " 

On his second evening at How he was to broadcast to America. 
He made no preparations for his half hour talk. He sat on the 
flat roof, finishing his fruit supper, talking calmly to friends. The 
tumult Jownstairs was quieted. Kingsley Hull wus on the air. 
Still Gandhi sat upstairs talking. Muriel Lester came in alone 
and begun her introductory live minutes talk. Four and a half 
minutes had gone by when the door opened and Mr. Gandhi 
walked in. He took Muriel's chair and sat comfortably cross­
legged us she concluded. She turned the microphone towards him, , 
and he touched it rather gingerly. 

"Do I talk into this thing?" he enquired. Those were the 
lirst words California heard. Then he shut his eyes and bent his 
head and for a moment sat silent. 

He spoke for half an hour. The means adopted by the Indians 
in their fight for liberty, he said, had not been adopted by any 
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other people of whom we have record. ". . . Not violence, ·not 
bloodshed, not diplomacy us one understands it nowadays, but 
purely and simply truth and non-violence. No wonder that the 
attention of the world is directed towards this attempt to lend 
a successful, bloodless revolution." 

He would wait for ages rather than seek to attain the free­
dom of his country throug.b. bloody means. "I feel in the inner­
most recesses of my heart, after a political experience extending 
over an unbroken period of close upon thirty-five years, that the 
world is sick unto death of blood-spilling. It is seeking a way 
out, and I flatter myself with the belief that perhaps it will be 
the privilege of the ancient land of India to show that way out to 
the hungering world." 

There were, of course, endless callers, and endless visits to 
b~ paid, interviews to be given, meetings to be addressed. Talks 
Wtth General Crozier, Randolph Churchill, Krishnamlll'ti, Charlie 
Chaplin. Dashes to Canterblll'y, to Eton, to Lancashire, to Oxford. 
From rising at 4 a.m. to retiring often after midnight there was 
an incessant round of urgent duties, apart from the Conference 
sessions and the office work at Knightsbridge. 

Inevitably certain things had to be sacrificed, He could not 
go to the Old Vic, he missed a visit to Jorduns Meeting House, 
the plan to go to South Wales was· scrapped, tentative arrange­
ments to meet Dick Sheppard never materialized. 
. At the meetings, says Muriel Lester, "He would begin to talk 
m his low, quiet voice, deliberate, objective and exact in every 
statement, as befits the worshipper of truth, with no shred of 
passion, piety or sentiment; during the whole two hours no oratory, 
llo use of voice inflexions, no movement, no gesture, none of the 
usual concomitants of enthusiasm and persuasiveness." 

On Armistice Day the cur in which Muriel was taking him 
to sec Lady Astor got as far us 'frufplgar Square in time for the 
silence. When it was over she turned to him : "There ! You 'vc 
been at the very heart of the people now. I hope you found the 
real thing?" He mused for u moment. "I've been in the silence 
before in India," he observed. Muriel decided he must be thinking 
of Armistice Duy celebrations in Bombay and was concerned to 
point out the difference. 

Lady Ast!~r, with some assistance from her spiritual adviser, 
assurctl Gandh1 that he was a humbug, and that while the English 
create, he could only destroy. She said it all with u smile, and 
u great deal more to the. sum~ effect: He listened patiently and 
then asked her to hear h1m w1thout mterruption. 

. . 'I want you to understand the facts; only then can you form 
opuuons. At present you do not know the facts. You sav we 
can on!~ destr.oy; we do not create. I will tell you what we ·ha\'c 
set up m Ind1a during this last fourteen ycurs." 
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"Out of it all carne the story he ioves to tell ; the viliage work, 
the revival of peasant industries, the setting up of home industries 
tha~ provide subsidiary employment during the lean months of an 
agricultural labourer's year, the organising of gangs of villagers 
in co-operative effort for the improvement of sanitary conditions, 
the loan clubs tltat have rescued thousands of victims from the 
money-lenders' hands, the temperance propaganda, finally the 
awakening of women and their emergence from Purdah with a 
new passion for righteousness . . . " 

Not all his hearers were so unreceptive. Against advice he 
insisted on the visit to Lancashire, and spent two days there. He 
wanted to meet the Lancashire men who had suffered from the 
boycott of Lancashire cotton goods and to tell them, "I do not 
want my country's happiness at the sacrifice of uny other country's 
happiness . . . I am pained at unemp~oyment here. But there 
is no starvation or semi-starvation. In India we have both ... 
You have three million unemployed, but we have nearly three· 
hundred million unemployed for half the year. Your average 
unemployment dole is 70 shillings. Our average income is seven 
shillings and sixpence a month." 

"We were prepared for courtesy," he said afterwards, "we 
were even prepared for a little bitterness which distress and mis­
understanding often create; but we found instead a warmth of 
affection for which we were not prepared. I shall treasure the 
memory of these days to the end of my earthly existence." Among 
the Lancashire workers, as among the slum-dwellers of Bow, 
Gandhi was liked if not always fully understood. Well might he 
say that his true work in England lay outside the Conference. 

"Does not the Round Table Conference try your patience? " 
Bernard Shaw asked, and Gandhi answered, "It requires more than 
the patience of a Job. The whole thing is a huge camouflage and 
the harangues that we are treated to are meant only to mark time." 

Gandhi made his position clear early in the Conference; he 
stood for a self-governing India, with control over defence, finance 
and foreign relations. When the representative character of the 
Congress was challenged by other delegates he offered to abide 
by a referendum. He in turn protested against the unrepresentative 
British India delegation, and in reply to Brailsford's sympathetic 
"Arc not the Indian Princes the worst obstacle in your path? " 
he said simply, "The Princes arc British Officers in Indian dress." 

But the Conference would not deal in f).lndumental principles. 
TP,e communal tangle was made the centre of the constitutional 
discussion, Gandhi appealed to a meeting of Labour M.P.s in the 
House of Commons to disabuse their minds "of the notion that 
the masses of India are enamoured of pax Britannica. The truth 
is that they are anxious to throw off the British yoke simply be­
cause they do not want to starve." To another All-Party meet­
ing in the House he declared that "Under the present safeguards 
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liO per cent. of the revenue Is to he farmed out to the foreigner and 
only 20 per cent. to be left to us from which we are to run the 
departments of education, sanitation, etc. I would not touch that 
Independence. I would fur ruther remain in compulsory subjection 
and declare myself a rebel. . . " 

He met most of the members of the new National Govern­
ment, but Mr. Winston Churchill woJ.Ild not sec him. He went to 
Buckingham Palace, still in his loin cloth and shawl and when, 
after he had talked to the King for a few minutes, someone referred 
to his scanty dress, he replied with an amused twinkle in .his eyes, 
"The King had enough on for both of us." 

As the Conference neared its end, he rose from his place on 
Lord Sankey's left and spoke. "'While there is yet a little san_d 
left in the glass," he said, "I want you to understand w~ut th1s 
Congress stands for . . . You will find me always ho.vmg the 
greatest spirit of compromise, if I can but fire you with the spirit 
that is working in the Congress, namely, that India must have real 
liberty. Call it by any name you like : a rose will smell as sweet 
by any other name, but it must be the rose of liberty that I 
W!J-nt, and not the artificial product." He spoke of the communal 
problem and how it might be solved if the wedge of foreign rule 
were withdrawn. He appealed to the Princes to accept some code 
of fundamental rights to apply to all India. Then he spoke of 
Englund and to Englund, without emphasis or rhetoric, but from 
his heart. 

"This is, perhaps, the last time that I shall be sitting wit_h 
you at negotiations. It is not that I want that. I want to sit 
at the same table with you and to negotiate and plead with you 
and to go down on bended knee before I take the final leap and 
final plunge. But whether I have the good fortune to continue 
to tender my co-operation or not docs not depend upon me. It. 
largely depends J.Ipon you. But it may not even depend on you. 
It depends upon so many circumstances over which neither you 
nor we may have any control whatsoever. Then let me perform 
this pleasant task of giving my thanks to all, from Their Majesties 
down to the poorest men in the East End, where I have taken 
up my habitation. 

"In that settlement which represents the poor people of the 
East End of London, I have become one of them. They have 
accepted me as a member, and as a favoured member of their 
family. It will be one of the richest treasures that I shall carry 
with me. Here, too, I have found nothing but courtesy and 
nothing but a genuine affection from all with whom I have comr 
in touch. I have come in touch with so many Englishmen. It has 
been a priceless privilege to me. They have listened to what must 
have often appeared to them to be unpleasant although it was 
true. Although I have often been obliged to say these thing~ to 
them they have never shown the slightest impatience or irritatwn. 

120 



It is impossible for me to forget these things. No matter what 
befalls me, no matter what the fortunes may be of this Round 
Table Conference, one thing I shall certainly carry with me-that 
is, that from the high to low I have fow1d nothing but the utmost 
courtesy and the utmost affection. I consider it was well worth 
my paying this visit to England in order to find this human affec­
tion. It }las enhanced, it has deepened my irrepressible faith in 
human nat:ure that although Englishmen and Englishwomen have 
been fed upon the lies that I so often see disfiguring your Press, 
that although in Lancashire the Lancashire people hud perhaps 
some reason for becoming irritated against me, I found no irritation 
and no resentment even in the operatives. The operatives, men 
and women, hugged me, They treated me as one of their own. 
I shall never forget that. 

"I am carrying with me thousands upon thousands of English 
friendships. I do not know them, but I read that affection in 
their eyes, as early in the morning I walk through your streets. 
All this hospitality, all this kindness will never be effaced from my 
memory no matter what befalls my unhappy land. I thank you 
for your forbearance." 

But there was no readiness to part with power. The Conference 
had failed, and now he prepared to leave. "To convince Eng­
land," pleaded an Indian lady, thinking of his work outside the 
Conference, "do you not think you should stay here a little 
longer? " 

"No," Gandhi answered, "I ·cannot stay beyond my time. 
I would cease to have any influence here if I overstayed and the 
people would cease to respond. The influence that I now exercise 
is only a temporary influence, not permanent. My place is in 
India, in the midst of my countrymen, who may be called upon 
to start another campaign of s:uffering. In fact, the English people 
seem to respond today because they know that I represent a suffer­
ing people, and when I am suffering with my own country men I 
would be speaking to them from India as heart speaks to heart." 

On 5th December he left London for Folkestone. As they 
gut into the train at Victoria, Gandhi turned anxiously to Muriel 
Ll'stcr. "Arc the toys all right?" He was thinking of the little 
woolly animals, coloured cnndlcs und chalk drawings the Nursery 
Sehoul children in Bow had given him on his birthday. "They're 
the only things I'm taking buck tu India," he said, "except what 
I came with." He went to the window of his third-class carriage 
to smile u~ce more ut the large crowd singing "Auld Lung Sync" 
as the tram moved out. 

He was to meet his ship at Brindisi, in a fortnight. Mean­
while there were meetings in Paris, a visit to Romain Holland at 
Villeneuve in Switzerland, a glance at the bea1,1ties of Home. 

In Villeneuve Gandhi and Rolland :raet for the first uud only 
time. Miraben (.Miss Slade, the English Admiral's daughter) whu 
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had been lirst a disciple to Rolland and then to Gandhi, was there 
too for she was one of the small party from India. Desai wrote 
that it was literally a case of thought leaping out to wed with 
thought. Overflowing love broke the barrier of language and made 
speech unnecessary. 

In Switzerland too Gandhi first met Pierre Ceresolc, the 
pioneer of International Voluntary Service for Peace, although 
thD,t modest young man had thought it wrong to present himself 
when there were so many visitors. 

On one of Gandhi's invariable early morning walks there was 
a long conversation. "I wish Muriel," said Gandhi-Muriel Lester 
was with them-"would lead a movement of men and women who'd 
refuse to take the dole. They wo!lld volunteer to work, but would 
refuse charity. It's bud for the rich to be able to soothe their 
consciences by securing to the unemployed a few shillings a week 

Their Non-Violence would have a tremendous effect ... " 

"But, Mr. Gandhi," Pierre said very gravely, "I'm afraid our 
people in Europe are not like yours in India. I'm afraid they're 
not ready for such acts as these." 

There was a pause, and then in a low and inlinitely gentle 
voice Gandhi said : "Arc you sure it's the people who are not 
ready, M. Ceresole ?" 

"Oh," exclaimed l1 icrre, "I sec what you mean. You're 
right. It's we who are failing. It's leadership we lack. Is that 
what you mean?" 

"I must confess, M. Ceresole," he answered in the same touc 
as before, "I do not seem to have come across leaders iu Europe­
Hot of the sort that the times call for." 

In Home, Gandhi, Mirabcn and Mahutlcv went to sec l\lw;so­
lini. Visitors to the Duce were usually obliged to undergo 
the minor ordeal of walking the fuH length of a tremendous 
hall to where the great man sat in stately eminence at a table. 
But on this occasion Signor Mussolini left his dignilied scat and 
cume down the hall to meet them, and after half an hour's eon­
versution he actually aceompanicd them as far us the door. After 
all, this little brown man was appurently going to cause the Brilish 
some more trouble. 

The l>ope would not receive him. Perhaps Gandhi rcmem­
berccl the day in South Africa when Churlic Andrews had been 
preaching in a Christian Church and "Villic Pearson had brought 
him to hcnr the sermon. The church-wardens had refused him 
admission because he was a coloured man and an Asiatic. But 
now at least he could enter the Sistine Chapel and gaze upon the 
statue of .Jesus on the Cross. He stood before it for several miuutes 
aud then turned away murmuring to Desui, "One cun't help being 
moved to tears." 
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The time had come for him to leave Europe. One of his lust 
visitors was the younger daughter of t[le King, Princess Maria. 
She had brought him a basket of fruit. "They are Indian figs ; 
I've brought them for your journey to Brindisi tonight." 

Gandhi was delighted, but he could not dissemble even for 
a princess. "They arc not figs," he said mildly, when he had 
thanked her. "Oh yes, Fichi d'India," she assured him. "What 
we call figs," the Mahatma answered, "are not like this. But 
whether they are figs or not, they will taste just us sweet on the 
journey, whatever their name. Thank you." 

As he was about to step aboard the Pilsua at Brindisi he was 
offered a drink of milk from a cup of the fifth century before the 
Christian era. 

"Is the milk gout's milk?" 
"It is goat's milk," several voices replied eagerly. 
He smiled at tl1em. \Vhat was it the Gujarati poet had sung? 

"Go forth now to finish the last cup of poison." There had been 
poison in that ancient European cup, a grain of poison souring 
the milk of kindness. A little time before this cup was made 
Socrates had drunk poison-and won a great victory for truth 
and voluntary sacrifice. Gandhi raised the cup, drank deep, and 
wus gone. 
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Chapter IX 

INDIA STRUGGLES-

THE SECOND CIVIL DISOBEDIENCE CAMPAIGN AND 
THE BID FOR SOCIAL REFORMS 

IN his talk with Lord Willingdon in August, Gandhi had obtained 
the promise of an enquiry into the Bardoli grievances, and had 
also expressed concern at the distress among peasants in the United 
Provinces. After his departure for London the position in both 
areas deteriorated rapidly and tension also increased in Bengal 
and the Frontier Province. 

The Bardoli enquiry soon collapsed. The Government refused 
to produce for inspection Government documents relating to the 
issues involved and Patel and his associate withdrew in protest. 
The crisis in the United Provinces was in the capable hands of 
Nehru. He was straining every nerve to avoid an open struggle 
before Gandhi returned, although it had been made clear at the 
time of the Willingdon negotiations that Congress retained the 
right to take defensive direct action in such circumstances. 

Bcngnl was seething with indignation and two events stood 
out. Two detainees had been killed and twenty injured in firing 
in a detention camp at Hijli. A local enquiry whitewashed the 
prison officials, but facts begun to leak o~1t and a Government en­
quiry reported that the officials were to blame for the tragedy. 
l\Iorc serious wa10 the allegation that during slight disturbances 
in Chittagong "certain non-official Europeans and hooligans broke 
at night into the premises of a printing press and with huge 
hammers and iron rods broke the machinery and belaboured the 
manager and others." It was said also that there had been 
deliberate efforts to provoke communal strife. 

Finally there was trouble in the Frontier Province. Undet 
the lcndcrship of a bran· and resolute Pathnn, Khnn Abdul Gnffar 
Khan, a formidable volunteer organisation, the Khudai Khidmat­
gurs, or Servants of God, hud been formed (called, on account of 
their uniform ruther than their politics, 'Red Shirts'). Khan, a 
deeply religious man of simple character, had been impressed by 
Gandhi's teaching and his Servants of God were vowed to non­
violence. Gandhi had tried scYcral times since the Delhi poet to 
get permission to go to the Province to visit Khnn, who was now 
known as "the Frontier Gandhi," but he had not been allowed to 
enter and his son Dcvadas Gandhi had gone instead. DcYndas 
Ga_ndhi's report _led the Working Committee to accept the Red 
Slurts as nn officwl Congress volunteer organisation. Now, as 19:11 



expired, Gaffar Khan was bidden to attend an official Durbar held 
by the Chief Commissioner. When he refused he and his brother 
Dr. Khansaheb were arrested and thrown into prison. 

Simultaneously the crisis came in Bengal and the United 
Provinces. Bengal undertook a boycott of British goods. In 
United Provinces the Government declared, as they had in Bardoli 
in 1928, that objections would be considered only after the ·pay­
ments had been made. The Provincial Congress thereupon advised 
the peasantry to withold payment of rent and revenue temporarily, 
pending negotiations. As soon as relief was given the advice 
would be altered, and-a last attempt to avert the inevitable­
they would immediately withdraw the advice if the Government 
would suspend collection while negotiations were going on. 

Nehru passed through Bombay in Christmas week, left his sick 
wife there, and hastened back to Allahabad for a conference on 
the U.P. crisis. He found a peremptory Government order that 
the conference would be prohibited if it was to consider the agrarian 
question. Nehru and his friends were inclined to disregard this 
injunction but they did not want to make the situation impossible 
for Gandhi who was due to land at Bombay within a week, and 
the Conference was postponed. The Government then served Nehru 
and a Moslem colleague, Sherwani, with orders not to leave Allaha­
bad. Assuming that the order was intended to prohibit work 
among the villages in the Province, Nehru and Sherwani left for 
Bombay to meet Gandhi. They were arrested and a few days 
later Nehru was given the savage sentence of two years' rigorous 
imprisonment and a fine, while Sherwani for the same offence re­
ceived six months and a fine. After hearing the sentence the 
Moslem turned to the magistrate and asked blandly, "Is the smaller 
sentence due to communal considerations?" 

Gandhi himself was the victim of a deception which might or 
might not be only a coincidence. An alleged interview, cabled 
from Rome, credited him with an arrogant statement that the 
struggle would be resumed at once. Gandhi on board the Pilsna 
cabled u categorical denial-he had given no press interview in 
Rome at all. Several British newspapers and public men refused 
to accept the explanation and contemptuously culled Gandhi a liar. 

He landed at Bombay on 28th December 1031, and in the 
c''cning addressed the largest meeting of his life at the Azud 
Muidun, where he had spoken on the eve of his departure for 
J_,ondon. "I take it," he said, "that these are all Christmas gifts 
from Lord W!llingdon, our Christian Viceroy . . . I repeat again, 
I had hoped It would be possible to find a way to co-operate with 
the Government. I will even now do my best to find the way out." 

During the next four days the situation went from bad to 
worse. Lo~d Willingdon had promulgated thirteen special Ordi­
uanccs, wlu~h WPrc described by Sir Samuel Hoare in Murch as 
"very drastic and severe. They cover almost every activity of 



Indian life." Winston ·churchill with characteristic bluntness said 
they were "more drastic than any t}wt were required since the 
Mutiny." Thousands of arrests were made all over the. country. 
Gandhi wired to the Viceroy asking for an interview to d1scuss the 
situation. Lord Willingdon refused to do so. 

The ·working Committee met and passed a number of resolu­
tions; they called upon the nation to resume civil disobedience· at~d 
appealed to the free people o£ the world to watch the struggle Ill 

the belief that "the non-violent method adopted by the Congress 
gives it a world-wide importance and if the method becomes de­
monstrably successful it is likely to furnish an effective moral 
equivalent to war . . . " 

Gandhi remained calm. One of l1is last acts before he was 
arrested in the smull hours of the morning on <~·th .January was to 
dispatch gifts to the two English detectives who hnd been detailed 
to guard him in Europe. When his son Dcvadas woke him with 
the news that the escort had arrived to arrest him it was his uay 
of silence. He passed a note to Father Elwin, an English friend, 
in which he wrote, "I would like you yoJ..Irself to tell your country­
men that I love them even as I love my own countrymen. I have 
never done anything towards them in hatred or malice, ami, 
God willing, I shall never do anything in that manner in future." 
He left a message for India too : "Infinite is God's mercy. Never 
swerve from truth and non-violence, never turn your back, and 
Gacrifice your lives and all to win Swaraj." 

He was arrested under a Regulation of 1827 under which any 
person could be detained indefinitely without any reason being 
assigned. The same policy had been followed when he was arrested 
at Dandi. No charge was brought, no conviction was registered, 
no sentence was pronounced. The Government had no intention 
of repeating the experience of 1 !J22 when the accused had some­
how become the acctiscr, and his proud acceptance of 'guilt' had 
vindicated his innocence. But they could not escape the conse­
quences of their repressive policy so ca!!ily. The Bishop of Madras 
declared, "Although it deeply grieves me to say it, I see in Mr. 
Gandhi the patient sufferer for the cause of righteousness and 
mercy, a truer representative of the crucified Saviour than the 
men who have thrown him into prison yet cull themselves by 
the nume of Christ." 

The Government, having seized the initiative, kept it. Under 
the Ordinances evocy Congress organisation and even allied orgatii­
sutions such as nationul schools were banned, and Congressmen of 
any importance were summarily arrested, whether or not they had 
committed any offence. T,athi charges were frequent and violent. 
Buildings, property, automobiles, bunk accounts were seized, public 
gatherings and processions were forbidden, newspapers nnd print­
ing presses were rigorously controlled. Still, Nehru declares, 
"There can he little doubt that the resistance offered to the British 
Governent in 1932 was fur greater than in 1030." 
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Gandhi had done everything he could to avert the catastrophe. 
Even after his arrest he wrote imploringly from jail begging Lord 
Willingdon to see him, but the Viceroy disdained even to reply. 

In Yeravda Jail once more, Gandhi's mind was occupied with 
the critical question of the depressed classes, the millions of lowly 
manual workers whose tasks of sweeping, scayenging and tanning 
were held to contaminate them and make them 'Wltouchables.' 
Gandhi had himself repudiated the superstition as a small boy 
when he could see no wrong in touching Uka, the sweeper who 
served the Gandhi family, and he had risked the very existence 
of Satyagraha Ashram by admitting an untouchable family and 
preparing to move to the Untouchables' quarter and earn his 
living there if the Ashram were forced to close down. For many 
years now he had taught that the attitude of the orthodox Hindus 
to the depressed classes was a hideous blot on the religion, and a 
perversion of the true conception of caste which, he said, classi­
fied differences of function and did not establish a hierarchy. 

He had stressed the point at the Ro''und Table Conference. 
"Let this Committee and let the whole world know that today there 
is a body of Hindu reformers who feel that this is a shame, not of 
the 'untouchables' b]lt of orthodox Hinduism, and they urc, there­
fore, pledged to remove this blot of ]lntouchability. We do not 
want on our rolls and on our census 'untouchables' classified as 
a separate class. Sikhs may remain as such in perpetuity, so may 
Moslems, so may Europeans. Would 'unto].lChables' remain un­
touchables in perpetuity? I would rather that Hinduism died thun 
that Wltouchability lived." 

In March he wrote from Yeravda to Sir Samuel Hoare re­
minding him that in the Conference Gandhi had said he would re­
sist with his life the grant of separate electorates to the depressed 
classes. He believed that the Government's decision was soon to 
be announced. He had thought at first that he would await the 
announcement and then take appropriate action. But sitting at 
his spinning wheel in his prison cell he had been moved to make 
an appeal to the British Government and to tell them respectfully 
that "in the event of their decision creating separate electorate 
for the depressed classes, I must fast unto death." Sir Samuel 
Hoare answered that the decision would be taken entirely on the 
merits of the case. 

But when the announcement came it included a separate elect­
orate for the depressed classes, and in August Gandhi wrote to 
Mr .. Ramsay MacDonald, "I have to resist your decision with 
my life." The fast was to begin on 20th September. The Prime 
Minister expressed surprise that Gandhi should "propose to ndopt 
the extreme course of starving yo_urself to death . . . solely to 
prevent the depressed classes ... from being able to secure u 
limited number of representatives of their own choosing . . " 

As the fast began, the Bombay Government released a state-
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nient from Gandhi. "The impending fast is against those who 
have faith in me, whether Indian or foreigners, and for those who 
have it not. Therefore, it is not against the English ~fficial world, 
but it is against those Englishmen and women, who in spite of the 
contrary teaching of the official world, believe in me and the jus­
tice of the cause I represent. Nor is it against those of my 
countrymen who have no faith in me, whether they be Hindus or 
others, but it is against those countless Indians (no matter to what 
persuasion they belong) who believe that I represent a just cuuse. 
Above all, it is i11tended to sting Hindu conscience into right 
religious action." 

On the evening of the first day the Press were allowed to see 
him. He showed the problem to the journalists in a new light. 
"I believe that if untouchability is really rooted out, it will not 
only purge Hinduism of a terrible blot but its repercussion will 
be world-wide. 1\fy fight against nntonchubility is a fight against 
the impure in humanity . . . It is an issue of transcendental 
value, fur surpassing Swaraj in terms of political constitutions." 

A Conference met at once at Bombay and then in Poona. 
On the third day of the fast Gandhi's condition began to cause 
anxiety. His nine months' imprisonment had again told on his 
health. The Yeravda Pact was signed on the following day, but 
the British Government's acceptance was still necessary before 
Gandhi could break his fast. On September 26th the doctors de­
clared him to be in the danger zone, and at last news came that 
the formula had been accepted. Rabindranath Tagore was among 
the few who were allowed to see Gandhi on that day. 

In reply to criticisms that the fast had exercised coercion he 
answered simply, "Love compels, it does not coerce." In one of 
his subsequent statements in answer to a correspondent who pressed 
this charge he wrote, "It would be a matter of great grief to me 
if the public men whom the correspondent mentions really sup­
pressed their own opinions and accepted proposals which, but for 
the threat of my death, they would never have endorsed. If they 
acted as the correspondent suggests, they rendered a great dis­
service to the country and failed to appreciate the purely religious 
character of the fast. In public life one has often to perform the 
puinful duty of sacrificing friends for the sake of truth or public 
weal." 

On 29th September, three days after the fast had ended, the 
Government cut off all privileges regarding visitors. Gandhi was 
once more a prisoner, but since he was a detainee and not a 
convicted criminal he demanded the restoration of these privileges 
in order that he might curry on his work for the relief of the de­
pressed classes which had only been begun by the fast. After a 
lengthy correspondence the privileges were restored in November. 

Gundhi now issued a series of rc>mnrkuble public statements 
on the vexed question o£ untoJJchability., which have bc>Pn collt>ctNl 



and published under the title "My Soul's Agony." In the first 
statement he made it clear that the political provisions of the 
Yeravtla Pa~t must be translated into a genuine determination to 
abolish untouchability altogether. "The major part of the reso­
lutions of the Yeravda Pact has to be fulfilled by these millions, 
the so-called Caste Hindus, who have flocked to the meetings I 
have described" (muss meetings all over India which Gandhi had 
addressed in the years before his imprisonment, many of which 
had pledged themselves to the removal of untouchability). "It 
is they who have to embrace the suppressed brethren and sisters 
as their own, whom they have to invite to their temples, to their 
homes, to their schools. The 'untouchables' in the villages should 
be made to feel that their shackles have been broken, that they 
arc in no way inferior to their fellow villagers, that they arc wor­
shippers of the surnc God as other villagers and arc entitled to 
the same rights and privileges that the latter enjoy. But if these 
vital conditions of the Pact arc not carried out by Caste Hindus, 
could I possibly live to face God and man ? " For he saw that he 
might haye to fast again on this issue. "The Fast, if it has to 
come, will not be for the coercion of those who arc opponents of 
the reform, but it will be intended to sting into action those who 
have been my comrades or who have taken pledges for the re­
moval of untouchability.." 

Gandhi's term for the 'untouchables' was 'Harijans' -pure 
men of God, a name suggested by friends among the depressed 
classes who thus interpreted a hymn composed by a saintly 
Gujarnti poet. "I immediately seized upon the word," Gandhi 
wrote, "as also otherwise most fitting, for the most despised people 
are the most favoured of God." He gave the name "Harijan" to 
his new weekly paper, begun in 1932 in place of the older Youn,!! 
India. 

In December Gandhi joined in a fast undergone by another 
prisoner, S. P. Patwardhan. Patwardhan, a caste Hindu who 
shared Gandhi's views on 'untouchability', applied for scavenger's 
work in the jail as a gesture of unity with the depressed classes. 
But the jail rules upheld the prejudices of orthodox Hinduism, and 
there was a bar against giving scavenging work to custe Hindus. 
Within two days the fast was terminated by u promise of favour­
able consideration of the rcq~ICst, and within a week the Secretary 
of State made the necessary amendments, 

More serious was the Government's effective support for the 
orthodox prejudice against the entry of the Harijans into the Hindu 
Temples. Gandhi had persuaded Mr. Kelappan to postpone a 
propose~] fast to death over the right of temple entry at Guruvayur 
temple m the South, and had promised to join him in a later fast 
if a satisfactory solution could not be found. The orthodox refusal 
to admit the untouchables was complex. They held in the first 
place that the presence of untouchables actually polluted the temple 
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and thereby drove o:ut the spirit of the God, which would only 
return after rites of purification; the uncleanness of the scavengers 
was held to consist not in their occupation so much as in their 
habits as meat-eaters which offended the gods. Gandhi's attitude 
011 this point was that the whole position was a disastrous mis­
intcrprctatioH of Hinduism, and that non-rational religious intuition 
could only be accepted if it did not infringe the basic morality 
arising from rccognitio11 of the brotherhood of all men. Never­
theless he would not force his views on unwilling und sincere 
Hindus, and the whole point of eonccntrnti11g on Guruvayur was 
that the depressed classes were very numerous in the district and 
thut u large majority of the orthodox wus believed to favoJ.Ir their 
admission to the temples. To test this contention a plebiscite was 
carried out, of which Gandhi reports, "The total population en­
titled to temple entry being approximately G5,000, the outside 
estimate of adults may be taken as 30,000. As a matter of fact 
27,,Ui5 adult men and women were actually visited for receiving 
their votes. Of these 56 per cent were in favour of temple entry, 
!) per ce11t voted against, R per cent were neutral, and 27 per cent 
abstained." 

This by no means silenced the critics. They contended thnt 
of the populati<m entitled to tcm_ele entry only a small proportion 
was sufficiently devout to care for the privilege, just as only a 
small proportion of a nominally Christian population in Britain 
goes to Church or cures about Church organisation. The views of 
the devout minority could not be ignored simply because they 
were a minority-a view which was bound to appeal to Gandhi. 
Ultimately he suggested a ~ompromise, on the understanding that 
the objecting Hindus were probably a minority of those who 
actually used the temple. They might, he suggested, use the 
temple at different times by agreement, and the priest could per­
form a rite of purification for their benefit if it was desired. At 
this point the Zamorin of the temple and his followers took refuge 
m the law. The temple, they claimed; was a private temple and 
not therefore bound to respect the general opinion of the public. 
The authorities had as much right to exclude uny persons whose 
entry they did not desire as the owners of an English chapel. 
Gandhi replied by citing the judgment of the Madras High Court 
that "The Guruvayur temple is not a private temple but a puhli(' 
temple and every Hindu has a right to wor~hip in it, subjcet to 
such customary rules and regulations which have been prevailing 
from time immemorial." 

Still the Zamorin took refuge in the terms of the Trust, under 
which he professed himself unable to amend the custom to meet 
the prevailing public opinion. The reformers now endeavoured to 
secure that such public temples as Guruvayur should become amen­
able to public opinion by introducing legislation into the l\fadrns 
Lcgislutivc Council. At this point, in .Jununry 1 !l:la. the Viceroy, 
Lord Willingdon, stepped in and vetoed the Bills on the ~rround 



that "the question could not properly be dealt with on a provincial 
basis." He would however permit the introduction of a Bill into 
the general Legislative Assembly "which seeks the abolition of un­
touchability." 

This Government intervention changed the prol?lem entirely. 
Gandhi's whole position rested on the possibility of commencing 
the reform where orthodox opinion was enlightened, and he had 
doubtless hoped that the example of the opening of the celebrated 
temple of Guruvayur would encourage a wave of reform through­
out the country in the towns unci villages where opinion was most 
advanced.· Once the process had really begun each province might 
well march at its own speed. The victory on the Vaikom Road 
in 1 !)24 which had resulted in the opening of roads to the un­
touchables all over the State of Truvuncore was an example of 
what might be antic!patPd. The Viceroy's edict that reform might 
not take place in one province until all the provinces would net 
simultaneously postponed the reform indefinitely. 

Many suspected that the Government's main motive was to 
defeat Gandhi and limit his ever-growing influence with the Indian 
masses, but it is more probable that the conservative desire to 
avoid trouble among the orthodox Hindus prompted this bias in 
favour of the status q1w. Even so, the Viceroy's decision is a 
plain example of what Nationalist Indians regard as the reactionary 
character of British rule, even when the iss~1e is not one directly 
affecting British interests. 

During the fast which ended with the Yeravda Pact, at least 
two Hindu temples had been thrown open to the untouchables, and 
this was followed in November by un announcement from the 
Maharaja of Kashmir that all his State temples would be thrown 
open to the depressed classes. Thus in a province of more than 
H4,000 square miles with a population of over three millions the 
reform was accomplished at a single stroke, und there seems to be 
no report of any disturbances in connection with it. What "respon­
sible Government" would not permit in Madras, autocratic rule 
had achieved in Knshmir. The Maharaja, unlike the Viceroy, did 
not believe that the question could not properly be dealt with on 
a provincial hflsis. The Maharaja of Trnvancore followed the 
example of Kashmir in November 1 O:W. 

Gandhi was not only in conflict with the Government of India 
and with a formidable section of the orthodox Hindus, he was 
also opposed by Dr. Ambedkar, who claimed to be the acknow­
ledged leader of the depressed classes. Ambedkur and others had 
fought for separate electorates for the untouchables, and now he 
cluime~ that caste should be abolished altogether, a. course which 
Gandhi would not contemplate, since he believed the institution 
to haYe great value, not in the form of a hierarchy, but os an 
analysis of the main vocations in society and an attempt to con­
serve ability and continuity of trndition in each, 



Ambedkar!s revoit against caste ultimately became a revolt 
against Hinduism and in•Scptcmber 193u it was reported that with­
in the space of a few weeks two and a half million untouchables 
had adopted Christianity at his instigation, a conversion which 
may have brought some improvement to the lot of these unfor­
tunate people, but was scarcely likely to impress Indian opinion 
with the value of Christian missionary endeavour. 

The blow to the crusade for Harijan reform which the Govern­
ment had, perhaps unwittingly, str:uck, had a very real, if intan­
b>ible, effect on the drive to unify the Hindu community, and the 
deepest levels of Gandhi's consciousness were troubled. Even at 
the time of the Yeravda Pact he hnd sensed deficiencies in the 
response of the Hindu commwtity and had forecast the possibility 
of a fresh fast which might commence in six months from October 
1932. But March had come and gone and still he had no clear vision. 

In May there occurred a spiritual experience unique in his long 
life. He had rejected the title of Mahatma, he had often said that 
none today were worthy to be compared with the saints of old, 
he was "but a humble seeker after truth" who had never seen his 
God face to face. Now, and never again, he was to experience an 
illumination strikingly similar to those of which many saints have 
spoken. Of the decision which it determined the whole world knew 
next day, but of the experience itself we know only from what 
Gandhi himself wrote in Il arija11 fiye and a half years later. 

"I had gone to sleep the night before without the slightest 
idea of having to declare a fast the next morning. At about 
twelve o'clock in the night something wakes me up suddenly, and 
some voice-within or without, I caunot say-whispers, 'Thou 
must go on u fast.' 'How many days?' I ask. The voice again 
says, 'Twenty-one days.' 'When does it he gin?' I ask. It says, 
'You begin tomorrow.' I went quietly off to sleep after making 
the decision. I did not tell anything to. my companions until after 
the morning prayer. I plnced into their hands a slip of Jwpcr 
announcing my decision and asking them not to argue with m(', as 
the decision was irrevocable. Well, th(' doctors thought I would 
not sun·ive the fast, bttt something within me said that I would 
und that 1 must go forward. That kind of experience has Iwvcr in 
my life happened before or after that dutc. "* 

The Iust begun on 8th May, and in view of its possible out­
come Gandhi was released from Yeruvda .Jail on the same day. 
He made a long public statement in the course of which he c~­
pressed the wish that the Congress President would suspend Civil 
Disobedience for six weeks, in order that the Harijun issue mighl 
b(' faced without distraction. To Nehru and others. in jail nnd 
outside, this attitude caused some concern. They regarded the 
removal of untouchability us subsidiary to the main struggle in 
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which tens of thousands had suffered imprisonment, injury and 
loss. Aney, however, issued the order to suspend the campaign, 
which had slowed down considerably and, us Gandhi noted with 
disapproval, had resorted to extensive secrecy and 'undcrgrow1d' 
activity, contrary to the teaching of Satyagruha that secrecy is 
"a sin, particularly in politics." 

Gandhi survived the ordeal, and on May 20th at noon he 
broke his fast at the end of twenty-one days by taking half a glass 
of fruit juice prepared by an untouchable youth. The scene in 
the hall of Dr. Ansari's house, where Gandhi's bed had been 
wheeled, was strangely reminiscent of the breaking of the fast for 
Hindu-Moslem unity at Delhi nine years before. But now not only 
the figure of Shraddhanuudn was missing from the foot of the bed ; 
both the great Swarajist leaders, Dns and Motilal Nehru, were gone. 

As soon as he was sufficiently recovered an informal meeting 
of the lending Congressmen who were still at liberty was S).lmmoned 
at Poona. It rejected a proposal for the unconditional withdrawal 
of civil disobedience and also a motion favouring individual civil 
disobedience. Gandhi was asked to seek an interview with 
the Viceroy for arriving at a settlement. Lord Willingdon refused 
an interview unless civil disobedience were first withdrawn. The 
policy which had met Gandhi on his return from Europe had not 
altered. It was now agreed that mass civil disobedience should 
be suspended and tbat individual civil disobedience should continue. 

Gandhi inaugurated tile new phase by a characteristic act of 
sacrilicc. He had pledged himself at the time of the Suit Murch 
not to return to the Sabarmati Ashram until India had won real 
freedom. Now, three years later, he disbanded the Ashram alto­
gether and invited his small community to join him in the renewed 
struggle. Land, buildings and crops he offered to the Government 
and received a formal one-line acknowledgment. The property 
was therefore made over instead to tbe Harijan movement. 

On 1st August Gandhi was to commence a march to the village 
of Ras, but in the previous night he and thirty-four others from 
the Ashram were arrested and imprisoned. On the ·Hh he was 
released and served with an order to leave the limits of Yernvda 
village and reside in Poona. Gandhi refused and within hulf an 
hour he wus re-urrested and sentenced to one ycur's imprisonment. 

The fresh arrest gave new impetus lo the cumpuign und several 
hundred Congress workers courted arrest in the following weeks, 
including Aney who, with thirteen companions, was arrested while 
starting on u march from Akola. 

Now that Gandhi was a convicted prisoner the Government 
refused to renew the privileges to continue Harijan work which 
tiH'Y had reluctantly granted to him us u detainee. Gunuhi 
thereupon began a fast in protest and on the fifth day, 20th August, 
his condition had become so serious that he was removed to Sassoon 
Hospital, still a prisoner. On August 23rd it was clear that his 



life was in danger, and the Government- apprehensive. ?f the 
consequences of his death in custody-released h1~ unconditiOnally 
on that date. 

By the middle of September he was sufficiently recovered to 
issue a public statement. "As a r).Jie, during my long course of 
public service, the next moment's step has been clear to me, but 
since my unexpected release from prison on 23rd August last, dark­
ness has surrounded me. The path of duty has, therefor.e, not 
been clear to me. My present state of health is such that It may 
yet take several weeks for me to regain lost strength. To seek 
imprisonment as soon as I was physically fit or to restrain myself 
for the interrupted year was the question before me. After hard 
praying and thinking I have come to the conclusion that up to 
the termination of the period of sentence, that is, up to 3rd August 
next, I must not court imprisonment by offerinv aggressive civil 
resistance." His premature release in 1924 afte; the appendicitis 
operation had led him to make a similar decision . 

• Jawaharlal Nehru was now at liberty and came to see him at 
Poona. It was more than two years since they .had been together, 
when Jawaharlal had travelled with him in the train that was 
taking him to Bombay, after the agreement with Lord Willingdon 
had cleared the way for Gandhi's participation in the Second Round 
Table Conference. Nehru had been arrested on his way to meet 
Gandhi on his return from Europe and sentenced to two years' 
imprisonment. The meeting of the two leaders aroused great 
public inter<'st und the essential points of their conversations were 
embodied in an exchange of letters, known us the Poonu State­
ments. 

Nehru made it clear that his own viewpoint had always been 
political and economic; he had seldom been influenced by religious 
or other like considerations though the moral and pructicul aspect 
of Satyagraha had always appealed to him. He discussed the 
application of his socialist principles to the Indian situation and 
declared that "The biggest vested interest in India is that of the 
British Government; next come the Indian Princes; and others 
follow." \Vould Gandhi agree that those vested interests must 
go? He also expressed misgivings about the suspension of mass 
civil disobedience. · 

Gandhi replied with equal eandour. "I believe too, though 1 
may not go as far as you do, that before India can become orH' 
homogeneous entity, the princes will have to part with much or 
their power and become popular representatives of the people oYer 
whom they arc ruling today." On the suspension of muss ch·il 
clisobe(.licnec h.e declared, "I am quite clear in my mimi that l~a~l 
those mstructwns not been issued the whole movement. of c1nl 
resistance would have eollapscd throw•h growing internal weak­
ness · · ·" He concluded, "I ha\·c no "'sense of defeat in me and 
the hope in me that this country of ours is fast marching towards 



its goal is burning as bright as it did in 1020; for I have an uu­
dying faith in tbe efficacy of civil resistance." 

Gandhi now begun un extensive tour to preach the removal 
of untouchability. But although he felt bound to avoid courting 
arrest for the remainder of the year during the unexpired portion 
of his prison sentence, Mrs. Gandhi' was under no such restraint .. 

Kasturbai Gandhi haa never received the education which 
might have enabled her to share to the full the aspirations and 
activities of her husband, she had suffered much from the rigorous 
standards he imposed in his private life and the sacrifices he made 
in his public work. But in her unswervil)g loyalty to him and in 
her determination to play her part in his life's work she had shown 
courage that made her a worthy partner, In South Africa she 
insisted on sharing the trials of prison life, and more thun once in 
India she suffered imprisonmeJ!t in currying on the work when 
Gandhi bad been arrested. 

Mrs. Gandhi was arrested on lOth .January 1!.132, six days after 
her husband had been imprisoned on his return from Europe. In 
Murch she was again arrested and this time sentenced to six months' 
rigorous imprisonment. She was free in time to join her husband 
in Yeravda jail during the fast which ended with the Yeravda 
Pact in September, only to be arrested again in February and 
charged with attempting to hold an illegal meeting. She was 
sentenced to six months' imprisonment and a further six months' 
if an additional fine was not paid. In August when she wus re­
leased with fifteen other women she was ordered to go to a specified 
area, and on refusing to accept the restriction was immediately 
re-arrested. In November 1933 she was once more arrested on the 
way to Ras where she intended to hold a meeting, and was im­
prisoned for the sixth time in two years. 

Miss Slade had been arrested with Mrs. Gandhi in January l!J32 
and sentenced to three months' imprisonment for ignoring a police 
order to leave Bombay. In August she was again arrested ami 
~enteneed to a year's imprisonment for disobeyir.g an order pro­
hibiting her from retur!ling to the same city. Surojini Naidu, the 
poet, and other women also suffered heavily. 

After his wife's arrest Gandhi continued his tour aud was 
addr('ssinr-: huge m('ctings in the South of Im.liu when on 15th 
.January 193,~, a terrible calamitv occurred in North Bihar. One 
of the. worst earthquakes of recent times devastated an area as 
large us Holland and thousands were killed and buried in the wreck­
age of towns and villages. Gandhi offered his services to Rajenclra 
Prasad, who, more than any other of the Congress leaders, had 
accepted the full faith of non-violence. Rujendra Prasad was in 
charge of the Central Relief Committee in Bihar and like Vallahh­
bhai Pat.el. in the Gujarut floods he distinguished himself by heroic 
and untmng work for the stricken peasantry. Rajendra Prasad 
would not draw Gandhi from his work in the South for a time, 



for he knew that Gandhi wished if possible to complete his tour 
before coming North . 

.Jawaharlal, however, ufter speaking at Calcutta and visiting 
Habindrunath Tagorc at Santinikctan ·,vent to Bihar and toured 
the devastated area to make a report. He returned to Allahabad 
utterly exhausted by his efforts, but before he could draft the re­
port he was once more arrested and thrown into prison. 

There he heard news of Gandhi that horrified him. Gandhi, 
crushed to pieces by the disaster, as he said, saw in it the hand 
of God. It was, he declared, a punishment for the sins of India. 
"I ask myself what that sin can be to warrant such a calamity. 
The conviction is growing upon me that this calamity has come 
upon us on account of the atrocious sin of untouchubility. I am 
not given to appealing to the superstitious fears of men, but I 
cannot help telling you what is going on deep down in IllY heart 
today." 

For to him the "divine calamity" had been essentially a proof 
that all humanity is one. In the face of disaster tlie differences 
of creed, caste and race had vanished and humanity which would 
not unite in love and brotherhood had united in misfortune. He 
did not interpret this chastisement as an exclusive punishment for 
the sin of untouchability. It was open to others to read in it 
divine wrath against many other sins. 

Nehru had no opportw1ity then to publish the protests which 
arose in him with all the force of his fine integrity, b:ut his view 
found a formidable spokesman in Rabindranath Tagore. Once 
more Tagore, who had written often in praise of Gandhi, stood 
forth as he had at the time of the burning of foreign cloth, and 
rebuked his great contemporary. He described Gandhi's view as 
unscientific und materialistic. "If we associate the ethical princi­
ples with cosmic phenomena." he wrote scornfully, "w(' shall havl' 
to admit that human nature is moral~.¥ superior to a l~rovid('nee 
that preaches lessons on good behaviour in orgies o[ th(' wor~t 
behaviour possible. For we can never imagine any civilised rukr 
of men making indiscriminate examples of cusuul victims, includiug 
children and members of the untouchable community themseln·s. 
in order to impress others dwelling ot u safe distunce who possibly 
deserve severer condemnntion." 

Gandhi's position was not, of course. umenable to argument 
of this kind. His impregnable reply was, "I am not God. Thcr('­
for(' I han but a limited knowledge of His purpose." But he lwd 
un unlimited und unflinching honesty which compelled him to pro­
clnim his intuitions even if he could not defend them, which would 
have led him to confess any truth thut he hnd come to believr 
even if to do so were to destroy his influence over the peopl(' of 
India. 

Rujendrn Prasad could wuit no longer and he wrote ;tsking 
Gandhi to come as soon as possible. He arrived on the night of 
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March 11th at Patna and at once began a to).lr of the area in 
company with Rajendra Prasad and an English friend, Agatha 
Harrison. Miss Harrison sent C. F. Andrews in London a vivid 
deseriplion of the tour. "As we neared a village or town," she 
wrote, "human walls would press in almost to the point of suffo­
cation in an effort to see this much-loved man-Mahatma Gandhi. 
Sometimes through sheer fatigue he would curl up on the back 
scat and sleep and I would talk with Rajcndra Prasad. As \VC 

neared a village, and the motor slowed down, Rajendra Prasad 
on one side, and the chauffeur on the other, would lean out and 
call out softly in Hindustani, 'He sleeps.' These words would be 
echoed by the people. But even this did not deter them from 
pressing around the car, though quite quietly, in an effort to sec 
Mr. Gandhi. From my vantage-point I saw the expression on 
their faces, and was dumb. For it was as though they had seen 
a god." 

Thus one night after a tiring jo)Jrney over cracked roads and 
across crazy temporary bridges the car bumped into l'l:lotihari, where 
Gandhi had lived during the Champaran campaign in 1917. As 
he toured through the familiar countryside, now monstrously 
changed by disaster, he had but one message. "Work! Work! 
Do not beg, but work! Ask for work to do, and do it faithfully." 
To the members of the local relief committees he explained that 
no agency, whether it were Government or Congress, could cope 
~ingle-hunded with the emergency. It needed the perfectly co-ordin­
ated effort of all. And that co-operation must be tendered freely 
and whole-heartedly, not grudgingly or haltingly. What could be 
more absurd than to talk of non-co-operation to a man dying of 
thirst? Should he refuse water hom a well sunk by the Govern­
ment? Non-co-operation did not exclude humanity, common sense 
or discrimination. All must work in harmony. Out of the disaster 
ltc must bring forth unity. 

During his day of silence 0'11 Easter Monday :lnd April 1 U:H, 
Gandhi drew up a remarkable statement in which he criticised 
the "indifferent civil resistance of many" and in particular the 
action of one of his companions who was found reluctant to per­
form the full prison task, preferring his private studies. The 
significancC' of this defect whiC'h Gnndhi describes us "undoubtedly 
contrary to the rules of Satyagraha" is debutuble. In some cir­
cumstances sueh preference is clearly compatible with Satyagruha, 
since Gandhi had himself fasted to obtain privileges to curry on 
his Hnrijan work while u convicted prisoner. Probably the breach 
of discipline consisted in· ignoring the tacit agreement to submit 
to a II prison rules, except where conscience or self-rcsP.ect was 
c]wllengcd. 

Gandhi's statement is a brief but outstanding exposition of 
Satyugraha. "I fC'el," he wrote, "thut the musses have not re­
cei \·eel the full message of Satyagruha owing to its adulteration 
in the process of transmission. It hus become clear to me that 



spiritual instruments suffer in their potency when their usc is 
taught through non-spiritual media . . . Satyagrahu is a purely 
spiritual weapon. It may be used for whut appear to be mundane 
ends, and through men and women who do not understand it 
spiritually, provided the director knows that the weapon is 
spiritual . . . The very nature of the science of Satyagraha pre­
cludes the student from seeing more than the step immediately 
in front of him." 

"Unadulterated Satyagrahu," he concluded, "must touch the 
hearts of both ·(terrorists and rulers). To test the truth of the 
proposition, Satyagraha needs to be confined to one qualified per­
son at a time. The trial has never been made. It must be made 
now." Limited individual civil disobedience had become civil 
disobedience limited to a single indi•iiduul. 

While Gandhi was writing these words a gathering of promi­
nent Congressmen met at Delhi with Dr. Ansari as president, and 
decided to revive the All-India Swaraj Party, to organise the 
voters, contest the elections and carry out the constructive pro­
gramme of Congress. Gandhi's advice on suspension of civil dis­
obedience-or ruther its limitation to himself-suited them per­
fectly. 

To Jawahurlal Nehru in prison the news came "with such a 
stab of pain, I felt the chords of allegiance that had bound me to 
him for many years had snapped. l~or long a mentul tussle had 
been going on within me. I had not understood or appreciated 
much that Gandhiji had done. His fasts and his concentration on 
other issues during the continuance of Civil Disobedience, when his 
comrades were in the grip of the struggle, his personal and self­
created entanglements, which led him to the extraordinary position 
that, while out of prison, he was yet pledged to himself not to 
take part in the political movement, his new loyultics and pledges 
which put in the shade the old loyalt)l and pledge und job, under­
taken together with many colleagues, while yet that job was llll­

Iinishcd, had all oppressed me . . . And now? Suddenly I felt 
very lonely in that cell of Aliporc Gaol. Life seemed to be a very 
dreary affair, a very wilderness of desolation. or the many hard 
lessons thut 1 had lcurnt, the hurdcst and the most painful now 
faced me; that it is not possible in any vitul mutter to rely on 
any one. One must journey through life alone; to rely on others 
is to invite heartbreak." 

It was perhaps the lesson that Gandhi had been trying to 
teach; reliance on one's own highest conception of truth and loyalty 
to one's own vision. For the present, Gandhi saw what Nehru 
still did not sec, that the second battle was over, the time tu recog­
nise that fact had come. The second great wave of non-violent 
revolution had burst and spent itself, and still the rock of foreign 
rule stood. But the sea would recoil only to gather strength and 
then again the great wave would roll forward, and the time must 
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come when the rock would be hidden altogether beneath the rising 
tide. 

Once more Gandhi threw himself into the Hurijuu work. He 
told them of his own childhood, and of Uku, the family sweeper. 
He told them how he too had been treated as an 'untouchable' 
by white men in South Africa. He told them of the untouchable 
family who had joined his ashram and of the little outcast girl 
whom he had adopted after overcoming with difficulty the ob­
jections of Mrs. Gandhi. 

The meetings were object-lessons. He would ask the crowd 
to allow the untouchables among them. If they would not do so 
he would take his place among the untouchables and address the 
meeting from there. 

In .June he narrowly escaped assassination. At a public fum:­
tion at Poona a bomb was thrown at a car which reached the 
scene a few moments before Gandhi's and was mistaken for it. 
Seven persons were injured, but none seriously. There were two 
other attempts on his life within a month. 

In July an irate reformer cut open with a lathi the head of 
Pandit Lalnath, a petcrmined opponent of the Harijan movement, 
and Gandhi fasted for seven days as a penance against the intoler­
ance shown by opponents towards each other in public contro­
versies. Collecting funds for social reform work was scarcely less 
eventful than trying to wrest home rule from a foreign govern­
ment. 

For a time he even gave up the railway and his car and toured 
in Orissa on foot. 

The fast in July had been curried out at Wardha which was 
now to become the centre of Gandhi's activities. Soon the year 
which had to elapse before he would feel free to resume partici­
pation in active politics would be up, and there was much specu­
lation as to what Gandl1i would do. The rumour began to spread 
that he would leave the Congress altogether, and in a long state­
ment on September l 7th Gandhi confirmed it and g11ve his reasons. 

" ... A very large body of Congress intelligentsia were tired 
of my method and views, and programme based on them," he suid 
simply. "I wus u hindrance ruther than a ]1elp to the nuturul 
growth of the Congress . . . Instead of remaining th~ most demo­
cratic and representative organisation, it was dominated by my 
personality . . . This is a humiliating revelation to a born demo­
crat-! make that claim of complete identification with the poorest 
of mankind. an intense lunging to live no better than they und 
a corresponding conscious effort to approach that level to the best 
one's ability can entitle one to rnuke it." 

" . . . Take non-violence. After l ,,, years of trial, it still 
remains a policy with the majority of Congressmen, whereas it is 
a fundamental creed with me . . . For this experiment to which 
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my life is dedicated, I need complete detachment and absolute free­
dom of action. Satyagraha, of which civil resistance is b~1t a part, 
is to me the universal law of life. Satya, in truth, is my God. 
I can only search Him through non-violence and in no othe!-' way. 
And the freedom of my country, as of the world, is surely included 
in the search for Truth. I cannot suspend this search for anything 
in this world or another. I have entered the political life in pur­
suit of this search ... " 

"Personally, I would like to bury myself in an lndi::m village, 
preferably in a Frontier village." For although Civil Disobedience 
was withdrawn and most of the volunteer organisations had been 
made lawful, on the Frontier the Servants of God were still sup­
pressed and Gaffar Khan and his brother, only lately released, 
were still forbidden to return to their home lnnd. 

Gandhi concluded by proposing a number of amendments to 
the Congress constitution which he subsequently sponsored at the 
Bombay Congress in October where they were all partially or wholly 
adopted. The Congress begged Gandhi to reconsider his decision 
to retire, but he would not be moved. His work now lay in the 
villages, and with the All-India Village Industries Assoeintion. 

History had repeated itself, as nearly as history ever does. 
After the Non-Co-operation campaign in the early twenties Gandhi 
had virtually left the control of Congress to the Swarajists, and 
then when the next wave gathered itself together he had come 
buck to lead the Civil Disobedience campaigns, in which larger 
numbers of more disciplined followers hml curried on the struggle 
which had been postponed after the disaster at Chauri-Chaura. 
Now the second wave was spent, the Swarajists were again in con­
trol and Gandhi once more turned his face to the villages and his 
work among the poor. · 

Still many Indians and more Europeans did not understand. 
'l'he old cry of the middle twenties was heard again. , Gandhi was 
finished. He had finally lost his hold vn Indian politics and could 
safely be regarded as a back number. Non-violence had again 
failed to free India and that too would soon be discredited. But 
Gandhi, the thin little man of sixty-five, was at peace as he went 
among his people. He knew that the third wave would come, and 
after that the fourth, and sooner or later, in his lifetime or nftPr, 
the rock would be submerged. As he strode along the dusty roads 
he often prayed that his people in their blindness and impatience, 
their eagerness to grasp at power and at the prospect of material 
prosperity would not be tempted to abandon the wuy of truth and 
peace for the road of violence and destruction. Dimly, confusedly, 
they had known non-violence for fourteen years now. Not wholly 
understanding, with false hopes and mixed motives, they hnd thrown 
themseh·es into battle, and through sacrifice, self-control and truth­
fulness had found self-respect and the true self-government that 
springs from it. So many Indians already had won Swaraj. So 
many more would do so. Could they not see? 



He tn1dged on along the road, walking quickly despite age, 
frailty and the heat of the sun. There were other tasks to be 
attempted, and the years were slipping by. \Vhat wus it .Juwa­
harlal had asked him about? TI1c Princes. Something would have 
to be done about the Princes. He lifted his head and looked 
towards tpe horizon. His smiling tender eyes seemed to look be­
yon~ it to something more remote and for a moment they were 
clouded with pain. He had tried to serve the world by serving 
India. Only thro:ugh the right use of one's immediate environ­
ment could one produce good results at a distance. Certainly the 
circle had widened. Charlie Andrews, for instance . . . Now 
there were things to be said and done on the world stage. In 
Europe the poisoned civilisation was approaching crisis. The de­
pression that had swept over the world was like the first cold wind 
before the coming storm. 

·war. Yes, there would be war. Not the wars of Spain, China 
and Abyssinia, but total war. How quickly the dark -clouds had 
gathered ! If there had been time to free India by non-violence, 
perhaps there would have been a chance for Europe to learn that 
it is possible to fight for freedom without killing, that ultimately 
only non-violence vindicates right and serves the truth. But. 
there had not been time to complete in one continent the experi­
ment which could have averted u world catastrophe. If he spoke 
to the world, they would not heed him1 they would not under­
stand, because the task in India was still unfinished~ Silence, 
then? No! The truth must be proclaimed, and there must be 
some who would hear and understand. Charlie Andrews. Were 
there many in England like dear, muddled, blessed Charlie An­
drews? A vision rose up of the people in Kingsley Hull on the 
Saturday night when he first came among them, of the gaunt, 
shrf'Wd Lancashire cotton-operatives. His face cleared. 

He knew that the time would come when he must speak to 
the world. 
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Chapter X 

INDIA SPEAKS-

GANDHI PROCLAIMS SATYAGRAHA TO THE WORLD 

TOWARDS the end of 1 !)3·1· Khan Abdul GuiTar Khan and his 
brother stayed for a time with Gandhi at \Vardha. They had 
just been released from prison and were still forbidden to return 
lo their own Frontier Province. Gandhi came to know and love 
the Pathan lender, and the tireless l\fahadev Desai was encouraged 
to prepare a short memoir in which arc many striking facts about 
the Khudai Khidmatgars (servants of God) and their struggles. 
In December Khan was to leave to take up village work in Bengal, 
but on the eve of his departure he was once more arrested, and 
charged with having mudc a seditious speech in Bombay. 

Some months later Gandhi was visiting a plague centre where 
Vallabhbhai Patel with a corps of \'oluntccrs was trying to help 
the stricken villagers and he took the. opportunity to go on to Sab:u­
mati to sec Khan in the Jail. He had not been to Sabarmati since 
the day he had marched off down the road to Dnndi and the seu 
at the head of the volunteers from the Satyagraha Ashram, vowed 
never to return until Swaraj was won. Later the Ashram had 
been abundoncd, and the community was now housed at \Vardhn, 
the original buildings being given to Harijun reformers us a school 
for untouchable children. 

On leaving the .Jail he was persuaded to sec the school and 
so found himself once more among t~e fumiliar buildings, sur­
rounded by excited, inquisitiYc little girls. He talked to the child­
ren, asking them about their work, who were their teachers, what 
they were taught. "Carding," said one. "Spinning," said another. 
"Music," said a third. "Breakfast," said a fourth and the party 
dissolved into laughter. At lust it was time to go. "So our play 
is finished," suid Gandhi, "and I shull say goodbye. Shull I?" 
"No, no!" 
"Why? Do you want to ask me anything? Out with it." 
"Tell us why you did not stay with us." 
"Because you did not invite me, and Budhabhai did." 
"We too would have inYited you. llut you will not stay with us. 
Tell us why not." 
"I shall stay with you when you have won Swaraj." 
"It was all right so long as it was '!JOIII' Ashram," argued one of 
the girls, "you WO!Ild not stay in your own Ashram again, until 
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you had Swaraj. But the Ashram no longer belongs to you. It 
is the Harijan Ashram. Why will you not stay with us? " 

Gandhi laughed his appreciation of her reasoning and promised 
"\Vhen I come next time ... " :For the present his place was 
at Wardha. 

From the new Ashram at \Vardhu, Desai and the other workers 
were engaged in a concentrated effort to test and vindicate the 
programme of village reconstruclion and the revival of cottage 
industries, in the adjacent hamlet of Sindi. They worked as 
scavengers, explained the value of dung us manure, dug pits, 
cleared roads. They published through lJ arijan weekly reports on 
their work and discussed vigorously the most healthy minimum 
diet for the workers themselves and for t.hose villagers who could 
lw iutercstcrl. They produced scientific evidence on the superior 
value of unpolished rice, they explained the virtues of the soya 
bean, they described neem leaves and green vegetables that grew 
wild in the country and might be had for the taking. There were 
dissertations on the properties of gur (unrefined sugar) and the 
\'irtues of the tamarind. Simple articles on vitamins, on the im­
portance of a balanced diet, were published for the guidance of 
other workers. Snakes were classified and simple treatments for 
snake-bite explained. Always the flignificance or the spinning­
wheel and the importance of hand-spun and woven clothes were 
emphasized. 

Among those in Gandhi's community was a recluse .. Bhansali, 
and Desai has recorded some of the conversations between the two 
men. Bhansuli was disposed to exempt himself from labour in 
order to develop his perception of reality, while Gandhi's view 
might be epitomised in the fine words of Tagore, " . . . The true 
stri\·ing in the quest of truth consists not in the neglect of action 
hut in the effort to attune it closer to the eternal harmony." 

Bhansali admitted that the suffering of mankind brought him 
misery, but declared his helplessness. 

"Only one who has exhausted all efforts may say that he can 
do nothing more," Gandhi answered. "If he has a lame person to 
attend to, he will give him all the attention that he is capable of. 
This one act of service will mean the service of humanity." 

"But I could uot exclusively devote my attention to relieving 
the misery of the distressed. I would do a little bit, but I should 
fpeJ powerless." 

"The world is sustained by sacrifice and service. As the Gitu 
says, 'The Lord created the heings with the duty of sacrifice cast 
on them.'" 

"I know," Bhnnsali said meekly, "hut arc not meditation 
and worship too a sacred duty?" 

"Meditution and. worship are not exclusivl' things like jewels 
to I)(' kept lorkrcl up m u strong box. They must hr seen in every 
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act of ours. But I will not press you for a reply today. I simply 
want to set you thinking about this." 

Eventually Bhansali began to spin, and then came the time 
when he undertook to work silently for eight hours a day. 

Inevitably there were some who scorned the whole eff~r~ to 
revive village industry and the spinning-wheel. Industr1ahsm, 
said the socialists, was the only solution for India's poverty and 
hunger, and Gandhi's attitude towards the machine was mediaeval. 
"Is not this wheel a machine?" Gandhi asked one of these critics. 
"I do not mean this machine, but I mean bigger machinery." 
"Do you mean Singer's sewing machine? That too is protected 
by the village industries movement, and for that matter any 
machinery which does not deprive masses of men of the opportm1ity 
to labour, but which helps the individual and adds to his efficiency, 
and which a man can handle at will without being its slave." 

"But what about the great inventions ? You would have 
nothing to do with electricity?" 

"Who said so? If we could have electricity in every village 
home, I should not mind villagers plying their implements and tools 
with the help of electricity. But then the village communities or the 
State would own power houses, just as they have their grazing 
pastures. But where there is not electricity and no machinery, 
what are idle hands to do? Will you give them work, or would 
you have their owners cut them down for want of work? I would 
prize every invention of science made for the benefit of all. There 
is a difference between invention and invention. I should not care 
for the asphyxiating gases capable of killing masses of men at a 
time. The heavy machinery for work of public utility which can­
not be undertaken by human labour has its inevitable place, but 

· all that would be owned by the State and used entirely for the 
benefit of the people. I can haYe no consideration for machinery 
\vhich is meant either to enrich the few at the expense of the many, 
or without cause to displace the usefuJ.]abour of many. But eYen 
you as a socialist would not be in favour of an indiscriminate use 
of machinery. Take printing presses. They will go on. Take sur­
gical instruments. How can one make them with one's hands? 
Heavy machinery would be needed for them. But there is no 
muchincry for the cure of idle-ness, but this," sui<l Gnndhi pointing 
to his spinning-wheel. "I can work it whilst I urn carrying on 
this conversation with you, and am adding a little to the wealth 
of the country. The machine no one can oust." 

Although he had retired from "politics," prominent Congress­
men often came to consult him, and sometimes important committee 
meetings took place at Wardha. His friends were surprised and a 
little exasperated to be kept waiting while Gandhi explained to 
a number of local shoemakers how to design and sew a particular 
sort of sandal that was needed by the workers. He had picked up 
the craft .in South Africa and pr~etised it on Tolstoy Farm. Durin_g 
one of h1s long terms of 1mpr1sonment he C'mployed part of Jus 
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time in making a pair of sandals for General Smuts, a gift which 
the statesman who had imprisoned him prized highly in later years. 

The friends were alarmed too, when they found Gandhi with 
a poisonous snake coiled round his neck placidly attending to u 
man who claimed to teach the handling of snakes and the cure or 
bites. For the latter part of the demonstration someone had to 
be bitten by the snake and Gandhi unhesitatingly volunteered. 
But this his companions would not endure and the experiment was 
finally given up when the snake po!itively declined to bite anyone 
in the Ashram. 

Some news came to him from abroad, to remind him that the 
sands were running out swiftly in Europe. Jawaharlal wrote once 
from Germany, grimly critical of the Nazi Winter Help Collections 
":mpposcd to be voluntDry but practically compulsory." The Italian 
invasion of Abyssinia moved him to send to nn American periodical 
a message which is worthy of note as one of the first of his appeals 
against the new wave of darkness that was to sweep the world. 

"Not to believe in the possibility of permanent peace is tn 
disbelieve in the godliness of hJJman nature. Methods hitherto 
adopted have failed because rock-bottom sincerity on the part of 
those who have striven has been lucking. Not that they have 
realised this lack. Peace is unobtainable by part performance of 
conditions, even as chemical combination is impossible without 
complete fulfilment of conditions of attainment thereof. l£ the 
recognised leaders of mankind who have control over engines of 
destruction were wholly to renounce their use with full knowledge 
of the implications, permanent peace can be obtained. This is 
clearly impossible without the great Powers of the earth renouncing 
their imperialistic designs. This again seems impossible without' 
these great nations ceusing to believe in soul-destroying competition 
and the desire to multiply wants and therefore increase their 
material possessions. It is my conviction that the root of the 
evil is want of a living faith in a living God. It is u first class 
human tragedy that peoples of the earth who claim to believe in 
the message of Jesus whom they describe as the Prince of Peuce 
show little of that belief in actual practice. It is painful to see 
sincere Christian divines limiting the scope of Jesus's message to 
select individuals. I have been taught from my childhood and 
I have tested the truth by experience that the primary virtues of 
mankind are possible of cultivation by the meanest of the human 
species. It is thi~ undoubted universal possibility that distinguishes 
the human from the rest of God's creation. If even one great 
nation were unconditionally to perform the supreme act of renun­
ciation, many of us would see in our life-time visible pence estu­
blished on earth." 

But although Gandhi remained at Warclha throughout most 
of the yeur 1 H35, he was working at a stretch beyond even his 
capacity for endurance, and in December his health broke down. 



To a Japanese poet who was allowed to see him for a few moments 
and found him lying in his bed with a wet-earth bandage on his 
head he explained with a smile, "I sprang from Indian earth and 
so it is Indian earth that crowns me." 

In .January he was taken to Bombay and he bade farewell 
to the community before he went. As Miraben bowed before him, 
he thought of the courage with which she had worked, first from 
the Ashram, then moving into a wretched hut in Sindi, and then­
since she thought Sindi only "a slum of Wardha" and not a real 
village she had gone five miles away to live alone at Segaon and 
to work there. "How is it," he asked gently, "that no one is 
worried about you living all alone in the midst of thousunds of 
men and that all trust you? What have you done to deserve 
that trust? " 
"I have done nothing. It is your doing." 
"But I have not treated you with any partiality, as you know to 
your eost ! " 
"Even then it is you who have put fel!l'lessness into me, the fear-­
lessness to live one's life in the midst of millions." 

In Bombay his health improved slowly, although the illness 
had weakened for a while his perfect self-control and he was troubled 
once by a disturbing physical desire to which he confessed in his 
journal. In February his temperature returned to normal and by 
the end of the montp he was able to go again to Wardha, by way 
of Bardoli where he spoke at several meetings. 

At the end of May came a wounding report of his eldest son, 
Harilal Gandhi. This dissolute young man had given himself over 
to drink and the plensures of the brothel and had ceased to 
support his wife and three children. He had written to the Press 
a few weeks before threatening to go over to Christianity or Islam, 
and making it clear that he was available to the highest bidder. 
He was offered work by the Nagpur Municipality and then pub­
lished another letter cancelling the first and declaring emphatic 
adherence to his ancestral faith. But now he had embraced Islam 
and the papers were full of the celebrations in the Mosque. 

Gandhi in llarija11 published all these facts in an article "To 
My Numerous Muslim Friends" whieh must huvc cost him much 
to write. "Harilul knew that if he had told me that he had found 
the key to a right life and peace in Islam, I would have put no 
obstacle in his path. But no one of us, including his son now 
twenty-four years old and who is with me, knew anything about 
the event till we saw the announcement in the Press." He begged 
his Moslem friends to examine Harilul and if they found that his 
conversion was a soulless mutter to tell him pl~inly and disown 
him; but if they discovered sincerity to see that he would he 
protected ngainst temptations. "I do not mind whether he is 
known as Abdulla or Hnrilal if by adopting one name or the other 
he hceomcs a true deYotee n( God which both names mean." 
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He now resolved to go himself to Scgaon and to live there 
serving the village people. "He who is not ready for small reforms 
will never be ready for great reforms," he had written a few months 
earlier. "One must forget the political goal in order to realise it." 

"'!'hat is why I can take the keenest interest in discussing 
vitamins and leafy vcgatables and unpolished rice. That is why 
it has become a matter of absorbing interest to me to find out 
how best to clean our latrines, how best to save our people from 
the heinous sin of fouling Mother Earth every morning. I do 
not quite see how thinking of these necessary problems and finding 
a solution for them has no political significance and how an ex­
amination of the financial policy of Government has necessarily 
a political bearing. What I am clear about is that the work I 
am doing and asking the masses to do is such us can be done 
by millions of people, whereas the work of examining the policy 
of our rulers will be beyond them. That it is a few people's busi­
ness I will not dispute. Let those who are qualified to do so do it 
as best they can. But until these leaders can bring great changes 
into being, why sho:uld not millions like me use the gifts that God 
has given them to the best advantage? Why should they not 
make their bodies fitter instruments of service? Why should they 
not clear their own doors and environments of dirt and filth ? Why 
should they be always in the grip of disease and incapable of 
helping themselves or anyone else? . . . Many years experience 
has convinced me that the activities that absorb my energies and 
attention are calculated to achieve the nation's freedom, that there­
in lies the secret of non-violent freedom. That is why I invite 
everyone, man and woman, young and old, to contribute his or 
her share to the great sacrifice." 

By the middle of .June he was ready and he set out from 
Wardha in drizzling rain that soon became a downpour. He walked 
on through the mud and in three hours carne to Segaon, where he 
was to live in a one-room hut which he shared with a young un­
touchable and one or two other people. "We all know that con­
ditions of life in a village are particularly hard in the monsoon," 
he remarked imperturbably. "Why then should I not begin with 
that rich experience and wait until conditions were better? " He 
advised everyone coming' to Segaon to wulk, and not to think of 
a cart. Often he himself made the journey to and from Wardha 
on foot for Segaon had no proper road, no shop where foodstuffs 
might be bought, no post-office, and inevitably there were commu­
nications he must deal with and consultations in which he must 
share. 

Miraben had written of the beauty of her journey on the 
evening when first she walked to Segaon a few months before, 
fearing at first to be benighted and then lost in the wonder of 
the sunset. " . . Instead of darkness coming there came a rosy 
light across the land. The Sun had gather!"d about his setting 
head a delicate veil of cloud, stretching far up into the sky and on 
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to this he cast his rays ; brighter and prighter became the glow­
where I had expected to be groping in the dusk, I was walk4ng 
briskly by a roseate light. My heart throbbed with joyous thanks­
giving. Gradually the light faded. As I slipped across the last 
brook, the stars were already twinkling over the white tower of 
the little Harijan temple. But the glow was still with me even 
till I reached home." And t}lere were moonlit nights 'vhen she 
would stop to rest in the fields, amid the silent corn and the tall 
motionless palm trees silhouetted against the sky. 

Gandhi knew these joys too. "I am content with my four 
bare walls," he once said to a student who was questioning him 
abo)J.t art, "I hardly need a roof over my head. When I gaze at 
the star-sown heaven, and the infinite beauty it affords my eyes, 
that means more to me than all that human art can give me. 
That docs not mean that I ignore the value of those works generally 
called artistic; but, personally, in comparison with the infinite 
beauty of nature, I feel their unreality too intensely." 

So Gandhi became a villager. "He stopped at the thresholds 
of the huts of the thousands of dispossessed, dressed like one of 
their own," Tagore once wrote of him. "He spoke to them in 
their own language; here was the living truth at lust and not 
only quotations from books. For this reason the 'Mahatma', the 
name given to him by the people of India, is his real name. Who 
else has felt like him that all Indians are his own flesh and blood ? 
In direct contact with truth, the crushed forces of the soul rise 
again; when love came to the door' of India, that door was opened 
wide . . . At Gandhi's call India blossomed forth to new great­
ness, just as once before in earlier times, when Buddha proclaimed 
the truth of fellow feeling and compassion among all living 
creatures." Not that Gnndhi liked to be called 'Mahatma.' In 
the Ashram they called him 'Bapu'-father, and that gave him 
the joy of being acknowledged one of the human family and not a 
solitary standing apart on an cxaltc"CI plane of achievement and 
isolation. 

Segaon was terribly unhealthy and during a malaria outbreak 
in September Gandhi succumbed but made a quick recovery, and 
when .J awaharlal and Hajcndra Prasud came to the village to see 
him they found him too busy gi,·ing wet-sheet paeks and hip baths 
to two other patients on his verandah to spare much time for talk. 

The Congress session at the end of l !J3G was held in a village 
fur thl first time in the history of the Movement. The suggestion 
h,tJ beei! Gandhi's, he wanted Congress to show in this way that 
they recognised their obligations to the masses who lived in the 
700,000 Yillages of India, and Gandhi himself went to Faizpur, and 
from there south to Truvuneore. 

A month before, in November, had come the Maharaja's 
announcement, throwing open all the Hindu temples in 'fravuncore 
State to the Harijnns, and Gandhi went on pilgrimage to some- of 
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these ancient and famous shrines. The visit raised many memories 
of three other occasions when he had been to Travancore, first 
to plead with the orthodox Hindus and the State to allow the 
suppressed classes to use public roads, and again on a khudi tour. 
The third visit had been in 1934 just before he had been summoned 
to Bihar by the earthquake disaster, and then he had addressed 
a meeting under the shadow of the imposing walls of the temple 
at Tiruwattar, believed to be the most ancient in Travancore. 
"The temple doors are closed against us to-day," he had said, "but, 
God willing, they will have to be opened to us soon." Now three 
years later he sat on the top of a high flight of steps leading to the 
temple and spoke to a crowd of ten thousand people. "The sins 
of past ages have been obliterated by literally a stroke of the pen .. 
Let Namboodiris and other Brahmins and the so-culled high caste 
people of Trnvancorc rise to the occasion and be voluntarily 
Harijans among Harijans, servants of God, and let all the world 
know by their action that in virtue of the I~roclamation there is 
none high and none low but ,!111 are eqJ.Ial in the eyes of God." 

Now he could enter the ancient shrines, for he had long held 
himself excluded from going into temples from which Harijans 
were barred. In Tiruwattar there were huge images of Lord 
Vishnu reclining on the thousand-hooded cobru and the deep reli­
gious significance of the symbol swept over him us he stood there 
in awe and veneration. 

On the third day of the pilgrimage his journey took him to Cupe 
Cornorin, "in front of the sea where three waters meet und furnish 
a sight unequalled in the world," and then he turned north again 
and spoke in many places in Truvancorc. The behaviour of the 
people, the ancient temples with their figures of Brahma, Krishna, 
Ruma and Vishu).l, the meditations at Cape Comorin, had borne 
fruit, ami now he preached to the people the essence of Hinduism, 
and of all religions, in a single mrwl ra from the Upanishads : 

"God the Rula pcrt'rHlc.~ all there is in thi·; Universe. 'l'hen.:­
fore rt'IWllllce cwrl clnlicatc all tu II im and then enjoy or liSe the 
portion that lllll!J fall to thy lot. Never. covet rwybody's pos.~cs­
sio1ls." 

"The /1/tlllfra describes God as the Creator, the Hulcr, and the 
IA>rd. The seer to whom this 11/ltllfrtt or verse was revealed was uot 
~atisli<'d with t.hc magniliecnt statement that God was to he found 
everywhere. But he went further and said : 'Since God pervades 
everything nothing belongs to you, not even your own body. God 
is the undisputed, unchallengeable Muster of everything you 
possess.' And so when a person who calls himself a Hindu goes 
through the process of regeneration or a second birth, as the 
Christians would call it, he has to perform u dedicution or renuncia­
tion of all that he has in ignorance called his own property. And 
then when he has performed this act of dedication or renunciation, 
he is told that he will win a reward in the shape of God taking 
good care of what he will require for food, clothing or housing. 
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;fhcrcfore the conditions of enjoyment or use of the nec~ssi~es of 
life is their dedication or renunciation. And that dediCatiOn or 
renunciation bus got to be done from day to duy, lest we may in 
this busy world forget the central fact of life. And to crown all, 
the seer says : 'Covet not any body's riches.' I suggest to you that 
the truth that is embedded in this very short mantra is calculated 
to satisfy the cravings of every human being-whether they have 
reference to this world or to the next. I have in my search of the 
scriptures of the world found nothing to add to this mantra. Look­
ing back upon all the little I have read of the scriptures-it is 
precious little I confess-! feel that everything good in all the 
scriptures is derived from this mantra. If it is universal brother­
hood-not only brotherhood of all human beings, but of all living 
beings-! find it in this mantra. If it is unshakeable faith in the 
Lord and Muster-and ull the udjectives you can think of-1 find 
it in this mantra. If it is the idea of complete surrender to God 
and of the faith that he will supply all that I need, then again I 
say I find it in this mantra. Since He pervades every fibre of my 
being and of all of you, I derive from it the doctrine of equality 
of all creatures on earth and it should satisfy the cravings of all 
philosophical communists. This mantra tells me that I cannot hold 
us mine anything that belongs to God, and if my life and that of 
all who believe in this 11wntra has to be a life of perfect dedication, 
it follows that it will have to be a life of continual service to our 
fellow creatures. 

"This, I suy, is my fuith.and should be the faith of all who cull 
themselves Hindus. And I venture to suggest to my Christian and 
Mussalman friends that they will find nothing more in their scrip­
tures if they will search them ... " 

He returned now to Segaon and his work there. The tour in 
Tnn-ancorc had been the blossom-time of his work for the sup­
prcssC'd classes. He had spoken his message, he had preached his 
faith. In one great State he had _:;een . the temples thrown open 
and the Hindu community reunited. Always he would stand for 
the rcmo\'al of the blot on Hinduism, but just as the period of 
maximum appeal for communal unity had come and gone, us one 
point after another in the social progrumme had been stressed-· 
11ow .har~d-spinnin.g, now the abolition of prostitution, now the use 
of Ilrndr us a umvcrsul lanb'"Lingc for India to brid"c the gnp bt'­
tween province and province - so the turn of the suppressed 
classes had come und passed away. The period which had begun 
with the first Harijnn fast in September 1 {)32 closed with the tour 
in Truvaneorc in January 1!)37. Other subjects begun to occupy 
the pages of Hurijun-prohibition, and u new concept of educa­
tion for I he children of India. "J\fy God is myriad-formed," he 
wrote, ~'and while s?me.timcs I see Him in the spinning-wheel, at 
other tunes I. ~cc Hm1 111 com.munal unity, then again in_remo~·al 
of untouehabrhty; and that IS how I establish communwn 'v1th 
Him according as the spirit moves me." 
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As they were at prayer on the Verandah one morning in May 
while it was still dark, a heavily-built European came upon them 
out of the night. It was Kallenbac}l. They had known he was 
coming, for ..he had cabled from Aden, but still they had scarcely 
dared to expect him. Tire two men had not met since those sombre 
days in London at the beginning of the Great War when Gandhi 
had striven to get. permission for his friend to accompany him to 
India. The permjssion had been refused and Kallenbach had 
become one more internee in a prison c·amp on the Isle of Man, 
from which he was released only in February 1918 in an exchange 
of prisoners. After the war he had gone back to South Africa, but 
not to the simple life he had shared with Gandhi. He had built up 
a considerable business as an architect and the demands of the 
business had been too insistent for him to come to lndiu, though 
he had shared many of Gandhi's fasts. 

"After how many years?" asked Gandhi, as the great German 
with his almost leonine face bent low before him. "Let me see your 
features more closely in the light," he said gently, picking up a 
lantern. "So the hair has all turned grey," and he pulled a shock 
of it. "Oh, yes. I am only a year and a half younger than you," 
Kallenbach answered gaily. "I hope you had a nice voyage," 
Gandhi continued with u twinkle in his eye, "You came first or 
second?" ·with a hearty laugh, the German replied, "Not so bad 
as that. I came tourist class. I knew that would be the first ques­
tion you would ask me." 

For Desai it was an opportunity not to be missed. In t!Je 
days that followed he drew from Kallenbach one story after another 
of the early days in South Africa. Kallenbach was adamant about 
the story of the binoculars. Gandhi had not thrown one pair over­
board, he declared, he had thrown both pairs. And that business 
of taking only one meal a day for a few" months, during part of the 
time in South Africa; a few months, indeed ! Gandhi had lived 
like that for a year and he, Kallenbach, had done likewise. A new 
note came into his voice as he answered Desai's questions about his 
business. For years after the war he had imported considerable 
quantities of goods from Germany. But four years ago he had 
cancelled these orders totalling many thousands of pounds, us u 
protest against the persecution of the .Jews by Hitler. For Kallen­
bach, too, wus a .Jew, as well as u German. Once more the storm 
that was guthcring in Europe had stirred a little eddy in the warm 
air around the Ashram . . . 

The Round Table Conferences-there had been a third session 
at the end of 1932 while Gandhi was in prison in India and the list 
of delegates from. British India had been headed by the wealthy 
Agu Khan-hnd fmally led to the Government of India Act in 
1 !J35. The Act greatly increased the power of the Provincial 
Governments and introduced the system of "dyarchv" at the 
centre, foreign affairs and defence remaining the con~eru of the 
Governor-General. The Act was wholly unacceptable to the Con-
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gress, 5ince it failed conspicuously to give them the substance of 
"complete independence" by leaving the issue of war and pca~c 
outside popular control. If the European situation exploded w 
general war, India might be dragged in against her will. But 
although the Act was so disappointing to the Nationalists, and 
although Dr. Ansari, the new Swarajist leader, had died in May 
1936, the Congress decided to accept office in the Provinces in 
order to work for independence from within the Councils. Gandhi 
himself had successfully pressed for office-acceptance in the All­
India Congress Committee's meeting in Murch which discussed the 
situation arising from sweeping Congress victories in the Provincial 
elections. Congress had polled nearly 70 per cent. of the votes cast, 
and CongTcss Ministries were formed in seven Provinces; later on 
Congress took office in two others, thus controlling nine out of 
eleven Provinces of "British India." 

"In the greater part of India," Gandhi wrote in October 1937, 
"the Congress is both in office and power. It is true that the power 
is limited. But it is limited in terms of Complete Independence, 
not otherwise." Now Congress had its chance to bring in substan­
tial reforms. They could introduce prohibition. They could 
revolutionise education. They could cut down the enormous 
administrative costs. 

Gandhi was again in poor health, but he would not spare him­
self. Always he had opposed the excessive amount of attention 
devoted to the teaching of English and of subjects in English to 
Indian children, remembering his own schooling and the day in 
the Rajkot High School when his fa]J..]ty spelling in the foreign 
language had brought him such embarrassment and confusion. On 
Tolstoy Farm in South Africa he had perforce to turn school-teacher 
for many of the children and he had taught them useful things to 
do with their hands. That had led to his advocacy of the spinning­
wheel for t}le Indian villagers, and his insistence on spinning as an 
essential part of the curriculum for stullcnts in the national schools. 
But now, after his experiences in Segaon, where he had been for 
more than u year, he saw that in primary education for the children 
of India, all subjects should be taught through a handicraft. He 
begun to elaborate the idea through the columns of 11 arija11. 

"I should combine into one," he wrulc, "what you cull now 
the primary education und secondary or high school education. It 
is my conviction that our children get nothing more in the high 
schools than a half-baked knowledge of English, besides a supcrli­
cial knowledge of mathematics and history and geography, some 
of which they hud learnt in their own language in t_hc primary 
classes. If you cut out English from the curriculum altogether. 
without cutting out the subjects you teach, you can make the 
children go through the whole course in seven years, instead or 
eleven, besides giving them manual work whereby they can makl' 
a fair return to the State. Manuul work will ha,·c to be the Yery 
centre of the whole thing." 
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Gandhi was in fact proposing, as Desai pointed out, a methOll 
of tuition embodying Rousseau's maxim, "Do as much as possible 
of your teaching by doing, and fall back on words only when doing 
is out of the question." Still there were misunderstandings; many 
supposed that Gandhi was preaching man)lal work us an alternative 
to other studies rather than as a basis of instruction, and he had 
to explain patiently. 

"A carpenter teaches me carpentry. I shall learn it mechani­
cally from him, and as a result I shall know the usc of various tools, 
but that will hardly develop my intellect. But if the same thing 
is taught to me by one who has taken a scientific training in carpen­
try, he will stimulate my intellect too. Not only shall I then have 
become an expert carpenter but also an engineer. For the expert 
will have taught me mathematics, also told me the differences be­
tween various kinds of timber, the place where they come from, 
giving me thus a knowledge of geography and also a little know­
ledge of agriculture. He \viii also have taught me to draw models 
of my tools, and given me a knowledge of elementary geometry and 
arithmetic ... I must confess that all I have up to now said is that 
manual training must be given side by side with intellectual train­
ing, and that it should have a principal place in national education. 
But now I say that the principal means of stimulating the intellect 
should be manual training." He went on to make the startling 
proposal that such a system of education should aim at becoming 
self-sufficient, at least as to its running costs, the products of the 
children being purchased by the State. Towards the end of the 
year un All-India Education Conference met at Wardha over which 
Gandhi presided. His plans for reorganising national education 
were accepted by the educationists and the full report whieh 
appeared as a supplement to II(fl•ijan on 11th December I!J37 
is a document of exceptional interest. 

Soon afterwards he went to Calc)ltta and threw himself into 
ncgotiatio11s over the release of the large number of political pri­
soners, of whom many were suspected of terrorism. Gandhi stayed 
with the brothers, Sarat :mel Subhas Bose, the latter one of the most 
forceful figures in the Indian scene. Bengal has had a fiery record 
siuce the days of Lokamanyu Tilak, and Subhas Bose, who had 
been closely associated with C. R. Dus, was believed to be deeply 
implicated in violent und terrorist activities, although his remark­
able abilities and fervent patriotism were admitted by all. 

As u result of Gandhi's efforts and after interviews with many 
of the detainees, the Government announced the release of eleven 
hundred prisoners, although four hundred and fifty still remained 
in captivity 11nd there were also many wbo had been deported to the 
Andaman Islands. In expressing his satisfaction at what had been 
don?, Gandhi admitted that there were difficulties in the way of 
free111g these others but he expressed the hope that he could soon 
secure their release. 

Gandhi had been warned by his doctors not to go to Calcutta 
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and now that his work there was almost done he collapsed, and 
for a while it was not possible to move him back to 'Vardha. Tagorc, 
himself just recovering from an illness that had seemed certain to 
prove fatal and still too weak to walk upstairs, had himself carried 
in a chair to the prayer meeting where he could sit near Gandhi for 
a while, but he would not attempt to disturb him by speaking. 
Gurudev (revered teacher), as Gandhi called him, was thinner now, 
and his face seemed smaller, wasted by diseuse. Perhaps as the two 
men lookt;d at each other they knew that they would meet once 
again, perhaps twice, and then no more. Yet neither could be lost 
to the other for their souls were grappled together in a mutual 
understanding that Time was powerless to undo. 

When it was possible to get Gandhi buck to Wardha in the 
middle of November his health did not improve and in December 
his doctors determined ut short notice to move him again, this 
time to Juhu, where he had spent his convalescence in 1924. Gandhi 
was reluctant to leave Segaon, but he submitted to his doctors' 
decrees. Juhu he found much changed in the thirteen years that 
had gone by since he was there before. The whole foreshore was 
dotted with bungalows belonging to the wealthier people of Bom­
bay, but still there were the sands and the sea, the ceaseless move­
ment of the water to remind him of his boyhood in Porbamlar and 
to send fresh life back into the tired and aged body. 

But he would not stay for long at .Juhu. He must be ha~k in 
SegLwn, und since his hcurt und soul were there perhaps iu Lhc loug 
run it would be best for his body to be there also. He was still 
very i11 1 and the blood pressure was dangerously erratic. He could 
spare only one }lour a day to talk to visitors, and even that told 
heavily on his strength. Still he would nut tum away those who 
made a long pilgrimage to his village, and one who came at the end 
of .Talluary l!J3R was Lord Lothian. Unlike many visitors he was 
chiefly interested in the activities of thj;' Village Industries Associa­
tion. "Most of us understand t!JC non-\·iolencc aspect of vour 
movement," he said to Gandhi, "'Vhat we do not t-mdcrstm;d is 
the simplicity. I should not have done so myself if I had not seen 
t}\csc things with my own eyes. Simplicity is apparently the corol­
lary of non-violence." 

At the end of :February Gandhi went to the village of Ilaripura 
where the Congress was in session, and despite the devoted care 
of Desai and the others, dust-storms and the strain of work further 
undermined his health. Once more he rallied when he was haek 
in Segaon, and now he was calmly using his illness as an oportunity 
to make further experiments, deliberately trying out new modes 
of treatment and dietary rules of his own devising. In March he 
went to Calcutta again to engage in further discussions with tlw 
remaining political prisoners and to treat for their release. It was 
an almost suicidal thing to do und Gundhi was forced to udmit 
that he was now fighting ugainst se,·ere limitations. "'fhe fact 
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must be faced that old age is now visibly creeping in, that even if 
I were to take undisturbed and inactive rest for several months, 
I cannot get back the capacity to work as of old, when 1 did not 
have to think bow much I was working, when I got to bed, and 
at tchat hour of the night I was awake." Still his work in Calcutta 
gave him "a ray of hope bright enough to light my path to 
Wardha." 

He returned by way of Delang in Orissa where he was to pre­
side at an annual meeting of the Gandhi Seva Sangh, but now 
darkness closed down upon him, the ray of light was lost in the 
encircling gloom. "I am not likely to live long," he had told one 
of the prisoners in Calcutta, "maybe I may live a year or a little 
more." But now he found the feeling o[ death spreading not over 
his body but through his very soul. He was almo~t prostrated 
with grief over the carelessness of his wife and Desai's wife, who 
pad entered a temple from which Harijans were barred, a fault for 
which he blamed the unfort)Jnate Mahadev. He seemed to be 
crushed under some oppressive weight, he spoke of lost confidence 
and despondency. "I am going through a process of self-introspec­
tion," he wrote, "the results of which I cannot foresee. I find 
myself for the first time during the past 50 years in a slough of 
despond." 

Perhaps Mira ben's intuition came nearest to understanding the 
nature of the crisis through which he was passing, when she wrote 
in a letter, "I believe more and more that the nearer we can 
approach to Bapu's ideuls, the further we cun prolong his life. I 
used to feel it vaguely with a sort of half-vision, bJit now it stands 
out like a literal truth. We can kill him with our moral iaults, or 
serve him into a ripe old age by awakening to his word. God help 
us." 

Gandhi was compelled to abandon the first part of u tour in 
the North-West Frontier Province which he had so long looked 
forward to. Desai was sent on ahead, and Gandhi joined him fur 
a few days. On the way back they again rested for a few days at 
Juhu. "The sweetly soothing, even intoxicating, Juhu breezes, 
blowing all night and day, have refreshed Gandhi," Desai observed, 
"the spiritual cloud seems to be lifting." He wus determined to 
go to the Frontier again in October und to spend several weeks 
there, and meanwhile he stayed in Seguon observing long periods of 
silence whenever possible. 

In September came the Munich cris6s, and with the crisis 
Gan~hi's way became clear before him. Something of his ohl 
physiC_u~ endura_ncc returned, and with it a redoubled vitality of 
the spmt. Mumch he termed a "Peace without honour " and fTorn 
the_ Frontier Pro~1~ce he wrote two courageous ancl outspoken 
art1cles on. the pos1t_wn of the Cz~chs. The first caused something 
of a scn~at10n, !or hitherto Gandhi hud scarcely ever looked beyond 
the Indwn hor1zon, not because of a narrow nationalism but be­
cause he felt he had no message to deliver to the world until he had 
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demonstrated the pmver of non-violence in India; that indeed was 
his way of speaking to the world. He had been stirred to make a 
general statement to the American Press at the time of the Italian 
assault on Abyssinia, and he had more than once spoken to visitors 
about the Sino-.Japanese war. But nothing had been said to com­
pare with the direct appeal to the Czechs to defend their land by 
corporate non-violence. 

"My critics," he wrote in the second article, "might have well 
asked why I had gone out of my self-prescribed orbit to speak to 
a Western nation when I co).lld not show cent per cent success of 
non-violence on the Indian soil-more especially now, when I had 
begun to entertain serious doubts as to whether Congressmen were 
really living up to their creed or policy of non-violence. Indeed, 
I had in mind the limitation and the present state of uncertainty 
about the Congress position. But my own faith in the non-violent 
remedy was as bright as ever when I wrote that article. And I felt 
that in the suprerr:.e hour ')f its trial it would be cowardly on my 
part not to suggest to the Czechs the non-violent remedy for accept­
ance. What may ultimately prove impossible of acceptance by 
crorcs of people, undisciplined and unused till but recently to cor­
porate suffering, might be possible for a small, compact, disciplined 
nation inured to corporate suffering. I had no right to arrogate 
to myself any belief that India alone and no other nation was fit 
for non-violent action." 

He ended with a grave warning. "One thing is certain. If the 
mad race for armaments contin).les, it is bound to result in a 
slaughter such as has never occurred in history. If there is a victor 
left the very victory will be a living death for the nation that 
emerges victorious. There is no escape from the impending doom 
save through a bold and unconditional acceptance of the non­
violent method with all its glorio11s implications. Democracy and 
violence can ill go together. The states that are to-day nominally 
democratic have either to become fran"kly totalitarian or, if they 
are to become truly democratic, they must become courageously 
non-violent: It is a blasphemy to say that non-violence can only 
be practised by individuals and never by nations which are com­
posed of individuals." 

In the Frontier Province his tour with GuiTar Khan impressed 
him profoundly. The Frontier Gandhi had w1doubtedly influenced 
the Khudai Khidmatgars to accept non-violence, their magnificent 
martini virtues were now displayed in enduring suffering bravely 
and not inflicting it upon others. Fiery words still came some­
times to their lips, and warlike thoughts rose often to the surface; 
but the discipline was holding and the constructive work in the 
villages would have its effect. The Khudai Khidmatgnrs would 
pacify the Frontier as the British with their bombing planes had 
not and could not. Here, in the making, wa~thc non-violent army 
of hi~ vision: the Peace Brigade that might some day stand between 
warrmg faetwns to sutTer death rather than stand by while violence 
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swept over the land and community warred with community. Here 
were the Moslems who stood not for communalism like Mr . .Jinnah, 
not for irresponsible wealth like the Aga Khon, who had so ironi­
cally been at the head of the list of representatives of British India 
at the. Third Round Table Conference, hut for the unity of India, 
and through a non-violent India for the unity of all mankind. 

At the end of his tour he came to Tuxila with its impressive 
ruins and relics of the dnys when Buddhism with its message of 
hnrmlessncss to all living things had spread out from India to 
China, to Asia, to the world beyond the Himalayas which lay like 
a turban upon the forehead of India. The message of Gautama, 
too, had had to be delivered to the world before India had learned 
it ... 

The time had come when he must speak to the world. He 
understood now why he could not restrain himself from speaking 
to the Czechs, and he knew that he must speak also to the Great 
Powers who were the oppressors, not only to the small nations in 
their extremity. The dark cloud was gone now, the suffocating 
menace that had enshrouded him had taken recognisable form 
and the next step was plain. They would not understand, perhaps. 
They would not heed him, that was certain. What of it? Hod 
they heeded Socrates, "the perfect Satyugrahi" as he hod often 
called him? Had they heeded Jesus or Gautamu? He was less 
than these, truly, but his duty was not different. In every age the 
\Vay must be declared before all men. 

Perhaps for a moment the cloud loomed large again as his 
mind beheld the marching armies, the mighty engines of destruc­
tion, the weapons by which men killed, maimed and destroyed from 
vast heights and distances. Hod there ever been a moment in the 
history of mankind when the forces of evil strode so menacingly 
ac-ross the earth, lurked darkly beneath the waves and flew on their 
diabolic mission above the clouds, mocking the silence of Heaven, 
spreading death without discrimination as the sky shed its life­
giving rain? Yet there were the words of the Gitu which he had 
spoken so often in the prayers at dawn and at night-fall, in the 
prison cell, in a swift-moving motor-car speeding through the 
streets of London, on the verandah of the Ashram at Wardha: 
"Whensoever there is misery and ignorunce, I come." He bowed 
his lwucl in n terror of humility. He knew himself to be the instru­
ment. 

One of the first things he did when he had hastened back to 
Scgaon whPrc an outbreak of illness had stricken more than half his 
workers was to write about the plight of the .Jews in Europe, "the 
untouehahles of Christianity." 

He drew 11 purnllcl between their plight and that of the Indian 
C'ommun.ity during hi~ days in South Africa. "But the German 
perspcutwn of the .Jews seems to have no parallel in history. The 
tyrants of old never went so mad as Hitler seems to have gone . , , 
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If there ever could be a justifiable war in the name of and for 
humanity, u war against Germany, to prevent the wanton persecu­
tion of u whole race, wo).lld be completely justified. But I do not 
believe in any war •.. 

"If I were a Jew and were born in Germany and earned my 
livelihood there, I would claim Germany as my home even as the 
tallest gentile German may, and challenge him to shoot me or cast 
me in the dungeon; I would refuse to be expelled or to submit 
to discriminating treatment. And for doing this, I should not wait 
for the fellow .Jews to join me in civil resistance but would have 
confidence that in the end the rest are bound to follow my ex­
ample. If one .Jew or all the .Jews were to accept the prescription 
here offered, he or they cannot be worse off than now. And 
suffering voluntarily undergone will bring them an inner strength 
and joy which no number of resolutions of sympathy passed in 
the world outside Germany can. Indeed even if Britain, France 
and America were to declare hostilities against Germany, they 
can bring no inner joy, no inner stren'gth. The calculated violence 
of Hitler may even result in a general massacre of the .Jews by 
way of his first answer to the declaration of such hostilities ... 

". . . . It is easier for the .Jews than for the Czechs to follow 
my prescription . . . The Jews are a compact, homogenous 
community in Germany. They are far more gifted than the I~dians 
in South Africa. And they have organised world opinion behind 
them. I urn convinced thnt if someone with courage und vision 
can arise among them to lead them in non-violent action, the 
winter of their despair can in the twinkling of an eye be turned 
into the summer of hope. And what has today become a degrading 
man-hunt can be turned into a calm and determined stand offered 
by unarmed men and women possessing the strength of suffering 
given to them by .Jehovah. It will be then a truly religious 
resistance offered against the godless fury of dehumanized man. 
The German .Jews will score a lasting' victory over the German 
gentiles in the sense that they will have converted the latter to 
an appreciation of human dignity. They will have rendered scr­
ice to fellow-Germans and proved their title to be the real Germans 
as aguinst those who are today drugging, however unknowingly. 
the German numc into the mire." 

There was an outburst of anger in Germany at this, which 
did not deter Gandhi from following up his Drticle with several 
more comments of the same kind. 

In December there cume another opportunity o£ consic.lerable 
importance. The International Missionn.ry Conference had met. 
at Tumbarnm ncar Madras, and several of the delegates had come 
C'~pecially to Segaon to examine Gandhi's views. 

He rcpcntf'd to them what he hnd ulreudy written about. 
the .Jews and the C:r.echs, and spoke also of China. 

"The Chinese have no designs upon other proplf'. They have 
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no desire for territory. True, perhaps, China is not ready for 
such aggression; perhaps what looks like her pacifism is only 
indolence. In any case China's is not active non-violence. Her 
putting up a valiant defence against .Japan is proof enough that 
China was never intentionally non-violent. That she is on the de­
fensive is no answer in terms of non-violence. Therefore when the 
time for testing her active non-violence came, she failed in the 
test. This is no criticism of China. I wish the Chinese success. 
According to the accepted standards her behaviour is strictly 
concct. But when the position is examined in terms of non­
violence, I must say it is unbecoming for a nation of 100 millions, 
a nation as cultured as Japan, to repel Japanese aggression by 
resorting to .Japan's own methods. If the Chinese had non-violence 
of my conception, there would be no usc left for the latest 
machinery for destruction which .Japan possesses. The Chinese 
would say to Japan, 'Bring all your machinery, we present half 
of our population to you. But the remaining two hundred millions 
won't bend their knee to yov.' If the Chinese did that, .Japan 
would become China's slave." And he went on to quote Shelley's 
lines from "The Masque of Anarchy"-"Ye arc many, they are 
few." 

Of course they told him that he did not know Hitler and 
Muss~ini. The dictators were incapable of any kind of moral 
response, said the missionaries, they had no conscience. 

"Your argument," Gnndhi answered, "presupposes that the 
dictators like Mussolini or Hitler are beyond redemption. But 
belief in non-violence is based on the assumption that human 
natme in its essence is one and therefore unfailingly responds to 
the advances of love. It should be remembered that they have 
up to now always found ready response to the violence that they 
have used. Within their experience, they have not come across 
organised non-violent resistance on an appreciable scale, if at all. 
Therefore," he concluded, scandalizing his visitors, "it is not 
only highly likely, but I hold it to be inevitable, that they would 

·recognise the superiority of non-violent resistance over any dis­
play of violence that they may be capable of putting forth." 

But even if it were conceded that dictators were human, and 
the missionaries still had their doubts about that, there remained 
the long-range gun and the bombing aeroplane. From twenty 
thousand feet it did not matter if you were shaking your fist or 
turning the other cheek. Down would come the bombs, just the 
same. Non-violence could not apply where there was no personal 
contact. 

"The r~ply," said Gandhi, "is that behind the death-dealing 
bomb there Is the human hum] that releases it, and behind that still 
is the human heart that sets the hand in motion. At the back 
of the policy or terrorism is the assumption that terrorism, if 
appliPd in a sufficient measure, will produce the desired result, 
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namely, bend the adversary to the tyrant's will. But supposing 
u people make up their mind that they will never do the tyrunt's 
will, nor retuliate with the tyrunt's own methods, the tyrunt will 
not find it worth while to go on with his terrorism. If sufficient 
food is given to the tyrant, the time will come when he will have 
had more than a surfeit." 

"What can I do," asked one of the visitors, "us a Christian 
to contribute to internatiomJ! peace?" And the Hindu answered 
him, "You as a Christian can make an effective contribution by 
non-violent action even though it may cost you your all. Peace 
will never come until the Great Powers courageously decide to 
disarm themselves. It seems to me thut recent events must force 
that belief upon the Great Powers. I huve nn implicit fuith­
a faith that toduy burns brighter than ever, after half n century's 
experience of unbroken practice of non-violence-that mankind 
can only be saved throug~h non-violence, which is the central 
teaching of the Bible, as I have understood the Bible." 

Christmas brought another visitor, Sir S. Rudhakrishnan, on 
his way to England to occupy the Chair of Oriental Philosophy at 
Oxford University. "Hitherto they were sending missionaries to 
India," he remarked to Gandhi, "now that the Oxford University 
has introduced a Chair of Oriental Philosophy, I felt that it would 
be some use to be there." Before he left he had one more thing 
to say to the Mahatma. "The living evidence on the basis of 
which I can teach oriental philosophy is you," and he quoted two 
or three passages from the classics. "I am sometimes asked," he 
reflected, "as to what would India do in the event of a world war. 
I tell them, we have witnessed the extinction of many a civilisa­
tion that rested on force. We shall adhere to non-violence. 
Others perished because of the violence. What does it matter, 
then, if we perish in the attempt to apply the principle of non­
violence? We shall have lived and l~.icd for u great. principle." 



Chapter XI 

INDIA REBELS-

THE THIRD STRUGGLE FOR SELF-RULE 

FOR some time a stirring of life had been evident in the Indian 
States, and on many sides there was a demand for responsible 
government which would eventually relegate the Princes to the 
position of constitutional monarchs. Theoretically the struggle was 
not with the British Power but with the }Jrinecs, although the 
Princes were widely regarded as "British officers in Indian dress," 
as Gandhi had described them to Brailsford in London. But, even 
in theory, Britain was the Paramo:unt Power, able to intervene in 
State affairs and overthrow any Prince with whose policy Britain 
deeply disagreed, and in most States influential British Residents 
kept a close watch on policy. 

The part of tpe 1035 Government of India Act which envisaged 
an effective federation of the "British" Provinces and the "Native" 
States had been strongly criticised on both sides. At least, the 
Nationalists resolved, such a partnership must not be taken to 
imply that the Indian people in the Native States should never be 
in a position to make a constitutional demand for respon~ible 
government on a democratic pattern. More and more the Congress 
supporters tended to encourage aspirations towards popular control 
of States' government, although Congress had for long held buck 
its supporters and laid strict limits on the lengths to which inter­
vention in the States might go. 

But had not .Jawuharlal said in his open letter to Gandhi at 
Poona that the vested ii1terests in India must go, mid that the 
Princes were the second biggest vested intere~t? And had not 
Gandhi himself acquiesced to the extent of saying that the Princes 
would have to part with much of their power and become popular 
representatives of the people over whom they ruled ? 

Now at the end of .January l!):I!J, Gandhi, reviewing the situa­
tion in llarijan, spoke of the movement for liberty within the 
States as entering a new stage. In several quarters open struggle 
had broken out. Repression was being appli~d so fiercely in Talcher 
nnd Dhcnkanal that 2G,OOO people out of u population of 75,000 in 
Talcher had fled to British Orissa for sanctuary. .Jaipur was en­
deavouring to destroy the popular movement and had refused to 
permit the entry into the State of Gandhi's close friend, the wealthy 
philanthropist .Jamnalal Bajaj, who had made possible Gandhi's 
work at Segaon and with whom he had lived as a neighbour for 
some time. In Rajkot fl fiereP campaign IPd by Vallahhhhai Patel 
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had ended in a sweeping victory. Patel had signed a pact with the 
Thakorc Sahib and then the Ruler had broken his promise, preci­
pitating a renewal of the struggle. Truvancore was seething with 
discontent. 

About this time there was a meeting of the Chamber of Princes 
at Bombay. They were particularly disturbed by events in Rajkot 
and lost no time in proposing a common Police Force for a group 
of States, which it was claimed was "the indication of the Para­
mount Power and its representatives." The . Pruja Manda Is 
(People's Assemblies), organisations within thei States on lines 
similar to the Congress in British India, were to be crushed out of 
existence. Intolerable grievances might have to be redressed, but 
agitators from outside ohould be dealt with severely and deported, 
poliLicul uctivitics among the Stutes' people should not be en­
encouraged and agitators who could not be otherwise disposed of 
should be given suitable State employment, as the most effective 
way of silencing them. It was an exposition of the policy of divide 
and rule that could scarcely have been bettered, given-if the 
report is correct-with a most extraordinary candour, and no 
apparent realisation that there was anything questionable about 
such a policy. 

Gandhi had been to Bardoli once more while this crisis deve­
loped, !l.nd he had hnd the satisfaction of telling the people there 
that one more long battle had been won. "'\Vc declared times with­
out number that the confiscated lands would some day or otbcr be 
restored to their owners. They huve been restored." But he said 
too, "Do not for a moment think that because the lands have come 
back to us Swaraj has been won. I warn you not to delude your­
selves for a moment and not to go back to your pleasures and follies. 
A higher ordeal has yet to come." 

From Bardoli he went back to Segnon, intending to go fr,,m 
there to Tripuri for the Congress sessiop, which was a eriticul one. 
Subhas Bose had been re-elected as President over Gandhi's candi­
date Dr. Sitaramayya, and Gandhi had deep reason for perturba­
tion at the event. His presence was essential, and yet his health 
seemed to rule out the possibility of his making the joumcy. 

Pyarclul had for the time taken the place of the omniprc~ent 
1\inhudev Desai. Desai had been seriously ill and then was abscn t 
in the Frontier Province. Pyarclal was as quick to grasp the posi­
tion as Mahadev would have been and he wrote in the second week 
of February : 

"Ever since our return from Bardoli in the beginning of 
·Fcbruury, Gandhiji has been keeping indifferent health. TlH' 
heart has been uffected as a result of continued high hloud 
pressure, coupled with the strain of unavoidable o\'crwork. 
The doctors took a grave view of the swelling on the feet 
that had manifested itself on t.he eve of ou~ departure from 
Bardoli. They ordered him absolute rest from physical and 
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mental work. All journeying was forbidden and even the 
usual morning and evening walks were interdicted. 

"Gandhiji has been trying punctiliously to_ curry out the 
instructions of the doctors and has largely been successful so 
far as the physical part is concerned. He has even written 
to Subhas Babu to excuse him from attendance at Tripuri 
'mainly on grounds of health.' 

"The happenlngs of Rajkot, Jaipur and some of the 
States of Orissa have been weighing heavily upon his sensi­
·tive mind. He is by nature long-suffering. His patience at 
times seems inexhaustible. But when a gross, open, palpable 
falsehood is sought to be imposed upon him by insolent might. 
his entire moral being rises in revolt against it, and he blazes 
forth. Rajkot is straining his endurance almost to the break­
ing point, but he refuses to say 'die.' " 

On Februnrv 3rd, K:1sturbai Gandhi had entered Rajkot to 
court arrest. Sh~ was a daughter of that State and she had claimer! 
the right to go to the aid of the people. Gandhi had protested that 
she wa~ too weak, for she had but recently fainted while in Bombay 
and might have died but for the presence of mind of Devaclus, one 
of her sons. She would not be deterred by anything he said or by 
the expostulations of Vallabhbhai. So she became a "State guest." 

The df"tention of Mrs. Gandhi produced a fresh clnsh and 
numerous arrests. There were charges of terrorism against the 
State Police and authorities, and counter-charges of fabriclition by 
the State. There was an exchange of telegrams which did nothing 
to show the situation in a more hopeful light. Ou 25th February 
Gandhi wired that he was "leaving for Rajkot to-day." He advised 
Vallabhbhui to suspend civil resistance while he made his bid for 
peace. He had refused to allow Pyurelel to publish the note about 
his health und ~ew realiied in what peril he put his life in under­
taking the mission. B!lt th&- moral issues involved in the Rujkot 
struggle were crucial and the situation hud so fur deteriorated that 
a fresh attempt to break the deadlock was imperative. 

His visits to the prisoners in jail confirmed his belief that the 
repressive measures of the State had been severe and inclcfcnsibl!". 
Hi~ conversutions with the Thakore Sahib, with his serpentine 
Minister, Virawala, and with the harassed British Resident began 
well and ended badly. Giindhi explored all the roads to a possible 
compromise, insisting or.lv that th~ agreement with Patel should 
be honour~d in principle, so that he und his popular party would 
have the r1ght to choose a majority of the committee which was 
to rccBmmend reforms in the constitution. 

On Brd March it became known that he had resolved to fast 
to death unless the pledge wus honoured. The fast was to begin 
:!t noon and the reply from the Thukore Sahib did not come until 
a few minutes later. The pressmen who had guthercc.l held their 
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breath as i1e looked through the letter. "It only adds fuel to the 
lire," he said quietly. The fast had begun. 

He had passed half the preceding night in a wakeful agony 
which had been resolved only by the decision to fast. Now that 
he had thrown his life into the scales pence had come back to him 
and Pyarelal wrote in wonder that "Gandhiji passed into his haven 
of unperturbed calm and slept peacefully and long in the afternoon 
as he had not since his arrival in Rajkot." 

The decision that brought him peace shattered the composure 
of his friends. Andrews, at Santiniketan, the home of Tagore, had 
the task of convt>ying the news to the aged Poet, who was deeply 
moved. Andrews did not waste another moment but sent u wire 
to Gandhi en rout~ to Delhi from whence he intended to hurrv to 
Rujkot. At Delhi there were two wires from Gandhi. The ·first 
read, "All well. Anxiety complex not allowed. Love" and the 
second, "Your coming unnecessary at present. Keeping well. Love. 
Tel! ::\Iuhadev, others." 

But the doctors who had rushed to Rajkot were by no means 
disposed to think that all was well. On the first morning of the 
fast there was a definite weakening of the first heart sound, which 
at that juncture was an alarming symptom. Poor Kasturbai, in­
terned and unable to come to her husband, had sent him a pathetic 
note and h~ had nnswered sternly, "You arc worrying for nothing. 
You ought to rejoice that God bus sent me an opportunity to do 
His will." But to Agatha Harrison, who had arrived that day, he 
said, "I am sick of fasting." He added soon after, "I have a vague 
feeling that there is one more fast in store for me. But I dread the 
verv idea of it when I think of the nausea and restlessness that have 
characterised my fasts of late." 

If there was onother fast in store, then he expected to surviYe, 
he had some hop~:? "'Vhat is your view of the situation?" Agatha 
Harrison asked, and her heart sank as he answered, "'Vc are up 
against a stone wall." 

On 5th March Kosturbai was brought to the house to sec him. 
Gandhi asked if the other women who had been interned were free 
also, and on learning that they were not, he sent his wife back to 
confinement. She endorsed his jmlt,rmcnt that she should not ncel'jlt 
special treatment. But she had seen that her husband was losing 
strength, restlessness and nausea were increasing, and on the night 
of 5th March he began to lind difficulty in ~wallowing even water 
on account of the nausea. His condition had markedly deteriorated 
in the lust twenty-four hours and the night of March Gth was u 
long ordeal of nausea and retching. In the morning Pyarclal noted 
with horror that his face "presented a shrivelled-up appearance 
owing to the growing in:1bility to drink water." 

But now the end came quickly. There had been an exchange 
of messages between Gandhi and the Viceroy, and the Viceroy 
now offered the services of the Chief Justice ~f India, Sir Maurie{! 
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Gwyer. As a distinguished jurist Sir Maurice was ready to arbitrate 
on the w1dertaking given by the Thakorc Sahib to Patel in Decem­
ber. Gandhi was thus enabled to break his bst on l\Iurch 7th uftcr 
a little more than four days. 

The award was announced on 3rd Aprif and it completely 
vindicated the interpretation by Gandhi and Vallabhbhai Patel. 
"In my opinion," wrote the Chief Justice, "the true construction 
of each document is that the Thakore Sahib w1dertukes to appoint 
the persons whom Mr. Vallubhbhai Patel may recommend and that 
he does not reserve to himself any discretion to reject those whom 
he does not approve. l-Ie is no doubt entitled to criticise the recom­
mendations and to urge reasons for reconsidering them; but, unless 
it can be shown that any of the persons recomtnended arc neither 
subjects nor servants of the State, Mr. Vallabhbhai Pulcl is to have 
the' last word." 

A fortnight later Gandhi was explaining in II arijan why the 
issue had seemed to him so crucial. "Geographically Rujkot is a 
tiny spot on the map of India but the disturbance which T felt 
called upon La deul with was symptomatic of a universal malady. 
My endeavour in Rujkot was meant to nip the evil in the bud. I 
am of opinion that the result of the endeavour has so far benefited 
the whole of India." 

He explained also his reasons for appealing to the Viceroy. 
"I have no sense of shame about going to H.E. the Viceroy. I hod 
invited him us the Crown Representative to perform his duty by 
intervening to enforce performance of a promise by a tributary of 
the Crown. I had not gone as a petitioner depending upon his 
mercy." 

But the struggle was not yet over. Negotiations before the 
fast had centred round the composition of the reform committtec. 
Originally it was to consist of ten persons, seven to be recommended 
by Patel and three State officials by the Thakorc Sahib. The latter's 
strategy was to plead the imperative necessity in common justice 
of including three repr!!scntatives of the Moslems and Bhayats of 
his own choosing which would in fact have t,riven him LL majority of 
six lo four. Gandhi had done his best to meet the valid part of the 
)lroposal. He hutl with difliculty persuaded the popular party to 
be content with a bare majority of one. He had suggested that the 
three officials and the three minority representatives should sit 
with the seven popular nominees in a total committee of thirteen, 
or that, to confine the committee to ten members, the officials 
should be present only in an advisory capacity. 

The Ruler refused either to enlarge the number of the Commit­
tee beyond tc1~ or to give the three officials only advisory powers, 
~o that Gandhi was obliged to insist on not less than six popular 
representatives in order to retain the majority, unci thus the 
minority representatives could not find a place. 
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This, as had been anticipated, provoked disorders among the 

minorities and on the evening of lGth April news came that there 
would be a hostile demonstration at Gandhi's public prayer meet­
ing. He gave peremptory instructions that anybody approaching 
him, no matter with what intent, should be given free access and 
not obstructed in any way. About six hundred dcmomtrator;; 
appeared at the prayer ground bearing black flags and placards, 
shouting slogans and reproaches. Gandhi bowed to them before he 
silt down to prayer, but the noise did not cease. "Their cries 
pierced me like arrows whilst I was trying to concentrate my mind 
on the words of the prayer," he wrote later, "I have not attained 
the power of meditation which makes one impervious to all distur­
bances from without. They knew that if they had invited me to 
attend their meeting in order to witness their hostile demonstrations 
and their wrath, weak as I have been, I would have gone there and 
tried to appease them ... I fear the demonstrators have not served 
their cause by their unwarranted interference with the prayer of 
innocent men and women." 

The prayer over, he rose to go, b).lt the demonstrators were 
now pouring in through the entrance of the narrow passage leuding 
to the prayer ground. Gandhi decided, instead of leaving by car, 
to walk through the crowd so as to give the demonstrators full 
chance to say or do to him whatever they pleased. 

He paused where the crush was too great to allow further pro­
gress, sternly refusing to listen to friends who wanted to form a 
protective cordon. "1 shall sit here or go alone in their midst," .be 
declan·d. But us he stood there he was suddenly seized by an in­
describable pain in the region of the waist and felt as though he 
must faint. It was un old symptom which seized him when he 
received a deep mental shock, and the strain of the fast and the 
ens-wing struggle had weakened his resistance. For a time he stood 
in the midst of the jostling crowd motionless and silent, his eyes 
shut, supporting himself on his stali, and SGcking relief through 
silent prayer. In u few minutes he had mastered himself again and 
he repeated his resolve to go through the demonstrators alone, but 
for a llhayat who stood immediately in front of him. "I will go 
under your sole protection," he said, "not my co-workers.", Some 
of the dC'rnonstrators hud by now rcalisC'd his condition and shouted 
for a way to be made clear. Leaning on the shoulder of the 
llhayat, Gandhi walked through the crowd to his waiting car. As 
the car drove off he said, "This is the way of Satyagrahu, to put 
your head unresistingly in the lap of your 'enemy,' for him to keep 
or make short work of you just as he pleases. It is the sovercig~1 
way, and throughout my half century of varied experience it hns 
never once failed me." 

But this was the least bitter o[ the experiences Gandhi f:1ced 
on his return to Rajkot after the announeemcnt of the Award. The 
Tbakore Sahib was not at all tractable, the shifty Virawaia could 
find endless obstacles, and Gandhi began to rcali~c that t:hcrC' had 



been a flaw in the course he l;ad followed. Peace and progress in 
Rajkot could be obtained in one oT two ways. Either the unwilling 
Ruler and his Minister could be compelled by British pressure to 
honour the undertaking given, which was unthinkable to the pio­
phct of non-violence. Or, the Ruler and the Minister m)..lst be con­
verted to the popular view and agree to the introduction of the 
reforms. The fast and the Award had not moved them. Whilt 
more could Satyagraha do? 

"All the time that I have been engaged in the Rajkot questi6n 
this question has been forcing itself upon me," he said on the 
evening before his departure from the State at the end of April, 
"why has our ,lhimsa failed to gain recognition from the State 
authorities?" It was particularly bitter that this should be the 
case in Rajkot for Gandhi's father had served the State when the 
present Ruler's grandfather l1ad been on the throne, and Thakorc 
Sahib's father had regarded Gandhi as his own father, his guru. 
Gandhi had looked Jlpon Thakore Sahib as a son, and the revelation 
that the younger man was hopelessly in the power of his Minister 
had come as a bitter surprise. But, he continued, "The discovery 
I have made is this. No matter what concessions you succeed in 
getting from the State authorities, it is only to the extent that they 
are the result of a true heurt conversion on their part that you will 
be able to enjoy or digest them." He proposed that they should 
go to Virawala and tell him that they had relieved Gandhi of all 
responsibility in their cause, and that they would relieve the Para­
mount Power of their responsibility also, relying now entirely on 
their own capacity to induce him to implement the agreement of 
December. ",t him sa is a science," he said in conclusion. "The 
word 'failure' has no place in the vocabulary of science. Failure 
to obtain the expected result is often the precursor to further dis­
coveries. It is in that spirit that you should approach and pursue 
your present mission." • 

On the 18th May he published a statement renouncing the 
Award, and confessing that in his fast there had been an element of 
coercion. Instead of asking for the intervention of the Paramount 
Power he should have addressed the fast to the Thakore Sehib, 
or the latter's advisor, and have been content to die if he could not 
have melted their hearts. 

Two days Inter he nttcndcd by &pecinl invitation n Durbnr in 
Rajkot. The Thakore Sahib announced the cancellation of all the 
previous notifications, promised the restoration of confiscated pro­
perty and fines, and declared that henceforth all citizens of the 
State would enjoy all their civil rights and liberties within thr 
bounds of the ordinary law. He announced the apointment of the 
committee of ten to report on .constitutional reforms and some 
writers suggest that the resulting reforms marked a measure of 
progress. Gandhi, however, interpreted them as a backward rather 
than a forward step. Still he did not regret his intervention, und so 
far from believing that Satyagraha had suffered a sa-back," he 
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comidcrcd that the outcome demonstrated the wnvorthiness of the 
Satyugrahis to receive more than they had got. ·what they had 
got \yas u form of "dyarchy." 

Elsewhere in the Stutes there was more progress. Jamnalal 
Bajaj had been twice expelled from Jaipur, and Gandhi had pro­
tested that they were making of him "a football to be kicked out 
of Jaipur every time he dares to exercise the right of entering his 
birthplace." On his third entry he was detained and a civil dis­
obedience movement began in the State, ending with a settlement 
and the release of Bajaj. 

In several other States powers had been delegated to popular 
representatives und Professor Coupland sums up the achievement 
us u "partial success." "The autoerotic system," he writes, "had 
been pressed hard und in several Stutes it had yielded ground." But 
if Congress leaders generally tended to be flushed with success and 
inclined to entertain larger ambitions, Gandhi now found it neces­
sary, after his experience in Rajkot, to sound a note of warning. 
He was unlikely, he said, to recommend mass disobedience any­
where for a time. Individual action, fully disciplined and genuinely 
non-violent, would be more effective. :Meanwhile reformers in the 
States should moderate their immediate demands, if necessary, 111 

order to hasten the advance to the final goal. 

BefQrc the Rajkot struggle was concluded Gandhi had had to 
fuce an important crisis within the Congress. The re-election of 
Bose us President had been an ominous sign, for Bose seemed to he 
heading towards violent action and to be trying to swing the Con­
bri-ess in that direction in defiance of its creed which limited it to 
"peaceful and legitimate" means. At the Tripuri Session Gandhi's 
supporters had emerged victorious from a struggle with the Bose 
group and this was followed by the resignation of thirteen members 
of the Working Committee, including .Jawaharlal Nehru, who 
pointedly reaffirmed his wholeheartep acceptance of non-violent 
principles in his letter of resignation. At the end of April Gandhi 
and Bose met, and after a long conference Bose resigned from the 
}>residency and announced the formation of a new Left bloc under 
his leadership. 

At Tripuri the Congress had accepted a forthright resolution 
on Foreign Policy that left no room for doubt where they stout!. 

"The Congress records its entire disapproval of the British 
foreign policy culminating in the Munich Pact, the Anglo-Italian 
Agreement and the recognition of Rebel Spain. This policy has 
been one of deliberate betrayal of democracy, repeated breach of· 
pledges, the ending of the system of collective security, and eo­
operation with Governments which are a\'owed enemies o[ demo­
cracy and freedom. As the result of this policy, the world is being 
reduced to a state of international anarchy, where brutal Yiolencc 
triumphs and flourishes unchecked and decides the fate of nations. 
und in the name of peace stupendous preparations are being made 
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for the most terrible of wars. Interuntional morality has sunk so 
low in Central and South-Western Europe that the world has 
witnessed with horror the organised terrorism of the Nazi Govern­
ment against the people of the Je~vish race and continuous bombing 
from the air by rebel forces of cities and their civilian inhabitants 
and of helpless refugees. 

"The Congress dissociates itself entirely from the British foreign 
policy which has consistently aided Fascist Powers and helped 
the destruction of democratic countries. The Congress is opposed 
to Imperialism and Fascism alike, and is convinced that world 
peace and progress require the ending of both of these. In the 
opinion of the Congress, it is urgently necessary for India to 
direct her own foreign poHcy as an independent nation, there­
by keeping aloof from both Imperialism a11d Fascism and pur- · 
suing her path of peace and freedom." 

ln May the A.I.C.C., alarmed at extensive emergency measures, 
which placed the Provincial Governments once more entirely under 
the direction of the Central Government during a state of emer­
gency, declared that Congress "cannot tolerate an amendment 
which strikes at the very basis of Provincial autonomy and ren­
ders it a farce in case of war, which in effect creates a war-dictator­
ship ... " 

But on September 3rd the Viceroy, without previously con­
sulting any of the Indian leaders, proclaimed India at war. Two 
days Iuter Gandhi went at l-ord Linlithgow's invitation to sec 
him. Gandhi had written in July to Hitler to appeal to him to 
prevent war, which Gandhi said it was in his power to do. There 
was no reply. At the end of August he had answered an appeal 
from M. Paderewski : "Of course my whole heart is with the Poles 
in the unequal struggle in which they are engaged for the sake 
of saving their freedom. But I am painfully conscious of the fact 
that my word cahies no power to stop this mad de3truction that 
is going on in Europe." 

Now he told the Viceroy that "my own sympathies arc with 
England and France from the purely humanitarian standpoint." 
Indeed, as he pictured the possible destruction of the Houses of 
l'nrliament and \Vcstminstcr Abbey, he broke down. l-ater in 
September he wrote in II arijan thut he hud come to the conclusiou 
Lhut Hitler was responsible for the war, because he had refused 
to submit Germany's claims to an independent tribunal. 

There was no doubt either about the attitude of Congress as 
a wholP. The ·working Committee con~lemned the Fascist aggression 
but held that the issue of peace and war must be decided by the 
Indian people, and that India's resources were not to be exploited 
for imperialist ends. They therefore asked for un unequivocal 
declaration of wur aims by the British Government, and in par­
ticular, how these aims would ue applied to India. 

Lord Linlithgow now consulted more than fifty of India's 
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leading public men, including Gandhi, but the emptiness of the 
gesture was seen in his declaration on October 17th. The most 
he would say on the future of India was that "His Majesty's 
Government will, at the end of the war, be prepared to regard the 
scheme of the Act as open to modification in the light of Indian 
views." He offered immediately to set up a consultative group, 
which however would have no power. The statement, Gandhi 
commented, "shows clearly that there is to be no democracy in 
India if Britain can prevent it." 

The Congress reply was to call upon the Provincial Govern­
ments to resign. They had governed for more than two years "on 
the whole with great success," the Viceroy had declared. Now 
they showed how fur the British statesmen had flouted fmlian 
opinion in declaring India to be at war without consultation with 
her chosen leaders. The Viceroy had said that India was at war. 
The Congress in effect declared otherwise, pending a more satis­
factory statement of Britain's intentions, and waxed satirical at 
the promptness with which the Princes, who had so strenuously 
denied democracy to their own peoples, now hastened to throw 
themselves (or rather their subjects) into the war for democracy. 
Congress would, trust no vague suggestions about eventual 
Dominion Status. This time there must be no Rowlatt Acts, and 
no Amritsar. Fight for freedom they would, but victory in the 
fight for their own freedom must precede help in the struggle for 
the freedom of others. 

Early in IO<J.O C. F. Andrews died. He had done more than 
anyone to bring Gandhi's message to England. He had been an 
indifferent editor of Gandhi's writings, and a magnificent friend 
to Gandhi and all that he stood for. The affection between the 
two men had never wavered since the day when they met on the 
quayside at Durban in 1013. For Gandhi he had been a living proof 
of the good will of the English towa~:ds India, and with his going 
the scene was clark and empty. Perhaps it seemed to Gandhi as 
though the wave of violence that had broken over the 'Vcstcm 
world had for a time blotted out that good will which the commm1 
people of En~land felt for India, when they fclt about India at 
all. With that submerging of the will to understand, Andrews 
with his unfailing love was no longer the symbol of his race. 

When the Congress met at Rumgarh, Gandhi puid a moving 
tribute to his old friend : 

"I want Englishmen and Indians, whilst the memory of this scn·ant 
of England and India is still fresh, to gi,·c a thought to the legacy 
he hns left for us both. There is no doubt about his lon for 
Englund being equal to thut of the greatest of Englishmen, nor 
cun there be any doubt of his love for India bcina equal to that 
of the greatest of Indians . . . At the present m~mcnt l do not 
wish to think of E~glish misdeeds. They will be forgotten, but 
not one of the hermc deeds of Andrews will be forgotten so long 
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as India and England live. If we really love Andrews' memory 
we may not have hate in us for Englishmen, of whom Andrews 
was among the best and noblest." And he told them how Charlie 
Andrews had said, on the bed from which he was never to rise, 
"Mohan, Swaraj is coming." · 

Gandhi had stern words to say at Ramgarh about the future 
policy of Congress. Civil Disobedience had been proposed and he 
made clear his own mind about it. "There was a time in my life," 
he said, "when I launched movements even if some of my con­
ditions had not been fulfilled. I am now going to be hard, not for 
the sake of being hard, but because a general who has to !~ad an 
army must let the army know his conditions beforehand. Let me 
tell you that I do not sec at the present moment conditions pro­
pitious for an immediate launching of the campaign." 

Of the external difficulties he made light; "a Satyagruhi .. 
flourishes on external difficulties and faces them with redoubled 
zeal and vigour." But internal weaknesses were of decisive im­
portance. While Congress had been struggling in the wilderness 
it had been relatively pure. With the winning of power two years 
before, selfish, greedy elements began to take an interest. "Our 
Con:,rrcss registers," said Gandhi, "arc full of bogus members, und 
members who have swelled them because they know that getting 
into Congress means getting into power. Those who therefore 
never before thought of entering the Congress have come into it 
and corrupted it. And how can we prevent people from coming 
into u democratic organisation because they come from selfish 
motives? \Ve have not that discipline and not the strength and 
purity of public opinion which would compel such people to stay 
out." 

When he spoke of the stern discipline he would impose to 
remedy such impurities, he showed how absurd arc the attempts 
to label him as an advocate of totalitarianism, as a 'dictator.' 
True !Je said, "I want to repeat what I have said times without 
number, that if you will be soldiers in my army\ understand that 
there is no room for democracy in that organisation." But he 
went on to say, "The army may be a part of Ll demrJcratic orgard­
sation, hut there can be no democracy in it . . . I urn suppose<! 
to be your general hut I do not know u more feeble general in 
history. My only sanction is the love and affection in which you 
hold me." He reaffirmed the need for a high standard of self­
discipline. 

Gandhi's army is not only a non-violent army, it is also a 
Yoluntccr army. Anyone may resign at any moment without loss 
or penalty. Moreover, although in the non-violent army the 
Hlluntecrs are no more expected to plan strategy by majority vote 
than arc soldiers in a military force, volunteers an· expected to 
test all instructions by their own conscience. Gandhi is perhaps 
unique in warning his followers, as he had done marry years before, 
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that "our last state will be worse than our first if we surrender 
our reason into somebody's keeping. And I would feel extremely 
sorry to discover that the country had unthinkingly and blindly 
followed all I had said or done. I am quite conscio).ls of the fact 
that blind surrender to love is often more mischievous than a 
forced surrender to the lash of the tyrant. There is hope for the 
slave or the brute, none for that of love., 

Within n few weeks of Ramgarh the Working Committee had 
rejected Gundhi's leadetship. The military disasters in Europe 
in the Spring had made the fall of Britain seem imminent. There 
were some who thought that this was the moment to press for 
recognition of India's independence and to these Gandhi answered 
decisively, "We do not seek our independence out of Britain's 
ruin." Others foresaw n possible invasion of India or serious 
internal disturbances and wished to be free to usc military force 
in such circumstances. Gandhi, on the contrary, wanted Congress 
at this critical ho).lr to declare unwillingness that India should 
maintain armed forces to defend her freedom against external 
aggression or internal disorder." The Working Committee were 
"unable to go the full length with Gandhiji ; but they recognise that 
he should be free to pursue his great ideal in his own way and 
therefore absolve him from responsibility for the programme and 
activity which the Congress has to pursue." 

The Congress President, Azad, declared that Congress would 
support the war if a provisional National Government were set 
up, with suitable powers, and Mr. Rujngopulnchuri concurred . 
• J uwaharlal was apparently of the opinion that if any concession 
was made it would come from the dire necessity of Britain alone, 
and not from any change of heart. Consequently he would do 
no more than demand independence "for our defence and the 
defence of freedom," and was probably thinking primarily or aid 
for China and Russia, in the event of the latter becoming involved. 

Britain did indeed make a bid for the support of the principal 
Indian parties but it was a weak one. The Viceroy made a state­
ment which became known as the 'August offer.' The furthest 
advance was on the question of responsibility for framing the 
future constitution. At the beginning of the wur Britain would 
only regard the 1!l35 Act us "open to modiHcntion in the light of 
Indian views." Now the British Government concurred in the 
Imliun desire that the framing of the new constitution should be 
"primarily the responsibility of Indians themselves." 

The possible value of the declaration was defeated by the 
clause which read : "It goes without saying that they could not 
contemplate transfer of their present responsibilities for the pcucc 
and welfare of India to any system of Government whose authority 
is directly denied by !urge und powerful elements in India's 
national life." This not only meant that such n minority as the 
Prinees could hold India to ransom for any terms, hut that the 
'communal' Moslems could do the same. 
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Mr . .Jinnah had, since the outbreak of war, come to occupy 
a powerf)Jl position in Indian politics. Less than thirty years 
before he had made a speech in English at one of the receptions 
given to Gandhi on the latter's arrival in India after the success 
in South Africa. Gandhi had regretted that the speech was not 
in an Indian language. The incident had been prophetic. Gandhi 
had become more and more the embodiment of India. Jinnah had 
become more and more a Europeanized politician, wealthy, shrewd, 
and exacting. He had for long been a member of the Congress, 
an apostle of Hindu-Moslem unity. But after the collapse of the 
Khilafat struggle and the communal riots of the 'twenties he had 
become identified with the 'communal' Moslems. His claims hod 
risen steadily. Moslems must hove separate electorates and a gJ.Ia­
ranteed number of scats in the Legislatures. Moslems must have 
not merely proportional representation b)Jt equal representation. 
They were one nation in India. The Hindus were another. The 
Moslems must be an equal partner in the Indian Federation. They 
had not been slow to sec the possibility of emulating the undemo­
cratic Princes whose autocratic privileges had in effect been recog­
nised and buttressed by the federal part of the 1935 Act. Now, 
since the outbreak of war, the former apostle of Hindu-Moslem 
unity had persuaded the Moslem League to adopt the Pakistan 
scheme, demanding the partition of India, the Moslems to govern 
all Provinces where Moslems were in a majority. Such on extremist 
point of view would have been intolerable only u few years before. 
But India had been startled by the sweeping victories of Congress 
in- the provincial elections and although many Moslem Congress­
men had been put into office, the extremist Moslems were quick 
to pick up every local incident that could be used to inflame 
suspicion and exacerbate feeling against the Hindus. 

The August offer was, therefore, certain to lend to the partition 
of India, and that was flatly intolerable to Congress and to most 
other sections of Indian opinion. The Working. Committee described 
the Offer as "a direct encouragement and incitement to civil dis­
order and strife . . . The issue of the minorities has been made 
into an insuperable barrier to India's progress." 

Mr. Amerv had said in the House of Commons that no veto 
had been con;edcd. "\Vhat was meant was that it was desirable 
for tlw majority to compromise and for the minorities to accept the 
c·ornpromi~e if it was rc~sonublc. B)lt t.hut was not what the August 
Offer suicJ. It wus only Mr. Amery's pious hope as to what the 
minorities would want to make it mean. 

The Moslem League reiterated thut partition was the only 
solution and meanwhile agreed to co-operate in the war if they 
were assured, not proportional representation, hut equal represen­
tation in the existing Councils. 

The intense disappointment over thc August Offer led the AII­
Inclin Congress Committee to recall Gandhi to the leadership. He 
wa~ prepared to lead u non-violent struggle for India's freedom, 
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although he knew that India might be ready to defend her freedom 
by violence if necessary. Until India was free she could not 
make her choice. When she was free he would appeal to those who 
shared his beliefs to defend India by the way of Satyagrahn. The 
other leaders could appeal for an army, a navy and an air force. 
Perhaps they would be surprised to find how deeply non-violence 
had influenced the Indian people in twenty-five years. 

Gandhi's two over-riding principles, then, were the refusal to 
bargain for India's freedom by the offer of support in the war, and 
desire not to embarrass Britain unneccssarily in her struggle. 
Nevertheless, India must be free to speak her mind. "The Congress 
claims for itself," he said to his Committee, "the freedom to protect 
civil liberty in this country, but must have the right to stat(' 
freely what we feel about I he war . . . I claim the liberty of gnin/.! 
through the streets of Bombay and saying that I shall have nothing 
to do with this war. because I do nut believe in war and in the 
fratricide that is goi1;g on in Europe." 

The Viceroy protested that this would not be allowed even in 
the United Kingdom. Conscientious objec1ors, he said, might be 
absolved from the duty of fighting. and allowed to profess their 
faith, but they were most emphatically not permitted to "carry 
opposition to the length of endeavouring to persuade others, 
whether soldiers or munition workers, to abandon their allegiance 
or to discontinue their effort." What Gandhi proposed was surely 
calculated to embarrass the Government of India, which Gandhi 
had said he wanted, if possible, to avoid. 

Gandhi was not impressed by this attempt to use English 
pacifism as a stick to beat him with. He wanted to refrain from 
embarrassing the British Government, but had never intended to 
carry non-embarrassment to the point of self-extinction. He could 
not deny his creed. "If the Congress has to die, it should do so in 
the act of: proclaiming its faith." In u public statement in Septem­
ber he said, "Freedom to propagate n!1n-violence as a substitute for 
wur was most vital when indecent savagery was being perpetrated 
by the warring nations." 

In .July he hud addressed a direct appeal to Britain. "I do not 
want Britain to be defeated, nor do I want her to be victorious in 
the trial of brute strcngt h ... I appeal for t.hc cessution of hostili­
ties, not because you are too exhausted to fight, but because war is 
bad in essence ... No cause, however just, cun warrant indis­
criminate slaughter going on minute by minute." He went on to 
describe the nlternativc to \var : 

"This process and method which I have called non-,;olcnt non­
co-opemtion is not without considerable succrss in its usc in India. 
Your representatives in India may deny the claim. J[ they do, l 
s~utll fcrl sorry for them. ~hey may tell you that our non-co-opern­
twn WaS not Wholly l!Oil-VIO)cnt, that it is horn of hatred. If they 
giw that trst.imony I will not deny it. 
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"Had it been wholly non-violent, if all non-co-operators had 
been filled with good will to you, I would make bold to say that you 
who are India's masters would have become her pupils, and, with 
much greater skill than we, have perfected this matchless weapon 
and met the menace of the German and Italian friends. with it. 

"Indeed, the history of Europe during the past few month~ 
would then have been written differently. Europe would have 
been spared seas of innocent blood, the rape of so many small 
nations, and an orgy of hatred. 

"This is no appeal made by a man who does not know his 
business. I have been practising, with scientific precision, non­
violence and its possibilties for un unbroken period of over fifty 
years. I have applied it in every walk of life-domestic, institu­
tioroal, economic, und political. I know 110 single case in which it 
has failed. Where it seemed s"ometimes to have failed I have 
ascribed it to my imperfections. 

"I claim no perfection for myself. But I do claim to be a 
passionate seeker of truth, which is but another name for God. 
In the course of that search the discovery of non-violence came to 
me. It has spread over my life mission. I have no interest except 
for the prosecution of that mission. 

"I claim to have been the life-long and wholly disinterested 
friend of the British people. At one time I used to be also the lover 
of your empire. I thought it was doing good to India. When I 
saw that in the nature of things it could do no good I used and 
am still using the non-violent method to fight imperialism. What­
ever is the ultimate fate of my country my love for you remains 
and will remain undiminished. 

"My non-violence demands universal love and you arc no small 
part of it. It is that love which prompted me to appeal to you. 
May God give power to every word of mine. In His name I begin 
to write this and in His name I close it. May your statesmen have 
wisdom and courage to respond to my appeal." 

In October, Gandhi launched his campaign. It was not to be 
a campaign of mass disobediPnce, for that would have been a major 
embarrassment to the Government. Instead it was to be limited 
to indi,·iduals whom he nominated. The first was Vinobu Bhuvc, 
tlw earliest member of his ashram. In the latter half of October, 
Vinoba made several anti-war speeches in villages near Wardha. 
He was arrested and sentenced to three months' imprisonment. 
Nel~ru was to be next, bu~ perhaps he rould not have preached 
~lgmnst war, and he got h1mself arrested instead for a vehement 
denunciation of the Government in a speech some days ahead of 
the schedule. Ea.rly in November, another Satyugrahi, Bruhmo 
Dutt, began shoutmg the recognised slogan' in the neighbourhood of 
Wurdha. "It is wrong to help the British war effort with men or 
money. The only worthy effort is to resist all war with non-violeut 
rC'sist.ance." Dutt was sent to jail for six months. 



In mid-November, the second stage of the campaign began. 
The lone voice crying neur Wurdhu hud been silenced. Now Irom 
a hundred places in India re-echoed his words, "It is wrong to help 
the British war effort with men or money. The only worthy effort 
is to resist all war with non-violent resistance." This time the 
speakers were not obscure ascetics but those who had formerly held 
office in the Congress Provincial Governments, the most distin­
guished public leaders in the land. They were imprisoned for twelve 
months each. Abu] Kalum Azad, like Nehru, preferred to make 
an attack on the Government and not io proclaim the creed of 
non-violence. 

The Government had forbidden the Press to report the progress 
of the campaign, and Gandhi stopped publication of Jlnrijun in 
December as a protc~t. By now five or six hundred leading Indians 
were in prison. 

Early in .January l!Hl the third stage of the campaign was 
launched. The voice crying in the wilderness at \-Vardha had been 
silenced and five hui1dred voices had taken up the cry. Five hundred 
voices had been silenced, and now five thousand of India's people 

. swelled the chorm. "The only worthy effort is to r~sist all war with 
non-violent resistance." "'l'hc only tcurthy effort is to resist' all <~"tlr 
with 110n-violcnt resistance." "THE ONLY WORTHY EFFORT IS 
TO RESIST ALL WAR WITH NON-VlOLENT RESISTANCE." 
The words seemed to whisper down the warm winds, to murmur 
along the course of mighty rivers, to echo and re-echo from CapP 
Comorin to the Himalayas. 

Picked men from local Congress Committees had formed this 
third corps. When they, too, were imprisoned, rank and file mem­
bers of Congress were culled on to take their places, in still larger 
numbers. "The only worthy effort i~ to resist all war with non­
violent resistance." Everywhere the forbidden words were spoken 
and the speakers submitted without. a struggle to arrest and im­
prisonment, knowing that the message remuined free, the truth 
could not be imprisoned with them. 

By mid-summer over 20,000 had been convicted, as many as 
1 ,~,000 being in jnil at one time. 'I'h~ number would unquestimu;bly 
huvc been muny times larger but for the limits which Gandhi 
imposed on the campaign. 

He believed that the soul of India was speaking. ~md by speaking 
using freedom for its true purpose. More than that, he believed 
India _wus s~eaking to th~ world. "My mind is wholly concentrated 
on trymg this t,.rreut experiment," he hud suid at Rumgarh, "because 
it will not only benefit India but the whole world." When, in April 
l!H 1, the lli1HI11 complained that the campaign had produced no 
appreciable impression on the war effort, Gundhi replied that it was 
not intended to hamper that effort. It was a moral protest; "A 
token of the yearning of 11 political organisation to achieve the 
freedom o[ 350 million people through purely non-violent eiTnrt 



and therefore to affect the future destiny of the world. An ambitious 
claim, but it is there ... Would friends ask me, at this supreme 
moment in the life of the world and my own life, to deny the faith 
that hus sustained me for nearly huH a century?" 

In August came the news of Tagore's death. Gandhi had visited 
the Poet in February Hl·'l-0. In December, only a few months before 
his death, Tagore had paid a last tribute to the Mahatma in a poem 
entitled "Gandhi Maharaj" : 

"We who follow Gandhi Ma}mraj's lead 
have one thing in common among us : 

We never fill our purses with spoils from the poor 
Nor bend our knees to the rich. 

When they come bullying to us 
With raised fist und menacing stick, 

We smile to them, and say : 
Your reddening stare 

May startle babies out of sleep 
but how frighten those who refuse to fear? 

Our speeches are straight and simple, 
No diplomatic turns to twist their meaning : 
Confounding penal code 

they guide with perfect ease the victims 
to the borfler of Jail. 

And when these crowd the path of the prison gnte 
their stains of ins-ult are washed clean, 
their age-long shackles drop to the dust, 
And on their foreheads are stamped 

Gandhiji's blessings." 
Tagore, too, had been an old friend of C. F. Andrews, and tbey 

hud more than once agreed in criticising some action of Gandhi's, 
such as the burning of foreign cloth. "The Great Sentinel," Gandhi 
had called him, and despite differences of outlook between thl'. 
Satyagraha Ashram and Tagore's communal centre at Santinikctan, 
The Abode of Peace, the two great Indians had recognised how 
indispensable each was to the other. With the going or Tagorc, 
Gandhi was, outwardly alone. But in his heart the Poet ~till lived, 
as Andrews lived. He knew, us wPII ns though they stood hesi<l<' 
him, what th~y would say, wlwt they would do. 

In September 1!14·1, Mr. Churchill had made -it clear thnt the 
Atlantic Charter did not in any way affect the British Government's 
poliey towards India. Whatever other qualities the Prime Minister 
might possess, and they were many, he wus not the man to restore 
Indian confidence in the good intentions of the British. Had not 
Churchill been a member of the Great War Cabinrt ::md party to the 
P.onfounding of Indian hopes? Hud he not bitterly opposed even 
the proposals of the Round 'ruble Confcrrnce, and poured scorn on 
"the half-nuked fakir" who represented t.he Indian cause? His 
latest brusque utternnef' wus all tuo much in chMaeter. 
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But events wue moving with terrible speed. In December the 
Japanese attacked Pearl Harbour. Almost simultaneously the 
Government released the Civil Disobedience prisoners and ns the 
.Japanese swept across the Pacific and through Burma and Malay, 
the urgency of some settlement in India became clear. 

Gandhi would be no party to it. He retired from the leadership 
and in .January restarted llarijan. A Japanese monk, Kai Shoo, 
had been living in the Ashram since 1035, and now he was interned 
as an enemy alien. Had the British Ieurnt nothing since the day 
when th~y refused Kallenbach permission to come to India and 
sent him to internment in the Isle of Man? 

Soon afterwards Gandhi journeyed to Calcutta in order to meet 
Generalissimo und Madame Chiang Kui Shck. Chiang Kni Shck 
uftcrwards made it pluin that his symputhies were with the Indian 
nationalists in their desire to shake off foreign r:ulc at once, but h~ 
was most concerned to know what would be India's attitude to a 
.Japanese invasion, and particularly what would be Gandhi's advice. 
The Chinese leader probably understood fur better than most \Yes­
tern observers ut the time thut whether or not Gundhi held the reins 
of Congress he remained the personification of the Indian people, so 
that his word would curry great weight with the Indian masses, 
whether uttered through Congress or outside it. 

"Your civil resistance," said the Generalissimo, "is not mere 
passivity, I urn sure. But these foes may not listen to active civil 
resistance and may make even preac_bing of non-violence 
impo~sible." 

"All I can say," Gandhi had answered, "is that God gives me 
guidance to react to the situations as they arise. Though, therefore, 
I cannot say how exactly I will react in the case of invasion, I know 
God will give me proper guidance. But. this talk cannot, I know. 

·satisfy you." 

We may be quite sure that it did"not satisfy Sir Stafford Cripps 
either. Gandhi subsequently told the American journalist, Louis 
Fischer, what passed between them. "When Cripps arrived (at the 
end of Murch) he sent me a telegram asking me to come to see him 
in New Delhi. I did not wish to go, but I went because I thought it 
would do some good. I hnd heard rumours about the contents of 
the British Government's offer he brought to Indin, but I hud nol 
seen the offer. He gavi! it to me, and after a brief study I said to 
him, 'Why did you come if this is what you have to offer? I would 
advise you to take the first plane home.' Cripps replied. 'I will 
consider that.'" After this Gandhi withdrew and the Congress 
representatives were free to handle the negotiations in their own 
way. Gandhi allowed himself only one public comment. The Cripps 
offer, he said, was "u post-dated cheque." The phrase' "on u crash­
ing hunk" was subsequently tacked on by 1m Indian journalist. 

It is unnecessary to repeat here details of the negotiations thn t 
failed. The two main difficulties were insuperable. The Cripps offer 



stipulated that any Province or Indian State must be free to adhere 
to a new constitution or not. This is what Gandhi afterwards des­
cribed as "perpetual vivisection." Prior acceptance of this was 
made an indispensable condition for setting up a provisional Indian 
Government and was not therefore subject to the decision of the 
later constitution-making body at all ! Even if the provisional 
Government had been set up it would have been "subject to the 
Viceroy's reserved power." In fact, it would have been ruled on 
all the vital issues of defence and foreign policy from Whitehall. 

The faib.1re naturally brought a reaction in the Congress ranks 
and Gandhi was once more restored to the leadership, his prestige 
enhanced by his refusal to engage in the bargaining process w.ltich 
had seemed to promise so much and which bud failed so completely. 

Gandhi's attitude was made clear at once. If India were free 
he would propose negotiations with Japan, just as he would have 
attempted to negotiate with any other opponent. His appeal to 
the Japanese showed no signs of "defeatism." "I would ask you 
to make no mistake about the fact that you will be sadly disillu­
sioned if you believe that you will receiv«c a willing welcome from 
India," he wrote. "The end and aim of the movement for British 
withdrawal is to prepare India, by making her free, for resisting ull 
militarist and imperialist ambition, whether it is culled British 
imperialism, German Nazism, or your pattern." He condemned the 
.Japanese attack upon China and warned them that if they attempted 
to enter India, "we will not fail in resisting you with all the might 
that our country cun muster." 

\Vould it be by violence or non-violence? "I cannot say," 
Gandhi wrote, "that Free India will take part in militarism, or 
choose to go the non-violent way. But I say without hesitation 
that if I can turn India to non-violence, I will certainly do so." If 
he failed in that, if the Congress leaders decided to use armed force, 
Gandhi would retire once more and summon those who would follow 
him to form a non-violent corps. 

The British, presumably believing that India would have to 
fight anyway, had not been willing to hand over full control. That 
they should be ready to leave the nation divided in this hour of 
peril seemed to muny the worst offence of ull. It brought u harden­
ing eYen in Gandhi'~ attitude. "Though I do not wish any humilia­
tion to Britain-and therefore no defeat-my mind refuses to give 
her any moral support." It was now that the first conception of 
the "Quit India" resolution came to him. "The original idea of 
asking the British to go burst upon me suddenly," he told Fischer 
aftPnvards. "It was the Cripp~ fiasco that inspired the idea. Hardly 
had he gone when it seized hold of me ... Soon uftcr Cripps' depar­
ture I wrote u letter to Horace Al,exander in reply to his letter to 
me. There11ftcr the idea possessed me. Then began the propaganda. 
Later I framed the resolution. My first feeling was, 'We need an 
answer to Cripps' failure.'" 



At the end of April the A.I.C.C. met at Allahabad and passed 
a signiiicant resolution. "In case an invasion takes place," one 
paragraph ron, "it must be resisted. Such resistance can only take 
the form of non-violent non-co-operation us the British Government 
has prevented the organisation of national defence by the people in 
any other way. The Committee would therefore expect the people 
of India to offer complete non-violent non-co-operation to the in­
vading forces and not to render any assistance to them." 

Gandhi had won. Twice within u vear it had seemed that 
Congress had thrown off his influence unci was prepared to make a 
bargain with Britain to use military force in return for home rule. 
Twice Gandhi had stood ,out. Twice negotiations had failed and 
Congress bud t.urncd again to the Mahatma, an old mun of seventy­
two who hud stood unflinchingly and uncompromisingly for non­
violence. Still they did not accept Satyugraha as a faith. They 
accepted it once more as a policy "because the British Government 
has prevented the organisation of national defence by the people in 
any other way." 

In .1\Iay, police raided the Congress offices and seized records of 
this important meeting which were subsequently published in A,.gust. 
The outcome of the Congress discussion wus the famous "(~uit 
India" resolution adopted by the Working Committee at a meeting 
at Wurdha in July. 

The resolution declared thut British rule in India must end 
immediately. Congress had so fur followed a policy of non-embar­
rassment even at the risk of making its Satyagrahu ineffective. The 
failure of British statesmen to respond, and the breakdown of 
negotiations with Cripps had led to a rapid increase of ill-will agaimt 
Britain and a growing satisfaction at the success of Japanese arms. 
Blume for the communal tangle was laid on Britain-the presence 
of British Power had been a direct incentive to communal fanatics, 
I'rinces, Zamindars and parasites al every kind to compete for 
power and favour. If: Britain's political domination was withdrawn 
representative Indians could form a provisional Government "which 
will Iuter evolve a scheme whereby a constituent Assembly can b(­
con\·cucd in order to prepare a constitution for the Government of 
lnd ia acccptnblc to all sections of the people." The provisional 
Govcrmncnt would confer with Great Britain for the udju~tmcnl. 
of future relations and for co-operation against aggression; unci to 
show that there was no intention of jeopardising the Allied position 
they agreed to th ~ stationing of armed forces in India to ward off 
Japanese aggression and to help China. 

If this modcrutc oiier was not accepted, Congress would rcluc­
tuntly "utilise all the non-violent strength it has gathered since 
Hl~O, when it adopted non-violence as part of its policy for the 
vindication of its political rights and lilwrtics. Such a widesprea<l 
struggle would inevitably be under the leuch·rship of Mr. Gandhi." 
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This w&s the draft which came before the All-India Congress 
Committee at the beginning of August. The resolution was passed, 
and Gandhi addressed the meeting. 

"I take up my tusk of lending you !n this struggle," he ~aid, 
"not as your commander, not as your controller, but as the humble 
servant of you all; and he who serves best becomes the chief among 
them." 

He spoke of his inner voice. "Call it conscience, call it any­
thing you like; call it the promptings of my basic nature; I do not 
mind how you describe it, but there is something there . . . That 
voice tells me that I shall have to fight against the whole world and 
stand alone; it also tells me : 'You are safe so long as you stare the 
world in the face, although the world may have bloodshot eyes. 
Do not fear the world but go ahead, with the Ieur of God in you.'" 

"I want to live the whole span_ of my life," he said later, "but 
I don't think I will live so long." 

It seems clear that be understood well what lay ahead. But 
before launching the struggle, Gandhi said, he would address a 
letter to the Viceroy and aWait his reply; it might be a week, u 
fortnight, or three weeks. 

The last hams of freedom on l:lth August in Bombay were 
crowded and infected with the imminence of great events. Ques­
timl.S were fl:ung at Gandhi from all sides and he answered them 
with the calmness that comes to him in moments of emergency 
when his mind is made up. One of the questions was ubout peace. 
Gandhi said ~imply, "Peace I want among all mankind, but I don't 
want peace at any cost, and certainly not by placating the aggressor 
or <.~t the cost of !wnour." 

The Viceroy wanted pc:.ICe, too, of a different kind. He did 
not wait to receive the letter, but had Gandhi and the members of 
the Working Committe~ detained under the Defence of India Hcgu­
lations at 1·.30 a.m. on the morning of August Oth. 

Gandhi wrote to Lord Linlithgow on Hth August, reproaching 
him for not attempting to reach at,rrccmcnt before taking drastic 
action, and protesting against the suggestion that Congress was 
prepared to adopt Yiolcnt us well us non-violent meuns of revolt. 
He pleaded for a rcconsidcratic:.:u of the Government'~ policy, which 
the Viceroy declined to undertake. 

So Gandhi becami! a prisoner, not in jail, us he had been so 
often before, but in the luxurious palace of the Aga Khan at Poonu. 
He who had found peace in a room with four bure walls in the 
\'illagc of Segaon, and had for nearly thirty years lived in poverty 
and simplicity was confined in a palace, the opulent home of an 
absentee Prince, a wealthy Europcauiscd man, u spiritual leader 
of the Moslem community, who had been one of the principal dele­
gates representing British India at the Third Hound Table 
Conference. 
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Serious disturbances had broken out all over India when news 
of the arrests became known. There were allegations of stone­
throwing, burning of prcmi~es and, later, .dislocation of railway 
commwticutions, and through the censorship came Jlgly news of 
/ai.hi charges, firing, and the reintroduction of flogging. The deten­
tion of the Working Committee had been followed by the arrest of 
all the known Congress leaders throughout the country and the 
whole machinery of direction, control and restraint had been 
deliberately smashed. In the circumstances, it was not surprising 
that the elements that favoured violence and secrecy .should seize 
their opportunity, encouraged by Subhas Bose, who had now gone 
over to the A":is camp and was broadcasting regularly from Berlin.* 

But Government heaped the responsibility for everything that 
happened upon the Congress, although the Viceroy had ignored 
Gandhi's plea in September that the Congress leaders should be 
released and repressive measures w.ithdrawn in order that the way 
to conciliation might be explored. 

In December, Gandhi wrote again, complaining that the state­
ments made about him in Government quarters "contain palpable 
departures from truth." He had, he said, imposed restraint upon 
himself for a period of six months which was now drawing to a 
close. Uulcss ~orne way could be fowul to end the deadlock he had 
no alternative but to adopt the remedy which Satyagraha pre­
scribed for such moments of triai. "In a sentence, it is 'crucify 
the flesh by fasting.' That sumc law forbids its usc except as a 
last resort. I do not want to usc it if I can avoid it." He begged 
the Viceroy to send for him or send someone to him to convince 
him of his errors. 

The Viceroy, in reply, affected to think that Gandhi might be 
wishing to retrace his steps and disassociate himself from the At1gust 
policy, in which case he would consider the matter further. 

Gandhi protested that he could not express uny opinion of 
events which he could not influence or control and of which he had 
had but a one-sided account. He summed up by saying " (I) Ir 
y~u want me to act singly convince me that I was wrong, and 1 
Will make ample amends. (~) If you want me to make any proposal 
?n b~half (~r Congress you should put me umong the Congress Work­
Ill;.: Comrmttee members. I do pleud with you to make up your 
111111d to (•JJd the impasse." 

The Viceroy would do neither, and Gandhi wrote 011 ~!Jth 
Jauuary l!Jt3 that he must accordingly undergo u fast to eapaeity. 
He would eommencc after the early morning breakfast of FdJruarv 
!Jth a fa~t. for ~l days. "Usually during my fusts l take water witi1 
~!JC. a(~Uihon of salts. But nowadays my system refuses water. 
lh1s t1mc th~rdorc I propose to add juices of citrus fruit to mak(' 
the wa~cr dm1kuhk, for my wish is not to fust unto death, but 
to survJ\'c !_1~~-~>nleal of thP fast if God so wills." -
*It ;, n·polWtl th·1t--1-j 1 :··., .. ;.-·):--;- ·- -1 --

1
--

1
- - - . - _ 

'J' J-' • t • ~ op •Lilt Ill \\lit': ~IJ."'t' \\Us JlnJI•i rrOJII ~lll''lljiiiJ'(' tn 
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He was not fasting for his release. lie was iustlng for ail 
end to the deadlock, which ~ight be found either by the Viceroy 
sending someone to persuade him that he had indeed committed 
u ~erious mistake and was morally involved in the violence that 
had followed the August arrests, or by his being allowed to discuss 
the position with the other members of the Working Committee 
who were also detained. 

The Viceroy's reply was a considered insult. The charges 
against Congress would have to be met sooner or Iuter, he declared, 
and referred to a mas5 of evidence which he did not offer to put 
before his prisoner. If, in the meantime, "by any action such us 
you now appear to be contemplating, (you) attempt to find an easy 
way out, the judgment will go against you by default." Gandhi 
answered, "Your letter, from u Satyugruhi's standpoint, is un 
invitation to fast." He deplored the imputation of a base and 
cowardly motive, and the description of the fast us "a form of 
political blackmail." 

The Government of India were, however, worried at the possi­
bility of.Gandhi dying while in detention and on 7th February the 
Home Department proposed that he should be set at liberty "for 
the duration of the fast" and added that "The Government of 
India trust that you will be able to arrange for your accommo-­
dation away from the Agu Khan's Palace." To this Gandhi 
answered tersely that if it was for his convenience, he did not 
need it. If it was for the convenience of the Government, he was 
sorry he was unable to suit them. He would uvoid inconvenience 
to tlte Government as far us possible. If he was released he would 
not fast in terms of his previous letters, but would survey the 
situation anew. He postponed the commencement of his fast until 
lOth February to give the Government time to reply. 

The reply was that the Government's position remained the 
same. If Gandhi fasted in dctcnti!o!J•• declared the Home Depart­
ment solemnly, he would do so at his own risk. He might have 
his own medical attendants and receive visits, with permissiou of 
the Government. 

So the "one more bst" that he had somehow foreseen ut 
Hajkot began in the incongruous surroundings of the turquoise­
coloured palace ut Poona. lly the ~evenlh day the bulletins began 
to sound an ominous note. His sleep was broken, he was J,.,rrowing 
weaker. Two days Iuter the bulleti•1 reported thut he was extremely 
weak. If the fast was not ended without delay it might be too 
late to save his life. During the week-end which followed he lay 
in his wheeled bed in the lofty room of the palace. his pulse almost 
imperceptible. Gandhi was dying in cuptivity declared the London 
newspapers. 

India had become, said one correspondent, a land of protests, 
pro('e~sions and prayers. Mills and markets had shut, and three 
Indian members of the Viceroy's Council had resigned in protest 



against the Govcrnmcnt!s rcfusai to rcieasc Gandhi. But the 
Government having made their decision, kept to it with brutal 
thoroughness. On ~2nd February they published in Delhi a de­
plorable \Vhite l'apcr which was afterwards reprinted in England. 
Gandhi was detained. He had not been directly charged, convicted 
or sentenced. He was at the point of death. Yet the Government 
could issue what was often described as an ii1dictmcnt of Gandhi 
in which his attitude and his uttcrnnces were twisted to suggest 
that he had acted not altogether in good faith, had been prepared 
to condone violence, and was responsible for all that had occurred 
in India since his arrest. Apart from a passing reference to 
successful "police action'"' nothing was said about Iuthi charges, 
the firing, the whippings, and the detention of political prisoners 
in underground cells for "intcrrogutio~." On 2·Hh February Mr. 
Churchill cabled his approval of the decision not to release Gundhi. 

Gandhi survived. His doctors administered sweet lime juice 
and water during the crisis, since the nausea prevented him from 
drinking water without this addition, but by 2'tth February when 
he had slightly recovered he reduced the quantity considerably, 
keeping to the minimum which would enable him to drink water. 

He still observed the vital part of his daily routine. In the 
dark hours of early. morning there were prayers by his bedside, in 
which .Mrs. Gandhi and others joined, for she had been with him 
since the beginning of his internment. During the day he would 
talk for a few minutes to friends, although his ...-oicc was scarcely 
more than a whisper now. The first European to sec him was un 
old friend, Horace Alexander. At dusk the evening prayer was held 
again by his bedside. 

Bernard Shaw was one of the Englishmen who pr~tcsted vigor­
ously against the Government's treatment of Gandhi : "The im­
pris.onmcnt of Gandhi is the stupidest blunder the Government has 
let Itself be landed in by its Right Wing of incurable diehards ... 
The King should release Gandhi unconditionally as an act of grace 
uncon~crned with policy, and apologise to him for the mental 
defectiveness of his Cabinet." 

But the Cabinet had no regrets and .Mr. Amery in the House 
uf Co"?muns declared that the correspondence bctwcpn Gandhi and 
the VIceroy "contains no indication that Mr. Gandhi sees cause 
for regret at the outbreaks of murder violence and s·d.>otn"e " 
llut Gandhi had said in his letter of lUth January, "Of cour:c· I 
deplore the happenings which have taken place since August !Jth 
last," and had rcallirmcd, "from the housetop, that I am as con­
firm~d a believer in non-violence as I have ever been." The Vice­
roy Ill reply had s~id, "I am very glad to read your uncquiYocal 
condemnatiOn of v10lence." 
'"'l'hr natu~e or HII<Tessflll 'j~li.c·<· ~~tiou \\'as extradecl [rono ~~Jr. Amen in !lu• 
Hnuse or ( OllliiiOIIS early Ill t:riJI'II:II'.\". l'p to llPI'l'lllher 1!11~ si\1\' ilwus:uod 
ludmus loud hoeu arrested thu'I\·-Jliue tluJIIs-llol still 1 · ~ · ~I ~ · l' 1 Tl r J I . . . •< l ' l(>lllg Ill Fl' Ill l(')rJJarY. 

·~ po ore '"' _fired on ludoau .. rowds no less than -1711 tiuocs and troops lu;,, 
opelJCd fire Oll bf) OCt'U!':'IOilti. 
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The Government refused permission to enter the Palace to most 
of the guests who were invited to be present at the breaking of the 
fast, but were prepared to make exccptim~s in the case of llcva_das 
and Ramdas Gandhi. The two so11s abstmncd,. us a protest agumst 

· the exclusion of the others. 
On the morning of 3rd March, Mrs. Gandhi handed her h]ls­

band the glass of orange juice and water with which he broke -~1i~ 
fast. Several others interned in the Palace were there, Suro]llll 
Naidu, and Miraben who sang his favourite English hymn, Hindus, 
Moslems and Parsis who read from their respective sacred litera­
tures. A Chinese professor had come, to read from the Buddha. 
Horace Alexander was there and read passages from St. Paul, and 
Mr. Ancy, who had resigned from the Viceroy's Council during the 
fast, read prayers in Sanskrit. But there was one more gnp in the 
circle of friendly faces. 1\Iahadev Desai was not there. He had 
died at his masttr's side in the Palace on 15th August l9•t2, a 
week aftt.'T their detention. 

The fast was over. Gandhi was still a prisoner. Outwardly 
his ordeal ,had failed. Outwardly it had often failed before. The 
Non-Co-operation campaigns had failed, with the outbreak of vio­
lence. The Civil Disobedience campaigns had failed too, to achieve 
Swaraj. The 'open rebellion' of 191·2 had failed before it com­
menced. Now the fast had failed-outwardly. 

But had not each of the ~,rrcat struggles strengthened Inuiu's 
will to freedom? Had not the discipline of the campaigns taught 
India self-rule? Had not Gandhi in jail been u potent symbol to 
the world of India's slavery, the open exposure of the injustice 
which she suffered? 

Had he not spoken his message to the world? Burn into an 
age of dcstruetiun, he had been a soldier of peace. "I believe in 
peace. But I do nut want peace ut any price. I do not want 
the peace that you find in stone; I do nut wanl the peace that you 
lind in the grave; but I do want the peace which you lind embedded 
in i:hc human breast, which is exposed to the arrows of a whole 
world, but which is protected from all harm by the power of 
Almighty God." . 

His wus uu open rebellion against ull that wus evil, against 
evil in himself, in his nation, in the world. The world hud fought 
back with its worldly weapons. They hud shut up this speaker of 
dangerous truth in the palace of a worh~ly Prince. The half-nuked 
fukir would_ make no more seditious speeches for a time. Perhaps 
he would d1e there. He would die a failure. Inditt would not yet 
he her own m:'ster.. fhat would come in her rulers' good time. 
War would brmg VIctory, and victorv would vindicate the wur 
wo•IItl vanquish the assembled forces -of evil and aggression. II; 
the Chancelleries they were sure of it. They had done well. 

Y ct somewhere in the vastness of Russia there were men who 
had read Tolstoy in their youth and had followed with careful 



attention reports of this Indian. disciple in the newspapers. In 
Germany, mostly in concentratiOn camps, there w~rc men who 
thought of him in the long hours of darkness when pam made sleep 
impossible. In England there were men in the chapel at ''Vurmwood 
Scrubs on the Sunday morning in August 1!H2 who had heard iu 
that brief statement something tlwt the chaplain could not possibly 
have said and it sent them back to their cells with a feeling of 
peace and exultation and the certainty of a victory that Whitehall 
and the Wilhelmstrasse knew nothing about. In the chapel a voice 
had said, "The only worthy effort is to resist ·all war with non­
violent resistance." 

The fast, Gandhi told Horace Alexander, ought to have been 
for forty days, not only twenty-one .. "People will cull this fast a 
fraud-and it is 11 fraud. I am tukmg u little fruit. juice in my 
water!'' But he also spoke seriously : "There will soon be u 
famine. If I were set free I would do what I could to remove 
its causes." 

In June l!J13 Gandhi wrote to the Home Department of the 
lndi.an Government. His letter was "mainly concerned, I gather, 
with the growing economic distre?s _and hardship experienced by 
the poorer classes. It implores Lmhthgow to do something which 
would alleviate conditions without delay" wrote D. V. Tahmankar 
(who was not allowed to cable tpis message to Britain). When .Mr. 
Amery was asked in July about the correspondence he was "not 
prcpurcd to disclose" the number or contents of the letters. How 
then could anyone in Britain know what views Gandhi had 011 the 
situation? "It is not desired that they should." 

It was not until November, when the death-roll in Bengal was 
one and a half millions, that the Indian fuminc was fully debated 
in the British ,Parliament. Mr. Amery held out no hope of a 
real solution whilst war continued. "Our urgent duty is to linish 
~he war us quickly us possible," he .• s_aid, "It is only in that way 
mdecd that we ~hull relieve the stram of war upon India which 
has led to the present distress." 

""Vhen all about me arc dying for want of food " Gundhi uuec 
suid,' "_the only thing permissible for me is to feeJ the hungry." 
llnt _this of!er to help feed the hungry wus rejected, he remaiued 
a pnsoner 111 a paluce. 

Kasturbai was dying there, as Mahudc\· had died there in the 
lirst days of captivity. The heart-attacks that had not prc\·cnted 
her from courting detention in Rajkot had not deterred her from 
sharing .her. husband's imprisonment. We have only two glimpses 
~Jf her hfe Ill the palace .. She was prcscJ!t at the prayer meetings 
Ill _the c?rly rn?rnmgs durmg the fast. She gave her husband thl· 
drmk ~v1th winch the fast w~s broken. The glimpses arc enough; 
there Is the pattern of her life. At the end of November she lwd 
two heart attacks, and then auothcr. The Gu\·emmcnt decided 
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against releasing her. On ~2nd February l9·H she died in captivity, 
aged seventy-three, and was cremated. 

For a time it seemed that Gandhi too would die in the Palace. 
By April "his general eom.liton is weak and is ea).lsing some anxiety" 
according to t,!le official bulletin. Lord Wavell, the new Viceroy, 
was at last able to release him unconditionally on health grounds. 
1\-lr. Amery sow1ded reluctant: "The matter is in the hands of 
the Viceroy. Mr. Gandhi's release is primarily his concern." 

Gandhi went out through the massive iron gates of the palace 
early on the morning of Saturday Gth May - in the Inspector­
General of Prisons' car. Mirabcn and Pyarelal were released at 
the same time. At Parnakuti he was received by his friend, Lady 
Thaekersey, with bouquets of roses and jasmine. A crowd greeted 
him as -he entered the gro).lnds in his usual garb-a loin cloth and 
white shawl, and supporting qimself on a bamboo stuff. In th~; 
evening, though looking exhausted, he was well enough to take 
part in evening prayers on the open terrace. At the palace the 
Aga Khan's personal furnishings, which had been removed at 
Gandhi's request, were already being replaced ... 

Quiet and rest were essential and five days Iuter the Poonu 
mail stopped at the 1\Iatungu level-crossing eight miles from Bom­
bay where Gandhi and his party, who occupied a third-class com­
partment, alighted by means of a portabk ladder. From there 
Gandhi and his scanty luggage-including four rose bushes, was 
driven to Juhu once more. 

On :Wth June he was ju~t well enough to speak to a group 
of Congress Party workers at Poona. What would he find to say 
about the activities of Congressmen after the arrests, about the 
abhorred secrecy, deception and occasional violence of the nation­
alist underground movement? 

"I can say at once that as u man wedded to truth and non­
violence not merely as u matter of discipline or expediency, but 
as a rule of conduct in nil walks of life, I can endorse nothing till­

truthful or violent. But l refuse to sit in judgmeilt on the actions 
of others. Nor is it of any avail at this moment and in this meeting 
to weigh the individual or collcctiYc acts of Congressmen and others 
in the scales of non-violence and truth. 

"Sullicc it to say expc~i('lle!' has led me to the uushukable 
eouvietion that our success has been muthematically proportionate 
to the extent to which we have adhered to truth and non-violence. 
The phenomenal awakening of the masses during the last twenty­
five years has been entirely due to the purity of our means. Ami 
to the extent that untruth and violence hnve crept in they have 
hindered our progress. 

"Your faith in me overwhelms me. My accidental release has 
gin~n ris1~ to gre:!t expectations. I am doubtful whether I deserve 
all this confidence. But this much I know, that whatever strength 
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I may have is eRtirely due to the fact that I am a votary of truth 
and non-violence. Some friends have told me truth and non­
violence have no place in politics and worldly affairs. I don't 
agree. I have no use for them as means of individ1.ml salvation. 
Their introduction and application in everyday life has been my 
experiment all along." 

In November HH4·, after talks with Mr . .Jinnah had proved 
abortive and Gandhi's ilCW efforts to meet Wavcll and the Working 
Committee had been contemptuously rejected by Mr. Amery as 
"obviously ... not ... even a starting point for profitable dis­
cussion" Pyarelal wrote from Sevagram to an English friend : 

"We arc passing through anxious times. Never has Bapu 
found himself in the position in which he finds himself today, that 
of being a helpless witness to a reign of unbridled corr).lption, 
falsehood and repression. And the picture of Indin is only an 
intensified miniature of what is happening in the rest of the world. 
Never have such big hoflcs rested on men so incapable of realising 
them. All powers, big and small, arc out to scramble for them­
selves at the expense of the weak and the backward. The cynical 
indifference is appalling. Is there then no hope for the oppressed 
and the downtrodden? Must the case of righteousness go by 
default? 

"How must he, who has lived all Ius life for' truth and ahimsa, 
testify his faith in God and register his protest against the evil 
that is now going on under his eyes, so as to move the conscience 
of maukind? The thought oppresses Bnpu and almost chokes him. 
He is waiting on God for n sign. In the meantime he is carrying 
on his desperate. lone struggle against seemingly invincible evil 
with all his might and wain. The candle is being burned furiously 
at both ends. The question is how long at this rate can the blaze 
be sustained?" 

• • • 
On the first page of this book stand some words by Rama-

krishna. This is the remainder of the saying : 
'l'h~ iron, once converted into {!old by the touch of the 
]llnlosotJIII·r's strml', may be la·pt under the t'cl'rth or thrm('ll 
into 11 rubbish lrca]J. It n•ill rnuain {!old, rmd JII'VI'r return 
to it.~ former condition. 

Surh is his case who has once touched the feet of God. 
Jrhetht•r he dn·cl/s in the /JII.~tlc of thr world, or in the soli­
tude of thr· fon·st, nothin!! can n•cr· contaminate him a!!nin. 
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APPENDIX 
PRINCIPAL EVENTS IN THE LIFE OF MAHATMA GANDHI 

1869 Born at Porbandar, 2nd October. 
1882 Married to Kasturbai. 
1887 Sailed to England in September. 
1891 Called to the Bar, return~ to India in Jun!'. 
1893 Sails for South Africa in April. 
IR94 Natal Indian Congres~ formed in May. 
1896 Returns to India for six months. 
1Rf)7 L'lnds again at Dmban and is assaulted by Emopeansin January. 
IR99 Organises Indian Ambulance Corps in the Tioer \Var. 
1901 Returns to India. 
1902 Summoned to return to South Africa, in March. 
1906 Organises Indian Ambulance Corps in Zulu Rebrllion. 

Anti-Asiatic Ordinances; Protest Meeting in September. 
Gandhi in London to appeal against the Ordinances. 

1907 Resistance to compulsory registration of Asiatics organised at 
Protest Meeting in June. 

1908 Gandhi sentenced to two months' im_prisonmcnt at Johannesburg 
in January. 

Gandhi-Smuts negotiations, 30th January. 
Gandhi assaulted by Pathans, lOth February. 
Burning of voluntary certificates, 16th August. 

1909 Gandhi again in London, returns to South Africa in NO\·embcr; 
"Hind Swaraj" written on voyage. 

1913 Struggle continues in South Africa. 
Cape Supreme Court nullifies Indian marriages in March. 
Gandhi leads over 2,000 Ind.ians in Transvaal march, OctobPr. 
Gandhi S<'ntenced to nine months' imprisonment and further 

three months, in November. 
Viceroy of India attacks South African Government and defends 

Satyagrahis, December. 
Gandhi, Kallenbach and Polak unconditionally r<'l<'ased in 

December. Gandhi meets C. F. Andrews. 
1914 New march from Durban aban·donecl when rail strike breaks out 

in January. 
Gandhi-Smuts conversations: Indian Relief Art. 
Gandhi finally leaves South Africa and reaches England on 

6th August. 
Gandhi organises Indian Ambulan\c Corps in England, falls ill 

and returns to India. 
G;J.ndhi secures rPmoval of ViramJ:,:am customs barrier. 

1915 Satyagraha Ashram founded at Kochrab, 2Sth May. 
1917 Gandhi leads successful campaign to end. South African indenture 

19~ 

recruiting in India by Jist July. 
Gandhi leads successful Champaran Satyagraha. 
Gandhi IPacls successful Ahmedabad Satyagraha. 



1918 

1919 

1920 

1fJ21 
1922 

1923 
1924 

!925 

1927 

JQ2R 

JC)2fJ 

1930 

1931 

19:12 

)fJ.:U 

Gandhi leads partially successful Kheda Satyagraha. 
Gandhi supports recruiting campaign, falls ill. 
Rowlatt Bills agitation. All India lwrtal on 6th April. 
Gandhi prevented from entering Punjab; Amritsar massacre m 

April, violence in Bombay ancl elsewhere. 
Gandhi at Amritsar in October. 
Gandhi advises non-co-operation to Moslems for Khilafat re,·olt, 

in November. 
Amritsar Congress in December "a triumph for Gandhi:' 
Government of India Act, 1919, introduces provincial dyarchy. 
Non-co-operation adopted by Hindu-Moslem Conference at 

Allahabad in" June. 
Nagpur Congress in December accepts Gandhi's amendment of 

Creed to "legitimate and peaceful." 
Non-co-operation Campaign. 
Gandhi abandons civil disobedienc"e in February after Chami­

Chaura violence. 
Gandhi arrested and sentenced to six ye:ns' imprisonnwnt in 

March. 
Gandhi ill in prison. 
Gandhi operated on for appendicitis in January and uncondi­

tionally rele:tsed in Febru:try. 
Gandhi's 21-d:tys' fast for Hindu-1\.f oslem Unit~· at Delhi, 

beginning on 18th September. 
Gandhi retires from Congress leadership :tnd concentrat('s on 

hand-spinning and other reforms. 
Gandhi announces one-year's political silence for himself at 

Cawnpore Congress. 
Gandhi at work in the villages. 
Bardoli Satyagraha. 
Boycott of Simon Commission begins in February. 
Calcutta Congress in December demands Complete TndcpcndcncC' 

in one year. 
Lahore Congress in December declares boycott of legislatur!'s 

:tnd prepares civil disobed.ience. 
Gandhi's Salt march to sea, in March, launches Civil Dis-

obedience Campaign. 
Gandhi arrested and detained without scntrncc, 4th May. 
First Round Table Conference in London, in NO\·ember. 
Gandhi :tnd other leaders "unconditionallv released m hnuarv. 
Death of Motilal Nehru. · · -
Gandhi-Irwin Pact in March: Salt ban removed. 
Lord Irwin retires, Lord Willingdon arrives in April. 
Breaches of Pact; Gandhi-\VillinRdon aRreC'ment; Gandhi sails 

for· London on 29th AURUSt. 
Gaudhi lands in England for sccnnd Round Table Conf,•rcncC' 011 

12th September. 
Gandhi lea,·es London, 5th December, lands at Bombay on 2Rth 

December. 
Gandhi arrested on 4th Tanuary. 
Violen! rep~ession of se~ond Civil Disobedience Campai~n. 
Gancl,hr begrns fast to dcat_h on Untouchables qnestinn (Ill 20th 

September and ends rt on 26th SeptcmbC'r whPn lhitish 
Gon·rnment accepts Yer;wda Pact. 

~iccro,v \·etoes Madras \cmplc Entry Hill, in January. 
(,ancllll u_ndergoC's 21-days ~J!ttouchahlcs fast be~innin)!; Rth May 

an~! rs rC"Icasccl uncondttronally fro 111 Yeranla Jail. 
Gandlu-Nchru reunion and conversations at l'oon~. 
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1934 Rihar Earthquake in January. 
Gandhi tours Bihar in' March. 
Gandhi fasts seven days against intolerance. 
Gandhi leaves Congress, in September. 

1933 Government of India Act, 1935. 
19JR Gandhi at work in the villages. 
1939 Rajkot Satyagraha; Gandhi begins fast to death on 3rd March. 

Fast ends on 7th March when Gwyer Award is announced. 
Viceroy declares India at war in September. 
Congress Governments resign in protest in October. 

1940 Death of C. F. Andrews. 
Gandhi appeals to Britain, in July, to stop war. 
Gandhi launches Limited Individual Civil Disobedience 111 

October. 
1941 Campaign continues, 20,000 convictions by mi·d-summer. 

Death of Rabindranath Tagore in August. 
l'l42 Japanese advance to border of India. 

Cripps Mission arrives in March. 
Quit India resolution passed on 8th August; Gandhi and vVorking 

Committee arrested and detained. 
1943 Gandhi fasts for 21 days beginning lOth February to appeal 

against the deadlock. 
Gandhi appeals to be allowed to avert famine and is refused, 

in June. 
Famine in Bengal and elsewhere at its height, in November. 

1944 Mrs. Gandhi dies in detention on 22nd February. 
Gandhi nt,tconditionally released on 6th May. 
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"THE PHILOSOPHY OF MAHA1 MA GANDHI IS A 
WORLD IN ITSELF."- Aiuert Schwertzer 

THE WISDOM OF GANDHI 
in his own words 

SELECTED AND ARRANGED BY 

RO Y WAL KER 

"I looked hrough it Nothrng jarred. " 
- 1"1. K. GANDHI 

"No Indian SATYAGRAHI could have made . 
a better se lectro11 ." 

-" ARYAN PAT' 

2c. 6cl 
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